
 

 

AGENDA 
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 
Village Hall Auditorium 

9915 – 39th Avenue 

Pleasant Prairie, WI 
May 18, 2015 

6:00 p.m. 
 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
3. Roll Call 

 
4. VFW Post 7308 presentation of Local and National Public Servant Awards to 

 a Village  Emergency Medical Technician, Firefighter and Law Enforcement 
 Officer. 

 
5. Minutes of Meetings – May 4, 2015 
 

6. Public Hearing  
 

 A. Consider a “Class A” Intoxicating Liquor and Class “A” Fermented Malt  
  Beverage license for the proposed Costco store, 7704 94th  Avenue. 
 

7. Citizen Comments (Please be advised per State Statute Section 19.84(2), information will  be 

 received from the public and there may be limited discussion on the information received.  However, no 
 action will be taken under public comments.) 

 

8. Administrator’s Report 
 
9. New Business 

 
 A. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and Consider Resolution  

  #15-19 to deny the Comprehensive Plan Amendment to amend   
  Appendix 9-3 Neighborhood Plan #2 for the Barnes Creek   
  Neighborhood bounded by 89th and 91st Streets on the north, STH 32  

  (Sheridan Road) on the east, STH 165 (104th Street) on the south and 
  the Kenosha County Bike Trail on the west. 

 
 B.  Consider the request of Kwik Trip, Inc. for partial termination and  
  release from three (3) Agreements entered into by and between the  

  previous land Owner (V.K. Development Corporation) and the Village  
  of Pleasant Prairie and two (2) variances granted by the Village for  

  public-related infrastructure improvements in the Prairie Ridge   
  Development installed in the land areas located at the northwest  

  corner of 88th Avenue and 77th Street in the Prairie Ridge   
  Development. 
  



Village Board Meeting 
May 18, 2015 

 
 C. Consider an award of contract for the maintenance of the Bentz   

  Estates Pond located at the northwest corner of 85th Street and 60th  
  Avenue. 
 

 D. Consider an award of contract for the Park and Ride Service Lot   
  Project. 

 
 E. Consider an award of contract for construction management services  
  of the Park and Ride Service Lot. 

 
 F.   Consider an award of contract for the painting of the Timber Ridge  

  Water Tower. 
 
 G. Consider the recommendation to reject the bids received for disposal  

  services of Municipal Solid Waste. 
 

 H. Consider an award of contract for the recycling of electronics. 
  

 I. Consider Ordinance #15-19 to amend Chapter 285 of the Municipal  
  Code relating to Sewer Service Charges. 
 

 J. Consider Ordinance #15-17 to amend Chapter 194 of the Municipal  
  Code relating to Intoxicating Liquor and Fermented Malt Beverages. 

 
 K. Consider Ordinance #15-18 to amend Chapter 214 of the Municipal  
  Code relating to Licenses and Permits. 

  
 L. Consent Agenda (All items listed under the Consent Agenda are considered routine and will 

  be enacted by one motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a Board  
  member so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the General Order of Business 
  and considered at this point on the agenda.) 

 1) Approve Operator License Applications on file. 
 2) Approve a Certified Survey Map to subdivide the property   
  located at 2629 89th Street. 

 3) Approve a lot line adjustment to add 30.03 feet from a vacant  
  parcel to 3514 93rd Street and 3516 93rd Street. 

  
10. Village Board Comments 
 

11. Adjournment 
 

The Village Hall is handicapped accessible. If you have other special needs, please 
    contact the Village Clerk, 9915 – 39th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, WI (262) 694-1400 



VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 

9915 - 39th Avenue 

Pleasant Prairie, WI   

May 4, 2015 

6:00 p.m. 
 

 A regular meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on Monday, May 4, 2015.  

Meeting called to order at 6:00 p.m.  Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Steve 

Kumorkiewicz, Dave Klimisch and Mike Serpe.  Kris Keckler was excused.  Also present were Michael 

Pollocoff, Village Administrator; Tom Shircel, Assistant Administrator; Jean Werbie-Harris, Community 

Development Director; Dave Smetana, Police Chief; Doug McElmury; Fire & Rescue Chief; Rocco Vita, 

Village Assessor; Matt Fineour, Village Engineer; John Steinbrink Jr., Public Works Director; Carol 

Willke, HR and Recreation Director; Dan Honore', IT Director and Jane M. Romanowski, Village Clerk.  

Two citizens attended the meeting. 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

3. ROLL CALL 
 

4. ELECT PRESIDENT PRO-TEM 
 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

I make a motion that we nominate Mike Serpe as President Pro-Tem. 

 

Dave Klimisch: 

 

I second that. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Steve, second by Dave to elect Mike Serpe as President Pro-Tem.  Any other 

nomination?  Any discussion?  Mike, what does this job entail? 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

The President Pro-Tem basically acts as the President in your absence as one of the members of 

the Board.  You get no money. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

You get recognition.  That’s all. 

 

 



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

2 

John Steinbrink: 

 

We have a motion and a second with no discussion.   

 

 KUMORKIEWICZ NOMINATED MIKE SERPE AS PRESIDENT PRO TEM; 

SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Thank you, guys. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Congratulations, Mike.   

 

5. MINUTES OF MEETINGS - APRIL 6 AND APRIL 20, 2015 
 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Move approval. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

Second. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Mike, second by Steve.  Any discussion on the minutes?   

 

 SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE APRIL 6 AND APRIL 20, 2015 

VILLAGE BOARD MEETINGS AS PRESENTED IN THEIR WRITTEN FORM; SECONDED 

BY KUMORKIEWICZ; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 

 

6. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 

Jane Romanowski: 

 

Jim Hooper. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Did you wish to speak under citizens’ comments? 

 

[Inaudible] 

 

 



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

3 

 

Jane Romanowski: 

 

This is regarding the Educators Credit Union. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

When the item comes up then we’ll talk about that.  Anyone else? 

 

Jane Romanowski: 

 

No other signups tonight. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Anyone wishing to speak under citizens’ comments?  Hearing none I’ll close citizens’ comments. 

 

7. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

A couple things, Mr. President.  Just to give you an update on the 39th Avenue project, it’s 

moving along . We did have an issue with AT&T being late to do some relocation work of some 

of their infrastructure.  Right now we think it could have put us back a week.  But it’s 

construction season so it’s a ways to go so we’ll see how that proceeds. 

 

In respect to the detours, we did set up an alternate detour for people to take who are going east or 

west on 165 to go north to 31 and then use 93rd Street as an alternate detour.  We’ve had 

discussions with the Department of Transportation for the State of Wisconsin to look at a signal, 

some type probably in the short term instance of a four-way traffic stop at 31 and 165 -- I’m 

sorry, 165 and 32.  They’ve already been in the process of evaluating that, what type of 

improvement needs to take place there.  Although I think they’re on a two year schedule, they’ve 

agreed to take another look at it. And we’ve indicated to them if they do make a change that 

would allow a four way stop at that intersection that we’d want it to remain that way rather than 

stopping cars, have the project end and having cars not stop anymore.  We think that leads to 

more problems than not. 

 

But the problems have seemed to subside some.  We’re really working on making sure that the 

traffic stays out of the work zone.  We don’t want to have any workers hurt.  We want to be able 

to have this project be completed in an orderly manner which for us is going to be about Labor 

Day.  And managing speed that people are going through a subdivision to get from one place to 

another that they have to drive what the speed limit is in those subdivisions.  So the Police 

Department has been enforcing that and I think they are doing a pretty good job.  So that part of it 

is getting better as people understand what the detours really are.  I think the first week or two it’s 

like a challenge to see if I can get through.  Now the project is just impassable and no one can 

really get across it.  So that’s done. 



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

4 

 

The other thing I just want to advise the Board on is this is a significant week in municipal 

government.  It’s the week that recognizes all municipal clerks who do work for communities.  

We received our League notice to adopt a fancy resolution.  But it certainly is warranted by our 

Clerk Jane Romanowski.  She’s clearly one of the better Clerks in the State.  Whenever I’m in 

Madison and we have an issue I know that she is spoken of highly as being a source of 

information and getting things done the right way.  And I know she does it on as skinny a budget 

as you can imagine.  So we’re fortunate to have really one of the better Clerks handling the 

municipality whether its liquor licenses, elections, records, all the day-to-day work that happens.  

So I want to recognize her quality of work.  And even those other communities who aren’t as 

lucky as we are to have a Clerk at least we have one that they can do their work as well. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Just to follow up on that, Mike, I agree 100 percent.  I mean the election process lately that the 

State has been -- the confusion that they’ve been causing, and there are virtually no issues 

involving the voting in Pleasant Prairie.  And on the reconstruction, Chief Smetana, your guys are 

doing a fantastic job in the neighborhood.  And on 39th Avenue the neighbors appreciate it, 

believe me.  And it’s unfortunately we have to put up with it for so long.  But tell the guys they’re 

doing a good job and we thank them. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Mike, maybe one thing you left out of the Administrator’s report is the fact that you just 

celebrated 30 years of happiness with the Village. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

And it has been happiness at least on my side.  I hope it has on yours, too. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

And the Village - the marks of everything you’ve done are visible all over the Village.  And 

we’re very fortunate because usually an Administrator stays just a few years in one location, and 

they kind of move on.  But you’ve been here for 30 years, and it’s been a good 30 years for the 

Village.  Nobody would recognize this place, again, from what it was 30 years ago when you 

started.  And the questions when you look at utilities and all the things that have happened in the 

Village government here as far as the upgrades and making this a workable, efficient, highly 

skilled organization here because you’ve done that.  And I think it goes without saying that we 

are very fortunate.   

 

Number one, you’re probably underpaid for the qualifications you have here.  And you’re always 

the first to say, no, I can’t take that much of a raise or I can’t get a raise.  So that’s not fair to you.  

But I know the Village recognizes the work you do, and the citizens are very grateful for the work 

you do.  And we as a Board are very grateful for the work you do and all our staff here.  The job 



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

5 

you do it makes our job easy.  And you just look around us and it tells us what we have here 

because of you.  So congratulations on 30 years. 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

Thank you.  Thank you very much. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

Congratulations, Mike. 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

This Board has always had good political management and policy guidance.  If I’ve done one 

thing right I’ve hired very good people to make us all look good. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

And, again, he’s been here for 30 years, he has never taken credit for one thing, and he’s 

responsible for 99 percent of it.  The Board did it, the department heads did it, somebody did it, 

never Mike.  The whole vision is Mike Pollocoff.  I’ll tell you, it’s been easy to work with you for 

all the time you’ve been here, and I’ve been here about as long as you have. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

I mean I’ve talked to alderman and they’ve made the tradeoff that you wouldn’t believe, and they 

still can’t come up with enough.  It’s just unreal, but we’re very fortunate.  Is that all, Mike? 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

That’s all. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Thank you. 

 

8. NEW BUSINESS 

 

 A. Consider Resolution #15-17 authorizing the issuance and sale of $13,450,000 

General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2015. 
 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

Mr. President, this is a resolution for issuance of debt that we’ve gone through.  With us tonight is 

the underwriter for the Village, Gene Schulz from Piper Jaffray.  We had real successful sales I 

think today, and I’d like Gene to describe what we received and what we’re paying for.  And 



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

6 

we’ll take these up separately, but just to remind the Board we’ll need a roll call vote on both 

items. 

 

Gene Schulz: 

 

Well, we did price the issue, started at nine o’clock this morning, and I think we finalized the 

pricing between two and two thirty which was a little bit late.  It was a slow market today.  I 

mean obviously interest rates are good, but you always try to make them better.  So our 

underwriting department went out with an aggressive scale meaning low yields to the investor, a 

benefit to the Village and we didn’t get any orders.  So it’s not normally quite that way.  Of 

course, Mondays are the one day of the week that’s rather slow when it comes to a slow market.  

Most of your sales are Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday.  So you end up with investors that are 

a little bit leery to be the first to buy a substantial amount of bonds.  

  

I think we had one maturity of a little over $5 million.  There was one institution interested in it, 

but they were leery about committing because they were the only one interested in it.  So we had 

to do a little playing around.  Once we get to the refunding issue, the original amount of 

$9,660,000.  Now I believe it’s $9,355,000.  What we had to do was increase the coupons.  We 

were going out with a two percent and three percent.  The investors needed five percent.  Now, 

that doesn’t change the cost to the Village, but it changes the way we have to market it.  And the 

reason the issue size drops is because you’ve got the premium coupons, the investor has to pay 

for that premium.  So when you get $400,000 or $500,000 of premium then you reduce the par 

value.  

 

So you still come out with what’s called a net interest rate regardless of how it’s couponed.  But 

the investor kind of calls the shots on that.  We call the shot on the yield or the cost to the Village 

but if they want a five percent coupon we say fine.  We collect the premium, reduce the par value, 

and it would be opaque as far as the Village itself goes.  But, anyways, from an overall standpoint 

the sale went well.  It’s just that it took a lot longer.  I was wondering if we were going to get the 

information to the bond counsel in time to prepare the resolutions. 

 

The interest rate on the $13,450,000 bond that we’re looking at right now was a 2.10.  So 

obviously it’s a good interest rate from an historical standpoint.  When we come to the refunding 

we had originally estimated about five or six weeks ago that the Village would save $463,000 on 

that financing, and it came in at $460,000.  So you can see where interest rates had not really 

moved too much from five to six weeks ago.  In between time, of course, they were going up and 

down and up and down, and so we kind of hit it in the middle from an overall standpoint.  So if 

there’s any other questions? 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

For the Board the $13,450,000 bonding that’s totally for Tax Increment District #2 to complete 

the project list from the project plan for that area.  Whether it’s sanitary sewer, we have some 

major water extensions that are serving that district, the improvements that are going up to service 

the Uline development.  If you think back to Uline, at one point we had committed $6 million to 

relocate a 345 kvw line and a high pressure gas main.  And eventually that wasn’t able to be 



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

7 

done, so they had to move the warehouse that’s currently underway farther to the west which 

changed the entire physical nature of what we needed to do as far as sanitary sewer and water.  So 

the numbers end up being what we’re contributing to that project end up being the same. 

 

These bonds will be paid off in five years.  We’re looking to have these paid off in 2020.  At the 

time this district pays off there will be $13.4 million of property taxes that are going to be going 

onto the tax rolls for Kenosha County, Unified School District, Central High School District and 

Gateway as well as the Village of Pleasant Prairie.  That’s going to be significant property tax 

relief for all the governments that are involved in this district.  And I know it’s one of the policies 

of the Board, and we’ve been working to make sure that we can achieve that date and get that 

done. 

 

We remain slightly concerned that the State is changing or looking at changes in things such as 

exempting personal property taxes.  And when we set up our original pro forma and the budget on 

this that was something that was going to be included to help pay out the bonds.  And if for some 

reason they take that out then what they’re saying is we’ll just extend the life of your district.  So 

that would cost us about rough numbers $700,000 a year, but it would delay $13.4 million of tax 

relief.  So I think in that case they’re giving a select group of people a tax break, and the entire 

community is going to have to wait longer to receive the tax cut that they’re looking for. 

So we may have another one of these.  In fact, I’m sure we’re going to have another one.  It’s 

going to be smaller.  With the window of time that we have left to get the work done that we want 

to get done it’s going to be 2017.  There’s not that much that remains to be done.  One of the best 

pieces of advice that we got from Gene Schulz early on with TIF District #1 was don’t borrow 

this until you absolutely have to have it.  And maybe there’s going to be an ability some of this is 

going to be paid for by cash.   

 

So until we see these projects line up, they’re in the project plan, but if we don’t need them right 

now we’re just going to let them sit.  If they don’t get addressed before 2017 then those are done, 

and we’ll have to wait until the TIF District is retired.  So with that I wholeheartedly agree with 

Gene’s recommendation, and I’d recommend that the Village positively consider Resolution 15-

17 authorizing the issuance and sale of $13,450,000 in general promissory notes. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

So moved and call for a roll call vote. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

Second. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Mike, and second by Steve.  Any further discussion? 

 

 

 



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

8 

Dave Klimisch: 

 

I’ve got a question on the $9.6 million.  I’m looking through the notes, and this is the eleventh 

year.  We bonded them in 2004.  There’s a couple years left, and we’re saving $460,000 in two 

years?  That’s on 15-18.  It’s easy to support, we’re saving almost half a million dollars in two 

years. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Any further discussion?   

 

 SERPE MOVED TO ADOPT RESOLUTION #15-17 AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE 

AND SALE OF $13,450,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION PROMISSORY NOTES, SERIES 2015; 

SECONDED BY KUMORKIEWICZ; ROLL CALL VOTE – STEINBRINK – AYE; 

KUMORKIEWICZ – AYE; KLIMISCH – AYE; SERPE – AYE; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 

 

 

 B. Consider Resolution #15-18 authorizing the issuance and sale of $9,660,000 General 

Obligation Refunding Bond, Series 2015. 
 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

Mr. President, Gene described as well as Trustee Klimisch that I don’t want to say it’s a no brain 

deal because it took some smarts to put the thing together.  But it’s a good deal for the Village.  

I’d recommend that Resolution 15-18 authorizing the issuance and sale of $9,660,000 general 

obligation refunding bonds be adopted by the Board as presented. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

So moved. 

 

Dave Klimisch: 

 

Second. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Steve, second by Dave.  Any further discussion of 15-18? 

 

Gene Schulz: 

 

The $9,660,000 has been changed to $9,355,000. 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

That’s right. 



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

9 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

So the resolution 15-18 will reflect that.  Okay.  So we have a motion, we have a second.  Further 

discussion?   

 

 SERPE MOVED TO ADOPT RESOLUTION #15-18 AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE  

AND SALE OF $9,355,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BOND, SERIES 2015;  

SECONDED BY KLIMISCH;  ROLL CALL VOTE – SERPE – AYE ;STEINBRINK – AYE; 

KLIMISCH – AYE; KUMORKIEWICZ – AYE; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Thank you, Gene. 

 

 C. Consider Resolution #15-16 designating May 10-16, 2015 as National Police Officer 

Week. 
 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

Mr. President, I request the Board consider Resolution 15-16.  And maybe I could have Chief 

Smetana come up and talk about the importance of National Police Officer Week.  I think it’s a 

timely discussion at this point in our history. 

 

Chief Smetana: 

 

Good evening.  The National Law Enforcement Memorial Week was first brought in in the 1960s 

by President Kennedy wanting to honor law enforcement from all over the country.  I think it 

goes without saying how impressed I am with my officers.  And this day just benefits law 

enforcement from all over the country.  I’d like to as part of this upcoming week this Wednesday 

we have a ceremony down at the Civil War Museum at noon.  So if any of you can make it you 

are more than welcome to attend that.  And that honors law enforcement officers from Kenosha 

County who have lost their lives in the line of duty.  And interestingly enough our keynote 

speaker for that will be Municipal Judge Richard Ginkowski.  So I’d like to welcome you all 

there at noon.  I appreciate your consideration of the resolution.  Thank you. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Thank you, Chief. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

It’s a shame as to what’s happening with police officers across the country today.  It just seems 

there’s an open season on them.  And it’s just so wrong as to what’s happening.  And I don’t 

know what the answer is or what’s going to calm the situation, but it can’t happen soon enough.  I 

feel sorry for these guys that are out there.  They don’t know who is approaching them, what that 



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

10 

person can possibly do to them.  And mostly the officers that are getting hurt are by surprise.  It’s 

not good.  I certainly hope this changes and straightens out.  Because the way it’s going right now 

it’s dangerous, it’s a dangerous job, and right now it’s even thankless, and that’s a shame.  And 

believe me I know better. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

And I think all of us can remember back a few years and the fact that this community has such a 

strong regard for our Police Department and support for our department.  The citizens of this 

Village realize what the Police Department does for us on a daily basis.  The statistics prove it out 

in our clearance rate.  You look at the service provided for the dollar to the taxpayers.  It’s the 

highest level of service available out there.  And our citizens actually have gone to the polls to 

show that they believe in our department and they back it 100 percent.  And I don’t think that’s 

changed over the years.  I think every day as we go along citizens more and more recognize the 

value of our department and make sure that they are out there supporting it.  Unfortunately that’s 

not the case all over the country and it should be.  There’s going to come a time, and Mike and I 

have discussed this, that things will change.  And we’re not sure which direction it’s going to go. 

 

Dave Klimisch: 

 

I think some of the best police work that we can do anywhere is preventative police work.  I know 

when I first moved here way back when I had a 2 a.m. knock on the door that woke me up, and I 

didn’t know what was going on.  And there was a note on the door from our Pleasant Prairie 

police officer that was in the area saying that my garage door had been left open.  And I had lived 

in a lot of places and I’d never seen that before.  And as I’ve talked to a lot of people over the past 

several months I’ve heard something similar from a lot of different people that they get maybe 

not a knock on the door at two in the morning, but they get a note from the squad that a door has 

been left open and you’re inviting crime into your house. 

 

When I drive through with the rerouting on the construction on the first day I saw a lot of 

presence from the police squads in the neighborhoods that are affected by the rerouting.  Again, 

preventative police work.  And not just preventative but also maintaining, like you said, John, 

maintaining that high customer relation where the people of Pleasant Prairie -- the people that 

I’ve talked with have high things to say about their response rate and their professionalism.  So 

kudos to the department. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Thank you. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

I can add to that, Mr. President.  One of the problems we have today is everybody knows their 

rights [inaudible].  Thank you. 

 

 



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

11 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Okay, we have a motion -- oh, we need one. 

 

Dave Klimisch: 

 

I move that we pass Resolution 15-16. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Second. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Dave, second by Mike.  Any other discussion on this item?   

 

 KLIMISCH MOVED TO ADOPT RESOLUTION #15-16 DESIGNATING MAY 10-16,  

2015 AS NATIONAL POLICE OFFICER WEEK; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 

4-0. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

And you can tell your guys we don’t need a resolution because we support you every week.  So 

thank you and thank them for the service they give us. 

 

 D. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider a Conceptual Plan to 

construct a full service Educators Credit Union on the vacant property generally 

located at the northeast corner of STH 50 and 91st Avenue. 
 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 

 

Mr. President and members of the Board, the petitioner is requesting the approval of a conceptual 

plan for the proposed construction of a 7,280 square foot full service Educators Credit Union on 

the vacant property generally located at the northeast corner of Highway 50 and 91st Avenue as 

shown on the slide.  This is the Westfield Heights commercial area.  This is a property that’s 

located directly east of the Goddard School property. 

 

The Educators Credit Union is a full service financial institution that serves members in the 

Southeastern Wisconsin area since 1937 offering savings and loan products as well as investment 

opportunities to individuals and small businesses.  The Credit Union is committed to educating 

and advising members of their options and helping them make sound financial decisions.  Branch 

decisions and transactions range from quick deposits and payments to more comprehensive 

interactions such as loan applications and account openings. 

 

Transactions at this location will be conducted in person with branch staff for detailed situations 

such as purchasing certificates, processing loan applications and general account maintenance.  



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

12 

Additionally, transactions such as deposits, payments and cash management will occur through 

interactive teller technology and video assisted transactions.  These are terminals that look like 

ATMs but have a touch screen video for interacting with the teller located at the ECU home 

office in Mt. Pleasant.  The drive through terminals are the same ITM or interactive teller type 

and are both filled with cash by armored car services.  Their anticipated hours of operation are 

Monday through Friday 8 to 7, lobby only 9 to 5, and Saturday 8 to 3, lobby only 9 to noon.   

 

As you can see on the slide they are proposed to be having two access points, one general access 

directly across from the Goddard School entrance, and a secondary access which will be directly 

across from a future retail or commercial use to the north on the land that’s currently owned by 

Steve Mills.  So you can come in and out on the western entrance, you can go around the south 

end of the building and then go through any one of the interactive teller lines.  Access then 

directly north and out onto 74th Street or access through the parking lot.  Again, there’s plenty of 

parking located on the north side of the facility as well as the south side of the facility.  They 

anticipate having six employees at this location with 39 parking spaces, two of which will be 

handicapped accessible. 

 

The conceptual plan building elevations are shown on the slide.  They have just recently 

constructed a similar type facility up on Center Street in the Milwaukee/Wauwatosa area, and it 

will look very similar to that location.  It’s primarily a brick building with a Frank Lloyd Wright 

style type to it, more of a prairie style.  It’s a very attractive building.  Some of those photographs 

and things were shared with the Plan Commission at their last meeting. 

 

The site is currently served by a stormwater management facility that’s located north and west of 

here.  As you can see the arrow, again, as part of the overall Westfield development wherein 

single family was located to the north, and this area to be developed north of Highway 50 with 

commercial type development that the two basins that were constructed initially by the original 

developer will handle all the stormwater for these new to be developed commercial locations.  So 

no separate onsite stormwater facility will be required for Educators Credit Union. 

 

Coming back to the Plan Commission and to the Board, zoning map and text amendments, site 

and operational plans and a conditional use permit will be required.  The current zoning of the 

property is B-2 which is a Community Commercial District with UHO, the proposed zoning B-2 

with a PUD.  They will be requesting some planned unit development overlay modifications to 

the zoning district for this property.  The lot area will be less than the two acre required by the B-

2 so it will be put into the PUD as 1.47 acres for the site.   

 

There will be reduced fire lane access around the south side of the building from 30 foot to 20 

foot.   And, again, there is complete fire lane access around the north side of the building, so this 

is kind of like a secondary or an additional access for the fire department for this site.  And then 

one other request that’s being made is that because this is part of a unified business development 

there will be an off premise sign that will help identify all of the uses north of 74th Street for this 

particular area. 

 

Because of the PUD they will be coming back before the Plan Commission for a DSIS 

agreement.  And as you will recall that is a digital security imaging system agreement or camera 



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

13 

system on the exterior of the facility.  They will also be using cameras on the inside of the 

facility.  But on the exterior these cameras will be a live feed back to the police department for an 

early easy access live view look prior to any police officers coming to the site. 

 

And then one other thing I just wanted to mention is that they will have public sidewalks around 

the perimeter of the site adjacent to 74th Street, 91st Avenue.  When Highway 50 gets 

reconstructed there will be sidewalks along Highway 50 as well.  They’ll have street trees and 

other public improvements, street lights and things like that adjacent to their site as well. 

 

So with that the Plan Commission recommended approval of their conceptual plan.  They were 

looking for this direction from the Village in order to move forward now with the detailed site 

and operational plans, submit their detailed zoning map amendments as well as the detailed DSIS 

and other documents that do need to come in.  They do intent to move forward with this project 

sometime this summer with respect to submitting additional documents to the Village for 

approval and construction. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

The only concern that the Plan Commission had was with the 20 foot fire lane.  Just a question.  

How far is Highway 50 travel lanes from the building itself?  Not very far I would think, right? 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Chief, do you want to address this? 

 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 

 

It’s quite a distance right now, but it will be closer when Highway 50 is widened to six lanes. 

 

Chief McElmury: 

 

Initially we had some concerns, too, when we started looking at the layout.  But being that we’ve 

got access basically on two, almost three sides of the building, and it’s going to be a fully 

sprinkled building that gives us a little bit of room to cut down on our fire lane [inaudible] fully 

sprinkled stand pipes and stairwells. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

If you’re satisfied I’m satisfied.  I’ll tell you that. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Gentlemen, did you have anything to add to that?  I know you guys did a pretty good presentation 

at the Planning Commission, and I think most of us were here to see that.  So thank you for that 

presentation. 

 



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

14 

[Inaudible] 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

If you want to just come up and use the microphone.  Otherwise the poor gal will hear that 

mumbling in the distance. 

 

Jim Hooper: 

 

I’m Jim Hooper, Vice President of Facilities for Educators.  Again, we wanted to thank Jean for 

all of her work with us.  Our prairie style buildings are very, very popular.  And we’ve used them 

in every location that we’ve gone.  This one in particular sits up on West Center Street in 

Milwaukee, and Milwaukee just did back flips over that project.  They really appreciated the style 

of our buildings.  But it fits actually better in what you guys have been doing down here in 

Pleasant Prairie.  So we’re very excited to add that style to your Village. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

No other facilities in Kenosha County are going to close as a result of this, right? 

 

Jim Hooper: 

 

Correct, no.  This is in addition to.  And actually we’re referring to is as our Pleasant Prairie 

branch. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

I move approval of the conceptual plan. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

Second. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Mike, second by Steve.  Any further discussion?  Thank you for that design.  Because 

if you travel around the Village you’ll see Jean has worked with all the businesses here to have a 

theme, a nice looking building, something we’re really proud of here.  And yours is a great 

addition to what is out there now. 

 

Jim Hooper: 

 

Thank you.  I would agree. 

 

 

 



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

15 

John Steinbrink: 

 

So it fits in very well. 

 

Dave Klimisch: 

 

You said it’s the same as the one in Milwaukee? 

 

Jim Hooper: 

 

It’s actually going to be a little larger.  We have added a little more width to the building.  The 

interior ITMs that Jean was referring to, the interactive teller machines, we use them on an L 

shape up in Milwaukee because the lot was a lot smaller.  With this lot being a little larger we’re 

able to stretch them into a straight line, so we added a little bit of square footage to the facility. 

 

Dave Klimisch: 

 

And do you know about what your daily traffic is in Milwaukee? 

 

Jim Hooper: 

 

So far we’ve been doing about 300 transactions a day, a little bit on the low end.  But we’re 

hoping that that increases. 

 

Dave Klimisch: 

 

Dave lives close to you so he’ll be able to jog over there.  He’ll go through the drive thru. 

 

Jim Hooper: 

 

I’d be glad to have you there. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Thank you very much.  Any further discussion?   

 

 SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 

RECOMMENDATION AND APPROVE A CONCEPTUAL PLAN TO CONSTRUCT A FULL 

SERVICE EDUCATORS CREDIT UNION ON THE VACANT PROPERTY GENERALLY 

LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF STH 50 AND 91ST AVENUE, SUBJECT TO 

THE CONDITIONS SET FORTH BY STAFF; SECONDED BY KUMORKIEWICZ; MOTION 

CARRIED 4-0. 

 

 

 

 



Village Board Meeting 

May 4, 2015 

 

 

16 

 E. Consider Operator License Applications on file. 
 

Jane Romanowski: 

 

Three applications tonight, Katelyn Daniel, Jamie Dodge, Philip Wattles.  All three applications 

are in compliance with the guidelines set forth in Chapter 194, and I would recommend approval. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

So moved. 

 

Dave Klimisch: 

 

Second. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Steve, second by Dave.  Any further discussion on any of the applications?   

 

 KUMORKIEWICZ MOVED TO GRANT OPERATOR LICENSES TO KATELYN 

DANIEL, JAMIE DODGE, PHILIP WATTLES; SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; MOTION 

CARRIED 4-0. 

  

9. VILLAGE BOARD COMMENTS 
 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Welcome, Dave. 

 

Dave Klimisch: 

 

This is my first official meeting.  It’s been a nice process, and I’m looking forward to being up 

here and working with everybody in Pleasant Prairie that helped to get me up here. 

 

10. ADJOURNMENT 
 

 SERPE MOVED TO ADJOURN THE MEETING; SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; 

MOTION CARRIED 4-0 AND MEETING ADJOURNED AT 6:40 P.M. 



MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Village Board of Trustees 
 
FROM: Jane M. Romanowski 

Village Clerk 
 
DATE:  May 5, 2015 
 
RE:  Liquor License Application – Costco Store 
 
 
Rodney Adrian Huft, agent for Costco Wholesale Corporation, has submitted a “Class 
A” Liquor and Class “A” Fermented Malt Beverage License Application for the new 
Costco Store located at 7707 94

th
 Avenue.  A “Class A” liquor and Class “A” Fermented 

Malt Beverage license allows for the sale of intoxicating liquor and fermented malt 
beverages to consumers only in original packages or containers for off-premise 
consumption. 
  
In accordance with Chapter 194 of the Municipal Code, the Board may grant a license 
prior to the completed project, but the establishment must be open within 90 days of 
board approval.  The Board, for cause as outlined in Chapter 194 of the Municipal 
Code, may extend the time to open to 180 days. 
 
The Police Department check has been completed and the ownership, publication and 
agent residency and training requirements have been satisfied.  There are no 
delinquent taxes or invoices on record.  Costco proposes to open this establishment in 
June. 
 
If the Village Board approves this application, the following items must be received prior 
to issuance of the license: 
 

1. Payment of prorated annual license fees from the date of issuance to 
6/30/15 and the annual licenses fees from 7/1/15 through 6/30/16. 

2. Payment of publication costs. 
3. Certificate of Occupancy issued by the Community Development 

Department, Building Department and Fire & Rescue Department. 
 

 
* * * * * 







































1 

 

VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF MAY 18, 2015 

Consider Resolution #15-19 to deny the Comprehensive Plan Amendment to amend 

Appendix 9-3 Neighborhood Plan #2 for the Barnes Creek Neighborhood.  The Barnes Creek 

Neighborhood is bounded by 89th and 91st Streets on the north, STH 32 (Sheridan Road) on 

the east, STH 165 (104th Street) on the south and the Kenosha County Bike Trail on the 

west in the Village. 

 

On April 13, 2015, the Village Plan Commission held a public hearing and adopted Plan 

Commission Resolution #15-12 that recommended that the Village Board deny the Barnes 

Creek Neighborhood Plan Alternatives #1, #2 and #3 as presented at the April 13, 2015 

Plan Commission Meeting.  

Attachments included as part of the public record include:   

 Exhibit 1:  Village Staff Report of April 13, 2015 as presented at the Plan 

Commission meeting 

 Exhibit 2:  Plan Commission Resolution #15-12. 

 Exhibit 3:  April 13, 2015 Plan Commission minutes  

 

Based upon all of the facts, the Village Plan Commission recommends denial of the 

Alternative #1 Neighborhood Plan.  Specifically, the Neighborhood Plan is in 

conflict with the Comprehensive Land Use Plan and the B-2, Community Business 

Zoning District regulations and cannot be approved.  Furthermore, the Alternate 

#1 Neighborhood Plan commercial area identifying a proposed big box retail store 

is not compatible with the adjacent land uses.  In addition, the negative impacts 

as discussed at the Plan Commission meeting that would be generated from a big 

box retail store at this location far outweigh the benefits to the community. 

The Alternative #2 and #3 Neighborhood Plans warrant some consideration, 

however, with the addition of another property at the southwest corner of 

Sheridan Road and 91st Street as a community commercial land use as shown on 

the Neighborhood Plans there is a conflict with the Comprehensive Land Use Plan 

and these Neighborhood Plans cannot be approved until and unless there is an 

Amendment to the Comprehensive Land Use Plan to expand the community 

commercial designation further south. The Plan Commission also recommended 

denial of the Alternative #2 and #3 Neighborhood Plans. 



VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
RESOLUTION #15-19 

TO DENY THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO  
THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 

2035 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

BE WHEREAS, on December 19, 2009 the Village Board adopted the Village of 
Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan (Comprehensive Plan); and  

WHEREAS, the 2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan Map 9.9 sets forth the 
generalized land use designations of the Village and shall be consistent with other 
components of the Comprehensive Plan including Neighborhood Plans and the Village 
Zoning Map; and 

WHEREAS, Neighborhood Plans serve as a refinement to the 2035 Comprehensive 
Land Use Map and help the municipality plan for the future provision of public services, such 
as water, sanitary sewer, storm water management, police and fire protection, schools, 
parks and roadway and access improvements pursuant to the land uses identified on the 
2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan Map; and 

WHEREAS, the Village has received a request to amend the Barnes Creek 
Neighborhood Plan but not the Comprehensive Land Use Plan for this area of the Village; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Barnes Creek Neighborhood is generally bounded by 89th and 91st 
Streets on the north, STH 32 (Sheridan Road) on the east, STH 165 (104th Street) on the 
south and the Kenosha County Bike Trail on the west and is located in a part of U.S. Public 
Land Survey Section 24 of Township 1 North, Range 22 East and in a part of U.S. Public 
Land Survey Sections 13, 18 and 19 of Township 1 North, Range 23 East in the Village of 
Pleasant Prairie; and 

WHEREAS, the land owner requested approval of Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan 
Alternate #1, which is attached to this Resolution; and 

WHEREAS, the Village staff presented two (2) different versions of the plan referred 
to as Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Alternative #2 and Alternative #3, which are 
attached to this Resolution; and 

WHEREAS, on March 13, 2015 the required 30-day notice was published in the 
Kenosha News for the April 13, 2015 public hearing to be held by the Village Plan 
Commission and on March 10, 2015, notices were sent to property owners within 300 feet of 
the proposed Neighborhood Plan area; and 

WHEREAS, on April 13, 2015 the Village Plan Commission held a public hearing and 
pursuant to Sections 62.23 (3) (b) and 66.1001 (4) (b) of the Wisconsin Statutes, the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie Plan Commission recommended denial of the requested 
Alternative #1, Alternative #2 and Alternative #3 Neighborhood Plan Amendments to the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan for the following reasons: 

1. The Alternative #1 Neighborhood Plan is in conflict with the Comprehensive Land Use 
Plan and the B-2, Community Business Zoning District requirements so it cannot be 
approved.  Furthermore, the Alternate #1 Neighborhood Plan commercial area 
identifying a proposed big box retail store is not compatible with the adjacent land 
uses.  In addition, the negative impacts as identified in the Village Staff Report dated 
April 13, 2015 as presented at the Public Hearing that would be generated from a big 
box retail store within the Barnes Creek Neighborhood far outweigh the benefits to 
the community. 



2. The Alternative #2 and Alternative #3 Neighborhood Plans are in conflict with the 
Comprehensive Land Use Plan as it relates to the total area identified in the Land Use 
Plan for the community commercial designation; and  

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission further recommended that the Village Board deny the 
Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Alternatives #1, #2, and #3, for the reasons stated above, 
as they are not compliant with the Village of Pleasant Prairie 2035 Comprehensive Plan. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Village Board concurs with the Plan 
Commission’s recommendation and hereby denies the Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan 
Alternatives #1, #2, and #3, for the reasons stated above, as they are not compliant with 
the Village of Pleasant Prairie 2035 Comprehensive Plan. 

Adopted this 18th day of May, 2015. 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
ATTEST: 

 
 
  
John P. Steinbrink, 
Village President 

  
Jane M. Romanowski 
Village Clerk 
 
Posted:    
 
VB Resoution #15-19 Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan-Deny 

 



10

10

10

10

24

24

C

40

40

40

40

40

4040

40

40

40

40
40

40

40

2

2
2

2

2
2

2
22

2

2

2

2

24

2
2

2

2

2 2

C

Future
Barnes Creek
Neighborhood
    School and
               Park
26.4 Acres

70'

115'

70'

70'

70'

70'

115'

70'

70'

70'

70'

70' 70'

115'

70'

70'
56'

115'

56'

6

6
6

6

56'

82'

120'

120'

90'

2 2

2 2

2

2

2

2

2

2

48 48

* These units may not be able to be
developed due to the sewer depth and
capacity.

56'

* Right-of-Way
to be vacated

Private

Private

Private

Private

Barnes Creek

City of 
Kenosha

Ise
tts

 N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Ca
rol

 Be
ac

h N
ort

h N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Tobin Road Neighborhood

Vil
lag

e G
ree

n N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

* Wetlands to be filled
for road crossing

* Wetlands to be filled
for road crossing

104TH ST

SH
ER

ID
AN

 R
D

ST
H 

32

SPRINGBROOK RD

29
TH

 AV
E

27
TH

 AV
E

26
TH

 AV
E

24
TH

 AV
E

91ST ST

89TH ST

28
TH

 AV
E

29
TH

 AV
E

STH 165

Open Space

4

Ke
no

sh
a C

ou
nty

 B
ike

 Tr
ail

30,000
sq ft.

150,000
sq ft.

Truck
Turn-

around

Existing Sanitary Sewer Main

Existing Storm Main

40

Dumpsters

17
TH

 AV
E

16
TH

 AV
E

15
TH

 AV
E

*
Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA, 
Village of Pleasant Prairie
and City of Kenosha.

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and
Village of Pleasant Prairie*

*Type of intersection to 
be determined by TIA 
and WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

82'

Portions of the retention
ponds are located within
environmental corridor.

Further evaluation is
needed.

24

24

24

24

24

24 24

24
24

24

24

24

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10 10

1010
10

10
10

10

10

10

10

10

70'

56'Private

56'
Private

Private

¯0 400 800 1,200 1,600200
Feet

Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Alt. 1
Land Use

Government and Institutional

Open Space
Retention Pond
Future Single Family
Multi-Family

Existing Residential

Existing Right-Of-Way
Proposed Right-Of-Way
Proposed Parcels
100yr Floodplain

Right-Of-Way

Isolated Natural Resource Area
and Floodplain
Primary Environmental Corridor
and Floodplain

Interpolated Wetlands
Existing Parcels

Existing Contours
Spot ElevationsD

Existing Structures
Proposed Structures

                                           The Neighborhood contains a significant amount of land within the 100-year floodplain associated with the
 Barnes Creek and its tributaries.  Prior to consideration of any proposed development, floodplains within the portion of the 
Neighborhood area for the proposed development shall be field verified in accordance with the Village floodplain regulations. 
 Development in the floodplain is restricted to open spaces that do not interrupt the natural flow of the water.  Any development that 
constricts the flow of water or significantly reduces floodplain storage volumes may create upstream and/or downstream flooding
 problems or reduce the capacity of the floodplain to store water.  In some instances property can be removed from the floodplain 
provided proper approval is obtained from the Village and several other agencies including the Wisconsin Department of Natural 
Resources (DNR) and the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA).  Any area removed from the floodplain through the
 placement of fill must be contiguous to (next to) land lying outside the floodplain.  In addition, the volume of floodplain removal must 
be created in the vicinity of the filled area on a one-to-one basis.  The land that is removed from the floodplain must be filled to an 
elevation at least two (2) feet above the elevation of the 100-year flood elevation. 

FLOODPLAIN AREAS: 

                                       Similar to the floodplains, the Neighborhood contains a significant amount of land within wetlands.   
Prior to consideration of any proposed development, wetlands within the Neighborhood area proposed to be developed 
shall be field verified by a certified biologist and approved in writing from either the Wisconsin Department of 
Natural Resources or the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in accordance with the Village wetland regulations.

WETLAND AREAS: 

                             Pursuant to the 2035 Village of Pleasant Prairie Comprehensive Plan, the overall net density for the 
Barnes Creek Neighborhood is recommended to be within the Lower Medium Density Residential category, in that the 
average net density of the neighborhood shall be between 12,000 and 18,999 square feet per dwelling unit. This allows
 for areas of the neighborhood to have larger lots while some areas have smaller lots.  The Residential Units shown on
 this plan are estimates and the total number of units allowed may vary based on actual field verification of wetlands,
 floodplain, storm water facilities, soil suitability.    

UNIT COUNT:

                                                                         As with any development in the Village, when considering any proposed 
development, storm water facilities need to be provided within the development to manage the storm water.  At the time 
that any development plan is proposed for any portion of the Neighborhood, the developer’s engineer will be required to
 evaluate the development site, based on actual field conditions and shall present a storm water management facility
 plan which meets the Village requirements for Village review. 

STORM WATER RETENTION AREAS: 

Commercial

Proposed Commercial
Retention Pond

Source: Village of Pleasant Prairie
Date: June 17, 2014

rwilson
Stamp

rwilson
Sticky Note
MigrationConfirmed set by rwilson



2
2 2

2 2
2 2

2 2
2

3

3

3 3

6

6
6

3
3 3

3
3

3

3

3
6

3

3

3
3

3

3

6

33

3 6

3

3

6

6C

40

40

40

40

4040

40

40

40
40

40

40

2

2
2

2

2
2

2
22

2

2

2

2

6
6

6

6

6

6

6

6
6

22

22

2

2

2

2
2

2

2

2 2

C

6

Future
Barnes Creek
Neighborhood
    School and
               Park
26.4 Acres

70'

115'

70'

70'

70'

70'

115'

70'

70'

56'

70'

70'

70'

70' 70'

115'

70'

70'
56'

56'

115'

56'

56'

6

6
6

6

56'

82'

120'

120'

90'

2 2

2 2

2

2

2

2

2

2

48 48

* Th e se  units m a y not b e  a b le  to b e
de ve lope d due  to th e  se we r de pth  a nd
ca pa city.

56'

* Rig h t-of-W a y
to b e  va ca te d

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

Priva
te

Priva te

Priva te

Barnes Creek

City of 
Kenosha

Ise
tts

 N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Ca
rol

 Be
ac

h N
ort

h N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Tobin Road Neighborhood

Vil
lag

e G
ree

n N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

* W e tla nds to b e  fille d
for roa d crossing

* W e tla nds to b e  fille d
for roa d crossing

104TH ST

SH
ER

ID
AN

 R
D

ST
H 

32

SPRINGBROOK RD

29
TH

 AV
E

27
TH

 AV
E

26
TH

 AV
E

24
TH

 AV
E

91ST ST

89TH ST

28
TH

 AV
E

29
TH

 AV
E

STH 165

O pe n Spa c e

4

Ke
no

sh
a C

ou
nty

 Bi
ke

 Tr
ail

11000 sq ft

25000
sq ft

Existing  Sa nita ry Se we r Ma in

Existing  Storm  Ma in

40

17
TH

 AV
E

16
TH

 AV
E

15
TH

 AV
E

*
Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA, 
Village of Pleasant Prairie
and City of Kenosha.

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and
Village of Pleasant Prairie*

*Type of intersection to 
be determined by TIA 
and WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

82'

11000 sq ft24000 sq ft

15000
sq ft

8900
sq ft

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.*

¯0 400 800 1,200 1,600200
Fe e t

Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Alt. 2
Land Use

Gove rnm e nt a nd Institutiona l

O pe n Spa c e
Re te ntion Pond
Future  Sing le  Fa m ily
Multi-Fa m ily

Existing  Re side ntia l

Existing  Rig h t-O f-W a y
Propose d Rig h t-O f-W a y
Propose d Pa rce ls
100yr Floodpla in

Rig h t-O f-W a y

Isola te d Na tura l Re source  Are a
a nd Floodpla in
Prim a ry Environm e nta l Corridor
a nd Floodpla in

Inte rpola te d W e tla nds
Existing  Pa rce ls

Existing  Contours
Spot Ele va tionsD

Existing  Structure s
Propose d Structure s

                                           Th e  Ne ig h b orh ood conta ins a  sig nific a nt a m ount of la nd with in th e  100-ye a r floodpla in a ssocia te d with  th e
 Ba rne s Cre e k a nd its trib uta rie s.  Prior to conside ra tion of a ny propose d de ve lopm e nt, floodpla ins with in th e  portion of th e  
Ne ig h b orh ood a re a  for th e  propose d de ve lopm e nt sh a ll b e  fie ld ve rifie d in a ccorda nce  with  th e  Villa g e  floodpla in re g ula tions. 
 De ve lopm e nt in th e  floodpla in is re stric te d to ope n spa c e s th a t do not inte rrupt th e  na tura l flow of th e  wa te r.  Any de ve lopm e nt th a t 
constric ts th e  flow of wa te r or sig nifica ntly re duce s floodpla in stora g e  volum e s m a y cre a te  upstre a m  a nd/or downstre a m  flooding
 prob le m s or re duce  th e  ca pa city of th e  floodpla in to store  wa te r.  In som e  insta nc e s prope rty ca n b e  re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in 
provide d prope r a pprova l is ob ta ine d from  th e  Villa g e  a nd se ve ra l oth e r a g e ncie s including  th e  W isconsin De pa rtm e nt of Na tura l 
Re sourc e s (DNR) a nd th e  Fe de ra l Em e rg e ncy Ma na g e m e nt Ag e ncy (FEMA).  Any a re a  re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in th roug h  th e
 pla c e m e nt of fill m ust b e  contig uous to (ne xt to) la nd lying  outside  th e  floodpla in.  In addition, th e  volum e  of floodpla in re m ova l m ust 
b e  cre a te d in th e  vicinity of th e  fille d a re a  on a  one -to-one  b a sis.  Th e  la nd th a t is re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in m ust b e  fille d to a n 
e le va tion a t le a st two (2) fe e t a b ove  th e  e le va tion of th e  100-ye a r flood e le va tion. 

FLOODPLAIN AREAS: 

                                       Sim ila r to th e  floodpla ins, th e  Ne ig h b orh ood conta ins a  sig nific a nt a m ount of la nd with in we tla nds.   
Prior to conside ra tion of a ny propose d de ve lopm e nt, we tla nds with in th e  Ne ig h b orh ood a re a  propose d to b e  de ve lope d 
sh a ll b e  fie ld ve rifie d by a ce rtifie d b iolog ist a nd a pprove d in writing  from  e ith e r th e  W isconsin De pa rtm e nt of 
Na tura l Re sourc e s or th e  U.S. Arm y Corps of Eng ine e rs in a ccorda nce  with  th e  Villa g e  we tla nd re g ula tions.

WETLAND AREAS: 

                             Pursua nt to th e  2035 Villa g e  of Ple a sa nt Pra irie  Com pre h e nsive  Pla n, th e  ove ra ll ne t de nsity for th e  
Ba rne s Cre e k Ne ig h b orh ood is re com m e nde d to b e  with in th e  Lowe r Me dium  De nsity Re side ntia l ca te g ory, in th a t th e  
ave ra g e  ne t de nsity of th e  ne ig h b orh ood sh a ll b e  b e twe e n 12,000 a nd 18,999 squa re  fe e t pe r dwe lling  unit. Th is a llows
 for a re a s of th e  ne ig h b orh ood to h a ve  la rg e r lots wh ile  som e  a re a s h a ve  sm a lle r lots.  Th e  Re side ntia l Units sh own on
 th is pla n a re  e stim a te s a nd th e  tota l num b e r of units a llowe d m a y va ry b a se d on a c tua l fie ld ve rifica tion of we tla nds,
 floodpla in, storm  wa te r fa cilitie s, soil suita b ility.    

UNIT COUNT:

                                                                         As with  a ny de ve lopm e nt in th e  Villa g e , wh e n conside ring  a ny propose d 
de ve lopm e nt, storm  wa te r fa cilitie s ne e d to b e  provide d with in th e  de ve lopm e nt to m a na g e  th e  storm  wa te r.  At th e  tim e  
th a t a ny de ve lopm e nt pla n is propose d for a ny portion of th e  Ne ig h b orh ood, th e  de ve lope r’s e ng ine e r will b e  re quire d to
 e va lua te  th e  de ve lopm e nt site , b a se d on a c tua l fie ld conditions a nd sh a ll pre se nt a storm  wa te r m a na g e m e nt fa cility
 pla n wh ic h  m e e ts th e  Villa g e  re quire m e nts for Villa g e  re vie w. 

STORM WATER RETENTION AREAS: 

Com m e rcia l

Source : Villa g e  of Ple a sa nt Pra irie
Da te : Fe b rua ry 2015

8900
sq ft

15000
sq ft

24000 sq ft
16000 sq ft

20000
sq ft

12000 sq ft

11000
 sq ft

4.36a c

3.86a c

2.0a c

2.59a c

160'506' 236'

236'
248'

261'
390'

7.67a c

11.84a c



48

4

6

66

6

48

* Rig h t-of-W a y
to b e  va ca te d

82'26
TH

 AV
E

24
TH

 AV
E

27
TH

 AV
E

SPRINGBROOK RD

Priva te

56'

6
6

6

6

6

6

6
6

115'

Existing  Storm  Ma in

6

6

Priva
te

56'
2

2 2

2

2

2

2 2
56' Priva te

* Th e se  units m a y not b e  a b le  to b e
de ve lope d due  to th e  se we r de pth  a nd
ca pa city.

2

2 2
2

2

2 2

2

2

Priva te

56'

2

2

2

2

2 2

2

2

2

2
2

2

2

2

2
2 2

2

2

56'

Priva te

Future
Barnes Creek
Neighborhood
    School and
               Park
26.4 Acres

40

40 40
40

40

40

40

40

40
40

40

40

C

O pe n Spa c e

Priva te

56'

C 6

6

6

6

6

33

3

3

3

3 3

3

3

3 3

3

3

3

3 3

3

6

3

3

3

3

3

3

6

Priva te56'

56'

115'

70'

56'

70'

115'

Existing  Sa nita ry Se we r Ma in70'

29
TH

 AV
E

Ise
tts

 N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Ke
no

sh
a C

ou
nty

 Bi
ke

 Tr
ail

Vil
lag

e G
ree

n N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

29
TH

 AV
E

28
TH

 AV
E

STH 165

Tobin Road Neighborhood
104TH ST 90'

SH
ER

ID
AN

 R
D

120'

Ca
rol

 Be
ac

h N
ort

h N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

120'

ST
H 

32

8900
sq ft

15000
sq ft

24000 sq ft11000 sq ft

25000
sq ft

12000 sq ft

11000 sq ft

56'

56'

16
TH

 AV
E

17
TH

 AV
E

15
TH

 AV
E

90TH ST

89TH ST

92ND PL

6

* W e tla nds to b e  fille d
for roa d crossing

56'

56'

56'

56'

56'

56'

56'

*

*Type of intersection to be
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.*

*
Type of intersection to be
determined by TIA,
Village of Pleasant Prairie
and City of Kenosha.

City of 
Kenosha

*
Type of intersection to be
determined by TIA and
Village of Pleasant Prairie.

40
Priva te

Pri
va t
e

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

Pri
va
te

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

82'

Priva te

* Type of intersection to be
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

Barnes Creek

25'

40'

50'

10' 10'50'

60'

125'

40'

50'

Typica l Lot Layout for Sing le  Fa m ily 
or 1 unit condo

Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Alt. 3
Land Use Existing  Rig h t-O f-W a y

Propose d Rig h t-O f-W a y
Propose d Pa rce ls
100yr Floodpla in

Inte rpola te d W e tla nds
Existing  Pa rce ls

Existing  Contours
Spot Ele va tionsD

Rig h t-O f-W a y

Com m e rcia l
Gove rnm e nt a nd Institutiona l
Isola te d Na tura l Re source  Are a
a nd Floodpla in
Prim a ry Environm e nta l Corridor
a nd Floodpla in
O pe n Spa c e
Re te ntion Pond
Future  Sing le  Fa m ily
Multi-Fa m ily

Existing  Re side ntia l

¯0 400 800 1,200 1,600200
Fe e t

Existing  Structure s
Propose d Structure s

                                           Th e  Ne ig h b orh ood conta ins a  sig nific a nt a m ount of la nd with in th e  100-ye a r floodpla in a ssocia te d with  th e
 Ba rne s Cre e k a nd its trib uta rie s.  Prior to conside ra tion of a ny propose d de ve lopm e nt, floodpla ins with in th e  portion of th e  
Ne ig h b orh ood a re a  for th e  propose d de ve lopm e nt sh a ll b e  fie ld ve rifie d in a ccorda nce  with  th e  Villa g e  floodpla in re g ula tions. 
 De ve lopm e nt in th e  floodpla in is re stric te d to ope n spa c e s th a t do not inte rrupt th e  na tura l flow of th e  wa te r.  Any de ve lopm e nt th a t 
constric ts th e  flow of wa te r or sig nifica ntly re duce s floodpla in stora g e  volum e s m a y cre a te  upstre a m  a nd/or downstre a m  flooding
 prob le m s or re duce  th e  ca pa city of th e  floodpla in to store  wa te r.  In som e  insta nc e s prope rty ca n b e  re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in 
provide d prope r a pprova l is ob ta ine d from  th e  Villa g e  a nd se ve ra l oth e r a g e ncie s including  th e  W isconsin De pa rtm e nt of Na tura l 
Re sourc e s (DNR) a nd th e  Fe de ra l Em e rg e ncy Ma na g e m e nt Ag e ncy (FEMA).  Any a re a  re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in th roug h  th e
 pla c e m e nt of fill m ust b e  contig uous to (ne xt to) la nd lying  outside  th e  floodpla in.  In addition, th e  volum e  of floodpla in re m ova l m ust 
b e  cre a te d in th e  vicinity of th e  fille d a re a  on a  one -to-one  b a sis.  Th e  la nd th a t is re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in m ust b e  fille d to a n 
e le va tion a t le a st two (2) fe e t a b ove  th e  e le va tion of th e  100-ye a r flood e le va tion. 

FLOODPLAIN AREAS: 

                                       Sim ila r to th e  floodpla ins, th e  Ne ig h b orh ood conta ins a  sig nific a nt a m ount of la nd with in we tla nds.   
Prior to conside ra tion of a ny propose d de ve lopm e nt, we tla nds with in th e  Ne ig h b orh ood a re a  propose d to b e  de ve lope d 
sh a ll b e  fie ld ve rifie d by a ce rtifie d b iolog ist a nd a pprove d in writing  from  e ith e r th e  W isconsin De pa rtm e nt of 
Na tura l Re sourc e s or th e  U.S. Arm y Corps of Eng ine e rs in a ccorda nce  with  th e  Villa g e  we tla nd re g ula tions.

WETLAND AREAS: 

                             Pursua nt to th e  2035 Villa g e  of Ple a sa nt Pra irie  Com pre h e nsive  Pla n, th e  ove ra ll ne t de nsity for th e  
Ba rne s Cre e k Ne ig h b orh ood is re com m e nde d to b e  with in th e  Lowe r Me dium  De nsity Re side ntia l ca te g ory, in th a t th e  
ave ra g e  ne t de nsity of th e  ne ig h b orh ood sh a ll b e  b e twe e n 12,000 a nd 18,999 squa re  fe e t pe r dwe lling  unit. Th is a llows
 for a re a s of th e  ne ig h b orh ood to h a ve  la rg e r lots wh ile  som e  a re a s h a ve  sm a lle r lots.  Th e  Re side ntia l Units sh own on
 th is pla n a re  e stim a te s a nd th e  tota l num b e r of units a llowe d m a y va ry b a se d on a c tua l fie ld ve rifica tion of we tla nds,
 floodpla in, storm  wa te r fa cilitie s, soil suita b ility.    

UNIT COUNT:

                                                                         As with  a ny de ve lopm e nt in th e  Villa g e , wh e n conside ring  a ny propose d 
de ve lopm e nt, storm  wa te r fa cilitie s ne e d to b e  provide d with in th e  de ve lopm e nt to m a na g e  th e  storm  wa te r.  At th e  tim e  
th a t a ny de ve lopm e nt pla n is propose d for a ny portion of th e  Ne ig h b orh ood, th e  de ve lope r’s e ng ine e r will b e  re quire d to
 e va lua te  th e  de ve lopm e nt site , b a se d on a c tua l fie ld conditions a nd sh a ll pre se nt a storm  wa te r m a na g e m e nt fa cility
 pla n wh ic h  m e e ts th e  Villa g e  re quire m e nts for Villa g e  re vie w. 

STORM WATER RETENTION AREAS: 

Source : Villa g e  of Ple a sa nt Pra irie
Da te : Fe b rua ry 2015

8900
sq ft

15000
sq ft

24000 sq ft 16000 sq ft

12000 sq ft

20000
sq ft

11000
sq ft

236'160'506'

4.36a c

3.86a c

7.67a c

2.59a c

2.0a c

11.84a c

248'
236'

261'
390'



1 

 

VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF APRIL 13, 2015 

A. PUBLIC HEARING AND CONSIDERATION OF PLAN COMMISSION 

RESOLUTION #15-12 FOR A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT to 
amend Appendix 9-3 Neighborhood Plan #2 for the Barnes Creek 

Neighborhood.  The Barnes Creek Neighborhood is bounded by 89th and 91st 
Streets on the north, STH 32 (Sheridan Road) on the east, STH 165 (104th 
Street) on the south and the Kenosha County Bike Trail on the west in the 

Village. 

 

As part of the land division, planning and development process in the Village of 
Pleasant Prairie, a Neighborhood Plan must be created for each neighborhood 
geographic area to guide its development and that Neighborhood Plan must be 

consistent with all of the components of the Village’s 2035 Comprehensive Plan 
(which was adopted in 2009), including the Land Use Plan and the Zoning 

Ordinance.  

For historical reference, the first Comprehensive Plan for Pleasant Prairie was 
adopted in 1967 as a part of the Kenosha Urban Planning District.  Updates to this 

Plan were adopted in 1996 and then again in 2009, each time with extensive 
community input.  The current Comprehensive Plan guides Village Plan Commission 

and Village Board development decisions through the plan design year 2035. Each 
of these Comprehensive Plans and an analysis of their various components, along 

with citizen input were used to develop the current Land Use Plan.  

In the hierarchy of community planning, the Land Use Plan provides an overview of 
general land use types, intensity and density.  A Neighborhood Plan refines the 

Land Use Plan for a particular neighborhood. A Conceptual Plan provides additional 
details for a part of the Neighborhood Plan. Plats and Site and Operational Plans 

provide specific details for the Conceptual Plan -- that allows construction to take 
place on a certain site. (Planning hierarchy attached). 

 

Development of the Land Use Plan 

The Comprehensive Plan is an adopted blueprint which provides direction for the 

Village based upon a set of goals, objectives and recommendations that include 
Village policies and programs in order to guide the future development and 
redevelopment of public and private property. The Land Use Plan, which is a 

component of the Comprehensive Plan, contains a listing of the amount, type, 
intensity and density of existing and proposed uses of land in the Village. The Land 

Use Plan seeks to preserve and protect environmental, archeological and other 
significant lands.  The Land Use Plan analyzes trends in supply and demand of land 
uses, opportunities for redevelopment and potential for land use conflicts.  The 

Comprehensive Plan, adopted prior to the then State deadline of January 1, 2010 
also contains projections, based upon background information and research for the 

community’s growth for the next 25 years (or until 2035). (Current Land Use Plan 
attached). 

pherrick
Typewritten Text
Exhibit 1

pherrick
Typewritten Text

pherrick
Typewritten Text



2 

 

The Land Use Plan outlines the general types of land uses that are permitted in 
different areas. These land use types on the 2035 Land Use Plan include: 

Residential Lands –  

Low density, 19,000 square feet or more per dwelling unit, (yellow on map)  

Low-medium density, 12,000 to 18,999 square feet or more per dwelling unit,  
(tan on map)  
Upper-medium density, 6,200 to 11,999 square feet per dwelling unit,  

(orange on map)  
High density, less than 6,200 square feet per dwelling unit, (brown on map), 

 
Mixed Use Lands – (pink on the map) 

 

Commercial Lands – (red on the map) 

N Neighborhood Retail and Service Centers 

C Community Retail and Service Centers 
F Freeway-Oriented Service Centers 
O Freeway Office Centers 

R Freeway-Oriented Regional 
BA-1 PDD-1 Business Area 1 Sub-District 

BA-2 PDD-1 Business Area 2 Sub-District 
BA-3 PDD-1 Business Area 3 Sub-District 

 
Other Transportation, Communications and Utilities Lands – (purple on map) 

P Power Plant 

L Landfill 
RR Railroads 

W Weigh Station 
T Overhead High Tension Wires 
 

Governmental and Institutional Lands – (blue on map) 

M Municipal Administrative Offices 

F Fire Station 
P Police Station   
H Hospital 

E Public Elementary School 
MS Public Middle School 

S Public Senior High School  
 
Industrial Lands – (gray on map) 

L limited Industrial 
G General Industrial 

P Production and Manufacturing 
CA PDD-1 Core Area Sub District 
 



3 

 

Park and Recreation and Other Open Space Lands – (light green on the map) 

N Neighborhood Park 

C Community Park 
R Regional Park 

 

Environmentally Significant Lands (shades of green/blue and symbols) 

Primary and Secondary Environmental Corridors 

Isolated Natural Areas 
Wetlands 

Surface Waters 
Floodplain 
 

Urban Reserve Areas (cross-hatched areas ///////) –  

Urban Reserve Areas are lands that are set aside for future urban development.  

Reserve Areas are areas that could only develop after detailed Neighborhood 
Planning is completed and adopted and public infrastructure (sanitary sewer and 
water) is extended to serve the new growth. 

 

Development of a Neighborhood Plan  

For land use and infrastructure planning purposes, the Village is divided into 
neighborhoods, sub-neighborhoods and special planning districts. Each area varies 

in size but is about 1½ square miles in area and is typically bounded by 
transportation features--such as arterial roadways, railways or a body of water. 
Some neighborhood areas cross over into the adjacent City of Kenosha. There are 

33 such areas covering Pleasant Prairie. Neighborhood Plans are completed for 
these areas prior to development. (Village neighborhoods, sub-neighborhoods and 

special planning districts map attached). 

As previously noted a Neighborhood Plan is a more refined component of the Land 
Use Plan and is essential to the orderly growth of the community, because it 

establishes a framework within which future development can occur. A fairly recent 
example of how a Neighborhood Plan guide’s growth, can be observed in Pleasant 

Prairie’s Prairie Ridge Neighborhood. Planning for municipal services to 
accommodate development in the Prairie Ridge mixed-land use development area 
along Highway 50 between 88th and 104th Avenues began more than two (2) 

decades ago and has helped contribute to attractive and orderly growth that will be 
financially sustainable into the future for the community. 

Neighborhood Plans help municipalities plan for the future provision of public 
services, such as: water, sanitary sewer, storm water management, police and fire 
protection, schools, parks, and road improvements. In preparing a Neighborhood 

Plan many aspects are taken into consideration such as the: availability of 
municipal resources; capability of the transportation system; compatibility of 

adjacent land uses; preserving environmental, cultural and historical resources; 



4 

 

obtaining input from the community; examining urban design features, community 
character and architecture, and well as several other factors.  

Because the Village must remain capable of providing services as the community 
grows, the Village Board must be able to know with some amount of certainty what 

type of growth will occur and in which areas of the community. 

Despite having the ability to use planning to establish a guide for orderly 
development, the Village is not, for the most part, the driving force behind growth 

in the community. Private land owners are.  Private land owners decide when to sell 
and develop their property. Land owners, or developers who want to purchase their 

land approach the Village with a proposed idea or plan and a pre-application staff 
conference occurs. 

The Village reviews the land owner’s or a developer’s proposed plan to ensure that 

it falls within the framework established by both the Land Use Plan, subsequent 
Neighborhood Plan and the associated Zoning District regulations for the area. 

These reviews help the community determine if the uses proposed by a private land 
owner or developer are compatible with the existing surrounding land uses and 
planned future uses within the neighborhood. 

The reviews, which include research, analysis, meetings, engineering and traffic 
studies, plan reviews, telephone calls, environmental delineations and studies, 

evaluations, public input, public meetings and hearings.  These actions help the 
Village to determine if it can financially provide adequate municipal services for the 

new development without shifting any of the costs to existing taxpayers in the 
community. The Village has long followed the practice of requiring new 
development to pay its own way so that existing taxpayers would not have to 

shoulder the financial tax burden for new development. 

 

Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan(s) 

The Barnes Creek Neighborhood is bounded by: 89th and 91st Streets on the north, 
STH 32 (Sheridan Road) on the east, STH 165 (104th Street) on the south, and the 

Kenosha County Bike Trail on the west. The Neighborhood comprises a number of 
older residential areas, including Springbrook, Brookside Gardens and Hickory 

Grove Subdivisions on the north. There are a number of residential homes along 
28th and 29th Avenues in the southwest corner. The remainder of the area is 
primarily farmland but also includes some scattered home sites along the perimeter 

roadways, the outdoor Keno Drive-in Theater in the northeast corner and the 
Chesrow archeological site in the southeast corner of the Neighborhood. 

(Neighborhood boundary map attached). 

Generally, the Land Use Plan (attached) which is a part of the Village’s 2035 
Comprehensive Plan shows the following existing and future proposed uses in the 

Barnes Creek Neighborhood: several areas are designated as Low-medium density 
residential lands comprising a mixture of single family and multi-family housing 

(located throughout the neighborhood); an area is designated for  community retail 
and service center, which currently has an existing local outdoor drive-in theater on 
the property (located at the southwest corner of STH 32 (Sheridan Road) and 91st 



5 

 

Street; a governmental and institutional land area is designated for the  existing St. 
Joseph nursing home facility (located at the northwest corner of 93rd Street and 29th 

Avenue); a governmental and institutional land area is shown for a future public 
elementary school/neighborhood park in the south central area; and 

environmentally significant land areas are identified as  environmental corridors, 
isolated natural areas, wetland/floodplain areas, and other related open space along 
the Barnes Creek waterway and its tributaries.   

 

Land Owner’s Request for the Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan  

The Village has established a very detailed development review process as set forth 
in Municipal Code Chapter 395, the Land Division and Development Control 
Ordinance.  To further provide direction to land owners, the Village staff conducts a 

pre-application staff conference and also provides a ”Developer Checklist for Land 
Divisions and Developments” which describes the steps required when proposing 

new development in the Village. 

The request to complete a Neighborhood Plan for the Barnes Creek Neighborhood 
was submitted by the land owner who was interested in selling his property for a 

big box development to be located at the southwest corner of STH 32 (Sheridan 
Road) and 91st Street to replace the current commercial land use--the Keno Drive-

In outdoor theater at the location.     

In order to obtain direction from the community, the land owner has requested 

approval of Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Alternative #1 that depicts a 150,000 
square foot big box retail supercenter at the southwest corner of 91st Street and 
STH 32 (Sheridan Road). This Alternative also presents a slightly higher overall 

residential density than what is allowed for in the current Land Use Plan. 
(Alternative #1 attached).  

Due to Village staff concerns for the proposed land uses presented in Alternative 
#1, the staff has drafted two (2) additional Neighborhood Plan Alternatives for 
comment and consideration. (Alternatives #2 and #3 attached). Both Alternatives 

#2 and #3 prepared by Village staff are compliant with both: 1) the existing the 
Community Retail and Service Center land use designation and the B-2, Community 

Business Zoning District for the area in the northeast corner of the Neighborhood, 
with the exception of the expansion of the commercial area slightly further south 
(one lot south) and 2) the overall residential land use density as provided for in the 

Land Use Plan.  Therefore in addition to the Neighborhood Plan, an Amendment to 
the Land Use Plan would be required. 

There are some similarities to all three (3) plan Alternatives and there some are 
major differences in certain respects to the Alternative plans.  All three (3) 
Neighborhood Plans are described in greater detail below. 

 

 

 

 



6 

 

Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Overview by Land Use Type 

 

RESIDENTIAL LANDS:  Each Neighborhood Plan Alternative shows the existing 
324 single family residential units (tan color on map) and encompasses 

approximately 211.5 acres.  This includes areas west of 22nd Avenue north of 93rd 
Street, an area north of STH 165 (104th Avenue), areas adjacent to both 28th and 
29th Avenues and areas adjacent to 91st Street and STH 32 (Sheridan Road).  In 

addition, each Alternative includes the existing units at St. Joseph’s residential 
apartments.  Proposed residential land by various conceptual density types is 

shown throughout the northern, central and southern portions of the Neighborhood. 
It is important to note that while the number of multi-family units is shown on each 
building, the total number of buildings is not an automatic approval of that exact 

number of units shown for each development project—as each individual project is 
still required to meet certain standards for setbacks, fire access and parking.  This 

analysis is more critically reviewed and approved at the Conceptual Plan step.  The 
chart below provides a breakdown of the number of existing and proposed 
residential units by building type in each Alternative. (Chart provided below). 

 

Residential Unit Type Alternative 

#1 

Alternative 

#2 

Alternative 

#3 

Exiting Single Family  324 324 324 

Exiting Multi-family 40  40 40 

Proposed Single Family 
Units   

203  203 285 

Proposed 2-Unit buildings  86  96 92 

Proposed 4-Unit buildings  4  4 4 

Proposed 6-Unit buildings  24  132 132 

Proposed 10-Unit buildings  280  280 280 

Proposed 24-Unit buildings  360  0 0 

Proposed 40-Unit buildings  560  480 480 

Proposed 48-Unit buildings  96 96 96 

Total Units 1,977 1,651 1,733 

Area of Residential 

(acres) 

506.4 505.6 524.7 

Net Residential Density 

(units/acre) 

3.90 3.27 3.30 

Average Lot Size per 

unit (square feet) 

11,158 13,339 13,188 



7 

 

In accordance with the Village Land Use Plan, the overall net density for the 
Neighborhood is recommended to be within the Low-Medium Density Residential 

land use category with the average lot area being between 12,000 square feet 
18,999 square feet per dwelling unit.  This allows for some areas of the 

Neighborhood to have larger residential lots while some areas have smaller 
residential lots or multi-family unit development.  The net density of the Alternative 
#1 has an average lot size per dwelling unit of 11,128 square feet which is outside 

the lot size per dwelling allowed for this Neighborhood. Alternatives #2 and #3 
(have an average lot size per unit of 13,339 and 13,188 square feet, respectively) 

and are within the density range provided in the Land Use Plan. 

 

POPULATION PROJECTIONS FOR THE NEIGHBORHOOD:  The vacant portions 

of this Neighborhood will not develop until the land owners wish to develop their 
land; which makes neighborhood planning essential for the orderly growth of the 

community.  The Neighborhood Plan is used by the community to evaluate the 
proposed population growth patterns in order to track growth on an incremental 
basis as the Neighborhood develops over time so that it can be appropriately 

served by the municipality. 

Based on the 2010 Census information for the Village of Pleasant Prairie, the 

average number of persons per household is 2.71 and school age children between 
the ages of 5 and 19 make up 22.6% of the population.  The Village provides copies 

of proposed developments to the Kenosha Unified School District (KUSD) to assist 
in their long range planning.  Pursuant to the information provided by the KUSD for 
Pleasant Prairie, 42% of the new dwelling units will have new students that will 

attend public schools.   

The long range population projections at full build out (2035) for each 

Neighborhood Plan Alternative are shown below: (Chart provided below). 

 

 Alternative 
#1 

Alternative 
#2 

Alternative 
#3 

Current Population 986 986 986 

Proposed 
Population 

5358 4474 4696 

Estimate of School 
Age Children 

830 693 728 

 

COMMUNITY COMMERCIAL AREAS:  All three (3) plans show a commercial area 

at the southwest corner of STH 32 (Sheridan Road) and 91st Street.  However, the 
areas shown for all three (3) Alternative Plans are not consistent with the Village 

Comprehensive Plan.  The Comprehensive Plan requires that the Land Use Plan and 
the Neighborhood Plan(s) be consistent with the Village Zoning Ordinances (Zoning 
Map and Text).  As such, the Village established specific Zoning Districts to reflect 

the various commercial land use designations identified in the Land Use Plan.  The 



8 

 

Land Use Plan identifies land on this corner as a Community Retail and Service 
Center to provide community level retail or service facilities in a medium density 

residential urban area.  Specifically, the Community Retail and Service Center area 
corresponds with the B-2, Community Business Zoning District which only allows for 

buildings to range in size from 4,000 to 25,000 square feet and is intended to 
provide for a cluster of retail, service and office uses.   

Alternative #1:  Shows approximately 19.3 acres that encroach into a portion of the 

environmental areas to the west.  This Alternative shows a 150,000 square foot big 
box retail store at the corner and a 30,000 square foot building to the south.   As 

indicated previously a 150,000 square foot big box retail store shown in Alternative 
#1 is six (6) times larger than the maximum commercial building size (25,000 
square feet) allowed in the B-2 District. 

It’s important to note that Alternative #1 provides for a land use that would be 
classified in the Village’s Land Use Plan as a Freeway-Oriented Regional Retail 

Center land use designation.  This land use designation corresponds with the B-3, 
Regional Retail Business District which would allow for “big box retail” with a 
minimum floor area of 50,000 square feet per building.  The Freeway-Oriented 

Regional Retail Center land use designations as specified in the Land Use Plan in 
areas near I-94 freeway interchanges and the Land Use Plan anticipates a 

continued strong demand for regional retail development along I-94.   

Alternatives #2 and #3:  Show similar commercial layouts with approximately 18.3 

acres of commercial land with no encroachment to the environmental features.  
Both alternatives indicate small commercial buildings ranging in size from 8900 
square feet to 24,000 square feet and comply with the Comprehensive Land Use 

Plan, with the minor exception of the additional commercial area added to the 
south.  The smaller commercial development would be created to meet the 

requirements of the B-2 District with no more than 25,000 square feet permit 
building on its own parcels.  Six (6) parcels could be created each meeting the 
minimum 2-acre lot size with a minimum of 150 feet on a public road as required 

by the corresponding zoning (B-2 Community Business District).  These Alternatives 
would require shared parking and cross access agreements. 

The southernmost commercial lot on each alternative (Alternative#1:  30,000 
square foot building and Alternatives #2 and #3:  11,000 square foot building) is 
not identified on the Land Use Plan as commercial.  If any of the alternatives are 

being considered for approval, it is important to note that the Land Use Plan Map 
would need to be amended first to include this area in the Community Retail and 

Service Center land use designation. 

In addition, Alternative #1 does not comply with the Land Use Plan, as stated 
above.  The commercial (Community Retail and Service Center) land use 

designation corresponds with the B-2, Community Business District which does not 
allow for the “big box retail” shown in Alternative #1.  If Alternative #1 is approved 

an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan, not only the Land Use Plan but other 
areas of the Comprehensive Plan would need to be amended to allow for “big box 
retail” at this corner.  In addition, the corresponding commercial land use 

designation would more likely be “Freeway-Oriented Regional Retail Center” 
therefore, a new policy direction would need to be provided and re-evaluated to 



9 

 

determine if “big box retail” should be allowed in other areas of the Village not just 
by the freeway.  If this direction is pursued, other changes to the Zoning Ordinance 

may also be required since the Comprehensive Plan and the Zoning Ordinance shall 
be consistent. 

 
GOVERNMENT/INSTITUTIONAL AREA:  All three (3) Alternatives show 
approximately 40.8 acres of land identified as Governmental/Institutional land uses, 

including: the existing St. Joseph’s facility at the northwest corner of 93rd Street 
and 29th Avenue and a site (approximately 26.4 acres) for a future elementary 

school and park site along STH 165 (104th Street) and 22nd Avenue.  The Village 
staff continues to work with the Kenosha Unified School District on proposed 
developments and the locating of future schools.  This site is intended for 

development in approximately 15-20 years depending on the development status of 
the surrounding neighborhood and the need for another elementary school. 

 
OPEN SPACE AREAS:  This Neighborhood Plan includes the following types of open 
space:  public park (Brookside Gardens Park), primary environmental corridor, 

isolated natural areas, wetlands, 100-year floodplain and other open space.  Open 
spaces ranges from 267.5 acres to 331.9 acres in the three (3) alternatives and are 

the green and grey areas on the Neighborhood Plans. 

 Alternative #1: identifies approximately 267.5 acres or 30.3% of the lands 

within the Neighborhood would remain as open space.   

 Alternative #2:  identifies approximately 268.7 acres or 30.5% of the lands 
within the Neighborhood would remain as open space.   

 Alternative #3:  identifies approximately 331.9 acres or 37.7% of the lands 
within the Neighborhood would remain as open space.   

Each Alternative shows the existing 10-acre Public Park (Brookside Garden Park) 
located between 26th and 24th Avenues south of 91st Street and the Kenosha County 
Bike Trail along the west boundary of the Neighborhood. 

Each Alternative shows 31.3 acres of Isolated Natural Areas (shown as grey on 
the plans.)  Isolated Natural Areas may include wetlands, floodplain or woodlands 

that pursuant to the Village Land Use Plan shall be preserved and protected. 

Each Alternative shows 166.4 acres of Primary Environmental Corridor (darker 
green area). 

Each Alternative shows the location of the 100-year floodplain.  The floodplain is 
located adjacent to the Barnes Creek and its tributaries throughout the 

neighborhood.  Prior to consideration of any Conceptual Plans or detailed Site and 
Operational Plans on these properties, the 100-year floodplain shall be field verified 
in accordance with the Village floodplain maps and ordinance regulations.  Any 

development that constricts the flow of water or significantly reduces floodplain 
storage volumes and which may create upstream and/or downstream flooding 

problems or reduces the capacity of the floodplain to store water is prohibited.  In 
some instances, property can be removed from the floodplain provided proper 
approvals are obtained from the Village and several other agencies including the 



10 

 

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WI DNR) and the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA).  Any area removed from the floodplain through the 

placement of fill must be contiguous to land lying outside the floodplain.  In 
addition, the volume of floodplain removal must be created in the vicinity of the 

filled area on a one-to-one basis.  The land that is removed from the floodplain 
must be filled to an elevation of at least two (2) feet above the elevation of the 
100-year regional flood elevation.  

Each alternative shows the location of interpolated wetlands.  Prior to 
consideration of any Conceptual Plans or detailed Site and Operational Plans, the 

wetlands shall be field verified by a certified biologist in accordance with the Village 
wetland regulations and approved by the WI DNR.  Upon field verification of 
wetlands the Neighborhood Plan may need to be altered to reflect actual conditions.  

The wetland areas are intended to be preserved and protected from Development 
with the exception of a few public roads crossing that will be discussed in the traffic 

section.  Any wetlands that are proposed to be filled do require approval for the WI 
DNR and the Army Corp of Engineers (ACOE). 

Note wetlands and floodplains may overlap and may also be part of the primary 

environmental corridor or isolated natural areas throughout the Neighborhood. 

Each alternative indicates other open space areas and this is what causes the 

variation in the open space percentages for each plan.  Alternatives #1 and #2 are 
very similar in that the public road layout patterns are the same and the layout of 

the future single family lots are the same.   

The multi-family unit areas are the similar but the total number of units is different 
between Alternatives #1 and #2.  Alternative #3 shows fewer public roads and 

more private roads.  Alternative #3 identifies very few new typical single family lots 
but explores a new concept of single family units that would be similar to a 

condominium with the open spaces around each single unit to be common open 
space for the development.  These single family units would front private roads and 
the intent is that every unit abuts an open space area.  The proposed location of 

this new single family concept is in the same location as shown in Alternative #1 
and #2; however, there is greater open space in Alternative #3.   The multi-family 

areas on Alternative #2 and #3 are the same.  Further discussion related to 
residential areas and transportation has been discussed above. 

The other open spaces include future storm water management facilities (retention 

basins) shown on each alternative.  At the time that Conceptual Plans or detailed 
Site and Operational Plans are submitted for any portion of the Neighborhood, the 

developer’s engineer will be required to evaluate the development site, based on 
actual field conditions and shall present a storm water management facility plan 
which meets the Village requirements.  

 

Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plans Overview Analysis  

1. Availability of sanitary sewer and water analysis – For all three (3) 

Neighborhood Plan Alternatives all new residential, governmental and 
institutional and commercial development are required to be connected to 



11 

 

municipal sanitary sewer and water facilities as a condition of development 
approval.  For any new residential development to occur in the 

Neighborhood, sanitary sewer would need to be extended from south to 
north (based on the grade of the land and the depth of the sanitary sewer 

line).  All new residential development would likely need to begin near STH 
165 (104th Avenue) and progress towards the north.   

New commercial development as proposed at the southwest corner of 91st 

Street and Sheridan Road would not be able to develop until a new water 
distribution line project is completed in 2016, along Sheridan Road. (In the 

Village’s Capital Improvements Plan, the Village had planned for a new water 
distribution line along Sheridan Road in order to protect the integrity of its 
two (2) main water transmission lines that transport water from the Kenosha 

Water Utility into Pleasant Prairie). This commercial corner already has a 
temporary access to municipal sanitary sewer on 91st Street.  Additional 

development or redevelopment would require access to the sanitary sewer 
main located at about 92nd Street at Sheridan Road. 

All other lands to be developed would be required to have these services 

extended prior to development. 

2. Transportation system and access analysis – All new residential, 

governmental and institutional and commercial development must evaluate 
the traffic impact generated by the new development.  This analysis typically 

begins at the Neighborhood Plan review step.  Roadways must be designed 
and specific access defined to allow traffic to move throughout the 
neighborhood and community.   

The Barnes Creek Neighborhood is adjacent to two (2) State highways, STH 
165 (104th Street) on the south and STH 32 (Sheridan Road) on the east.  

89th Street, 91st Street, 93rd Street, Springbrook Road and 22nd Avenue serve 
as local arterial or collector streets within the Barnes Creek Neighborhood.  
These State highways and local arterial and collector streets carry local traffic 

and traffic for those passing through the community.   

A Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) is required to be completed by a traffic 

engineer to determine the amount of right-of-way needed, type of 
improvements required to address the future traffic increases, type of 
intersection improvements needed, and location and number of driveway 

access points to continue to move traffic in and around the area. The TIA will 
also provide timelines as to when improvements may be warranted based 

upon proposed development patterns.  A preliminary TIA study (attached) 
has already been prepared by the Wal-Mart Super Center traffic consultant 
for their proposed big box development.  There are several preliminary 

comments/concerns from both the Village and the WI Department of 
Transportation (WI DOT) regarding the impacts of the proposed big box retail 

store on the adjacent and nearby roadway system (as reflected in the Traffic 
Study and WI DOT letter dated June 27, 2013 attached). Also, since 91st 
Street is in the City of Kenosha jurisdiction, the City will also need to be 

afforded the opportunity to provide comments regarding the Traffic Study 
and required improvements.   



12 

 

It is important to note that a TIA not only looks at existing traffic counts but 
puts great emphasis on future traffic counts to be generated, which is based 

on the land uses being proposed.  The TIA cannot be completed for final 
review and evaluation until a Neighborhood Plan is completed and adopted.    

All of the Neighborhood Plan Alternatives #1, #2 and #3 show existing and 
proposed access roadways and driveways to the local arterials, collector 
streets and State highways generally at the same locations.  Some 

intersections are shown as a typical 4-way intersection (which may or may 
not include stop signs or signals) and some are shown as roundabouts.   As 

noted on each of the Alternatives, the type of intersection will be determined 
by the TIA.   The TIA will need to be approved by the WI DOT, the Village 
and the City of Kenosha.  

Neighborhood planning also involves examining how other local roadways 
connect to these arterials and how traffic will flow throughout the 

neighborhood.  Due to the larger amount of environmental features within 
the Neighborhood, two (2) main boulevard streets are being proposed on all 
three (3) Alternatives.  There is a proposed north/south boulevard with 

roundabouts connecting to STH 165 on the south at 22nd Avenue and to the 
north at Springbrook Road and 29th Avenue.  There is an east/west boulevard 

leading from STH 32 (Sheridan Road) at 97th Street and extending west to 
28th and 29th Avenues. These collector roadways intersect in the center of the 

Neighborhood with another roundabout. These roadway locations were 
carefully laid out based on existing environmental features of the site with 
limited crossings of environmental areas at the narrowest parts.  Roadway 

crossings of these environmental features require detailed environmental 
delineations, surveys, and detailed engineering plans, along with approvals 

and permits from other government agencies.  The Village staff believes that 
these two (2) boulevard collector roadways are very important in moving 
traffic throughout this Neighborhood.     

3. Compatibility with adjacent land uses analysis – The Alternate #1 
Neighborhood Plan commercial area (for a proposed big box retail store) is 

not compatible with the adjacent land uses.  The negative impacts to be 
generated from the development at this location far outweigh the benefits to 
the community. Big box retail development should be located in proximity to 

other retail uses in a freeway regional area or regional commercial area 
where the surrounding residential land uses would not be negatively 

impacted by the operations of the commercial activities. The regional retail 
commercial operations could negatively impact the quality of life for residents 
in close proximity to the development, along with place undue burdens on 

the local community for services.  Such negative impacts could include, but 
would not be limited to: traffic congestion; noises from vehicles, trucks, back 

up truck beeping, banging of trucks; garbage dumpster and compactor usage 
and collection noises; parking lot and building light pollution; garbage and 
debris; stray shopping carts; electronic signage flashing/glare; patrons on 

site after hours; increases in crime; site and landscaping maintenance 
issues; and illegal pods and trailer storage brought on site to deal with 

surplus goods and services.  



13 

 

4. Preservation of environmental and archeological resources analysis – As 
reflected in the Neighborhood Plans, the Village staff is recommending the 

preservation of the environmental corridors and the wooded isolated natural 
areas within the neighborhood.  For the most part, these areas are 

interconnected by the Barnes Creek and its tributaries.  At the southeast 
corner of the Neighborhood is a property that was donated by the land owner 
and designated as an archeological site—referred to as the Chesrow site.   

5. Compliance with the Village’s land division and development control process - 

While the Village has not yet received any formally submitted application 

request for an Amendment to the Comprehensive Land Use Plan modification 
on behalf of the land owner or retailer, a rough draft of a Wal-Mart 
Conceptual Plan (attached) and preliminary Traffic Study were submitted 

for the Village staff’s initial review and an initial pre-application staff 
conference was held regarding the placement of a big box retailer at the 

referenced location. 
 
Because the size of the big box store depicted in the land owner’s proposed 

Neighborhood Plan is six (6) times larger than the maximum commercial 
building size currently allowed in this area and because of the higher 

residential housing density proposed in the neighborhood, the developer 
must request Amendments to the 2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan and 

the Zoning Map and Text in order to proceed. Under the Village’s current 
master planning document (the Village 2035 Plan) and the corresponding 
zoning (B-2 Community Business District), the maximum commercial building 

size currently allowed on this corner is 25,000 square feet.  In addition, the 
density proposed is higher than that allowed for in the Land Use Plan. 

As indicated previously, the Village’s Land Division and Development Control 
Ordinance and the Developer’s Checklist sets forth required steps to follow 
for the approval process in the community.  As noted in a January 22, 2015 

Village staff letter to the landowner, “in order for the Village to process the 
landowner’s request for the Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan, which will be a 

component of the Village’s Comprehensive Plan, a complete application shall 
be submitted along with the required application fee ($225) for a 
Comprehensive Plan Amendment.  The application shall be in the form of 

written letter that details the specific amendments to the Village 
Comprehensive Plan that you are requesting”.  This direction was again 

provided by the Village staff in a letter to the land owner on February 22, 
2015.  

As noted in the letter, “Upon receipt of the required application materials, the 

Village staff will process your request in a timely manner; however, we feel 
obliged to caution you that your proposed Neighborhood Plan for Barnes 

Creek (Alternative 1) does not comply with the Village Comprehensive Land 
Use Plan in that the southwest corner of STH 32 and 91st Street, which is 
identified as Commercial (Community Retail and Service Center) would not 

allow for the “Big Box Retail” that you are proposing at this location”. In 
addition, the Village staff indicated again to the landowner that the 



14 

 

Comprehensive Plan component--Land Use Plan--must be amended either 
prior to or at the same time as consideration of the Neighborhood Plan.   The 

request for the Comprehensive Land Use Plan Amendment was not 
submitted. 

6. Economic impact on the Village services – The Village has made a land use 
commitment about 20 years ago that major regional retail and big box retail 
centers in the community would be located along the IH-94 freeway in 

proximity to STH 165 and along STH 50 with Village’s resources for major 
retail services focused in those areas.  Locating a major big box retailer on 

the east end of the community does not allow for an efficient and effective 
use of the Village’s municipal resources.  

7. Examining urban design features, community character and architecture – 

Urban design features, community character and architecture would need to 
be closely reviewed and approved for the entire Neighborhood.  The Village 

has not yet received any detailed architectural plans for a big box retail store 
for review.  The architectural design of the building and site is critically 
important to the review of the property and its future use. 

 

In order to obtain public input on these Neighborhood Plan Alternatives, the Village 

sent the required notices to property owners within the neighborhood and within 
300 feet of the neighborhood boundaries and posted and published the required 30 

day notice in the Kenosha News.   In addition, the Village, on its website solicited 
public input in Open Village Hall Forum. 

As a point of information, public comments received are attached.  

 
VILLAGE STAFF COMMENTS 

Based upon all of the facts, the Village staff recommends denial of the 
Alternative #1 Neighborhood Plan.  Specifically, the Neighborhood Plan is 
in conflict with the Comprehensive Land Use Plan and the B-2, Community 

Business Zoning District regulations and cannot be approved.  
Furthermore, the Alternate #1 Neighborhood Plan commercial area 

identifying a proposed big box retail store is not compatible with the 
adjacent land uses.  In addition, the negative impacts as discussed in this 

memorandum that would be generated from a big box retail store at this 
location far outweigh the benefits to the community. 

The Alternative #2 and #3 Neighborhood Plans warrant some 

consideration, however, with the addition of another property at the 
southwest corner of Sheridan Road and 91st Street as a community 

commercial land use as shown on the Neighborhood Plans there is a 
conflict with the Comprehensive Land Use Plan and these Neighborhood 
Plans cannot be approved until and unless there is an Amendment to the 

Comprehensive Land Use Plan to expand the community commercial 
designation further south. The Village staff recommends denial of the 

Alternative #2 and #3 Neighborhood Plans. 



VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE PLAN COMMISSION 
RESOLUTION #15-12 

TO AMEND THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 
2035 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

 

WHEREAS, on December 19, 2009 the Village Board adopted the Village of Pleasant 
Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan (Comprehensive Plan); and  

WHEREAS, the 2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan Map 9.9 sets forth the 
generalized land use designations of the Village and shall be consistent with other 
components of the Comprehensive Plan including Neighborhood Plans and the Village 
Zoning Map; and 

WHEREAS, Neighborhood Plans serve as a refinement to the 2035 Comprehensive 
Land Use Map and help the municipality plan for the future provision of public services, such 
as water, sanitary sewer, storm water management, police and fire protection, schools, 
parks and roadway and access improvements pursuant to the land uses identified on the 
2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan Map; and 

WHEREAS, the Village has received a request to amend the Barnes Creek 
Neighborhood Plan but not the Comprehensive Land Use Plan for this area of the Village; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Barnes Creek Neighborhood is generally bounded by 89th and 91st 
Streets on the north, STH 32 (Sheridan Road) on the east, STH 165 (104th Street) on the 
south and the Kenosha County Bike Trail on the west and is located in a part of U.S. Public 
Land Survey Section 24 of Township 1 North, Range 22 East and in a part of U.S. Public 
Land Survey Sections 13, 18 and 19 of Township 1 North, Range 23 East in the Village of 
Pleasant Prairie; and 

WHEREAS, the land owner requested approval of Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan 
Alternate #1, which is attached to this Resolution; and 

WHEREAS, the Village staff presented two (2) different versions of the plan referred 
to as Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Alternative #2 and Alternative #3, which are 
attached to this Resolution; and 

WHEREAS, on March 13, 2015 the required 30-day notice was published in the 
Kenosha News for the April 13, 2015 public hearing to be held by the Village Plan 
Commission and on March 10, 2015, notices were sent to property owners within 300 feet of 
the proposed Neighborhood Plan area; and 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that pursuant to Sections 62.23 (3) (b) and 
66.1001 (4) (b) of the Wisconsin Statutes, the Village of Pleasant Prairie Plan Commission 
hereby recommends denial of the requested Alternative #1 and Alternative #2 and 
Alternative #3 Neighborhood Plan Amendments to the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 
2035 Comprehensive Plan for the following reasons: 

1. The Alternative #1 Neighborhood Plan is in conflict with the Comprehensive Land Use 
Plan and the B-2, Community Business Zoning District requirements so it cannot be 
approved.  Furthermore, the Alternate #1 Neighborhood Plan commercial area 
identifying a proposed big box retail store is not compatible with the adjacent land 
uses.  In addition, the negative impacts as identified in the Village Staff Report dated 
April 13, 2015 as presented at the Public Hearing that would be generated from a big 
box retail store within the Barnes Creek Neighborhood far outweigh the benefits to 
the community. 

 



2. The Alternative #2 and Alternative #3 Neighborhood Plans are in conflict with the 
Comprehensive Land Use Plan as it relates to the total area identified in the Land Use 
Plan for the community commercial designation. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Plan Commission does hereby recommend that 
the Village Board deny the Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Alternatives #1, #2, and #3, 
for the reasons stated above, as they are not compliant with the Village of Pleasant Prairie 
2035 Comprehensive Plan. 

Adopted this 13th day of April, 2015. 

 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
ATTEST: 
        
       ____________________________ 

Thomas W. Terwall 
____________________________   Plan Commission Chairman 
Donald Hackbarth 
Secretary 
 
Date Posted: ____________ 
 
12-comp plan amendments- barnes creek neighborhood plan amend 



10

10

10

10

24

24

C

40

40

40

40

40

4040

40

40

40

40
40

40

40

2

2
2

2

2
2

2
22

2

2

2

2

24

2
2

2

2

2 2

C

Future
Barnes Creek
Neighborhood
    School and
               Park
26.4 Acres

70'

115'

70'

70'

70'

70'

115'

70'

70'

70'

70'

70' 70'

115'

70'

70'
56'

115'

56'

6

6
6

6

56'

82'

120'

120'

90'

2 2

2 2

2

2

2

2

2

2

48 48

* These units may not be able to be
developed due to the sewer depth and
capacity.

56'

* Right-of-Way
to be vacated

Private

Private

Private

Private

Barnes Creek

City of 
Kenosha

Ise
tts

 N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Ca
rol

 Be
ac

h N
ort

h N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Tobin Road Neighborhood

Vil
lag

e G
ree

n N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

* Wetlands to be filled
for road crossing

* Wetlands to be filled
for road crossing

104TH ST

SH
ER

ID
AN

 R
D

ST
H 

32

SPRINGBROOK RD

29
TH

 AV
E

27
TH

 AV
E

26
TH

 AV
E

24
TH

 AV
E

91ST ST

89TH ST

28
TH

 AV
E

29
TH

 AV
E

STH 165

Open Space

4

Ke
no

sh
a C

ou
nty

 B
ike

 Tr
ail

30,000
sq ft.

150,000
sq ft.

Truck
Turn-

around

Existing Sanitary Sewer Main

Existing Storm Main

40

Dumpsters

17
TH

 AV
E

16
TH

 AV
E

15
TH

 AV
E

*
Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA, 
Village of Pleasant Prairie
and City of Kenosha.

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and
Village of Pleasant Prairie*

*Type of intersection to 
be determined by TIA 
and WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

82'

Portions of the retention
ponds are located within
environmental corridor.

Further evaluation is
needed.

24

24

24

24

24

24 24

24
24

24

24

24

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10 10

1010
10

10
10

10

10

10

10

10

70'

56'Private

56'
Private

Private

¯0 400 800 1,200 1,600200
Feet

Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Alt. 1
Land Use

Government and Institutional

Open Space
Retention Pond
Future Single Family
Multi-Family

Existing Residential

Existing Right-Of-Way
Proposed Right-Of-Way
Proposed Parcels
100yr Floodplain

Right-Of-Way

Isolated Natural Resource Area
and Floodplain
Primary Environmental Corridor
and Floodplain

Interpolated Wetlands
Existing Parcels

Existing Contours
Spot ElevationsD

Existing Structures
Proposed Structures

                                           The Neighborhood contains a significant amount of land within the 100-year floodplain associated with the
 Barnes Creek and its tributaries.  Prior to consideration of any proposed development, floodplains within the portion of the 
Neighborhood area for the proposed development shall be field verified in accordance with the Village floodplain regulations. 
 Development in the floodplain is restricted to open spaces that do not interrupt the natural flow of the water.  Any development that 
constricts the flow of water or significantly reduces floodplain storage volumes may create upstream and/or downstream flooding
 problems or reduce the capacity of the floodplain to store water.  In some instances property can be removed from the floodplain 
provided proper approval is obtained from the Village and several other agencies including the Wisconsin Department of Natural 
Resources (DNR) and the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA).  Any area removed from the floodplain through the
 placement of fill must be contiguous to (next to) land lying outside the floodplain.  In addition, the volume of floodplain removal must 
be created in the vicinity of the filled area on a one-to-one basis.  The land that is removed from the floodplain must be filled to an 
elevation at least two (2) feet above the elevation of the 100-year flood elevation. 

FLOODPLAIN AREAS: 

                                       Similar to the floodplains, the Neighborhood contains a significant amount of land within wetlands.   
Prior to consideration of any proposed development, wetlands within the Neighborhood area proposed to be developed 
shall be field verified by a certified biologist and approved in writing from either the Wisconsin Department of 
Natural Resources or the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in accordance with the Village wetland regulations.

WETLAND AREAS: 

                             Pursuant to the 2035 Village of Pleasant Prairie Comprehensive Plan, the overall net density for the 
Barnes Creek Neighborhood is recommended to be within the Lower Medium Density Residential category, in that the 
average net density of the neighborhood shall be between 12,000 and 18,999 square feet per dwelling unit. This allows
 for areas of the neighborhood to have larger lots while some areas have smaller lots.  The Residential Units shown on
 this plan are estimates and the total number of units allowed may vary based on actual field verification of wetlands,
 floodplain, storm water facilities, soil suitability.    

UNIT COUNT:

                                                                         As with any development in the Village, when considering any proposed 
development, storm water facilities need to be provided within the development to manage the storm water.  At the time 
that any development plan is proposed for any portion of the Neighborhood, the developer’s engineer will be required to
 evaluate the development site, based on actual field conditions and shall present a storm water management facility
 plan which meets the Village requirements for Village review. 

STORM WATER RETENTION AREAS: 

Commercial

Proposed Commercial
Retention Pond

Source: Village of Pleasant Prairie
Date: June 17, 2014

rwilson
Stamp

rwilson
Sticky Note
MigrationConfirmed set by rwilson



2
2 2

2 2
2 2

2 2
2

3

3

3 3

6

6
6

3
3 3

3
3

3

3

3
6

3

3

3
3

3

3

6

33

3 6

3

3

6

6C

40

40

40

40

4040

40

40

40
40

40

40

2

2
2

2

2
2

2
22

2

2

2

2

6
6

6

6

6

6

6

6
6

22

22

2

2

2

2
2

2

2

2 2

C

6

Future
Barnes Creek
Neighborhood
    School and
               Park
26.4 Acres

70'

115'

70'

70'

70'

70'

115'

70'

70'

56'

70'

70'

70'

70' 70'

115'

70'

70'
56'

56'

115'

56'

56'

6

6
6

6

56'

82'

120'

120'

90'

2 2

2 2

2

2

2

2

2

2

48 48

* Th e se  units m a y not b e  a b le  to b e
de ve lope d due  to th e  se we r de pth  a nd
ca pa city.

56'

* Rig h t-of-W a y
to b e  va ca te d

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

Priva
te

Priva te

Priva te

Barnes Creek

City of 
Kenosha

Ise
tts

 N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Ca
rol

 Be
ac

h N
ort

h N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Tobin Road Neighborhood

Vil
lag

e G
ree

n N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

* W e tla nds to b e  fille d
for roa d crossing

* W e tla nds to b e  fille d
for roa d crossing

104TH ST

SH
ER

ID
AN

 R
D

ST
H 

32

SPRINGBROOK RD

29
TH

 AV
E

27
TH

 AV
E

26
TH

 AV
E

24
TH

 AV
E

91ST ST

89TH ST

28
TH

 AV
E

29
TH

 AV
E

STH 165

O pe n Spa c e

4

Ke
no

sh
a C

ou
nty

 Bi
ke

 Tr
ail

11000 sq ft

25000
sq ft

Existing  Sa nita ry Se we r Ma in

Existing  Storm  Ma in

40

17
TH

 AV
E

16
TH

 AV
E

15
TH

 AV
E

*
Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA, 
Village of Pleasant Prairie
and City of Kenosha.

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and
Village of Pleasant Prairie*

*Type of intersection to 
be determined by TIA 
and WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

82'

11000 sq ft24000 sq ft

15000
sq ft

8900
sq ft

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.*

¯0 400 800 1,200 1,600200
Fe e t

Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Alt. 2
Land Use

Gove rnm e nt a nd Institutiona l

O pe n Spa c e
Re te ntion Pond
Future  Sing le  Fa m ily
Multi-Fa m ily

Existing  Re side ntia l

Existing  Rig h t-O f-W a y
Propose d Rig h t-O f-W a y
Propose d Pa rce ls
100yr Floodpla in

Rig h t-O f-W a y

Isola te d Na tura l Re source  Are a
a nd Floodpla in
Prim a ry Environm e nta l Corridor
a nd Floodpla in

Inte rpola te d W e tla nds
Existing  Pa rce ls

Existing  Contours
Spot Ele va tionsD

Existing  Structure s
Propose d Structure s

                                           Th e  Ne ig h b orh ood conta ins a  sig nific a nt a m ount of la nd with in th e  100-ye a r floodpla in a ssocia te d with  th e
 Ba rne s Cre e k a nd its trib uta rie s.  Prior to conside ra tion of a ny propose d de ve lopm e nt, floodpla ins with in th e  portion of th e  
Ne ig h b orh ood a re a  for th e  propose d de ve lopm e nt sh a ll b e  fie ld ve rifie d in a ccorda nce  with  th e  Villa g e  floodpla in re g ula tions. 
 De ve lopm e nt in th e  floodpla in is re stric te d to ope n spa c e s th a t do not inte rrupt th e  na tura l flow of th e  wa te r.  Any de ve lopm e nt th a t 
constric ts th e  flow of wa te r or sig nifica ntly re duce s floodpla in stora g e  volum e s m a y cre a te  upstre a m  a nd/or downstre a m  flooding
 prob le m s or re duce  th e  ca pa city of th e  floodpla in to store  wa te r.  In som e  insta nc e s prope rty ca n b e  re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in 
provide d prope r a pprova l is ob ta ine d from  th e  Villa g e  a nd se ve ra l oth e r a g e ncie s including  th e  W isconsin De pa rtm e nt of Na tura l 
Re sourc e s (DNR) a nd th e  Fe de ra l Em e rg e ncy Ma na g e m e nt Ag e ncy (FEMA).  Any a re a  re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in th roug h  th e
 pla c e m e nt of fill m ust b e  contig uous to (ne xt to) la nd lying  outside  th e  floodpla in.  In addition, th e  volum e  of floodpla in re m ova l m ust 
b e  cre a te d in th e  vicinity of th e  fille d a re a  on a  one -to-one  b a sis.  Th e  la nd th a t is re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in m ust b e  fille d to a n 
e le va tion a t le a st two (2) fe e t a b ove  th e  e le va tion of th e  100-ye a r flood e le va tion. 

FLOODPLAIN AREAS: 

                                       Sim ila r to th e  floodpla ins, th e  Ne ig h b orh ood conta ins a  sig nific a nt a m ount of la nd with in we tla nds.   
Prior to conside ra tion of a ny propose d de ve lopm e nt, we tla nds with in th e  Ne ig h b orh ood a re a  propose d to b e  de ve lope d 
sh a ll b e  fie ld ve rifie d by a ce rtifie d b iolog ist a nd a pprove d in writing  from  e ith e r th e  W isconsin De pa rtm e nt of 
Na tura l Re sourc e s or th e  U.S. Arm y Corps of Eng ine e rs in a ccorda nce  with  th e  Villa g e  we tla nd re g ula tions.

WETLAND AREAS: 

                             Pursua nt to th e  2035 Villa g e  of Ple a sa nt Pra irie  Com pre h e nsive  Pla n, th e  ove ra ll ne t de nsity for th e  
Ba rne s Cre e k Ne ig h b orh ood is re com m e nde d to b e  with in th e  Lowe r Me dium  De nsity Re side ntia l ca te g ory, in th a t th e  
ave ra g e  ne t de nsity of th e  ne ig h b orh ood sh a ll b e  b e twe e n 12,000 a nd 18,999 squa re  fe e t pe r dwe lling  unit. Th is a llows
 for a re a s of th e  ne ig h b orh ood to h a ve  la rg e r lots wh ile  som e  a re a s h a ve  sm a lle r lots.  Th e  Re side ntia l Units sh own on
 th is pla n a re  e stim a te s a nd th e  tota l num b e r of units a llowe d m a y va ry b a se d on a c tua l fie ld ve rifica tion of we tla nds,
 floodpla in, storm  wa te r fa cilitie s, soil suita b ility.    

UNIT COUNT:

                                                                         As with  a ny de ve lopm e nt in th e  Villa g e , wh e n conside ring  a ny propose d 
de ve lopm e nt, storm  wa te r fa cilitie s ne e d to b e  provide d with in th e  de ve lopm e nt to m a na g e  th e  storm  wa te r.  At th e  tim e  
th a t a ny de ve lopm e nt pla n is propose d for a ny portion of th e  Ne ig h b orh ood, th e  de ve lope r’s e ng ine e r will b e  re quire d to
 e va lua te  th e  de ve lopm e nt site , b a se d on a c tua l fie ld conditions a nd sh a ll pre se nt a storm  wa te r m a na g e m e nt fa cility
 pla n wh ic h  m e e ts th e  Villa g e  re quire m e nts for Villa g e  re vie w. 

STORM WATER RETENTION AREAS: 

Com m e rcia l

Source : Villa g e  of Ple a sa nt Pra irie
Da te : Fe b rua ry 2015

8900
sq ft

15000
sq ft

24000 sq ft
16000 sq ft

20000
sq ft

12000 sq ft

11000
 sq ft

4.36a c

3.86a c

2.0a c

2.59a c

160'506' 236'

236'
248'

261'
390'

7.67a c

11.84a c



48

4

6

66

6

48

* Rig h t-of-W a y
to b e  va ca te d

82'26
TH

 AV
E

24
TH

 AV
E

27
TH

 AV
E

SPRINGBROOK RD

Priva te

56'

6
6

6

6

6

6

6
6

115'

Existing  Storm  Ma in

6

6

Priva
te

56'
2

2 2

2

2

2

2 2
56' Priva te

* Th e se  units m a y not b e  a b le  to b e
de ve lope d due  to th e  se we r de pth  a nd
ca pa city.

2

2 2
2

2

2 2

2

2

Priva te

56'

2

2

2

2

2 2

2

2

2

2
2

2

2

2

2
2 2

2

2

56'

Priva te

Future
Barnes Creek
Neighborhood
    School and
               Park
26.4 Acres

40

40 40
40

40

40

40

40

40
40

40

40

C

O pe n Spa c e

Priva te

56'

C 6

6

6

6

6

33

3

3

3

3 3

3

3

3 3

3

3

3

3 3

3

6

3

3

3

3

3

3

6

Priva te56'

56'

115'

70'

56'

70'

115'

Existing  Sa nita ry Se we r Ma in70'

29
TH

 AV
E

Ise
tts

 N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Ke
no

sh
a C

ou
nty

 Bi
ke

 Tr
ail

Vil
lag

e G
ree

n N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

29
TH

 AV
E

28
TH

 AV
E

STH 165

Tobin Road Neighborhood
104TH ST 90'

SH
ER

ID
AN

 R
D

120'

Ca
rol

 Be
ac

h N
ort

h N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

120'

ST
H 

32

8900
sq ft

15000
sq ft

24000 sq ft11000 sq ft

25000
sq ft

12000 sq ft

11000 sq ft

56'

56'

16
TH

 AV
E

17
TH

 AV
E

15
TH

 AV
E

90TH ST

89TH ST

92ND PL

6

* W e tla nds to b e  fille d
for roa d crossing

56'

56'

56'

56'

56'

56'

56'

*

*Type of intersection to be
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.*

*
Type of intersection to be
determined by TIA,
Village of Pleasant Prairie
and City of Kenosha.

City of 
Kenosha

*
Type of intersection to be
determined by TIA and
Village of Pleasant Prairie.

40
Priva te

Pri
va t
e

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

Pri
va
te

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

82'

Priva te

* Type of intersection to be
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

Barnes Creek

25'

40'

50'

10' 10'50'

60'

125'

40'

50'

Typica l Lot Layout for Sing le  Fa m ily 
or 1 unit condo

Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Alt. 3
Land Use Existing  Rig h t-O f-W a y

Propose d Rig h t-O f-W a y
Propose d Pa rce ls
100yr Floodpla in

Inte rpola te d W e tla nds
Existing  Pa rce ls

Existing  Contours
Spot Ele va tionsD

Rig h t-O f-W a y

Com m e rcia l
Gove rnm e nt a nd Institutiona l
Isola te d Na tura l Re source  Are a
a nd Floodpla in
Prim a ry Environm e nta l Corridor
a nd Floodpla in
O pe n Spa c e
Re te ntion Pond
Future  Sing le  Fa m ily
Multi-Fa m ily

Existing  Re side ntia l

¯0 400 800 1,200 1,600200
Fe e t

Existing  Structure s
Propose d Structure s

                                           Th e  Ne ig h b orh ood conta ins a  sig nific a nt a m ount of la nd with in th e  100-ye a r floodpla in a ssocia te d with  th e
 Ba rne s Cre e k a nd its trib uta rie s.  Prior to conside ra tion of a ny propose d de ve lopm e nt, floodpla ins with in th e  portion of th e  
Ne ig h b orh ood a re a  for th e  propose d de ve lopm e nt sh a ll b e  fie ld ve rifie d in a ccorda nce  with  th e  Villa g e  floodpla in re g ula tions. 
 De ve lopm e nt in th e  floodpla in is re stric te d to ope n spa c e s th a t do not inte rrupt th e  na tura l flow of th e  wa te r.  Any de ve lopm e nt th a t 
constric ts th e  flow of wa te r or sig nifica ntly re duce s floodpla in stora g e  volum e s m a y cre a te  upstre a m  a nd/or downstre a m  flooding
 prob le m s or re duce  th e  ca pa city of th e  floodpla in to store  wa te r.  In som e  insta nc e s prope rty ca n b e  re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in 
provide d prope r a pprova l is ob ta ine d from  th e  Villa g e  a nd se ve ra l oth e r a g e ncie s including  th e  W isconsin De pa rtm e nt of Na tura l 
Re sourc e s (DNR) a nd th e  Fe de ra l Em e rg e ncy Ma na g e m e nt Ag e ncy (FEMA).  Any a re a  re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in th roug h  th e
 pla c e m e nt of fill m ust b e  contig uous to (ne xt to) la nd lying  outside  th e  floodpla in.  In addition, th e  volum e  of floodpla in re m ova l m ust 
b e  cre a te d in th e  vicinity of th e  fille d a re a  on a  one -to-one  b a sis.  Th e  la nd th a t is re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in m ust b e  fille d to a n 
e le va tion a t le a st two (2) fe e t a b ove  th e  e le va tion of th e  100-ye a r flood e le va tion. 

FLOODPLAIN AREAS: 

                                       Sim ila r to th e  floodpla ins, th e  Ne ig h b orh ood conta ins a  sig nific a nt a m ount of la nd with in we tla nds.   
Prior to conside ra tion of a ny propose d de ve lopm e nt, we tla nds with in th e  Ne ig h b orh ood a re a  propose d to b e  de ve lope d 
sh a ll b e  fie ld ve rifie d by a ce rtifie d b iolog ist a nd a pprove d in writing  from  e ith e r th e  W isconsin De pa rtm e nt of 
Na tura l Re sourc e s or th e  U.S. Arm y Corps of Eng ine e rs in a ccorda nce  with  th e  Villa g e  we tla nd re g ula tions.

WETLAND AREAS: 

                             Pursua nt to th e  2035 Villa g e  of Ple a sa nt Pra irie  Com pre h e nsive  Pla n, th e  ove ra ll ne t de nsity for th e  
Ba rne s Cre e k Ne ig h b orh ood is re com m e nde d to b e  with in th e  Lowe r Me dium  De nsity Re side ntia l ca te g ory, in th a t th e  
ave ra g e  ne t de nsity of th e  ne ig h b orh ood sh a ll b e  b e twe e n 12,000 a nd 18,999 squa re  fe e t pe r dwe lling  unit. Th is a llows
 for a re a s of th e  ne ig h b orh ood to h a ve  la rg e r lots wh ile  som e  a re a s h a ve  sm a lle r lots.  Th e  Re side ntia l Units sh own on
 th is pla n a re  e stim a te s a nd th e  tota l num b e r of units a llowe d m a y va ry b a se d on a c tua l fie ld ve rifica tion of we tla nds,
 floodpla in, storm  wa te r fa cilitie s, soil suita b ility.    

UNIT COUNT:

                                                                         As with  a ny de ve lopm e nt in th e  Villa g e , wh e n conside ring  a ny propose d 
de ve lopm e nt, storm  wa te r fa cilitie s ne e d to b e  provide d with in th e  de ve lopm e nt to m a na g e  th e  storm  wa te r.  At th e  tim e  
th a t a ny de ve lopm e nt pla n is propose d for a ny portion of th e  Ne ig h b orh ood, th e  de ve lope r’s e ng ine e r will b e  re quire d to
 e va lua te  th e  de ve lopm e nt site , b a se d on a c tua l fie ld conditions a nd sh a ll pre se nt a storm  wa te r m a na g e m e nt fa cility
 pla n wh ic h  m e e ts th e  Villa g e  re quire m e nts for Villa g e  re vie w. 

STORM WATER RETENTION AREAS: 

Source : Villa g e  of Ple a sa nt Pra irie
Da te : Fe b rua ry 2015

8900
sq ft

15000
sq ft

24000 sq ft 16000 sq ft

12000 sq ft

20000
sq ft

11000
sq ft

236'160'506'

4.36a c

3.86a c

7.67a c

2.59a c

2.0a c

11.84a c

248'
236'

261'
390'







Comprehensive Plan Compliance  

(Land Use Plan) 

Neighborhood Plan 

Concept Plan 

Plat or Site and 
Operational 

Plans 

Construction Begins 



,,T

)CA

)CA
(BA-3

(F(F

(F

(BA-1

)CA

(BA-2

(BA-1(BA-1
+F

,T

)L )L

(O

(F

%,W

,T,T

(R

(R(R

(F
(F

*N

(F

(F
(C

(C
+H

+E

)L

*N

*R

*R

*R

+F

,RR

,T *N

,T,T

,T

)G)G

)G

)G

)G

,RR)G

)G

)G

)G

)G

)G
)G

)G

)G )G

)G

)G,T
+S

)G

,T

)G
,RR

+S

,P

,T

,RR

,T

+M
+F

+P

,T

,RR
+F

(C(C

,T ,L

,RR
(C

(C

(C

(C (C ,T

,RR

(C

(C

,T
*C

*N

,T
*N

*C

+MS

)G

(C

)G

,T

,T

+E

+F

*N

+E

+E

-VG

-VG

+F
+M

,T
*N

,T
*N*N

+E

,T
*C

+E

,T

,RR

,T

,RR

*N,T (C

*N

(C

*N
*N+E

+F

+MS
*N

+E

(N

*N
*N

(C

-CT

,RR

,RR

,RR

*N

,T

#*N

#*C

#*N

#*N

#*N

#*N

#*N

)P

)P

)P

)P

)P

)P

)P

)P

)P

)P

)P

(F (O/F

(F (O

(O

)P/R

)P/R

(F

)P

)P)P

(O

)P/R

)P/R

)G

(C (C

)P/R

104th St

ab165
104th St 104th St

116th St

H

ML Gr
ee

n B
ay

 R
d

88th Ave

95th St

Gr
ee

n B
ay

 R
d

H

ab50
75th St

§̈¦I-94

§̈¦I-94

ab31

93rd St

Springbrook Rd

Spri
ngb

roo
k R

d

ML

Spri
ngb

roo
k R

d

ML 122nd St

39
th 

Av
e

EZ

Co
op

er 
Rd

ab32

Sh
eri

da
n R

d

WISCONSIN 128th StRussell Rd
STATE OF ILLINOISSTATE OF ILLINOIS

WISCONSIN STATE OF ILLINOIS
WISCONSIN

116th St

C

Wilmot Rd

Bain Station Rd

CITY OF KENOSHA

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 2035 LAND USE PLAN MAP (revised January 2015)

±

Source: Village of Pleasant Prairie: June 2009
Updated: November 2014

1 inch = 1,000 feet

4,000 0 4,0002,000 FeetLegend
LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL
(19,000 Square Feet Or More Per Dwelling Unit)
LOW-MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL
(12,000 To 18,999 Square Feet Per Dwelling Unit)

UPPER-MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL
(6,200 To 11,999 Square Feet Per Dwelling Unit)
HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL
(Less Than 6,200 Square Feet Per Dwelling Unit)

ENVIRONMENTALLY SIGNIFICANT AREAS

Secondary Environmental Corridors

Isolated Natural Resource Areas

Surface Water

LINEAR FEATURES

Primary Environmental Corridors

URBAN RESERVE AREAS (OVERLAY)

100 - Year Floodplain

Field Verified Wetlands
Interpolated Wetlands 
(2005 WIDNR Final Inventory Maps)

Property Lines

RESIDENTIAL LANDS

RIGHTS-OF-WAY

Dedicated but not Constructed Right-Of-Ways (September 2009)

Existing Rights-Of-Way (September 2009)

COMMERCIAL LANDS
    N
    C
    F 
    O
    R
    BA-1 PDD-1
    BA-2 PDD-1
    BA-3 PDD-1

Neighborhood Retail and Service Centers
Community Retail and Service Centers
Freeway-Oriented Service Centers
Freeway Office Centers
Freeway-Oriented Regional Retail Centers

Business Area 1 Sub-District
Business Area 2 Sub-District
Business Area 3 Sub-District

OTHER TRANSPORTATION, COMMUNICATIONS AND UTILITIES
    P    Pleasant Prairie Power Plant
    L    Active Landfill
    RR Railroads
    W   Weigh Station
    T    Overhead High Tension Wires
GOVERNMENTAL AND INSTITUTIONAL LANDS
    M Municipal Administrative Offices
    F Fire Station
    P Police Station
    H Hospital
    E Public Elementary School
    MS Public Middle School
    S Public Senior High School

PARK, RECREATION AND OTHER OPEN SPACE LANDS
    R Regional Park
    C Community Park
    N Neighborhood Park

MIXED USE LANDS
    VG Village Green Center
    CT Chiwaukee Transit Center

-

Agricultural Lands

INDUSTRIAL LANDS
    L    Limited Industrial
    G   General Industrial
    CA PDD-1 Core Area Sub-District
    P    Production and Manufacturing



Isetts

Lance

Lakeview East

Des Plaines River

WEPCO
Pleasant Farms

Lakewood

Prairie Ridge
River View

Green Hill Farms

Barnes Creek

Pleasant Homes

Prairie Lane

River Woods
Sheridan Woods

Tobin Road

Highpoint
Village Green

White Caps
Stocker

Forest Park

Whittier Creek

Prairie Lake

Carol Beach
North

Red Arrow

Lake-
view 
West

Country Home

Carol Beach
South/Chiwaukee
Prairie

Ocean
SprayBain

Station

Chiwaukee
Transit
Center

I-94
West

Village 
Green 
Center

Village Neighborhoods, Sub-Neighborhoods and
Special Planning Districts Map (revised December 2009)

±

LA
K

E
M

IC
H

IG
A

N

Special Purpose Planning District Sub-NeighborhoodsNeighborhoods



Barnes Creek Neighborhood Boundary Map 



10

10

10

10

24

24

C

40

40

40

40

40

4040

40

40

40

40
40

40

40

2

2
2

2

2
2

2
22

2

2

2

2

24

2
2

2

2

2 2

C

Future
Barnes Creek
Neighborhood
    School and
               Park
26.4 Acres

70'

115'

70'

70'

70'

70'

115'

70'

70'

70'

70'

70' 70'

115'

70'

70'
56'

115'

56'

6

6
6

6

56'

82'

120'

120'

90'

2 2

2 2

2

2

2

2

2

2

48 48

* These units may not be able to be
developed due to the sewer depth and
capacity.

56'

* Right-of-Way
to be vacated

Private

Private

Private

Private

Barnes Creek

City of 
Kenosha

Ise
tts

 N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Ca
rol

 Be
ac

h N
ort

h N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Tobin Road Neighborhood

Vil
lag

e G
ree

n N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

* Wetlands to be filled
for road crossing

* Wetlands to be filled
for road crossing

104TH ST

SH
ER

ID
AN

 R
D

ST
H 

32

SPRINGBROOK RD

29
TH

 AV
E

27
TH

 AV
E

26
TH

 AV
E

24
TH

 AV
E

91ST ST

89TH ST

28
TH

 AV
E

29
TH

 AV
E

STH 165

Open Space

4

Ke
no

sh
a C

ou
nty

 B
ike

 Tr
ail

30,000
sq ft.

150,000
sq ft.

Truck
Turn-

around

Existing Sanitary Sewer Main

Existing Storm Main

40

Dumpsters

17
TH

 AV
E

16
TH

 AV
E

15
TH

 AV
E

*
Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA, 
Village of Pleasant Prairie
and City of Kenosha.

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and
Village of Pleasant Prairie*

*Type of intersection to 
be determined by TIA 
and WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

82'

Portions of the retention
ponds are located within
environmental corridor.

Further evaluation is
needed.

24

24

24

24

24

24 24

24
24

24

24

24

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10 10

1010
10

10
10

10

10

10

10

10

70'

56'Private

56'
Private

Private

¯0 400 800 1,200 1,600200
Feet

Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Alt. 1
Land Use

Government and Institutional

Open Space
Retention Pond
Future Single Family
Multi-Family

Existing Residential

Existing Right-Of-Way
Proposed Right-Of-Way
Proposed Parcels
100yr Floodplain

Right-Of-Way

Isolated Natural Resource Area
and Floodplain
Primary Environmental Corridor
and Floodplain

Interpolated Wetlands
Existing Parcels

Existing Contours
Spot ElevationsD

Existing Structures
Proposed Structures

                                           The Neighborhood contains a significant amount of land within the 100-year floodplain associated with the
 Barnes Creek and its tributaries.  Prior to consideration of any proposed development, floodplains within the portion of the 
Neighborhood area for the proposed development shall be field verified in accordance with the Village floodplain regulations. 
 Development in the floodplain is restricted to open spaces that do not interrupt the natural flow of the water.  Any development that 
constricts the flow of water or significantly reduces floodplain storage volumes may create upstream and/or downstream flooding
 problems or reduce the capacity of the floodplain to store water.  In some instances property can be removed from the floodplain 
provided proper approval is obtained from the Village and several other agencies including the Wisconsin Department of Natural 
Resources (DNR) and the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA).  Any area removed from the floodplain through the
 placement of fill must be contiguous to (next to) land lying outside the floodplain.  In addition, the volume of floodplain removal must 
be created in the vicinity of the filled area on a one-to-one basis.  The land that is removed from the floodplain must be filled to an 
elevation at least two (2) feet above the elevation of the 100-year flood elevation. 

FLOODPLAIN AREAS: 

                                       Similar to the floodplains, the Neighborhood contains a significant amount of land within wetlands.   
Prior to consideration of any proposed development, wetlands within the Neighborhood area proposed to be developed 
shall be field verified by a certified biologist and approved in writing from either the Wisconsin Department of 
Natural Resources or the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in accordance with the Village wetland regulations.

WETLAND AREAS: 

                             Pursuant to the 2035 Village of Pleasant Prairie Comprehensive Plan, the overall net density for the 
Barnes Creek Neighborhood is recommended to be within the Lower Medium Density Residential category, in that the 
average net density of the neighborhood shall be between 12,000 and 18,999 square feet per dwelling unit. This allows
 for areas of the neighborhood to have larger lots while some areas have smaller lots.  The Residential Units shown on
 this plan are estimates and the total number of units allowed may vary based on actual field verification of wetlands,
 floodplain, storm water facilities, soil suitability.    

UNIT COUNT:

                                                                         As with any development in the Village, when considering any proposed 
development, storm water facilities need to be provided within the development to manage the storm water.  At the time 
that any development plan is proposed for any portion of the Neighborhood, the developer’s engineer will be required to
 evaluate the development site, based on actual field conditions and shall present a storm water management facility
 plan which meets the Village requirements for Village review. 

STORM WATER RETENTION AREAS: 

Commercial

Proposed Commercial
Retention Pond

Source: Village of Pleasant Prairie
Date: June 17, 2014

rwilson
Stamp

rwilson
Sticky Note
MigrationConfirmed set by rwilson



2
2 2

2 2
2 2

2 2
2

3

3

3 3

6

6
6

3
3 3

3
3

3

3

3
6

3

3

3
3

3

3

6

33

3 6

3

3

6

6C

40

40

40

40

4040

40

40

40
40

40

40

2

2
2

2

2
2

2
22

2

2

2

2

6
6

6

6

6

6

6

6
6

22

22

2

2

2

2
2

2

2

2 2

C

6

Future
Barnes Creek
Neighborhood
    School and
               Park
26.4 Acres

70'

115'

70'

70'

70'

70'

115'

70'

70'

56'

70'

70'

70'

70' 70'

115'

70'

70'
56'

56'

115'

56'

56'

6

6
6

6

56'

82'

120'

120'

90'

2 2

2 2

2

2

2

2

2

2

48 48

* Th e se  units m a y not b e  a b le  to b e
de ve lope d due  to th e  se we r de pth  a nd
ca pa city.

56'

* Rig h t-of-W a y
to b e  va ca te d

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

Priva
te

Priva te

Priva te

Barnes Creek

City of 
Kenosha

Ise
tts

 N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Ca
rol

 Be
ac

h N
ort

h N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Tobin Road Neighborhood

Vil
lag

e G
ree

n N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

* W e tla nds to b e  fille d
for roa d crossing

* W e tla nds to b e  fille d
for roa d crossing

104TH ST

SH
ER

ID
AN

 R
D

ST
H 

32

SPRINGBROOK RD

29
TH

 AV
E

27
TH

 AV
E

26
TH

 AV
E

24
TH

 AV
E

91ST ST

89TH ST

28
TH

 AV
E

29
TH

 AV
E

STH 165

O pe n Spa c e

4

Ke
no

sh
a C

ou
nty

 Bi
ke

 Tr
ail

11000 sq ft

25000
sq ft

Existing  Sa nita ry Se we r Ma in

Existing  Storm  Ma in

40

17
TH

 AV
E

16
TH

 AV
E

15
TH

 AV
E

*
Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA, 
Village of Pleasant Prairie
and City of Kenosha.

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and
Village of Pleasant Prairie*

*Type of intersection to 
be determined by TIA 
and WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

82'

11000 sq ft24000 sq ft

15000
sq ft

8900
sq ft

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.*

¯0 400 800 1,200 1,600200
Fe e t

Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Alt. 2
Land Use

Gove rnm e nt a nd Institutiona l

O pe n Spa c e
Re te ntion Pond
Future  Sing le  Fa m ily
Multi-Fa m ily

Existing  Re side ntia l

Existing  Rig h t-O f-W a y
Propose d Rig h t-O f-W a y
Propose d Pa rce ls
100yr Floodpla in

Rig h t-O f-W a y

Isola te d Na tura l Re source  Are a
a nd Floodpla in
Prim a ry Environm e nta l Corridor
a nd Floodpla in

Inte rpola te d W e tla nds
Existing  Pa rce ls

Existing  Contours
Spot Ele va tionsD

Existing  Structure s
Propose d Structure s

                                           Th e  Ne ig h b orh ood conta ins a  sig nific a nt a m ount of la nd with in th e  100-ye a r floodpla in a ssocia te d with  th e
 Ba rne s Cre e k a nd its trib uta rie s.  Prior to conside ra tion of a ny propose d de ve lopm e nt, floodpla ins with in th e  portion of th e  
Ne ig h b orh ood a re a  for th e  propose d de ve lopm e nt sh a ll b e  fie ld ve rifie d in a ccorda nce  with  th e  Villa g e  floodpla in re g ula tions. 
 De ve lopm e nt in th e  floodpla in is re stric te d to ope n spa c e s th a t do not inte rrupt th e  na tura l flow of th e  wa te r.  Any de ve lopm e nt th a t 
constric ts th e  flow of wa te r or sig nifica ntly re duce s floodpla in stora g e  volum e s m a y cre a te  upstre a m  a nd/or downstre a m  flooding
 prob le m s or re duce  th e  ca pa city of th e  floodpla in to store  wa te r.  In som e  insta nc e s prope rty ca n b e  re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in 
provide d prope r a pprova l is ob ta ine d from  th e  Villa g e  a nd se ve ra l oth e r a g e ncie s including  th e  W isconsin De pa rtm e nt of Na tura l 
Re sourc e s (DNR) a nd th e  Fe de ra l Em e rg e ncy Ma na g e m e nt Ag e ncy (FEMA).  Any a re a  re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in th roug h  th e
 pla c e m e nt of fill m ust b e  contig uous to (ne xt to) la nd lying  outside  th e  floodpla in.  In addition, th e  volum e  of floodpla in re m ova l m ust 
b e  cre a te d in th e  vicinity of th e  fille d a re a  on a  one -to-one  b a sis.  Th e  la nd th a t is re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in m ust b e  fille d to a n 
e le va tion a t le a st two (2) fe e t a b ove  th e  e le va tion of th e  100-ye a r flood e le va tion. 

FLOODPLAIN AREAS: 

                                       Sim ila r to th e  floodpla ins, th e  Ne ig h b orh ood conta ins a  sig nific a nt a m ount of la nd with in we tla nds.   
Prior to conside ra tion of a ny propose d de ve lopm e nt, we tla nds with in th e  Ne ig h b orh ood a re a  propose d to b e  de ve lope d 
sh a ll b e  fie ld ve rifie d by a ce rtifie d b iolog ist a nd a pprove d in writing  from  e ith e r th e  W isconsin De pa rtm e nt of 
Na tura l Re sourc e s or th e  U.S. Arm y Corps of Eng ine e rs in a ccorda nce  with  th e  Villa g e  we tla nd re g ula tions.

WETLAND AREAS: 

                             Pursua nt to th e  2035 Villa g e  of Ple a sa nt Pra irie  Com pre h e nsive  Pla n, th e  ove ra ll ne t de nsity for th e  
Ba rne s Cre e k Ne ig h b orh ood is re com m e nde d to b e  with in th e  Lowe r Me dium  De nsity Re side ntia l ca te g ory, in th a t th e  
ave ra g e  ne t de nsity of th e  ne ig h b orh ood sh a ll b e  b e twe e n 12,000 a nd 18,999 squa re  fe e t pe r dwe lling  unit. Th is a llows
 for a re a s of th e  ne ig h b orh ood to h a ve  la rg e r lots wh ile  som e  a re a s h a ve  sm a lle r lots.  Th e  Re side ntia l Units sh own on
 th is pla n a re  e stim a te s a nd th e  tota l num b e r of units a llowe d m a y va ry b a se d on a c tua l fie ld ve rifica tion of we tla nds,
 floodpla in, storm  wa te r fa cilitie s, soil suita b ility.    

UNIT COUNT:

                                                                         As with  a ny de ve lopm e nt in th e  Villa g e , wh e n conside ring  a ny propose d 
de ve lopm e nt, storm  wa te r fa cilitie s ne e d to b e  provide d with in th e  de ve lopm e nt to m a na g e  th e  storm  wa te r.  At th e  tim e  
th a t a ny de ve lopm e nt pla n is propose d for a ny portion of th e  Ne ig h b orh ood, th e  de ve lope r’s e ng ine e r will b e  re quire d to
 e va lua te  th e  de ve lopm e nt site , b a se d on a c tua l fie ld conditions a nd sh a ll pre se nt a storm  wa te r m a na g e m e nt fa cility
 pla n wh ic h  m e e ts th e  Villa g e  re quire m e nts for Villa g e  re vie w. 

STORM WATER RETENTION AREAS: 

Com m e rcia l

Source : Villa g e  of Ple a sa nt Pra irie
Da te : Fe b rua ry 2015

8900
sq ft

15000
sq ft

24000 sq ft
16000 sq ft

20000
sq ft

12000 sq ft

11000
 sq ft

4.36a c

3.86a c

2.0a c

2.59a c

160'506' 236'

236'
248'

261'
390'

7.67a c

11.84a c



48

4

6

66

6

48

* Rig h t-of-W a y
to b e  va ca te d

82'26
TH

 AV
E

24
TH

 AV
E

27
TH

 AV
E

SPRINGBROOK RD

Priva te

56'

6
6

6

6

6

6

6
6

115'

Existing  Storm  Ma in

6

6

Priva
te

56'
2

2 2

2

2

2

2 2
56' Priva te

* Th e se  units m a y not b e  a b le  to b e
de ve lope d due  to th e  se we r de pth  a nd
ca pa city.

2

2 2
2

2

2 2

2

2

Priva te

56'

2

2

2

2

2 2

2

2

2

2
2

2

2

2

2
2 2

2

2

56'

Priva te

Future
Barnes Creek
Neighborhood
    School and
               Park
26.4 Acres

40

40 40
40

40

40

40

40

40
40

40

40

C

O pe n Spa c e

Priva te

56'

C 6

6

6

6

6

33

3

3

3

3 3

3

3

3 3

3

3

3

3 3

3

6

3

3

3

3

3

3

6

Priva te56'

56'

115'

70'

56'

70'

115'

Existing  Sa nita ry Se we r Ma in70'

29
TH

 AV
E

Ise
tts

 N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Ke
no

sh
a C

ou
nty

 Bi
ke

 Tr
ail

Vil
lag

e G
ree

n N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

29
TH

 AV
E

28
TH

 AV
E

STH 165

Tobin Road Neighborhood
104TH ST 90'

SH
ER

ID
AN

 R
D

120'

Ca
rol

 Be
ac

h N
ort

h N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

120'

ST
H 

32

8900
sq ft

15000
sq ft

24000 sq ft11000 sq ft

25000
sq ft

12000 sq ft

11000 sq ft

56'

56'

16
TH

 AV
E

17
TH

 AV
E

15
TH

 AV
E

90TH ST

89TH ST

92ND PL

6

* W e tla nds to b e  fille d
for roa d crossing

56'

56'

56'

56'

56'

56'

56'

*

*Type of intersection to be
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

*Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

Type of intersection to be 
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.*

*
Type of intersection to be
determined by TIA,
Village of Pleasant Prairie
and City of Kenosha.

City of 
Kenosha

*
Type of intersection to be
determined by TIA and
Village of Pleasant Prairie.

40
Priva te

Pri
va t
e

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

Pri
va
te

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

Priva te

82'

Priva te

* Type of intersection to be
determined by TIA and 
WI DOT approval.

Barnes Creek

25'

40'

50'

10' 10'50'

60'

125'

40'

50'

Typica l Lot Layout for Sing le  Fa m ily 
or 1 unit condo

Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan Alt. 3
Land Use Existing  Rig h t-O f-W a y

Propose d Rig h t-O f-W a y
Propose d Pa rce ls
100yr Floodpla in

Inte rpola te d W e tla nds
Existing  Pa rce ls

Existing  Contours
Spot Ele va tionsD

Rig h t-O f-W a y

Com m e rcia l
Gove rnm e nt a nd Institutiona l
Isola te d Na tura l Re source  Are a
a nd Floodpla in
Prim a ry Environm e nta l Corridor
a nd Floodpla in
O pe n Spa c e
Re te ntion Pond
Future  Sing le  Fa m ily
Multi-Fa m ily

Existing  Re side ntia l

¯0 400 800 1,200 1,600200
Fe e t

Existing  Structure s
Propose d Structure s

                                           Th e  Ne ig h b orh ood conta ins a  sig nific a nt a m ount of la nd with in th e  100-ye a r floodpla in a ssocia te d with  th e
 Ba rne s Cre e k a nd its trib uta rie s.  Prior to conside ra tion of a ny propose d de ve lopm e nt, floodpla ins with in th e  portion of th e  
Ne ig h b orh ood a re a  for th e  propose d de ve lopm e nt sh a ll b e  fie ld ve rifie d in a ccorda nce  with  th e  Villa g e  floodpla in re g ula tions. 
 De ve lopm e nt in th e  floodpla in is re stric te d to ope n spa c e s th a t do not inte rrupt th e  na tura l flow of th e  wa te r.  Any de ve lopm e nt th a t 
constric ts th e  flow of wa te r or sig nifica ntly re duce s floodpla in stora g e  volum e s m a y cre a te  upstre a m  a nd/or downstre a m  flooding
 prob le m s or re duce  th e  ca pa city of th e  floodpla in to store  wa te r.  In som e  insta nc e s prope rty ca n b e  re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in 
provide d prope r a pprova l is ob ta ine d from  th e  Villa g e  a nd se ve ra l oth e r a g e ncie s including  th e  W isconsin De pa rtm e nt of Na tura l 
Re sourc e s (DNR) a nd th e  Fe de ra l Em e rg e ncy Ma na g e m e nt Ag e ncy (FEMA).  Any a re a  re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in th roug h  th e
 pla c e m e nt of fill m ust b e  contig uous to (ne xt to) la nd lying  outside  th e  floodpla in.  In addition, th e  volum e  of floodpla in re m ova l m ust 
b e  cre a te d in th e  vicinity of th e  fille d a re a  on a  one -to-one  b a sis.  Th e  la nd th a t is re m ove d from  th e  floodpla in m ust b e  fille d to a n 
e le va tion a t le a st two (2) fe e t a b ove  th e  e le va tion of th e  100-ye a r flood e le va tion. 

FLOODPLAIN AREAS: 

                                       Sim ila r to th e  floodpla ins, th e  Ne ig h b orh ood conta ins a  sig nific a nt a m ount of la nd with in we tla nds.   
Prior to conside ra tion of a ny propose d de ve lopm e nt, we tla nds with in th e  Ne ig h b orh ood a re a  propose d to b e  de ve lope d 
sh a ll b e  fie ld ve rifie d by a ce rtifie d b iolog ist a nd a pprove d in writing  from  e ith e r th e  W isconsin De pa rtm e nt of 
Na tura l Re sourc e s or th e  U.S. Arm y Corps of Eng ine e rs in a ccorda nce  with  th e  Villa g e  we tla nd re g ula tions.

WETLAND AREAS: 

                             Pursua nt to th e  2035 Villa g e  of Ple a sa nt Pra irie  Com pre h e nsive  Pla n, th e  ove ra ll ne t de nsity for th e  
Ba rne s Cre e k Ne ig h b orh ood is re com m e nde d to b e  with in th e  Lowe r Me dium  De nsity Re side ntia l ca te g ory, in th a t th e  
ave ra g e  ne t de nsity of th e  ne ig h b orh ood sh a ll b e  b e twe e n 12,000 a nd 18,999 squa re  fe e t pe r dwe lling  unit. Th is a llows
 for a re a s of th e  ne ig h b orh ood to h a ve  la rg e r lots wh ile  som e  a re a s h a ve  sm a lle r lots.  Th e  Re side ntia l Units sh own on
 th is pla n a re  e stim a te s a nd th e  tota l num b e r of units a llowe d m a y va ry b a se d on a c tua l fie ld ve rifica tion of we tla nds,
 floodpla in, storm  wa te r fa cilitie s, soil suita b ility.    

UNIT COUNT:

                                                                         As with  a ny de ve lopm e nt in th e  Villa g e , wh e n conside ring  a ny propose d 
de ve lopm e nt, storm  wa te r fa cilitie s ne e d to b e  provide d with in th e  de ve lopm e nt to m a na g e  th e  storm  wa te r.  At th e  tim e  
th a t a ny de ve lopm e nt pla n is propose d for a ny portion of th e  Ne ig h b orh ood, th e  de ve lope r’s e ng ine e r will b e  re quire d to
 e va lua te  th e  de ve lopm e nt site , b a se d on a c tua l fie ld conditions a nd sh a ll pre se nt a storm  wa te r m a na g e m e nt fa cility
 pla n wh ic h  m e e ts th e  Villa g e  re quire m e nts for Villa g e  re vie w. 

STORM WATER RETENTION AREAS: 

Source : Villa g e  of Ple a sa nt Pra irie
Da te : Fe b rua ry 2015

8900
sq ft

15000
sq ft

24000 sq ft 16000 sq ft

12000 sq ft

20000
sq ft

11000
sq ft

236'160'506'

4.36a c

3.86a c

7.67a c

2.59a c

2.0a c

11.84a c

248'
236'

261'
390'



 
 
 
 
 
 

  
INITIAL DEVELOPMENT REVIEW FOR: 

 
 
 
 

WALMART STORE 4058-00 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 

 
 

DATE SUBMITTED:  JUNE 3, 2013 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PREPARED FOR: 
Manhard Consulting, Ltd. 
900 Woodland Parkway 
Vernon Hills, IL  60061 
Phone:  (630) 925-1206 
Fax:  (847) 634-0095 
Contact Person: Jim Frayn, P.E., Vice President 
 
PREPARED BY: 
Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc. 
N36 W7505 Buchanan Street 
Cedarburg, WI  53012 
Phone: (800) 605-3091 
Facsimile: (262) 377-4381 
Contact Persons:  John A. Bieberitz, P.E., PTOE (WisDOT TIA Certification #SE05-804-044) 
 Tammi Czewski, P.E., PTOE  (WisDOT TIA Certification #SE05-804-045) 



Walmart Store 4058-00, Pleasant Prairie, WI – Initial Development Review  June 3, 2013 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc. 2

INITIAL DEVELOPMENT REVIEW 

Walmart Store 4058-00 
Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 

 

INTRODUCTION 

A Walmart Supercenter with two outlots is proposed to be constructed in the southwest corner of 
the State Trunk Highway (STH) 32 intersection with 91st Street in Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin.  
Access to the development is proposed along both 91st Street and STH 32.  The site is currently 
occupied by the Keno Drive-in Movie Theater. 

The Wisconsin Department of Transportation (WisDOT) Facilities Development Manual (FDM) 
outlines the traffic generation thresholds used to determine if a traffic impact analysis (TIA) is 
required.  This initial development review was prepared for WisDOT to determine if a TIA is 
required for the proposed development per the FDM.  If required, the initial review document 
will also serve to develop the ultimate scope of the TIA.  This initial review documents the site 
location, surrounding study area, initial site plan, existing transportation detail, and expected trip 
generation of the development. 

DEVELOPMENT OVERVIEW 

Site Location 

A street map illustrating the location of the proposed retail development site is shown on Exhibit 1.    

Study Area 

The study area is proposed to include the following intersections: 

 Springbrook Road/93rd Street & 29th Avenue (stop sign control) 
 Springbrook Road/93rd Street/22nd Avenue & 91st Street (stop sign control) 
 15th Avenue & 91st Street (stop sign control) 
 STH 32 (Sheridan Road) & 91st Street (traffic signal control) 
 STH 32 (Sheridan Road) & 92nd Place (stop sign control) 
 STH 32 (Sheridan Road) & 97th Street (stop sign control) 
 STH 32 (Sheridan Road) & 101st Place (stop sign control) 
 STH 32 (Sheridan Road) & STH 165/104th Street (stop sign control) 

The study area also includes the four proposed Wal-Mart and outlot intersections along STH 32 
(Sheridan Road) and 91st Street. 

The existing geometrics and traffic control at the existing study intersections are shown on 
Exhibits 2A and 2B.  Exhibit 2A shows the existing speed limits, nearby non-residential 
buildings and driveways, residential driveways along the mainline roadways, and distances 
between intersections along STH 32 (Sheridan Road), 91st Street, and Springbrook Road.  
Exhibit 2B shows traffic control, lane geometrics and turn lane storage at each study intersection. 

The following is a description of the study area roadways. 

STH 32 (Sheridan Road) is a six-lane divided arterial with a 35-mph speed limit north of 91st 
Street.  South of 91st Street, STH 32 (Sheridan Road) transitions to a two-lane undivided rural 
roadway with a 45-mph speed limit.  According to WisDOT, the 2008 annual average daily 



Walmart Store 4058-00, Pleasant Prairie, WI – Initial Development Review  June 3, 2013 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc. 3

traffic volumes (AADTs) on STH 32 (Sheridan Road) were approximately 12,100 vehicles per 
day (vpd) north of 91st Street and 9,700 vpd  just north of STH 165.  

Springbrook Road is a two-lane undivided northeast/southwest roadway with a 35-mph speed 
limit.  At 29th Avenue, Springbrook Road “ends” as a free-flow curve onto 93rd Street.  The 2008 
WisDOT AADT on Springbrook Road was 5,300 vpd just west of the intersection with 93rd 
Street and 29th Avenue.  There are no sidewalks located on Springbrook Road. 

93rd Street is a two-lane undivided east/west to northeast/southwest roadway with a 35-mph 
speed limit.  93rd Street merges with Springbrook Road and connects to 22nd Avenue at 91st 
Street.  The 2008 WisDOT AADT on 93rd Street was 1,300 vpd west of the intersection with 
Springbrook Road and 5,500 vpd south of the intersection with 91st Street.  There are no 
sidewalks located on 93rd Street within the study area. 

91st Street is a two-lane undivided east/west street with a 25-mph speed limit west of the 
intersection with 22nd Avenue and a 35-mph speed limit west of STH 32 (Sheridan Road).  The 
2005 WisDOT AADT on 91st Street was 4,500 vpd west of 16th Avenue.  The 2008 WisDOT 
AADT was 2,500 vpd east of 11th Avenue.  Sidewalks are located only on the north side of 91st 
Street within the study area.   

15th Avenue is a two-lane north/south undivided residential roadway that extends to only about 
350 feet north of 91st Street.  Development along 15th Avenue is primarily single-family housing 
and multi-family residential buildings.  Sidewalks are located on both sides of 15th Avenue. 

92nd Place is a two-lane east/west undivided residential roadway that connects to a residential 
neighborhood located in the southeast quadrant of the STH 32 (Sheridan Road) intersection with 
91st Street.  There are no sidewalks along 92nd Place or any of the streets within this residential 
neighborhood. 

97th Street is a two-lane east/west undivided residential roadway that connects to a residential 
neighborhood located in the northeast quadrant of the STH 32 (Sheridan Road) intersection with 
STH 165.  There are no sidewalks along 97th Street or any of the streets within this residential 
neighborhood. 

101st Place is a two-lane east/west undivided residential roadway that connects to a residential 
neighborhood located in the northeast quadrant of the STH 32 (Sheridan Road) intersection with 
STH 165.  There are no sidewalks along 101st Place or any of the streets within this residential 
neighborhood. 

104th Street is a two-lane east/west undivided gravel roadway that connects to a residential 
neighborhood located in the northeast quadrant of the STH 32 (Sheridan Road) intersection with 
STH 165.  There are no sidewalks along 104th Street or any of the streets within this residential 
neighborhood. 

STH 165 is a two-lane east/west undivided county roadway with a 40-mph speed limit within the 
study area. The 2008 WisDOT AADT was 2,800 vpd west of STH 32 (Sheridan Road).  There 
are no sidewalks along STH 165 within the study area. 

On-Site Development Description 

Exhibit 3 shows the conceptual site plan of the proposed Walmart Supercenter store and adjacent 
outlots.  No specific tenants are being planned for Outlots 1 and 2 at this time, but it is expected 
that Outlot 1 could be developed into a retail land use with about 30,000 square feet of gross 



Walmart Store 4058-00, Pleasant Prairie, WI – Initial Development Review  June 3, 2013 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc. 4

leasable floor area.  Outlot 2 could be developed into about 30 units of multi-family housing, 
such as townhomes.  The development is proposed to be constructed in 2014.   

Access to the Walmart Supercenter store and the retail Outlot 1 (located on the south side of the 
site) is proposed at one location along 91st Street and two locations along STH 32 (Sheridan 
Road).  At 91st Street, a full-access driveway is proposed about midway between 15th Avenue 
and STH 32 (Sheridan Avenue).  At STH 32 (Sheridan Avenue), one right-in/right-out only 
driveway is proposed within the divided section of STH 32 (Sheridan Avenue), and one full-
access driveway is proposed across from 92nd Place. 

Due to wetlands on the Walmart Supercenter site, no cross-access is expected between the 
Walmart Supercenter and Outlot 2.  Although no detailed plans currently exist for Outlot 2, a 
full-access driveway to 91st Street is expected to be located somewhere between 17th Avenue and 
16th Avenue. 

SITE TRIP GENERATION 

The expected traffic volumes generated by the proposed Walmart Supercenter development are 
based on the size and type of the proposed land uses, and on trip rates as published in the 
Institute of Transportation Engineer’s (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 9h Edition, 2012.  The trip 
generation for the proposed development is shown on Exhibit 4.  At this time, no off-site 
developments are expected to be constructed during the planning period for the proposed 
Walmart Supercenter development site. 

Full buildout of the development is expected to generate approximately 9,130 total daily trips, of 
which about 260 are expected to be linked trips between the Walmart Supercenter and the retail 
development on Outlot 1.  Since the trip generation for Outlot 1 is much smaller than for the 
Walmart Supercenter, linked trips were estimated as 10 percent of the Outlot 1 total trips and 
then the Outlot 1 linked trips were duplicated as the linked trips for the Walmart Supercenter 
development. 

About 1,890 of the total daily trips (25 percent of the Walmart Supercenter trips) are expected to 
be pass-by trips from vehicles already travelling on STH 32 (Sheridan Road) and 91st Street.  
Pass-by trips were calculated after linked trip reductions for the Walmart Supercenter 
development and they do not exceed 10 percent of the hourly traffic volumes on 91st Street or 
STH 32 (Sheridan Road).  The full build new trips expected at the study intersections after linked 
trip and by-pass trip reductions are 6,980 trips during a typical weekday.   

During the weekday morning peak hour, the proposed development is expected to generate about 
10 linked trips, 60 pass-by trips, and 255 new trips, for a total of 315 driveway trips.  During the 
weekday evening peak hour, the proposed development is expected to generate about 20 linked 
trips, 160 pass-by trips, and 605 new trips, for a total of 765 driveway trips.  During the Saturday 
midday peak hour, the proposed development is expected to generate about 30 linked trips, 210 
pass-by trips, and 775 new trips, for a total of 985 driveway trips 

TIA REQUIREMENTS PER THE WISDOT FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT MANUAL 

WisDOT FDM Procedures 7-35-10 and 7-50-5 state that a TIA should be considered whenever 
traffic generated by the proposed development is expected to exceed 100 vehicle trip ends in the 
peak hour, 50 vehicle trips exiting in the peak hour, or 750 trip ends in an average day.  The 
weekday daily, weekday morning peak hour, and weekday evening peak hour are expected to 



Walmart Store 4058-00, Pleasant Prairie, WI – Initial Development Review  June 3, 2013 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc. 5

exceed these criteria for the proposed development.  Therefore, a TIA document is expected to 
be required by WisDOT.   

Assumptions for the development access locations are shown on the proposed site plan (Exhibit 
3).  Site trip generation and percent distribution of development traffic have been included to 
provide WisDOT additional information on the impact of this development to the study area.  
These assumptions have been listed in the initial review for comment by WisDOT so that they 
may either be used or revised appropriately for inclusion in the TIA report.  Additional 
information, such as information on the existing roadway network and existing intersection 
operating conditions have been included to further assist WisDOT’s review of the study area. 

ASSUMPTIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT OF THE TIA 

The following assumptions were made by TADI regarding the study area peak hours, distribution 
of traffic and trip generation.  These assumptions have been listed in the initial review for 
comment by WisDOT so that they may either be used or revised appropriately for inclusion in 
the TIA report. 

Study Area Peak Hours 

In November 2012 and March-April 2013, TADI collected turning movement traffic counts at all 
but one of the study intersections.  At the STH 32 (Sheridan Road) intersection with STH 165, 
TADI obtained the March 2012 weekday 6:00 a.m.-6:00 p.m. traffic count directly from 
WisDOT.  The Saturday midday traffic count at this intersection was collected by TADI. 

All TADI traffic counts were collected between Monday evenings and Friday mornings from 
6:00-9:00 a.m. and on Saturdays from 11:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m.  All traffic count data presented in 
this initial review is located after the exhibits at the end of this report   

Based on all of the turning movement count data, the weekday morning peak hour was identified 
to occur from 7:00 to 8:00 a.m., the weekday evening peak hour was identified to occur from 
4:15 to 5:15 p.m., and the Saturday midday peak hour was identified to occur from 11:45 to 
12:45 p.m.   

Existing Peak Hour Turning Movement Volumes – Existing Geometrics 

The weekday morning, weekday evening, and Saturday midday peak hour traffic volumes were 
balanced between intersections within the study area except for one location.  The peak hour 
traffic volumes were not balanced on 91st Street between 22nd Avenue and 15th Avenue since 
several other intersections are located in between that account for differences in traffic volumes 
of up to 165 vehicles per hour.  The adjusted peak hour traffic volumes are shown as the year 
2012 existing traffic volumes on Exhibit 5.   

Base Year/Horizon Year Analysis 

According to the WisDOT TIA guidelines, the horizon year shall be established as 10 years after 
opening of the proposed development or five years after buildout, whichever is greater.  The 
proposed Walmart Supercenter development is expected to be constructed in one development 
phase by the year 2014.  Therefore, it is recommended that the year 2014 traffic volumes are 
analyzed for the base year and the year 2024 traffic volumes are analyzed for the horizon year in 
the TIA. 



Walmart Store 4058-00, Pleasant Prairie, WI – Initial Development Review  June 3, 2013 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc. 6

Trip Distribution 

The proposed trip distribution for the Walmart Supercenter development is listed below and also 
shown on Exhibit 6.   

 12% to/from the southwest on Springbrook Road 
 3% to/from the west on 93rd Street 
 2% to/from the north on 29th Avenue 
 14% to/from the north on 22nd Avenue 
 1% to/from the west on 91st Street 
 26% to/from the north on STH 32 (Sheridan Road) 
 6% to/from the east on 91st Street 
 2% to/from the east on 92nd Place 
 1% to/from the east on 97th Street 
 1% to/from the east on 101st Place 
 25% to/from the south on STH 32 (Sheridan Road) 
 7% to/from the west on STH 165 

The trip distribution for the proposed Walmart Supercenter development was based upon the 
proposed land uses included in the development and location of populated areas surrounding the 
study area (Gravity Model method) and the existing traffic volumes on the adjacent roadways 
(Analogy method). 

Traffic Assignment 

The new site trips were assigned to the study area intersections based on the proposed trip 
distribution listed above.  The on-site development new trips traffic assignment is shown on 
Exhibit 7 and the on-site development pass-by traffic assignment is shown on Exhibit 8.  The on-
site development driveway trips (new trips plus pass-by trips) are shown on Exhibit 9. 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the FDM criteria, a full TIA is expected to be required for this development due to the 
development trip generation (greater than 500 peak hour trips) and proposed access roadway 
connections to STH 31 (Green Bay Road).  WisDOT is asked to review the trip generation and 
assumptions discussed in this initial review so that they may be incorporated into the TIA 
document required per the WisDOT FDM Guidelines.    

 



LEGEND

Study Intersection
Proposed WalMart Site

EXHIBIT 1
PROPOSED SITE LOCATION

PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN

N

NOT TO SCALE

EXHIBIT DATE: 06-03-13



S
t.

J
o
s
e
p
h
s

H
o
m

e
/V

ill
a

St. Therese Church

Keno
Drive-in
Movie

Theater

LEGEND

Traffic Signal
Stop Sign
Divided Roadway Section
Residential Driveway (Along Mainlines Only)
Non-Residentil Buildings

2
7
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

2
9
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

91st Street

97th Street

2
6
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

2
4
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

2
2
n

d
A

v
e
n

u
e

1
6
th

A
v
e
n

u
e 1
5
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

93rd Street

S
h

e
ri

d
a
n

R
o

a
d

Sprin
gbro

ok Rd.

92nd Place

1
1
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

1
1
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

1
1
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

101st Place

104th Street

32

165

2
9
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

2
2
n

d
A

v
e
n

u
e

2
8
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

M
a
in

S
tr

e
e
t

SPEED
LIMIT

35

SPEED
LIMIT

45

32

EXHIBIT 2A
EXISTING TRANSPORTATION DETAIL

PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN

SPEED
LIMIT

35

SPEED
LIMIT

35

SPEED
LIMIT

35

SPEED
LIMIT

40

675’ 385’

690’

1,1
00’

1,325’ 360’ 365’

1
,0

0
0

’

605’

2
,5

1
0

’

1
,9

7
0
’

1
,2

3
0
’

32

1
7
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

Unpaved
Road (Dirt)

SPEED
LIMIT

25

EXHIBIT DATE: 06-03-13



LEGEND

Traffic Signal
Stop Sign
Existing Lane Configuration
Turn Bay Storage, Feet
Divided Roadway Section

XX’

Sprin
gbro

ok Rd.

101st Place

104th Street

32

165

2
9
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

2
2
n

d
A

v
e
n

u
e

2
8
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

M
a
in

S
tr

e
e
t

32

EXHIBIT 2B
EXISTING TRANSPORTATION DETAIL - TURN LANE GEOMETRICS

PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN

32

2
7
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

2
9
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

91st Street

97th Street

2
6
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

2
4
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

2
2
n

d
A

v
e
n

u
e

1
7
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

1
6
th

A
v
e
n

u
e 1

5
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

93rd Street

S
h

e
ri

d
a
n

R
o

a
d

92nd Place

1
1
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

3
4

0
’

1
2

5
’

C
o

n
tin

u
o

u
s’

3
0

5
’

60’

11
5

’

2
0

5
’

1
0
0
’

1
0
0
’

3
4

5
’

1
0

5
’

EXHIBIT DATE: 06-03-13



EXHIBIT 3
CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN

PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN

Proposed Walmart Supercenter
151,397 SF

Outlot 2
Residential - Townhomes

30 Units

Outlot 1
Shopping Center

30,000 SF

N

NOT TO SCALE

EXHIBIT DATE: 06-03-13



In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total

7,680 155 125 280 325 335 660 430 425 855

(50.75) (56%) (44%) (1.85) (49%) (51%) (4.35) (50%) (50%) (5.64)

1,280 20 10 30 55 55 110 75 70 145

(42.70) (62%) (38%) (0.96) (48%) (52%) (3.71) (52%) (48%) (4.82)

170 5 10 15 10 5 15 10 5 15

(5.81) (17%) (83%) (0.44) (67%) (33%) (0.52) (54%) (46%) (0.47)

9,130 180 145 325 390 395 785 515 500 1,015

Wal-Mart Store Linked Trips -130 -5 0 -5 -5 -5 -10 -10 -5 -15

Outlot 1 Linked Trips 10% -130 -5 0 -5 -5 -5 -10 -10 -5 -15

-260 -10 0 -10 -10 -10 -20 -20 -10 -30

8,870 170 145 315 380 385 765 495 490 985

Wal-Mart Store Pass-by Trips (813) 25% -1,890 -30 -30 -60 -80 -80 -160 -105 -105 -210

6,980 140 115 255 300 305 605 390 385 775

TRIP DISTRIBUTION
W. on 93rd Street 3% 210 5 5 10 10 10 10

W. on Springbrook Road 12% 840 15 15 35 35 45 45

N. on 29th Avenue 2% 140 5 5 5 5 10 10

W. on 91st Street 1% 70 0 0 5 5 5 5

N. on 22nd Avenue 14% 980 20 15 40 45 55 50

N. on STH 32 26% 1810 35 30 80 80 100 100

E. on 91st Street 6% 420 10 5 20 20 25 25

E. on 92nd Place 2% 130 5 0 5 5 10 10

E. on 97th/101st/104th Streets 2% 140 5 0 5 5 10 10

W. on STH 165 7% 490 10 10 20 20 25 25

S. on STH 32 25% 1750 30 30 75 75 95 95

100% 6980 140 115 300 305 390 385

Difference 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by Trips
W. on 91st Street 15% 280 5 5 10 10 15 15

E. on 91st Street 15% 280 5 5 10 10 15 15

N. on STH 32 35% 660 10 10 30 30 40 40

S. on STH 32 35% 660 10 10 30 30 35 35

100% 1880 30 30 80 80 105 105

Pass-by Trips Estimation: Within 10% of Hourly Volumes? YES

Location AM 10% PB PM 10% PB Sat 10% PB

EB on 91st Street @ Dwy 170 15 5 205 20 10 165 15 15

WB on 91st Street @ Dwy 155 15 5 195 20 10 170 15 15

SB on 91st Street @ Dwy 555 55 10 465 45 30 415 40 40

NB on 91st Street @ Dwy 375 40 10 690 70 30 445 45 35

PM Peak SAT Peak

Land Use

ITE

Code Proposed Size

Weekday

Daily

AM Peak

Wal-Mart Store 813 151,397 SF

Outlot 2 - Townhomes 230 30 Units

Outlot 1 - Retail 820 30,000 SF

ass-by trips for the Walmart Supercenter were calculated after linked trip reductions. Where necessary, pass-by trips were reduced so that in/out

pass-by trips were equal.

Site Trip Generation Table

Notes:

Total Linked Trips (Minus)

Total Driveway Trips

Total New Trips

Total Trips

here are expected to be internally linked trips between the Walmart Supercenter store and Outlot 1. Since Outlot 1 is expected to generate much

ewer trips than the Walmart store, linked trips were estimated by first calculating 10% of the Outlot 1 total trips, and then duplicating that number for

the Walmart Supercenter linked trips.

nthrop Harbor, IL is community south of proposed site, but an existing, closer Walmart Supercenter exists for that community. Therefore, new

trips to/from the south is expected to be less than new trips to/from the north and west of study area.

Note:

EXHIBIT 4
SITE DEVELOPMENT TRIP GENERATION TABLE

PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN

T

Fe

P

W

EXHIBIT DATE: 06-03-13



EXHIBIT 5
YEAR 2013 EXISTING TRAFFIC VOLUMES

PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN

101st Place

104th Street

32

165

32

32

2
9
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

91st Street

97th Street

2
2
n

d
A

v
e
n

u
e

1
5
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

93rd Street

S
h

e
ri

d
a
n

R
o

a
d

92nd Place

70
(7

5)
[5

5]
51

5
(3

70
)

[3
30

]
N

(N
)

[N
]

N (N) [N]
N (N) [N]
N (N) [N]

5
(25)

[20]

310
(665)

[395]

[6
0]

(6
5)

55
[3

45
](

59
0)

25
5

[N
](

N
)

N

[10] (5)
5

[375] (435)
560

[70] (100) 60
[N] (N) N

[60] (105) 35

20 (20) [15]
25 (10) [10]

20 (5) [20]

5 (N) [5]56
0

(4
40

)
[3

80
]

10
(1

5)
[1

0]

N
(5)

[N
]

330
(680)

[410]

65
(8

0)
[7

0]
41

5
(3

55
)

[3
10

]
5

(4
0)

[4
5]

30 (25) [35]
55 (50) [50]
65 (25) [20]

[5
0]

(6
5)

35
[3

65
](

58
0)

32
0

[3
0]

(4
5)

20

[35] (55) 65
[45] (65) 25
[85] (85) 75

LEGEND

Traffic Signal
Stop Sign
Weekday Morning Peak Hour (7:00-8:00 AM)
Weekday Evening Peak Hour (4:15-5:15 PM)
Saturday Midday Peak Hour (11:45 AM-12:45 PM)
Negligible Traffic Volumes (Less than 3 vph)

XX
(XX)
[XX]

N

5
(5

)
[5

]
24

0
(1

25
)

[1
05

]
75

(1
20

)
[7

0]

120 (85) [65]
5 (15) [N]
130 (85) [55]

[N
](

5)
N

[1
20

](
24

0)
15

0
[5

5]
(1

15
)

80

[5] (5) 5
[5] (5) N

[N] (N) N

5
(5

)
[5

]
15

(2
0)

[5
]

5
(5

)
[N

]

[5] (5) 5
[40] (60) 55

[5] (5) 5

Sprin
gbro

ok
Rd.

[5] (5) 5

[10] (25) 90

[135] (295) 170

5
(1

0)
[1

5]
N

(N
)

[N
]

[10] (10) 5
[165] (205) 170

N (5) [5]
155 (190) [165]

54
5

(4
50

)
[3

85
]

10
(1

5)
[3

0]

[4
20

](
67

5)
35

0
[1

0]
(1

0)
N

25 (15) [25]
25 (5) [5]

5 (10) [5]
75 (45) [35]
290 (155) [120]

EXHIBIT DATE: 06-03-13



EXHIBIT 6
PROPOSED TRIP DISTRIBUTION DIAGRAM

PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN

101st Place

104th Street

32

165

32

2
9
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

91st Street

97th Street

2
2
n

d

A
v
e
n

u
e

1
5
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

93rd Street

S
h

e
ri

d
a
n

R
o

a
d

92nd Place

Sprin
gbro

ok Rd.
Proposed

Walmart Supercenter Site
& Outlots

O
u

tl
o

t
A

c
c
e
s
s

W
a
lm

a
rt

N
.
A

c
c
e
s
s

Walmart E. Access

Walmart S. Access

LEGEND

Direction & Percentage of New Trips to Study Area
XX%

7%

2
5
%

1%

1%

2%

6%

2
6
%

1
4
%

1%

3%

12%

2
%

EXHIBIT DATE: 06-03-13



EXHIBIT 7
SITE DEVELOPMENT NEW TRIPS

PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN

101st Place

104th Street

32

165

32

32

2
9
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

91st Street

97th Street

2
2
n

d
A

v
e
n

u
e

1
5
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

93rd Street

S
h

e
ri

d
a
n

R
o

a
d

92nd Place

10
(2

0)
[2

5]
30

(7
5)

[9
5]

40
(95)

[120]

[9
5]

(7
5)

30

[5] (N
)

N

[120] (95)
40

[25] (20) 10

N (N) [5]

5 (5) [5]

40
(9

5)
[1

25
]

N
(5

)
[5

]

40
(95)

[125]

5
(5

)
[5

]
30

(7
5)

[9
5]

5 (10) [15]
5 (10) [10]

[2
5]

(2
0)

5
[8

0]
(6

5)
25

[1
5]

(1
0)

5

[20] (15) 5
[10] (10) N

[30] (25) 10

LEGEND

Traffic Signal
Stop Sign
Weekday Morning Peak Hour (7:00-8:00 AM)
Weekday Evening Peak Hour (4:15-5:15 PM)
Saturday Midday Peak Hour (11:45 AM-12:45 PM)
Negligible Traffic Volumes (Less than 3 vph)

XX
(XX)
[XX]

N

20
(4

0)
[5

5]

15 (45) [50]
N (5) [5]
25 (50) [65]

[6
5]

(5
0)

25

[5] (5) N

5
(5

)
[1

0]

[10] (10) 5

Sprin
gbro

ok
Rd.

[45] (35) 15

[125] (95) 50

40 (105) [125]

10
(2

5)
[3

5]
20

(5
5)

[7
0]

[120] (95) 35
[10] (5) N

[60] (45) 20

[1
30

](
10

0)
45

5 (5) [10]

30
(7

5)
[9

0]
15

(3
5)

[4
5]

[60] (45) 15

[25] (20) 10
[100] (75) 40

10 (25) [30]
5 (10) [15]

35 (100) [120]
5 (5) [5]

[N
](

N
)

5
[5

](
5)

5

[9
5]

(8
0)

30
[3

5]
(3

0)
5

[1
20

](
95

)
35

5 (5) [10]
5 (10) [10]
15 (35) [45]

[120] (90) 45
[5] (5) N

Proposed
Walmart Supercenter Site

& Outlots

O
u

tl
o

t
A

c
c
e
s
s

W
a
lm

a
rt

N
.
A

c
c
e
s
s

Walmart E. Access

Walmart S. Access

EXHIBIT DATE: 06-03-13



EXHIBIT 8
SITE DEVELOPMENT PASS-BY TRIPS

PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN

101st Place

104th Street

32

165

32

32

2
9
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

91st Street

97th Street

2
2
n

d
A

v
e
n

u
e

1
5
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

93rd Street

S
h

e
ri

d
a
n

R
o

a
d

92nd Place

LEGEND

Traffic Signal
Stop Sign
Weekday Morning Peak Hour (7:00-8:00 AM)
Weekday Evening Peak Hour (4:15-5:15 PM)
Saturday Midday Peak Hour (11:45 AM-12:45 PM)
Negligible Traffic Volumes (Less than 3 vph)

XX
(XX)
[XX]

N

Sprin
gbro

ok
Rd.

5
(1

5)
[2

0]
-5

(-
15

)
[-

20
]

[35] (30) 10

[20] (15) 5

[3
5]

(3
0)

10
[-

35
](

-3
0)

-1
0

5
(1

5)
[2

0]
-5

(-
15

)
[-

20
]

[20] (15) 5

[-15] (-10) -5
[15] (10) 5

-5 (-10) [-15]
5 (10) [15]

[1
5]

(1
0)

5
[1

5]
(1

0)
5

Proposed
Walmart Supercenter Site

& Outlots

O
u

tl
o

t
A

c
c
e
s
s

W
a
lm

a
rt

N
.
A

c
c
e
s
s

Walmart E. Access

Walmart S. Access

EXHIBIT DATE: 06-03-13



EXHIBIT 9
SITE DEVELOPMENT DRIVEWAY TRIPS

SITE NEW TRIPS + SITE PASS-BY TRIPS
PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN

101st Place

104th Street

32

165

32

32

2
9
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

91st Street

97th Street

2
2
n

d
A

v
e
n

u
e

1
5
th

A
v
e
n

u
e

93rd Street

S
h

e
ri

d
a
n

R
o

a
d

92nd Place

10
(2

0)
[2

5]
30

(7
5)

[9
5]

40
(95)

[120]

[9
5]

(7
5)

30

[5] (N
)

N

[120] (95)
40

[25] (20) 10

N (N) [5]

5 (5) [5]

40
(9

5)
[1

25
]

N
(5

)
[5

]

40
(95)

[125]

5
(5

)
[5

]
30

(7
5)

[9
5]

5 (10) [15]
5 (10) [10]

[2
5]

(2
0)

5
[8

0]
(6

5)
25

[1
5]

(1
0)

5

[20] (15) 5
[10] (10) N

[30] (25) 10

LEGEND

Traffic Signal
Stop Sign
Weekday Morning Peak Hour (7:00-8:00 AM)
Weekday Evening Peak Hour (4:15-5:15 PM)
Saturday Midday Peak Hour (11:45 AM-12:45 PM)
Negligible Traffic Volumes (Less than 3 vph)

XX
(XX)
[XX]

N

20
(4

0)
[5

5]

15 (45) [50]
N (5) [5]
25 (50) [65]

[6
5]

(5
0)

25

[5] (5) N

5
(5

)
[1

0]

[10] (10) 5

Sprin
gbro

ok
Rd.

[45] (35) 15

[125] (95) 50

40 (105) [125]

10
(2

5)
[3

5]
20

(5
5)

[7
0]

[155] (125) 45
[10] (5) N

[80] (60) 25

[1
65

](
13

0)
55

[-
35

](
-3

0)
-1

0

5 (5) [10]

35
(9

0)
[1

10
]

10
(2

0)
[2

5]

[80] (60) 20

[10] (10) 5
[115] (85) 45

5 (15) [15]
10 (20) [30]

35 (100) [120]
5 (5) [5]

[N
](

N
)

5
[5

](
5)

5

[1
10

](
90

)
35

[5
0]

(4
0)

10

[1
20

](
95

)
35

5 (5) [10]
5 (10) [10]
15 (35) [45]

[120] (90) 45
[5] (5) N

Proposed
Walmart Supercenter Site

& Outlots

O
u

tl
o

t
A

c
c
e
s
s

W
a
lm

a
rt

N
.
A

c
c
e
s
s

Walmart E. Access

Walmart S. Access

EXHIBIT DATE: 06-03-13



EXHIBIT DATE: 06-03-13



S
t.

J
o
s
e
p
h
s

H
o
m

e
/V

ill
a

St. Therese Church

Keno Drive-in
Movie Theater

EXHIBIT DATE: 06-03-13



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TRAFFIC COUNT 

DATA 



Note: 

When the term ***BREAK*** is shown instead of a 15‐minute time under the “Start Time” column, it 

indicates that there were zero (0) volumes for all traffic movements during that time period. 



File Name : 93rd-29th AM-PM rev
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/11/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2

29 AVE                 
From North

93 ST SPRINGBROOK RD 

From East

29 AVE                 
From South

93 ST SPRINGBROOK RD 

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
06:00 AM 0 4 1 0 47 15 4 0 0 0 15 0 1 5 0 0 92
06:15 AM 0 3 1 0 54 9 1 0 0 0 11 0 1 1 0 0 81

06:30 AM 1 1 1 0 44 22 1 0 1 2 12 0 2 3 1 0 91
06:45 AM 1 1 2 0 53 22 1 0 1 4 21 0 0 9 0 0 115

Total 2 9 5 0 198 68 7 0 2 6 59 0 4 18 1 0 379

07:00 AM 0 5 1 0 70 16 3 0 0 29 25 0 1 8 1 0 159
07:15 AM 2 5 2 0 68 22 2 0 0 48 52 0 3 14 0 0 218
07:30 AM 0 1 0 0 80 14 0 0 1 8 41 0 0 15 0 0 160

07:45 AM 1 3 0 0 71 25 1 0 2 3 53 0 1 16 2 0 178
Total 3 14 3 0 289 77 6 0 3 88 171 0 5 53 3 0 715

08:00 AM 0 1 0 0 48 16 2 0 1 15 28 0 1 5 1 0 118
08:15 AM 0 0 0 0 43 13 2 0 0 8 18 0 2 5 0 0 91
08:30 AM 2 1 1 0 39 7 0 0 0 5 25 0 1 5 0 0 86
08:45 AM 1 3 1 0 37 12 2 0 1 6 24 0 0 3 0 0 90

Total 3 5 2 0 167 48 6 0 2 34 95 0 4 18 1 0 385

*** BREAK ***

03:00 PM 2 19 0 0 38 9 2 0 2 9 44 0 0 18 1 0 144
03:15 PM 1 7 0 1 33 12 2 0 0 4 63 0 2 11 1 0 137
03:30 PM 2 8 0 0 42 9 1 0 0 6 63 0 2 18 2 0 153

03:45 PM 1 4 0 0 22 7 0 0 0 4 50 0 3 24 2 0 117
Total 6 38 0 1 135 37 5 0 2 23 220 0 7 71 6 0 551

04:00 PM 2 4 2 0 43 8 1 0 1 8 77 0 2 20 1 0 169
04:15 PM 2 4 2 0 32 12 3 0 1 6 73 0 2 13 3 0 153
04:30 PM 1 8 1 0 46 9 2 0 2 6 81 0 0 14 1 0 171
04:45 PM 1 2 2 0 42 15 1 0 1 5 70 0 2 16 1 0 158

Total 6 18 7 0 163 44 7 0 5 25 301 0 6 63 6 0 651

05:00 PM 1 6 2 0 37 9 2 0 1 9 73 0 1 16 1 0 158
05:15 PM 0 4 0 0 32 18 2 0 1 6 86 0 0 12 1 0 162
05:30 PM 0 4 1 0 27 14 0 0 1 8 52 0 2 13 0 0 122
05:45 PM 0 9 0 0 24 16 0 0 1 5 62 0 1 12 1 0 131

Total 1 23 3 0 120 57 4 0 4 28 273 0 4 53 3 0 573

Grand Total 21 107 20 1 1072 331 35 0 18 204 1119 0 30 276 20 0 3254
Apprch % 14.1 71.8 13.4 0.7 74.5 23 2.4 0 1.3 15.2 83.4 0 9.2 84.7 6.1 0  

Total % 0.6 3.3 0.6 0 32.9 10.2 1.1 0 0.6 6.3 34.4 0 0.9 8.5 0.6 0
Unshifted 20 106 20 1 1053 327 34 0 17 203 1102 0 29 271 19 0 3202

% Unshifted 95.2 99.1 100 100 98.2 98.8 97.1 0 94.4 99.5 98.5 0 96.7 98.2 95 0 98.4
Bank 1 1 1 0 0 15 4 1 0 1 1 13 0 1 5 1 0 44

% Bank 1 4.8 0.9 0 0 1.4 1.2 2.9 0 5.6 0.5 1.2 0 3.3 1.8 5 0 1.4
Bank 2 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 8

% Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0.4 0 0 0 0 0 0.4 0 0 0 0 0 0.2

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : 93rd-29th AM-PM rev
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/11/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2

29 AVE                 
From North

93 ST SPRINGBROOK RD 

From East

29 AVE                 
From South

93 ST SPRINGBROOK RD 

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
06:00 AM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
06:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

06:30 AM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2
06:45 AM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2

Total 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 6

07:00 AM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 3
07:15 AM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 5
07:30 AM 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 4

07:45 AM 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3
Total 0 0 0 0 6 0 1 0 0 1 6 0 0 1 0 0 15

08:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
08:15 AM 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 4
08:30 AM 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3

*** BREAK ***

Total 1 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 8

*** BREAK ***

03:00 PM 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
03:15 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 4
03:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

03:45 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2
Total 0 0 0 0 5 1 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 2 0 0 11

04:00 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
04:15 PM 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 5
04:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2

*** BREAK ***

Total 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 1 0 8

*** BREAK ***
05:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
05:30 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2
05:45 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Total 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 4

Grand Total 1 1 0 0 19 4 1 0 1 1 17 0 1 5 1 0 52
Apprch % 50 50 0 0 79.2 16.7 4.2 0 5.3 5.3 89.5 0 14.3 71.4 14.3 0  

Total % 1.9 1.9 0 0 36.5 7.7 1.9 0 1.9 1.9 32.7 0 1.9 9.6 1.9 0
Bank 1 1 1 0 0 15 4 1 0 1 1 13 0 1 5 1 0 44

% Bank 1 100 100 0 0 78.9 100 100 0 100 100 76.5 0 100 100 100 0 84.6
Bank 2 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 8

% Bank 2 0 0 0 0 21.1 0 0 0 0 0 23.5 0 0 0 0 0 15.4

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : 29th Ave Springbrook Rd, 93rd St, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/13/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2
29TH AVE               

From North
93RD ST SPRING BROOK   

From East
29TH AVE               

From South
93RD ST SPRING BROOK   

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

11:00 AM 1 3 1 1 26 11 1 0 1 4 27 0 1 12 2 0 91
11:15 AM 1 3 4 0 34 5 1 0 2 1 22 0 3 6 2 0 84
11:30 AM 1 4 0 0 35 10 1 0 0 7 35 0 1 5 0 0 99
11:45 AM 0 3 1 0 34 6 2 0 0 3 46 0 2 8 2 0 107

Total 3 13 6 1 129 32 5 0 3 15 130 0 7 31 6 0 381

12:00 PM 0 1 2 0 23 7 1 0 1 3 38 0 2 14 2 0 94
12:15 PM 1 1 0 0 38 9 0 0 0 1 29 0 0 9 0 0 88
12:30 PM 0 1 3 0 23 12 1 0 2 2 22 0 1 10 1 0 78
12:45 PM 0 2 2 0 24 7 1 0 0 4 37 0 2 14 0 0 93

Total 1 5 7 0 108 35 3 0 3 10 126 0 5 47 3 0 353

01:00 PM 0 4 1 0 34 6 1 0 0 2 16 0 1 8 0 0 73
01:15 PM 1 5 4 0 43 2 1 0 3 2 33 0 1 9 0 0 104
01:30 PM 0 7 2 0 23 7 1 0 0 4 32 0 1 5 3 0 85
01:45 PM 0 6 0 0 25 4 3 0 1 1 22 0 2 4 0 0 68

Total 1 22 7 0 125 19 6 0 4 9 103 0 5 26 3 0 330

Grand Total 5 40 20 1 362 86 14 0 10 34 359 0 17 104 12 0 1064
Apprch % 7.6 60.6 30.3 1.5 78.4 18.6 3 0 2.5 8.4 89.1 0 12.8 78.2 9 0  

Total % 0.5 3.8 1.9 0.1 34 8.1 1.3 0 0.9 3.2 33.7 0 1.6 9.8 1.1 0
Unshifted 5 40 19 0 360 85 13 0 10 34 358 0 17 103 12 0 1056

% Unshifted 100 100 95 0 99.4 98.8 92.9 0 100 100 99.7 0 100 99 100 0 99.2
Bank 1 0 0 1 1 2 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 8

% Bank 1 0 0 5 100 0.6 1.2 7.1 0 0 0 0.3 0 0 1 0 0 0.8
Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : 29th Ave Springbrook Rd, 93rd St, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/13/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2
29TH AVE               

From North
93RD ST SPRING BROOK   

From East
29TH AVE               

From South
93RD ST SPRING BROOK   

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

11:00 AM 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
11:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

Total 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3

12:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1
12:15 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

12:45 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Total 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 3

01:00 PM 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Total 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Grand Total 0 0 1 1 2 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 8
Apprch % 0 0 50 50 50 25 25 0 0 0 100 0 0 100 0 0  

Total % 0 0 12.5 12.5 25 12.5 12.5 0 0 0 12.5 0 0 12.5 0 0
Bank 1 0 0 1 1 2 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 8

% Bank 1 0 0 100 100 100 100 100 0 0 0 100 0 0 100 0 0 100
Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : 93rd-91st AM-PM
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/11/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2
93RD ST SPRING BR      

From North
91ST ST                

From East
93RD ST SPRING BR      

From South
91ST ST                

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
06:00 AM 7 44 0 0 26 0 3 0 0 12 9 0 0 2 0 0 103
06:15 AM 11 39 2 0 25 0 2 0 0 5 8 0 1 1 1 0 95
06:30 AM 14 33 1 0 25 1 5 0 0 7 9 0 0 1 0 0 96
06:45 AM 15 48 0 0 27 1 13 0 0 18 15 0 0 0 0 0 137

Total 47 164 3 0 103 2 23 0 0 42 41 0 1 4 1 0 431

07:00 AM 15 58 0 0 28 0 27 0 0 22 11 0 2 0 0 0 163
07:15 AM 18 65 2 0 24 0 56 0 0 59 18 0 0 0 0 0 242
07:30 AM 25 67 2 0 30 1 19 0 0 33 23 0 0 0 0 0 200
07:45 AM 16 48 0 0 47 2 18 0 0 41 29 0 1 2 0 0 204

Total 74 238 4 0 129 3 120 0 0 155 81 0 3 2 0 0 809

08:00 AM 13 40 1 0 28 1 20 0 0 23 12 0 0 2 1 0 141
08:15 AM 13 36 0 0 17 0 10 0 0 14 10 0 0 1 1 0 102
08:30 AM 15 29 2 0 24 0 13 0 0 21 13 0 1 0 0 0 118
08:45 AM 18 28 0 0 18 0 18 0 0 18 11 0 0 0 0 0 111

Total 59 133 3 0 87 1 61 0 0 76 46 0 1 3 2 0 472

*** BREAK ***

03:00 PM 32 30 7 0 17 1 23 0 0 49 11 0 1 1 0 0 172
03:15 PM 25 33 1 0 11 1 17 0 0 49 25 0 2 1 0 0 165
03:30 PM 17 28 3 1 25 3 16 0 0 51 28 0 0 0 0 0 172
03:45 PM 13 21 1 0 9 8 18 0 0 52 23 0 0 1 0 0 146

Total 87 112 12 1 62 13 74 0 0 201 87 0 3 3 0 0 655

04:00 PM 26 37 2 0 19 3 24 0 0 53 35 0 0 1 0 0 200
04:15 PM 23 24 1 0 18 3 24 0 0 65 19 0 2 2 1 0 182
04:30 PM 35 28 3 1 28 6 24 0 1 58 30 0 1 3 0 0 218
04:45 PM 31 31 1 0 19 2 20 0 2 52 30 0 0 1 1 0 190

Total 115 120 7 1 84 14 92 0 3 228 114 0 3 7 2 0 790

05:00 PM 28 28 2 0 21 2 16 0 0 58 34 0 1 1 0 0 191
05:15 PM 24 31 1 0 19 2 22 0 0 64 27 0 2 1 1 0 194
05:30 PM 17 21 1 0 19 4 13 0 1 39 24 0 0 0 0 0 139
05:45 PM 26 21 1 0 18 3 14 0 0 43 25 0 2 2 1 0 156

Total 95 101 5 0 77 11 65 0 1 204 110 0 5 4 2 0 680

Grand Total 477 868 34 2 542 44 435 0 4 906 479 0 16 23 7 0 3837
Apprch % 34.5 62.9 2.5 0.1 53.1 4.3 42.6 0 0.3 65.2 34.5 0 34.8 50 15.2 0  

Total % 12.4 22.6 0.9 0.1 14.1 1.1 11.3 0 0.1 23.6 12.5 0 0.4 0.6 0.2 0
Unshifted 467 850 31 1 537 44 427 0 4 895 473 0 16 23 6 0 3774

% Unshifted 97.9 97.9 91.2 50 99.1 100 98.2 0 100 98.8 98.7 0 100 100 85.7 0 98.4
Bank 1 10 14 3 0 5 0 8 0 0 7 6 0 0 0 1 0 54

% Bank 1 2.1 1.6 8.8 0 0.9 0 1.8 0 0 0.8 1.3 0 0 0 14.3 0 1.4
Bank 2 0 4 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 9

% Bank 2 0 0.5 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 0.4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : 93rd-91st AM-PM
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/11/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2
93RD ST SPRING BR      

From North
91ST ST                

From East
93RD ST SPRING BR      

From South
91ST ST                

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
06:00 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
06:15 AM 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

*** BREAK ***
06:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Total 0 2 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 6

07:00 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 5
07:15 AM 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
07:30 AM 2 2 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 7
07:45 AM 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

Total 3 7 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 6 2 0 0 0 0 0 21

08:00 AM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3
08:15 AM 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
08:30 AM 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 6
08:45 AM 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Total 3 3 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 1 0 15

*** BREAK ***

03:00 PM 0 3 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
03:15 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 4
03:30 PM 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
03:45 PM 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

Total 3 4 1 0 2 0 1 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 14

04:00 PM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
04:15 PM 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
04:30 PM 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

*** BREAK ***
Total 1 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

*** BREAK ***
05:30 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

*** BREAK ***
Total 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Grand Total 10 18 3 1 5 0 8 0 0 11 6 0 0 0 1 0 63
Apprch % 31.2 56.2 9.4 3.1 38.5 0 61.5 0 0 64.7 35.3 0 0 0 100 0  

Total % 15.9 28.6 4.8 1.6 7.9 0 12.7 0 0 17.5 9.5 0 0 0 1.6 0
Bank 1 10 14 3 0 5 0 8 0 0 7 6 0 0 0 1 0 54

% Bank 1 100 77.8 100 0 100 0 100 0 0 63.6 100 0 0 0 100 0 85.7
Bank 2 0 4 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 9

% Bank 2 0 22.2 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 36.4 0 0 0 0 0 0 14.3

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : Springbrook Rd, 93rd St, 91st St, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/13/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2
93RD ST SPRINGBR RD    

From North
91ST ST                

From East
93RD ST SPRINGBR RD    

From South
91ST ST                

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
*** BREAK ***

11:00 AM 13 25 0 0 13 2 17 0 0 23 17 0 0 1 0 1 112
11:15 AM 13 24 1 0 18 2 15 0 0 15 8 0 1 1 0 0 98
11:30 AM 24 26 0 1 14 3 18 1 0 29 11 0 0 1 1 0 129
11:45 AM 11 27 1 0 14 0 20 0 1 35 14 0 1 1 0 0 125

Total 61 102 2 1 59 7 70 1 1 102 50 0 2 4 1 1 464

12:00 PM 16 19 1 0 13 2 15 0 0 32 15 0 0 2 0 0 115
12:15 PM 19 29 0 1 16 0 19 0 0 32 12 0 1 0 0 0 129
12:30 PM 24 19 1 1 13 0 13 0 1 18 16 0 2 1 0 0 109
12:45 PM 15 15 0 0 10 2 17 0 2 32 8 0 0 1 0 0 102

Total 74 82 2 2 52 4 64 0 3 114 51 0 3 4 0 0 455

01:00 PM 20 26 0 0 12 1 27 0 0 13 14 0 0 2 1 0 116
01:15 PM 22 30 1 0 15 3 15 0 0 24 12 0 0 2 0 0 124
01:30 PM 24 17 0 0 12 0 18 0 1 26 10 0 0 2 0 0 110
01:45 PM 27 20 0 0 11 5 10 0 0 22 4 0 0 1 0 0 100

Total 93 93 1 0 50 9 70 0 1 85 40 0 0 7 1 0 450

Grand Total 228 277 5 3 161 20 204 1 5 301 141 0 5 15 2 1 1369
Apprch % 44.4 54 1 0.6 41.7 5.2 52.8 0.3 1.1 67.3 31.5 0 21.7 65.2 8.7 4.3  

Total % 16.7 20.2 0.4 0.2 11.8 1.5 14.9 0.1 0.4 22 10.3 0 0.4 1.1 0.1 0.1
Unshifted 226 276 5 2 157 20 199 0 5 301 138 0 5 15 2 0 1351

% Unshifted 99.1 99.6 100 66.7 97.5 100 97.5 0 100 100 97.9 0 100 100 100 0 98.7
Bank 1 2 1 0 1 4 0 5 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 1 18

% Bank 1 0.9 0.4 0 33.3 2.5 0 2.5 100 0 0 2.1 0 0 0 0 100 1.3
Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : Springbrook Rd, 93rd St, 91st St, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/13/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2
93RD ST SPRINGBR RD    

From North
91ST ST                

From East
93RD ST SPRINGBR RD    

From South
91ST ST                

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
*** BREAK ***

11:00 AM 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 4
11:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
11:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

*** BREAK ***
Total 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 6

12:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
12:15 PM 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

*** BREAK ***
12:45 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Total 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 4

01:00 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
01:15 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
01:30 PM 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3

*** BREAK ***
Total 1 1 0 0 1 0 4 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 8

Grand Total 2 1 0 1 4 0 5 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 1 18
Apprch % 50 25 0 25 40 0 50 10 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 100  

Total % 11.1 5.6 0 5.6 22.2 0 27.8 5.6 0 0 16.7 0 0 0 0 5.6
Bank 1 2 1 0 1 4 0 5 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 1 18

% Bank 1 100 100 0 100 100 0 100 100 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 100 100
Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : 91st-15th AM-PM
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 11/9/2012
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2
15TH AVE               

From North
91ST STREET            

From East
15TH AVE               

From South
91ST STREET            

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
06:00 AM 0 0 1 0 0 21 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 17 0 0 40
06:15 AM 1 0 1 0 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 25 0 0 48
06:30 AM 0 0 1 0 0 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 30
06:45 AM 0 0 0 2 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 19

Total 1 0 3 2 0 60 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 69 0 0 137

07:00 AM 0 0 1 0 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 0 46
07:15 AM 1 0 0 1 0 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 7 0 0 18
07:30 AM 0 0 2 1 0 24 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 31 0 0 60
07:45 AM 0 0 1 0 0 32 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 31 0 0 65

Total 1 0 4 2 0 83 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 94 0 0 189

08:00 AM 0 0 2 1 0 32 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 36 0 0 72
08:15 AM 3 0 2 2 0 38 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 37 0 0 85
08:30 AM 2 0 2 0 0 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 33 0 0 69
08:45 AM 1 0 2 0 0 26 3 0 0 0 0 0 2 27 0 0 61

Total 6 0 8 3 0 126 7 0 0 0 0 0 4 133 0 0 287

*** BREAK ***

03:00 PM 2 0 2 2 0 54 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 61 0 0 126
03:15 PM 2 0 0 2 0 50 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 42 0 0 99
03:30 PM 0 0 1 5 0 49 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 58 0 0 114
03:45 PM 3 0 4 0 0 44 3 0 0 0 0 0 3 42 0 0 99

Total 7 0 7 9 0 197 7 0 0 0 0 0 8 203 0 0 438

04:00 PM 0 0 1 0 0 53 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 51 0 0 108
04:15 PM 0 0 3 0 0 60 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 46 0 0 114
04:30 PM 0 0 3 0 0 40 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 49 0 0 96
04:45 PM 1 0 1 0 0 39 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 46 0 0 92

Total 1 0 8 0 0 192 6 0 0 0 0 1 10 192 0 0 410

05:00 PM 1 0 3 0 0 46 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 64 0 0 116
05:15 PM 0 0 3 1 0 41 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 49 0 0 97
05:30 PM 3 0 5 0 0 45 4 0 0 0 0 0 2 47 0 0 106
05:45 PM 0 0 4 0 0 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 54 0 0 103

Total 4 0 15 1 0 172 5 0 0 0 0 0 11 214 0 0 422

Grand Total 20 0 45 17 0 830 27 0 0 0 0 1 38 905 0 0 1883
Apprch % 24.4 0 54.9 20.7 0 96.8 3.2 0 0 0 0 100 4 96 0 0  

Total % 1.1 0 2.4 0.9 0 44.1 1.4 0 0 0 0 0.1 2 48.1 0 0
Unshifted 18 0 42 12 0 789 23 0 0 0 0 0 37 883 0 0 1804

% Unshifted 90 0 93.3 70.6 0 95.1 85.2 0 0 0 0 0 97.4 97.6 0 0 95.8
Bank 1 2 0 3 5 0 38 4 0 0 0 0 1 1 20 0 0 74

% Bank 1 10 0 6.7 29.4 0 4.6 14.8 0 0 0 0 100 2.6 2.2 0 0 3.9
Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 5

% Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0.4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 0 0 0.3

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : 91st-15th AM-PM
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 11/9/2012
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2
15TH AVE               

From North
91ST STREET            

From East
15TH AVE               

From South
91ST STREET            

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
06:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
06:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2
06:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
06:45 AM 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Total 0 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 5

*** BREAK ***
07:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
07:30 AM 0 0 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 6
07:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 4

Total 0 0 1 0 0 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 11

08:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 3
08:15 AM 0 0 1 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 8
08:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1
08:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 6

Total 0 0 1 0 0 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 18

*** BREAK ***

03:00 PM 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 6
03:15 PM 0 0 0 1 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 8
03:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 4
03:45 PM 1 0 1 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6

Total 1 0 1 3 0 11 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 24

04:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 6
04:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 5

*** BREAK ***
04:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 3

Total 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 4 0 0 14

05:00 PM 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
05:15 PM 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 4

*** BREAK ***
Total 1 0 0 1 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 7

Grand Total 2 0 3 5 0 41 4 0 0 0 0 1 1 22 0 0 79
Apprch % 20 0 30 50 0 91.1 8.9 0 0 0 0 100 4.3 95.7 0 0  

Total % 2.5 0 3.8 6.3 0 51.9 5.1 0 0 0 0 1.3 1.3 27.8 0 0
Bank 1 2 0 3 5 0 38 4 0 0 0 0 1 1 20 0 0 74

% Bank 1 100 0 100 100 0 92.7 100 0 0 0 0 100 100 90.9 0 0 93.7
Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 5

% Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 7.3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9.1 0 0 6.3

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : 91st St, 15th Ave, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 11/10/2012
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2
15TH AVE
From North

91ST STREET
From East

15TH AVE
From South

91ST STREET
From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
*** BREAK ***

11:00 AM 0 0 1 3 0 34 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 32 0 0 71
11:15 AM 0 0 4 0 0 37 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 43 0 0 86
11:30 AM 2 0 0 1 0 35 2 0 0 0 0 1 3 32 0 0 76
11:45 AM 0 0 3 3 0 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 42 0 0 85

Total 2 0 8 7 0 140 3 0 0 0 0 2 7 149 0 0 318

12:00 PM 0 0 2 0 0 59 2 0 0 0 0 2 2 41 0 0 108
12:15 PM 1 0 2 0 0 41 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 46 0 0 93
12:30 PM 1 0 6 0 0 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 40 0 1 82
12:45 PM 1 0 0 0 0 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 35 0 0 74

Total 3 0 10 0 0 167 3 1 0 0 0 2 8 162 0 1 357

01:00 PM 0 0 0 1 0 37 1 0 0 0 0 2 1 39 0 0 81
01:15 PM 1 0 1 0 0 32 5 0 0 0 0 0 1 44 0 0 84
01:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 36 0 0 77
01:45 PM 0 0 1 0 0 32 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 48 0 0 83

Total 1 0 2 1 0 141 6 0 0 0 0 3 4 167 0 0 325

Grand Total 6 0 20 8 0 448 12 1 0 0 0 7 19 478 0 1 1000
Apprch % 17.6 0 58.8 23.5 0 97.2 2.6 0.2 0 0 0 100 3.8 96 0 0.2  

Total % 0.6 0 2 0.8 0 44.8 1.2 0.1 0 0 0 0.7 1.9 47.8 0 0.1
Unshifted 6 0 20 4 0 444 12 0 0 0 0 1 19 476 0 0 982

% Unshifted 100 0 100 50 0 99.1 100 0 0 0 0 14.3 100 99.6 0 0 98.2
Bank 1 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 2 0 0 16

% Bank 1 0 0 0 50 0 0.9 0 0 0 0 0 85.7 0 0.4 0 0 1.6
Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2

% Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 0.2

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : 91st St, 15th Ave, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 11/10/2012
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2
15TH AVE
From North

91ST STREET
From East

15TH AVE
From South

91ST STREET
From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
*** BREAK ***

11:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2
11:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
11:30 AM 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
11:45 AM 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 4

Total 0 0 0 4 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 8

12:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 3
12:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
12:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

*** BREAK ***
Total 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 6

01:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 2
*** BREAK ***

01:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 2
Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 0 0 4

Grand Total 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 1 0 0 0 6 0 2 0 1 18
Apprch % 0 0 0 100 0 80 0 20 0 0 0 100 0 66.7 0 33.3  

Total % 0 0 0 22.2 0 22.2 0 5.6 0 0 0 33.3 0 11.1 0 5.6
Bank 1 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 2 0 0 16

% Bank 1 0 0 0 100 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 100 0 0 88.9
Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2

% Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 11.1

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32-91st AM-PM
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 11/9/2012
Page No : 1

Pleasant Prairie
Weekday AM
#3255
AS.

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH 32                 

From North
91ST ST                

From East
STH 32                 

From South
91ST ST                

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
06:00 AM 0 67 12 0 8 8 3 0 0 34 0 0 8 1 9 0 150
06:15 AM 1 81 5 0 7 11 2 0 3 26 0 0 6 4 16 0 162

06:30 AM 2 84 12 0 12 8 5 0 1 34 3 0 10 2 14 0 187
06:45 AM 5 94 14 0 13 9 6 0 3 62 6 0 15 11 20 0 258

Total 8 326 43 0 40 36 16 0 7 156 9 0 39 18 59 0 757

07:00 AM 1 98 13 1 18 11 7 0 6 60 6 0 8 7 18 0 254
07:15 AM 2 118 14 0 18 14 8 0 6 68 3 0 14 4 17 0 286
07:30 AM 1 87 13 0 13 11 8 0 14 77 3 0 31 6 16 0 280
07:45 AM 1 94 27 1 18 18 9 0 9 85 6 0 18 7 22 0 315

Total 5 397 67 2 67 54 32 0 35 290 18 0 71 24 73 0 1135

08:00 AM 2 57 17 0 9 12 9 0 7 57 1 0 13 9 18 0 211
08:15 AM 6 60 14 0 13 16 7 0 8 76 8 0 14 7 16 0 245
08:30 AM 6 58 8 0 14 11 13 0 9 88 6 0 17 7 13 0 250
08:45 AM 6 67 16 0 3 6 7 0 7 61 3 0 11 5 13 1 206

Total 20 242 55 0 39 45 36 0 31 282 18 0 55 28 60 1 912

*** BREAK ***

03:00 PM 8 79 28 2 9 15 4 1 13 88 9 0 17 18 26 0 317
03:15 PM 7 72 25 0 7 11 5 0 10 105 3 0 12 15 17 0 289
03:30 PM 13 80 20 3 6 16 9 0 18 104 16 0 23 14 19 0 341
03:45 PM 5 83 18 0 16 13 10 0 21 140 8 0 14 18 22 0 368

Total 33 314 91 5 38 55 28 1 62 437 36 0 66 65 84 0 1315

04:00 PM 3 91 22 0 5 13 9 0 23 109 11 1 18 14 19 0 338
04:15 PM 16 85 20 0 8 12 12 0 28 151 18 0 20 12 18 0 400
04:30 PM 9 70 21 0 4 14 4 0 13 133 7 0 13 11 22 0 321
04:45 PM 6 90 14 0 5 9 5 0 12 146 10 0 13 18 18 0 346

Total 34 336 77 0 22 48 30 0 76 539 46 1 64 55 77 0 1405

05:00 PM 9 113 24 0 6 13 5 0 13 142 8 0 10 24 25 0 392
05:15 PM 12 87 15 1 4 7 11 0 22 131 15 0 20 18 11 0 354
05:30 PM 4 84 17 0 4 12 5 0 17 136 11 0 17 19 15 0 341
05:45 PM 10 77 12 0 5 11 8 0 20 114 10 0 15 23 12 0 317

Total 35 361 68 1 19 43 29 0 72 523 44 0 62 84 63 0 1404

Grand Total 135 1976 401 8 225 281 171 1 283 2227 171 1 357 274 416 1 6928
Apprch % 5.4 78.4 15.9 0.3 33.2 41.4 25.2 0.1 10.6 83 6.4 0 34.1 26.1 39.7 0.1  

Total % 1.9 28.5 5.8 0.1 3.2 4.1 2.5 0 4.1 32.1 2.5 0 5.2 4 6 0
Unshifted 127 1954 370 4 210 276 167 0 276 2195 155 0 351 267 409 1 6762

% Unshifted 94.1 98.9 92.3 50 93.3 98.2 97.7 0 97.5 98.6 90.6 0 98.3 97.4 98.3 100 97.6
Bank 1 8 20 30 4 6 5 3 1 7 25 10 1 5 7 7 0 139

% Bank 1 5.9 1 7.5 50 2.7 1.8 1.8 100 2.5 1.1 5.8 100 1.4 2.6 1.7 0 2
Bank 2 0 2 1 0 9 0 1 0 0 7 6 0 1 0 0 0 27

% Bank 2 0 0.1 0.2 0 4 0 0.6 0 0 0.3 3.5 0 0.3 0 0 0 0.4

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32-91st AM-PM
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 11/9/2012
Page No : 1

Pleasant Prairie
Weekday AM
#3255
AS.

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH 32                 

From North
91ST ST                

From East
STH 32                 

From South
91ST ST                

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
06:00 AM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
06:15 AM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2

06:30 AM 0 2 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
06:45 AM 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 5

Total 0 4 4 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 12

07:00 AM 0 2 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
07:15 AM 0 2 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
07:30 AM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 0 0 8
07:45 AM 0 1 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 8

Total 0 7 5 2 3 0 0 0 1 5 2 0 1 2 0 0 28

08:00 AM 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 4
08:15 AM 1 2 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 2 3 0 2 1 0 0 15
08:30 AM 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 6
08:45 AM 1 0 3 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 10

Total 2 3 6 0 3 1 1 0 3 4 6 0 2 3 1 0 35

*** BREAK ***

03:00 PM 1 3 1 1 2 1 0 1 0 2 3 0 1 0 1 0 17
03:15 PM 0 2 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 2 0 0 11
03:30 PM 3 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 1 0 1 0 1 0 14
03:45 PM 0 1 2 0 2 0 1 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 1 0 10

Total 4 6 9 1 6 1 1 1 1 10 5 0 2 2 3 0 52

04:00 PM 1 1 1 0 2 2 1 0 0 3 0 1 0 0 2 0 14
04:15 PM 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 7
04:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
04:45 PM 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

Total 2 1 5 0 2 3 1 0 1 9 0 1 0 0 2 0 27

05:00 PM 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
05:15 PM 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
05:30 PM 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 2 1 0 0 0 1 0 7
05:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Total 0 1 2 1 0 0 1 0 1 4 1 0 0 0 1 0 12

Grand Total 8 22 31 4 15 5 4 1 7 32 16 1 6 7 7 0 166
Apprch % 12.3 33.8 47.7 6.2 60 20 16 4 12.5 57.1 28.6 1.8 30 35 35 0  

Total % 4.8 13.3 18.7 2.4 9 3 2.4 0.6 4.2 19.3 9.6 0.6 3.6 4.2 4.2 0
Bank 1 8 20 30 4 6 5 3 1 7 25 10 1 5 7 7 0 139

% Bank 1 100 90.9 96.8 100 40 100 75 100 100 78.1 62.5 100 83.3 100 100 0 83.7
Bank 2 0 2 1 0 9 0 1 0 0 7 6 0 1 0 0 0 27

% Bank 2 0 9.1 3.2 0 60 0 25 0 0 21.9 37.5 0 16.7 0 0 0 16.3

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32, 91st St, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 11/10/2012
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH 32                 

From North
91ST STREET            

From East
STH 32                 

From South
91ST STREET            

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
*** BREAK ***

11:00 AM 7 76 18 2 6 9 9 0 6 86 5 1 4 9 24 0 262
11:15 AM 6 88 13 0 13 14 14 0 11 72 9 0 14 13 14 0 281
11:30 AM 11 72 15 1 4 10 9 0 9 94 5 1 12 6 17 0 266
11:45 AM 6 80 13 1 4 12 11 2 10 83 7 0 10 8 20 0 267

Total 30 316 59 4 27 45 43 2 36 335 26 2 40 36 75 0 1076

12:00 PM 11 70 21 1 8 22 10 1 18 76 3 2 6 11 26 0 286
12:15 PM 13 82 19 0 4 9 5 0 14 97 10 0 12 19 19 0 303
12:30 PM 13 82 16 0 6 9 11 0 9 95 8 0 8 9 21 0 287
12:45 PM 8 87 11 0 4 9 7 0 13 80 6 0 11 11 15 0 262

Total 45 321 67 1 22 49 33 1 54 348 27 2 37 50 81 0 1138

01:00 PM 11 92 19 0 4 9 3 0 9 76 8 2 8 10 19 0 270
01:15 PM 5 88 11 0 8 8 8 0 15 70 10 0 10 8 26 1 268
01:30 PM 4 83 17 0 8 10 9 1 13 102 5 0 9 9 17 0 287
01:45 PM 9 108 11 0 3 10 10 0 9 94 6 1 11 13 21 1 307

Total 29 371 58 0 23 37 30 1 46 342 29 3 38 40 83 2 1132

Grand Total 104 1008 184 5 72 131 106 4 136 1025 82 7 115 126 239 2 3346
Apprch % 8 77.5 14.1 0.4 23 41.9 33.9 1.3 10.9 82 6.6 0.6 23.9 26.1 49.6 0.4  

Total % 3.1 30.1 5.5 0.1 2.2 3.9 3.2 0.1 4.1 30.6 2.5 0.2 3.4 3.8 7.1 0.1
Unshifted 104 1002 182 2 72 131 106 0 133 1017 82 0 115 125 236 0 3307

% Unshifted 100 99.4 98.9 40 100 100 100 0 97.8 99.2 100 0 100 99.2 98.7 0 98.8
Bank 1 0 6 2 2 0 0 0 4 3 8 0 7 0 1 3 2 38

% Bank 1 0 0.6 1.1 40 0 0 0 100 2.2 0.8 0 100 0 0.8 1.3 100 1.1
Bank 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

% Bank 2 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32, 91st St, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 11/10/2012
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH 32                 

From North
91ST STREET            

From East
STH 32                 

From South
91ST STREET            

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
*** BREAK ***

11:00 AM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 4
11:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
11:30 AM 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2
11:45 AM 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 7

Total 0 1 2 2 0 0 0 2 2 4 0 2 0 0 2 0 17

12:00 PM 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 4
12:15 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

*** BREAK ***
12:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

Total 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 8

01:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 3
01:15 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2
01:30 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
01:45 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 0 1 0 1 7

Total 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 4 0 3 0 1 0 2 14

Grand Total 0 6 2 3 0 0 0 4 3 8 0 7 0 1 3 2 39
Apprch % 0 54.5 18.2 27.3 0 0 0 100 16.7 44.4 0 38.9 0 16.7 50 33.3  

Total % 0 15.4 5.1 7.7 0 0 0 10.3 7.7 20.5 0 17.9 0 2.6 7.7 5.1
Bank 1 0 6 2 2 0 0 0 4 3 8 0 7 0 1 3 2 38

% Bank 1 0 100 100 66.7 0 0 0 100 100 100 0 100 0 100 100 100 97.4
Bank 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

% Bank 2 0 0 0 33.3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2.6

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32-92nd AM-PM
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 11/5/2012
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH 32                 

From North
92 PL                  

From East
STH 32                 

From South
92 PL                  

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

06:00 AM 1 104 0 0 6 0 2 0 0 31 0 0 0 0 0 0 144
06:15 AM 0 115 0 0 3 0 2 0 0 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 148
06:30 AM 1 110 0 0 5 0 4 0 0 43 1 0 0 0 0 0 164
06:45 AM 0 141 0 0 12 0 6 0 0 78 1 0 0 0 0 0 238

Total 2 470 0 0 26 0 14 0 0 180 2 0 0 0 0 0 694

07:00 AM 2 132 0 0 6 0 5 0 0 96 0 0 0 0 0 0 241
07:15 AM 4 180 0 0 10 0 8 0 0 84 0 0 0 0 0 0 286
07:30 AM 1 181 0 0 4 0 8 0 0 95 0 0 0 0 0 0 289
07:45 AM 3 139 0 0 3 0 4 0 0 101 0 0 0 0 0 0 250

Total 10 632 0 0 23 0 25 0 0 376 0 0 0 0 0 0 1066

08:00 AM 1 117 0 0 3 0 4 0 1 79 1 0 0 0 0 0 206
08:15 AM 1 102 0 0 1 0 7 0 0 88 2 0 0 0 0 0 201
08:30 AM 6 79 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 189
08:45 AM 5 89 0 0 2 0 3 0 0 90 0 0 0 0 0 0 189

Total 13 387 0 0 7 0 17 0 1 357 3 0 0 0 0 0 785

04:00 PM 4 112 0 0 2 0 2 1 0 109 5 0 0 0 0 0 235
04:15 PM 4 90 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 109 0 0 0 0 0 0 206
04:30 PM 3 104 0 0 1 0 6 0 0 148 1 0 0 0 0 0 263
04:45 PM 2 118 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 160 3 0 0 0 0 0 287

Total 13 424 0 0 3 0 15 1 0 526 9 0 0 0 0 0 991

05:00 PM 4 107 0 1 2 0 2 0 0 144 4 0 0 0 0 1 265
05:15 PM 5 110 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 189 6 0 0 0 0 0 313
05:30 PM 6 96 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 159 7 0 0 0 0 0 270
05:45 PM 7 114 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 173 6 0 0 0 0 0 304

Total 22 427 0 1 2 0 11 0 0 665 23 0 0 0 0 1 1152

06:00 PM 11 125 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 146 5 0 0 0 0 0 290
06:15 PM 4 96 0 0 3 0 8 0 0 159 3 0 0 0 0 0 273
06:30 PM 4 100 0 0 1 0 6 0 0 157 3 0 0 0 0 0 271
06:45 PM 5 91 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 136 4 0 0 0 0 0 241

Total 24 412 0 0 5 0 21 0 0 598 15 0 0 0 0 0 1075

Grand Total 84 2752 0 1 66 0 103 1 1 2702 52 0 0 0 0 1 5763
Apprch % 3 97 0 0 38.8 0 60.6 0.6 0 98.1 1.9 0 0 0 0 100  

Total % 1.5 47.8 0 0 1.1 0 1.8 0 0 46.9 0.9 0 0 0 0 0
Unshifted 81 2702 0 0 64 0 101 0 1 2640 50 0 0 0 0 1 5640

% Unshifted 96.4 98.2 0 0 97 0 98.1 0 100 97.7 96.2 0 0 0 0 100 97.9
Bank 1 3 38 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 44 1 0 0 0 0 0 89

% Bank 1 3.6 1.4 0 0 3 0 0 100 0 1.6 1.9 0 0 0 0 0 1.5
Bank 2 0 12 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 18 1 0 0 0 0 0 34

% Bank 2 0 0.4 0 100 0 0 1.9 0 0 0.7 1.9 0 0 0 0 0 0.6

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32-92nd AM-PM
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 11/5/2012
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH 32                 

From North
92 PL                  

From East
STH 32                 

From South
92 PL                  

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

06:00 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
06:15 AM 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
06:30 AM 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
06:45 AM 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 8

Total 0 8 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 16

07:00 AM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
07:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
07:30 AM 0 5 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
07:45 AM 1 4 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

Total 1 11 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 20

08:00 AM 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 9
08:15 AM 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 12
08:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
08:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

Total 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 1 0 0 0 0 0 30

04:00 PM 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 10
04:15 PM 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
04:30 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
04:45 PM 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

Total 1 14 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 29

05:00 PM 0 4 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 10
05:15 PM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
05:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
05:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Total 1 4 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 20

06:00 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

06:30 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
06:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Total 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 8

Grand Total 3 50 0 1 2 0 2 1 0 62 2 0 0 0 0 0 123
Apprch % 5.6 92.6 0 1.9 40 0 40 20 0 96.9 3.1 0 0 0 0 0  

Total % 2.4 40.7 0 0.8 1.6 0 1.6 0.8 0 50.4 1.6 0 0 0 0 0
Bank 1 3 38 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 44 1 0 0 0 0 0 89

% Bank 1 100 76 0 0 100 0 0 100 0 71 50 0 0 0 0 0 72.4
Bank 2 0 12 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 18 1 0 0 0 0 0 34

% Bank 2 0 24 0 100 0 0 100 0 0 29 50 0 0 0 0 0 27.6

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32, 92nd Pl, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 11/10/2012
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH 32                 

From North
92ND PL                

From East
STH 32                 

From South
92ND PL                

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
*** BREAK ***

11:00 AM 11 98 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 96 3 0 0 0 0 0 211
11:15 AM 9 104 0 0 2 0 4 0 0 88 1 0 0 0 0 0 208
11:30 AM 6 84 0 0 5 0 6 0 0 101 1 0 0 0 0 0 203
11:45 AM 7 99 0 0 1 0 5 2 0 96 1 0 0 0 0 0 211

Total 33 385 0 0 8 0 18 2 0 381 6 0 0 0 0 0 833

12:00 PM 4 97 0 0 0 0 8 1 0 91 3 1 0 0 0 0 205
12:15 PM 8 99 0 0 2 0 7 0 0 112 2 0 0 0 0 0 230
12:30 PM 10 96 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 105 3 0 0 0 0 0 220
12:45 PM 6 99 0 0 2 0 5 0 0 92 4 0 0 0 0 0 208

Total 28 391 0 0 4 0 26 1 0 400 12 1 0 0 0 0 863

01:00 PM 17 100 0 0 3 0 6 0 0 95 3 0 0 0 0 1 225
01:15 PM 14 106 0 0 5 0 4 1 0 86 4 0 0 0 0 0 220
01:30 PM 9 95 0 0 2 0 9 1 0 110 5 0 0 0 0 0 231
01:45 PM 10 122 0 1 7 0 5 0 0 103 7 0 0 0 0 0 255

Total 50 423 0 1 17 0 24 2 0 394 19 0 0 0 0 1 931

Grand Total 111 1199 0 1 29 0 68 5 0 1175 37 1 0 0 0 1 2627
Apprch % 8.5 91.5 0 0.1 28.4 0 66.7 4.9 0 96.9 3.1 0.1 0 0 0 100  

Total % 4.2 45.6 0 0 1.1 0 2.6 0.2 0 44.7 1.4 0 0 0 0 0
Unshifted 111 1190 0 0 28 0 67 0 0 1167 37 0 0 0 0 0 2600

% Unshifted 100 99.2 0 0 96.6 0 98.5 0 0 99.3 100 0 0 0 0 0 99
Bank 1 0 9 0 1 1 0 1 5 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 1 26

% Bank 1 0 0.8 0 100 3.4 0 1.5 100 0 0.7 0 0 0 0 0 100 1
Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

% Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 0

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32, 92nd Pl, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 11/10/2012
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH 32                 

From North
92ND PL                

From East
STH 32                 

From South
92ND PL                

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
*** BREAK ***

11:00 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
11:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

*** BREAK ***
11:45 AM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

Total 0 3 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 10

12:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2
12:15 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

*** BREAK ***
Total 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 5

01:00 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 3
01:15 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
01:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
01:45 PM 0 2 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 6

Total 0 4 0 1 1 0 0 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 12

Grand Total 0 9 0 1 1 0 1 5 0 8 0 1 0 0 0 1 27
Apprch % 0 90 0 10 14.3 0 14.3 71.4 0 88.9 0 11.1 0 0 0 100  

Total % 0 33.3 0 3.7 3.7 0 3.7 18.5 0 29.6 0 3.7 0 0 0 3.7
Bank 1 0 9 0 1 1 0 1 5 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 1 26

% Bank 1 0 100 0 100 100 0 100 100 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 100 96.3
Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

% Bank 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 3.7

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32-97th AM-PM
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/11/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH32                  

From North
97TH ST                

From East
STH32                  

From South
97TH ST                

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
06:00 AM 0 101 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 127
06:15 AM 1 168 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 28 1 0 0 0 0 0 201
06:30 AM 2 129 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 169
06:45 AM 1 144 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 59 0 0 0 0 0 0 210

Total 4 542 0 0 3 0 10 0 0 147 1 0 0 0 0 0 707

07:00 AM 1 159 0 0 1 0 5 0 0 83 0 0 0 0 0 0 249
07:15 AM 3 167 0 0 2 0 6 0 0 102 0 0 0 0 0 0 280
07:30 AM 5 172 0 0 1 0 7 0 0 94 0 0 0 0 0 0 279
07:45 AM 0 157 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 102 0 0 0 0 0 0 263

Total 9 655 0 0 4 0 22 0 0 381 0 0 0 0 0 0 1071

08:00 AM 4 101 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 68 0 0 0 0 0 0 174
08:15 AM 3 83 0 0 1 0 5 0 0 74 0 0 0 0 0 2 168
08:30 AM 1 87 0 0 2 0 5 0 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 145
08:45 AM 1 82 0 0 1 0 5 0 0 71 0 0 0 0 0 0 160

Total 9 353 0 0 4 0 16 0 0 263 0 0 0 0 0 2 647

*** BREAK ***

03:00 PM 5 68 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 95 2 0 0 0 0 0 173
03:15 PM 4 79 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 96 2 0 0 0 0 0 185
03:30 PM 2 85 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 128 2 0 0 0 0 0 218
03:45 PM 3 54 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 114 1 0 0 0 0 0 172

Total 14 286 0 0 1 0 7 0 0 433 7 0 0 0 0 0 748

04:00 PM 1 73 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 103 0 0 0 0 0 0 181
04:15 PM 4 100 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 145 0 0 0 0 0 0 250
04:30 PM 5 102 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 130 1 0 0 0 0 0 240
04:45 PM 2 93 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 181 0 0 0 0 0 0 279

Total 12 368 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 559 1 0 0 0 0 0 950

05:00 PM 4 91 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 169 6 0 0 0 0 0 271
05:15 PM 7 101 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 153 0 0 0 0 0 0 267
05:30 PM 3 73 0 0 2 0 2 1 0 138 0 0 0 0 0 1 220
05:45 PM 2 54 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 126 2 0 0 0 0 0 187

Total 16 319 0 0 4 0 10 1 0 586 8 0 0 0 0 1 945

Grand Total 64 2523 0 0 16 0 75 1 0 2369 17 0 0 0 0 3 5068
Apprch % 2.5 97.5 0 0 17.4 0 81.5 1.1 0 99.3 0.7 0 0 0 0 100  

Total % 1.3 49.8 0 0 0.3 0 1.5 0 0 46.7 0.3 0 0 0 0 0.1
Unshifted 58 2464 0 0 16 0 75 0 0 2318 16 0 0 0 0 2 4949

% Unshifted 90.6 97.7 0 0 100 0 100 0 0 97.8 94.1 0 0 0 0 66.7 97.7
Bank 1 6 43 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 37 1 0 0 0 0 1 89

% Bank 1 9.4 1.7 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 1.6 5.9 0 0 0 0 33.3 1.8
Bank 2 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 30

% Bank 2 0 0.6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.6

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32-97th AM-PM
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/11/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH32                  

From North
97TH ST                

From East
STH32                  

From South
97TH ST                

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
06:00 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
06:15 AM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
06:30 AM 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
06:45 AM 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

Total 1 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 18

07:00 AM 1 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 8
07:15 AM 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
07:30 AM 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
07:45 AM 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

Total 1 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 21

08:00 AM 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 9
08:15 AM 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 9
08:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
08:45 AM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 6

Total 1 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 25

*** BREAK ***

03:00 PM 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
03:15 PM 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 7
03:30 PM 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
03:45 PM 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

Total 1 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 1 0 0 0 0 0 23

04:00 PM 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
04:15 PM 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 9
04:30 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
04:45 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Total 1 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 20

05:00 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
05:15 PM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
05:30 PM 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 5
05:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Total 1 5 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 12

Grand Total 6 59 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 51 1 0 0 0 0 1 119
Apprch % 9.2 90.8 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 98.1 1.9 0 0 0 0 100  

Total % 5 49.6 0 0 0 0 0 0.8 0 42.9 0.8 0 0 0 0 0.8
Bank 1 6 43 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 37 1 0 0 0 0 1 89

% Bank 1 100 72.9 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 72.5 100 0 0 0 0 100 74.8
Bank 2 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 30

% Bank 2 0 27.1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 27.5 0 0 0 0 0 0 25.2

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32, 97th St, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/13/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH32                  

From North
97TH ST                

From East
STH32                  

From South
97TH ST                

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
*** BREAK ***

11:00 AM 4 85 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 86 1 0 0 0 0 0 180
11:15 AM 4 95 0 0 2 0 4 0 0 96 0 0 0 0 0 0 201
11:30 AM 4 84 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 91 0 0 0 0 0 0 182
11:45 AM 3 87 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 125 0 0 0 0 0 0 219

Total 15 351 0 0 5 0 12 0 0 398 1 0 0 0 0 0 782

12:00 PM 1 82 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 83 0 0 0 0 0 0 171
12:15 PM 2 98 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 112 1 0 0 0 0 0 217
12:30 PM 3 107 0 0 2 0 10 0 0 100 1 0 0 0 0 0 223
12:45 PM 8 86 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 104 2 0 0 0 0 0 206

Total 14 373 0 0 3 0 24 0 0 399 4 0 0 0 0 0 817

01:00 PM 5 86 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 96 0 0 0 0 0 0 190
01:15 PM 3 95 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 101 0 0 0 0 0 0 200
01:30 PM 7 93 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 96 0 0 0 0 0 0 201
01:45 PM 3 132 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 99 3 0 0 0 0 0 241

Total 18 406 0 0 1 0 12 0 0 392 3 0 0 0 0 0 832

Grand Total 47 1130 0 0 9 0 48 0 0 1189 8 0 0 0 0 0 2431
Apprch % 4 96 0 0 15.8 0 84.2 0 0 99.3 0.7 0 0 0 0 0  

Total % 1.9 46.5 0 0 0.4 0 2 0 0 48.9 0.3 0 0 0 0 0
Unshifted 45 1122 0 0 9 0 47 0 0 1177 8 0 0 0 0 0 2408

% Unshifted 95.7 99.3 0 0 100 0 97.9 0 0 99 100 0 0 0 0 0 99.1
Bank 1 2 7 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 21

% Bank 1 4.3 0.6 0 0 0 0 2.1 0 0 0.9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.9
Bank 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

% Bank 2 0 0.1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32, 97th St, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/13/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH32                  

From North
97TH ST                

From East
STH32                  

From South
97TH ST                

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
*** BREAK ***

11:00 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
11:15 AM 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
11:30 AM 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
11:45 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

Total 2 3 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 11

12:00 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
12:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

*** BREAK ***
12:45 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Total 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

01:00 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
01:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
01:30 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
01:45 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Total 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 9

Grand Total 2 8 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 23
Apprch % 20 80 0 0 0 0 100 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0  

Total % 8.7 34.8 0 0 0 0 4.3 0 0 52.2 0 0 0 0 0 0
Bank 1 2 7 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 21

% Bank 1 100 87.5 0 0 0 0 100 0 0 91.7 0 0 0 0 0 0 91.3
Bank 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

% Bank 2 0 12.5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8.3 0 0 0 0 0 0 8.7

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32-101st AM-PM
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/11/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH 32                 

From North
101ST                  

From East
STH 32                 

From South
101ST                  

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
06:00 AM 0 96 0 0 7 0 4 0 0 20 1 0 0 1 0 0 129
06:15 AM 0 157 0 0 10 0 1 0 0 26 0 0 0 0 0 0 194
06:30 AM 0 122 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 34 1 0 0 0 0 0 160
06:45 AM 1 142 0 0 7 0 3 0 0 56 3 0 0 0 0 0 212

Total 1 517 0 0 26 0 9 0 0 136 5 0 0 1 0 0 695

07:00 AM 0 162 0 0 9 0 9 0 0 72 1 0 0 0 0 0 253
07:15 AM 2 161 0 0 13 0 6 0 0 93 1 0 0 0 0 0 276
07:30 AM 1 169 0 0 2 0 4 0 0 86 4 0 0 0 0 0 266
07:45 AM 2 148 0 0 2 0 3 0 0 95 0 0 0 0 0 0 250

Total 5 640 0 0 26 0 22 0 0 346 6 0 0 0 0 0 1045

08:00 AM 0 105 0 0 1 0 4 0 0 65 1 0 0 0 0 0 176
08:15 AM 1 80 0 0 3 0 1 0 0 73 1 0 0 0 0 2 161
08:30 AM 4 87 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 48 0 0 0 0 0 0 141
08:45 AM 1 72 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 65 3 0 0 0 0 0 144

Total 6 344 0 0 5 0 9 0 0 251 5 0 0 0 0 2 622

*** BREAK ***

03:00 PM 1 69 0 0 1 0 5 0 0 94 4 0 0 0 0 0 174
03:15 PM 5 71 0 0 5 0 1 0 0 97 3 0 0 0 0 0 182
03:30 PM 2 88 0 0 4 0 1 0 0 130 4 0 0 0 0 0 229
03:45 PM 5 63 0 0 3 0 1 0 0 135 8 0 0 0 0 0 215

Total 13 291 0 0 13 0 8 0 0 456 19 0 0 0 0 0 800

04:00 PM 3 85 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 138 2 0 0 0 0 0 230
04:15 PM 0 105 0 0 3 0 4 0 0 151 4 0 0 0 0 0 267
04:30 PM 2 115 0 0 4 0 5 0 0 186 4 0 0 0 0 0 316
04:45 PM 2 87 0 0 3 0 4 0 0 172 6 0 0 0 0 0 274

Total 7 392 0 0 10 0 15 0 0 647 16 0 0 0 0 0 1087

05:00 PM 2 94 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 169 9 0 0 0 0 0 279
05:15 PM 2 96 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 158 6 0 0 0 0 0 264
05:30 PM 0 78 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 136 9 0 0 0 0 1 228
05:45 PM 1 53 0 0 3 0 2 0 0 122 4 0 0 0 0 0 185

Total 5 321 0 0 6 0 10 0 0 585 28 0 0 0 0 1 956

Grand Total 37 2505 0 0 86 0 73 0 0 2421 79 0 0 1 0 3 5205
Apprch % 1.5 98.5 0 0 54.1 0 45.9 0 0 96.8 3.2 0 0 25 0 75  

Total % 0.7 48.1 0 0 1.7 0 1.4 0 0 46.5 1.5 0 0 0 0 0.1
Unshifted 35 2455 0 0 84 0 67 0 0 2376 77 0 0 1 0 2 5097

% Unshifted 94.6 98 0 0 97.7 0 91.8 0 0 98.1 97.5 0 0 100 0 66.7 97.9
Bank 1 2 33 0 0 2 0 6 0 0 31 2 0 0 0 0 1 77

% Bank 1 5.4 1.3 0 0 2.3 0 8.2 0 0 1.3 2.5 0 0 0 0 33.3 1.5
Bank 2 0 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 31

% Bank 2 0 0.7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.6

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32-101st AM-PM
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/11/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH 32                 

From North
101ST                  

From East
STH 32                 

From South
101ST                  

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
06:00 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
06:15 AM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
06:30 AM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
06:45 AM 1 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

Total 1 7 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 16

07:00 AM 0 5 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 7
07:15 AM 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
07:30 AM 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
07:45 AM 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

Total 0 15 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 20

08:00 AM 0 3 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 10
08:15 AM 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 8
08:30 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
08:45 AM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 6

Total 0 10 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 14 1 0 0 0 0 0 26

*** BREAK ***

03:00 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
03:15 PM 0 3 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 7
03:30 PM 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
03:45 PM 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Total 1 7 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 18

04:00 PM 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 7
04:15 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
04:30 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 6
04:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Total 0 8 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 9 1 0 0 0 0 0 20

05:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
*** BREAK ***

05:30 PM 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 4
05:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Total 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 8

Grand Total 2 50 0 0 2 0 6 0 0 45 2 0 0 0 0 1 108
Apprch % 3.8 96.2 0 0 25 0 75 0 0 95.7 4.3 0 0 0 0 100  

Total % 1.9 46.3 0 0 1.9 0 5.6 0 0 41.7 1.9 0 0 0 0 0.9
Bank 1 2 33 0 0 2 0 6 0 0 31 2 0 0 0 0 1 77

% Bank 1 100 66 0 0 100 0 100 0 0 68.9 100 0 0 0 0 100 71.3
Bank 2 0 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 31

% Bank 2 0 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 31.1 0 0 0 0 0 0 28.7

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32, 101st Pl, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/13/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH 32                 

From North
101 ST PLACE           

From East
STH 32                 

From South
101 ST PLACE           

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

11:00 AM 3 87 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 87 3 0 0 0 0 0 185
11:15 AM 2 88 0 0 3 0 4 0 0 90 5 0 0 0 0 0 192
11:30 AM 3 84 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 102 2 0 0 0 0 0 194
11:45 AM 0 89 0 0 6 0 4 0 0 106 2 0 0 0 0 0 207

Total 8 348 0 0 15 0 10 0 0 385 12 0 0 0 0 0 778

12:00 PM 7 83 0 0 3 0 2 0 0 93 6 0 0 0 0 0 194
12:15 PM 2 93 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 107 4 0 0 0 0 0 209
12:30 PM 3 102 0 0 2 0 5 0 0 99 6 0 0 0 0 0 217
12:45 PM 7 85 0 0 4 0 3 0 0 108 4 0 0 0 0 0 211

Total 19 363 0 0 10 0 12 0 0 407 20 0 0 0 0 0 831

01:00 PM 3 84 0 0 4 0 7 0 0 92 4 0 0 0 0 0 194
01:15 PM 3 92 0 0 2 0 3 0 0 94 5 0 0 0 0 0 199
01:30 PM 4 96 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 95 3 0 0 0 0 0 202
01:45 PM 4 131 0 0 4 0 4 0 0 107 2 0 0 0 0 0 252

Total 14 403 0 0 12 0 16 0 0 388 14 0 0 0 0 0 847

Grand Total 41 1114 0 0 37 0 38 0 0 1180 46 0 0 0 0 0 2456
Apprch % 3.5 96.5 0 0 49.3 0 50.7 0 0 96.2 3.8 0 0 0 0 0  

Total % 1.7 45.4 0 0 1.5 0 1.5 0 0 48 1.9 0 0 0 0 0
Unshifted 41 1108 0 0 37 0 38 0 0 1170 46 0 0 0 0 0 2440

% Unshifted 100 99.5 0 0 100 0 100 0 0 99.2 100 0 0 0 0 0 99.3
Bank 1 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 14

% Bank 1 0 0.4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.6
Bank 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

% Bank 2 0 0.1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32, 101st Pl, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/13/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH 32                 

From North
101 ST PLACE           

From East
STH 32                 

From South
101 ST PLACE           

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

11:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
11:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
11:45 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Total 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

12:00 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
12:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
12:30 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
12:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Total 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

01:00 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
01:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
01:30 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
01:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Total 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

Grand Total 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 16
Apprch % 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0  

Total % 0 37.5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 62.5 0 0 0 0 0 0
Bank 1 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 14

% Bank 1 0 83.3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 90 0 0 0 0 0 0 87.5
Bank 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

% Bank 2 0 16.7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 12.5

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



Version 2011.J2 Page 1 of 11

Base Information, Observed (13) Hour and Estimated (24) Hour Volume Summaries

STH 32 and STH 165 ‐ 104th Street

Site Information Count Information

SE

↑

AM MD PM

AM MD PM

0.966 1.267
Company Name 1.000

Comments

Observed 13 Hour Volume Summary

13
PED: 0 BIKE: 0

712 4218 15 0
   

PED:  15 PED:
5  9 5

 6
 0

↑
0  North

810 
BIKE: 28  BIKE:
1 680  11

   
0 574 4244 12

PED: 0 BIKE: 0

Estimated 24 Hour AADT

871 5162 18 0
   

 18
 11
 7
 0

↑
0  North

991 
34 
832 

   
Daily/Seasonal Factor 0.966 0 702 5194 15
Count Expansion Factor 1.267
Manual Adjustment Factor 1.000
Total 24 Hr Expansion Factor 1.224

Clear & Dry
Clear & Dry

AM Peak Period
Weather

Thursday, March 15, 2012
Tuesday, March 13, 2012

No Special Events

Tuesday, March 13, 2012

Total Number of Hours Counted: 13

Start Date:

Special Pedestrians Observed
None
None

Manual Adj.

Elementry school age children
Pre‐school children

TADI

Ron & Pat Andryk

Midday Peak Period
PM Peak Period Tuesday, March 13, 2012

1:00‐2:00pm
Peak Hours Selected for Analysis

Calculated Peak Hours
Clear & Dry

West Leg STH 165 ‐ 104th Street
South Leg STH 32 7:00‐8:00am

7:00‐8:00am 1:00‐2:00pm

North Leg STH 32

None
WO1156‐11None

NoneWheelchairs/electric scooters
Elderly/disabled (except wheelchairs)

Visually impaired (white cane/helper dog)

AM Peak Period
Midday Peak Period

PM Peak Period

Lee Oestreich

Jayne Heun

Observers

 55

5069


3
0

STH
 1
6
5
 ‐ 1

0
4
th
 

Stre
e
t

Other (describe) None None

TOTAL ENTERING VOLUME

STH 32


6001

5911
11,912

6203


3
71585 

24 HOUR AADT 12,255

HOUR VOLUMES 10,014
OBSERVED STH 32

1
8
5
8


4904

4830
9,734

6052

1295

2
,8
1
3

1
5
1
8

Traffic Control Traffic Signal
County

Roadway Names North Direction

4:45‐5:45pm

4:45‐5:45pm

1
0
4

STH
 1
6
5
 ‐ 1

0
4
th
 

Stre
e
t

 67

13,857
TOTAL ENTERING VOLUME



11,323
4945

8
5

ST
H
 1
6
5
 ‐
 1
0
4
th
 

St
re
e
t

3
,4
4
3

STH 32

ESTIMATED STH 32

Total Entering Hourly Volume

ST
H
 1
6
5
 ‐
 1
0
4
th
 

St
re
e
t

Intersection of:

Intersection Traffic Volume Report

WisDOT RegionKenosha

Weekday

Non‐Holiday

Municipality Village of Pleasant Prairie Hrs Counted: 6:00 AM‐7:00 PM

Count Basics
Schools in Session

Count Dates

Special Considerations

East Leg STH 165 ‐ 104th Street

Holidays None
Special Events None

(2) Urban Arterials & CollectorsCount Expansion Group
Daily/Seasonal Adjustment Factor

Schools In Session

Count Expansion Factor

(2) Urban Arterials & CollectorsDaily/Seasonal Adjustment Group

662
1053

699 544 615 687 692 748 859
1199 1326 1296

943

0 0 00

1,000

2,000

6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM

M
o

to
r 

V
eh

ic
le

V
o

lu
m

e

One-Hour Time Period Start Time 
(For example, 6am represents volume from 6am to 7am)



Count Basics Page 3 of 11

Peak Hour Volume Summary

STH 32 and STH 165 ‐ 104th Street

Peak Hour Volumes, Truck Percentages, and PHFs

   

AM Peak Hour STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street

Start Time Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Totals

7:00 AM 16 108 0 0 124 1 0 0 0 1 0 59 13 0 72 5 0 11 0 16 213

7:15 AM 18 152 0 0 170 0 0 0 0 0 0 90 16 0 106 9 0 11 0 20 296

7:30 AM 21 151 0 0 172 0 0 0 0 0 0 64 15 0 79 11 2 19 0 32 283
7:45 AM 14 130 0 0 144 1 0 0 0 1 0 74 13 0 87 10 0 19 0 29 261
Peak Hour Volume 69 541 0 0 610 2 0 0 0 2 0 287 57 0 344 35 2 60 0 97 1053
Rounded Hourly Volume 70 540 0 0 610 0 0 0 0 0 0 285 55 0 340 35 0 60 0 95 1045

% Single Unit Trucks 7.2 0.9 0.0 0.0 1.6 50.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.0 0.0 1.4 1.8 0.0 1.5 5.7 50.0 3.3 0.0 5.2 2.0

% Heavy Trucks 2.9 1.3 0.0 0.0 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 5.0 0.0 3.1 1.3
% Trucks (Total) 10.1 2.2 0.0 0.0 3.1 50.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.0 0.0 2.1 1.8 0.0 2.0 5.7 50.0 8.3 0.0 8.2 3.3
Peak Hour Factor (PHF) 0.82 0.89 0.00 0.00 0.89 0.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.50 0.00 0.80 0.89 0.00 0.81 0.80 0.25 0.79 0.00 0.76 0.89

   

MD Peak Hour STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street

Start Time Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Totals

1:00 PM 15 58 0 0 73 0 0 0 0 0 0 61 10 0 71 14 0 8 0 22 166

1:15 PM 11 85 0 0 96 0 0 1 0 1 0 73 7 0 80 15 0 14 0 29 206

1:30 PM 8 71 0 0 79 0 0 0 0 0 0 85 10 0 95 9 2 9 0 20 194
1:45 PM 14 60 0 0 74 0 1 1 0 2 0 75 10 0 85 12 1 8 0 21 182
Peak Hour Volume 48 274 0 0 322 0 1 2 0 3 0 294 37 0 331 50 3 39 0 92 748
Rounded Hourly Volume 50 275 0 0 325 0 0 0 0 0 0 295 35 0 330 50 5 40 0 95 750

% Single Unit Trucks 2.1 1.8 0.0 0.0 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 2.7 0.0 1.2 8.0 0.0 5.1 0.0 6.5 2.1

% Heavy Trucks 8.3 5.1 0.0 0.0 5.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.1 2.7 0.0 3.0 0.0 0.0 2.6 0.0 1.1 3.9
% Trucks (Total) 10.4 6.9 0.0 0.0 7.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.1 5.4 0.0 4.2 8.0 0.0 7.7 0.0 7.6 6.0
Peak Hour Factor (PHF) 0.80 0.81 0.00 0.00 0.84 0.00 0.25 0.50 0.00 0.37 0.00 0.86 0.92 0.00 0.87 0.83 0.37 0.70 0.00 0.79 0.91

   

PM Peak Hour STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street

Start Time Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Totals

4:45 PM 14 101 0 0 115 0 0 0 0 0 0 154 18 0 172 26 0 43 0 69 356

5:00 PM 20 79 0 0 99 0 0 0 0 0 1 134 19 0 154 24 0 20 0 44 297

5:15 PM 24 92 1 0 117 0 1 0 0 1 0 142 17 0 159 22 1 42 0 65 342
5:30 PM 22 71 0 0 93 0 0 0 0 0 0 182 15 0 197 27 0 28 0 55 345
Peak Hour Volume 80 343 1 0 424 0 1 0 0 1 1 612 69 0 682 99 1 133 0 233 1340
Rounded Hourly Volume 80 345 0 0 425 0 0 0 0 0 0 610 70 0 680 100 0 135 0 235 1340

% Single Unit Trucks 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3

% Heavy Trucks 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
% Trucks (Total) 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3
Peak Hour Factor (PHF) 0.83 0.85 0.25 0.00 0.91 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.84 0.91 0.00 0.87 0.92 0.25 0.77 0.00 0.84 0.94

Peak Hour Pedestrian and Bicyclist Volumes
Pedestrians and Bicyclists Total

Ped &

STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street Bike

15‐Minute Start Time Total Total Total Total Volume

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0

7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0

7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0

7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 0 0 0 0

1:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0

1:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0

1:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0

1:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 0 0 0 0

4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0

5:00 PM 0 2 0 0 2

5:15 PM 0 0 0 1 1

5:30 PM 0 5 0 0 5
Total 0 7 0 1 8

Non‐Holiday

Schools in Session

No Special Events

Start Date: Tuesday, March 13, 2012

Total Number of Hours Counted: 13

Intersection Traffic Volume Report

East Approach

From North From East From South From West

Weekday

West Approach

From North From East From South

From East From South From West

All Motor Vehicles

A
M

0
0

0

0

0

0

Bicyclist Pedestrian Bicyclist Pedestrian

0

0

0

Pedestrian

0

0

Bicyclist Pedestrian Bicyclist

CrossingCrossing

South Approach

Tuesday, March 13, 2012

Thursday, March 15, 2012

A
M
 P
ea

k 
H
o
u
r

M
id
d
a
y 
(M

D
) 
P
ea

k 
H
o
u
r

From North

Tuesday, March 13, 2012

Crossing

North Approach

P
M
 P
ea

k 
H
o
u
r

Crossing

From West

0 0
0 0

0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0

0 0 0 00 0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0
0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0 0 00 0 0 0

M
D

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0

0 0 0 00 0 0 0

P
M

0 0 0

0 0 0

0 0 5

0 0 1

0 0 4

0

0 0 0 0

1

1

0 0 0 0

1

0 00

12 0 0 0
0 0 0 0

0



Count Basics Page 4 of 11

Hourly Volume Summary ‐ Motor Vehicle Data

STH 32 and STH 165 ‐ 104th Street

One‐Hour Motor Vehicle Data

   
One‐Hour Total

Time Period STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street Vehicle

Start Time Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Volume E/W N/S

6:00 AM 49 417 0 0 466 0 1 0 0 1 0 109 39 0 148 22 0 25 0 47 662 48 614

7:00 AM 69 541 0 0 610 2 0 0 0 2 0 287 57 0 344 35 2 60 0 97 1053 99 954

8:00 AM 61 312 1 0 374 1 1 0 0 2 0 209 37 0 246 32 2 43 0 77 699 79 620

9:00 AM 29 233 0 0 262 1 0 0 0 1 1 194 23 0 218 26 1 36 0 63 544 64 480

10:00 AM 32 249 0 0 281 1 1 0 0 2 1 217 30 0 248 32 0 52 0 84 615 86 529

11:00 AM 51 244 1 0 296 0 0 0 0 0 1 259 41 0 301 49 0 41 0 90 687 90 597

12:00 PM 47 267 4 0 318 2 2 0 0 4 0 245 35 0 280 47 0 43 0 90 692 94 598

1:00 PM 48 274 0 0 322 0 1 2 0 3 0 294 37 0 331 50 3 39 0 92 748 95 653

2:00 PM 50 302 1 0 353 1 0 0 0 1 0 357 30 0 387 57 4 57 0 118 859 119 740

3:00 PM 76 381 1 0 458 0 2 0 0 2 1 534 51 0 586 66 8 79 0 153 1199 155 1044

4:00 PM 69 379 2 0 450 0 0 0 0 0 1 595 63 0 659 105 2 110 0 217 1326 217 1109

5:00 PM 80 330 1 0 411 1 1 0 0 2 3 591 67 0 661 98 2 122 0 222 1296 224 1072

6:00 PM 51 289 4 0 344 6 0 4 0 10 4 353 64 0 421 61 4 103 0 168 943 178 765

7:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

9:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

712 4218 15 0 4945 15 9 6 0 30 12 4244 574 0 4830 680 28 810 0 1518 11323 1548 9775

Volume Totals

Non‐Holiday

Intersection Traffic Volume Report

DirectionalFrom South From WestFrom East

Weekday

P
M

Totals

A
M

M
D

From North

Start Date: Tuesday, March 13, 2012

Total Number of Hours Counted: 13

All Motor Vehicles

Schools in Session

No Special Events

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM

En
te
ri
n
g 
V
e
h
ic
le
 V
o
lu
m
e
 B
y 
A
p
p
ro
ac
h
 (
Li
n
e
 C
h
ar
t)

To
ta
l E
n
te
ri
n
g 
V
e
h
ic
le
 V
o
lu
m
e
 (
B
ar
 C
h
ar
t)

One‐Hour Time Period Start Time
(For example, 6am represents volumes from 6am to 7am)

Graphical Summary of Hourly Volumes
 All Motor Vehicles  Southbound Approach  Westbound Approach

 Northbound Approach  Eastbound Approach



Count Basics Page 5 of 11

15‐Minute Motor Vehicle Data

STH 32 and STH 165 ‐ 104th Street

15‐Minute Motor Vehicle Data

   
15‐Minute

Time Period STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street 15‐Min Hourly

Start Time Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Totals Sum PHF
6:00 AM 9 90 0 0 99 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 6 0 20 5 0 4 0 9 128 662 0.87
6:15 AM 10 106 0 0 116 0 1 0 0 1 0 21 5 0 26 7 0 5 0 12 155 747 0.88
6:30 AM 17 114 0 0 131 0 0 0 0 0 0 28 18 0 46 3 0 8 0 11 188 888 0.75
6:45 AM 13 107 0 0 120 0 0 0 0 0 0 46 10 0 56 7 0 8 0 15 191 983 0.83
7:00 AM 16 108 0 0 124 1 0 0 0 1 0 59 13 0 72 5 0 11 0 16 213 1053 0.89
7:15 AM 18 152 0 0 170 0 0 0 0 0 0 90 16 0 106 9 0 11 0 20 296 1039 0.88
7:30 AM 21 151 0 0 172 0 0 0 0 0 0 64 15 0 79 11 2 19 0 32 283 939 0.83
7:45 AM 14 130 0 0 144 1 0 0 0 1 0 74 13 0 87 10 0 19 0 29 261 815 0.78
8:00 AM 16 102 0 0 118 1 0 0 0 1 0 51 12 0 63 8 0 9 0 17 199 699 0.88
8:15 AM 22 81 0 0 103 0 1 0 0 1 0 60 9 0 69 11 1 11 0 23 196 627 0.80
8:30 AM 12 66 1 0 79 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 6 0 56 11 1 12 0 24 159 566 0.89
8:45 AM 11 63 0 0 74 0 0 0 0 0 0 48 10 0 58 2 0 11 0 13 145 552 0.95
9:00 AM 10 48 0 0 58 0 0 0 0 0 0 42 9 0 51 6 0 12 0 18 127 544 0.94
9:15 AM 7 61 0 0 68 1 0 0 0 1 0 51 3 0 54 4 1 7 0 12 135 550 0.95
9:30 AM 7 62 0 0 69 0 0 0 0 0 0 51 7 0 58 10 0 8 0 18 145 579 0.88
9:45 AM 5 62 0 0 67 0 0 0 0 0 1 50 4 0 55 6 0 9 0 15 137 580 0.88
10:00 AM 8 57 0 0 65 1 0 0 0 1 0 47 4 0 51 6 0 10 0 16 133 615 0.89
10:15 AM 9 62 0 0 71 0 0 0 0 0 0 60 11 0 71 8 0 14 0 22 164 638 0.93
10:30 AM 8 59 0 0 67 0 0 0 0 0 1 53 6 0 60 6 0 13 0 19 146 633 0.92
10:45 AM 7 71 0 0 78 0 1 0 0 1 0 57 9 0 66 12 0 15 0 27 172 675 0.90
11:00 AM 9 56 0 0 65 0 0 0 0 0 0 60 15 0 75 9 0 7 0 16 156 687 0.91
11:15 AM 10 60 0 0 70 0 0 0 0 0 0 62 8 0 70 11 0 8 0 19 159 706 0.94
11:30 AM 18 52 0 0 70 0 0 0 0 0 1 78 8 0 87 15 0 16 0 31 188 724 0.96
11:45 AM 14 76 1 0 91 0 0 0 0 0 0 59 10 0 69 14 0 10 0 24 184 714 0.97
12:00 PM 14 67 0 0 81 1 0 0 0 1 0 63 5 0 68 7 0 18 0 25 175 692 0.97
12:15 PM 14 69 1 0 84 0 0 0 0 0 0 62 9 0 71 15 0 7 0 22 177 683 0.96
12:30 PM 9 70 3 0 82 1 0 0 0 1 0 61 11 0 72 16 0 7 0 23 178 712 0.86
12:45 PM 10 61 0 0 71 0 2 0 0 2 0 59 10 0 69 9 0 11 0 20 162 728 0.88
1:00 PM 15 58 0 0 73 0 0 0 0 0 0 61 10 0 71 14 0 8 0 22 166 748 0.91
1:15 PM 11 85 0 0 96 0 0 1 0 1 0 73 7 0 80 15 0 14 0 29 206 762 0.92
1:30 PM 8 71 0 0 79 0 0 0 0 0 0 85 10 0 95 9 2 9 0 20 194 755 0.95
1:45 PM 14 60 0 0 74 0 1 1 0 2 0 75 10 0 85 12 1 8 0 21 182 778 0.90
2:00 PM 10 69 0 0 79 0 0 0 0 0 0 65 4 0 69 20 0 12 0 32 180 859 0.82
2:15 PM 14 65 0 0 79 0 0 0 0 0 0 83 6 0 89 15 2 14 0 31 199 967 0.84
2:30 PM 9 75 1 0 85 0 0 0 0 0 0 95 11 0 106 10 1 15 0 26 217 1035 0.90
2:45 PM 17 93 0 0 110 1 0 0 0 1 0 114 9 0 123 12 1 16 0 29 263 1156 0.86
3:00 PM 21 91 0 0 112 0 0 0 0 0 0 121 12 0 133 11 7 25 0 43 288 1199 0.89
3:15 PM 16 105 0 0 121 0 1 0 0 1 1 92 15 0 108 18 0 19 0 37 267 1227 0.91
3:30 PM 20 99 0 0 119 0 0 0 0 0 0 172 12 0 184 21 0 14 0 35 338 1292 0.96
3:45 PM 19 86 1 0 106 0 1 0 0 1 0 149 12 0 161 16 1 21 0 38 306 1276 0.96
4:00 PM 15 98 0 0 113 0 0 0 0 0 1 131 16 0 148 24 0 31 0 55 316 1326 0.93
4:15 PM 25 95 1 0 121 0 0 0 0 0 0 152 15 0 167 25 2 17 0 44 332 1307 0.92
4:30 PM 15 85 1 0 101 0 0 0 0 0 0 158 14 0 172 30 0 19 0 49 322 1317 0.92
4:45 PM 14 101 0 0 115 0 0 0 0 0 0 154 18 0 172 26 0 43 0 69 356 1340 0.94
5:00 PM 20 79 0 0 99 0 0 0 0 0 1 134 19 0 154 24 0 20 0 44 297 1296 0.94
5:15 PM 24 92 1 0 117 0 1 0 0 1 0 142 17 0 159 22 1 42 0 65 342 1221 0.88
5:30 PM 22 71 0 0 93 0 0 0 0 0 0 182 15 0 197 27 0 28 0 55 345 1165 0.84
5:45 PM 14 88 0 0 102 1 0 0 0 1 2 133 16 0 151 25 1 32 0 58 312 1042 0.83
6:00 PM 12 60 0 0 72 0 0 0 0 0 0 97 13 0 110 18 2 20 0 40 222 943 0.82
6:15 PM 18 82 2 0 102 6 0 1 0 7 0 101 24 0 125 10 1 41 0 52 286
6:30 PM 12 76 0 0 88 0 0 1 0 1 1 81 15 0 97 13 1 22 0 36 222
6:45 PM 9 71 2 0 82 0 0 2 0 2 3 74 12 0 89 20 0 20 0 40 213
7:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

712 4218 15 0 4945 15 9 6 0 30 12 4244 574 0 4830 680 28 810 0 1518 11323  

Peak Hour All Vehicle Volume Summary

   
Hourly Total

Time Period STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street Hourly

Start Time Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Volume PHF

AM 7:00 AM 69 541 0 0 610 2 0 0 0 2 0 287 57 0 344 35 2 60 0 97 1053 0.89

MD 1:00 PM 48 274 0 0 322 0 1 2 0 3 0 294 37 0 331 50 3 39 0 92 748 0.91

PM 4:45 PM 80 343 1 0 424 0 1 0 0 1 1 612 69 0 682 99 1 133 0 233 1340 0.94

From North From East From South From West

Intersection Traffic Volume Report

From North From East From South From West

Tuesday, March 13, 2012

Total Number of Hours Counted: 13

All Motor Vehicles

A
M
 P
ea

k 
P
er
io
d

M
id
d
a
y 
P
ea

k 
P
er
io
d

P
M
 P
ea

k 
P
er
io
d

Totals

Weekday Schools in Session

Non‐Holiday No Special Events

Start Date:



Count Basics Page 9 of 11

15‐Minute Heavy Vehicle Data

STH 32 and STH 165 ‐ 104th Street

15‐Minute Heavy Vehicle Data

   
15‐Minute

Time Period STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street 15‐Min Hourly

Start Time Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Totals Sum
6:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 16
6:15 AM 0 2 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 6 22
6:30 AM 1 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 4 24
6:45 AM 0 3 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 5 30
7:00 AM 2 2 0 0 4 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 7 35
7:15 AM 2 2 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 8 41
7:30 AM 3 3 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 1 1 0 2 10 42
7:45 AM 0 5 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 3 0 5 10 39
8:00 AM 1 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 1 0 9 1 0 1 0 2 13 35
8:15 AM 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 2 0 1 0 3 9 25
8:30 AM 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 0 0 1 0 1 7 28
8:45 AM 1 4 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 6 32
9:00 AM 1 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 40
9:15 AM 0 8 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 3 0 0 1 0 1 12 47
9:30 AM 0 3 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 5 1 0 2 0 3 11 45
9:45 AM 2 5 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 5 0 0 2 0 2 14 43
10:00 AM 0 3 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 4 0 0 3 0 3 10 39
10:15 AM 1 2 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 5 1 0 1 0 2 10 33
10:30 AM 1 3 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 3 1 0 1 0 2 9 33
10:45 AM 2 4 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 0 0 1 0 1 10 45
11:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 3 0 0 1 0 1 4 47
11:15 AM 2 4 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 10 55
11:30 AM 2 7 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 6 3 0 3 0 6 21 58
11:45 AM 4 3 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 0 0 2 0 2 12 43
12:00 PM 1 4 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 1 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 12 41
12:15 PM 1 2 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 6 2 0 2 0 4 13 35
12:30 PM 1 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 1 6 37
12:45 PM 1 3 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 2 0 1 0 3 10 44
1:00 PM 1 3 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 6 45
1:15 PM 3 4 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 2 0 2 0 4 15 42
1:30 PM 0 6 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 1 0 5 1 0 1 0 2 13 33
1:45 PM 1 6 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 1 11 32
2:00 PM 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 32
2:15 PM 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 6 39
2:30 PM 1 3 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 5 1 0 2 0 3 12 45
2:45 PM 2 6 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 2 11 40
3:00 PM 0 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 4 1 0 1 0 2 10 35
3:15 PM 1 4 0 0 5 0 1 0 0 1 0 3 1 0 4 0 0 2 0 2 12 28
3:30 PM 2 2 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 7 20
3:45 PM 1 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 6 16
4:00 PM 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 12
4:15 PM 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 1 0 0 0 1 4 10
4:30 PM 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 7
4:45 PM 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 4
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 2
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 2
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
6:00 PM 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 5
6:15 PM 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
6:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
6:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

51 120 0 0 171 1 2 1 0 4 1 122 16 0 139 24 1 45 0 70 384

Peak Hour Heavy Vehicle Volume Summary

   
Hourly Total

Time Period STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street STH 32 STH 165 ‐ 104th Street Hourly

Start Time Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Right  Thru  Left  U‐Tn Total Volume

AM 7:00 AM 7 12 0 0 19 1 0 0 0 1 0 6 1 0 7 2 1 5 0 8 35

MD 1:00 PM 5 19 0 0 24 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 2 0 14 4 0 3 0 7 45

PM 4:45 PM 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 4

From North From East From South From West

From South From West

P
M
 P
ea

k 
P
er
io
d

Totals

A
M
 P
ea

k 
P
er
io
d

M
id
d
a
y 
P
ea

k 
P
er
io
d

From North From East

Heavy Vehicles (Single‐Unit Trucks, Buses & Semi‐Trucks)

Tuesday, March 13, 2012

Total Number of Hours Counted: 13

Intersection Traffic Volume Report Weekday Schools in Session

Non‐Holiday No Special Events

Start Date:



File Name : STH 32, STH 165, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/13/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Unshifted - Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH 32                 

From North
STH 165 104 ST         

From East
STH 32                 

From South
STH 165 104 ST         

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
*** BREAK ***

11:00 AM 0 76 16 0 0 0 0 0 15 79 0 0 10 0 12 0 208
11:15 AM 0 82 14 0 0 0 0 0 16 78 0 0 17 1 10 0 218
11:30 AM 0 74 10 0 2 0 1 0 8 82 0 0 24 0 12 0 213
11:45 AM 0 76 15 0 0 0 0 0 15 91 0 0 15 0 18 0 230

Total 0 308 55 0 2 0 1 0 54 330 0 0 66 1 52 0 869

12:00 PM 0 72 12 0 0 0 0 0 15 83 0 0 16 0 11 0 209
12:15 PM 1 79 15 0 0 1 1 0 15 98 0 0 12 0 22 0 244
12:30 PM 0 91 14 0 1 0 0 0 16 87 1 0 18 1 18 0 247
12:45 PM 0 66 18 1 0 0 0 0 22 93 0 0 14 1 8 0 223

Total 1 308 59 1 1 1 1 0 68 361 1 0 60 2 59 0 923

01:00 PM 1 67 20 0 0 0 0 0 10 75 0 0 20 0 10 0 203
01:15 PM 1 74 15 0 1 0 0 0 12 80 0 0 18 0 14 0 215
01:30 PM 0 81 15 0 0 0 1 0 15 86 1 0 12 0 7 0 218
01:45 PM 0 112 22 0 0 1 0 0 17 99 0 0 12 2 9 0 274

Total 2 334 72 0 1 1 1 0 54 340 1 0 62 2 40 0 910

Grand Total 3 950 186 1 4 2 3 0 176 1031 2 0 188 5 151 0 2702
Apprch % 0.3 83.3 16.3 0.1 44.4 22.2 33.3 0 14.6 85.3 0.2 0 54.7 1.5 43.9 0  

Total % 0.1 35.2 6.9 0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0 6.5 38.2 0.1 0 7 0.2 5.6 0
Unshifted 3 947 183 0 4 2 2 0 174 1021 2 0 187 5 150 0 2680

% Unshifted 100 99.7 98.4 0 100 100 66.7 0 98.9 99 100 0 99.5 100 99.3 0 99.2
Bank 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 1 0 2 9 0 0 1 0 1 0 19

% Bank 1 0 0.2 1.6 0 0 0 33.3 0 1.1 0.9 0 0 0.5 0 0.7 0 0.7
Bank 2 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

% Bank 2 0 0.1 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.



File Name : STH 32, STH 165, Sat
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 4/13/2013
Page No : 1

Groups Printed- Bank 1 - Bank 2
STH 32                 

From North
STH 165 104 ST         

From East
STH 32                 

From South
STH 165 104 ST         

From West

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Left Thru Right Peds Int. Total

Factor 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
*** BREAK ***

11:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
11:30 AM 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
11:45 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

Total 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 9

12:00 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 3
12:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

*** BREAK ***
12:45 PM 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 3

Total 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 1 0 1 0 8

01:00 PM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
01:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
01:30 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
01:45 PM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Total 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

Grand Total 0 3 3 1 0 0 1 0 2 10 0 0 1 0 1 0 22
Apprch % 0 42.9 42.9 14.3 0 0 100 0 16.7 83.3 0 0 50 0 50 0  

Total % 0 13.6 13.6 4.5 0 0 4.5 0 9.1 45.5 0 0 4.5 0 4.5 0
Bank 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 1 0 2 9 0 0 1 0 1 0 19

% Bank 1 0 66.7 100 0 0 0 100 0 100 90 0 0 100 0 100 0 86.4
Bank 2 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

% Bank 2 0 33.3 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 13.6

 

Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.













Attachment 
 

Open Village Hall – Peak Democracy Comments 
 

Of the 223 On Forum Statements the Village received: 
 1 = statement was in favor of the developer's plan if it meets with the 
Village's guidelines 

 161 = statements didn't comment on a plan alternative, but focused 
on saving the Keno Theatre 

 43 = statements indicated either a preference for plan alternatives 2 
or 3, or indicated that they did not want a Walmart/big box 
 12 = statements indicated that they didn't want ANY development or 

wanted park or open public spaces 
 6 = statements weren't quite clear on what they supported 

 
 
The Off Forum Statements were submitted by people who have not 

completed Peak Democracy's registration process. (Respondents did not 
register correctly to post their comments). 

 
Of the Off Forum Statements the Village received: 

 1 = statement leaned towards (or wanted) a Walmart or big box 
 95 = statements didn't comment on a plan alternative, but focused on 
saving the Keno Theatre 

 10 = statements indicated either a preference for plan alternatives 2 
or 3, or indicated that they did not want a Walmart/big box 

 2 = statements indicated that they wanted it to be a park or open 
public space 
 6 = statements weren't quite clear on what they supported 

 



All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan
Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM

As with any public comment process, participation in Open Village Hall is voluntary.  The statements in this record are not necessarily
representative of the whole population, nor do they reflect the opinions of any government agency or elected officials.  

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by
Monday, April 6.



As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM, this forum had:
Attendees: 737
On Forum Statements: 223
All Statements: 337
Hours of Public Comment: 16.9

This topic started on March 13, 2015, 11:23 AM.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 2 of 61

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by
Monday, April 6.



All participants living more than 2 miles

Tim Stare more than 2 miles March 14, 2015, 11:21 AM

I am all in favor of this if it meets the zoning guidelines that the village has established for this property or if the
village is willing to amend the guidelines via conditional use or some other such instrument.  What I don't want
is for the blind, unreasonable hatred of WalMart that is so rampant to guide the decision making process.  I can
tell you that I and many others on the south end of Pleasant Prairie drive into Zion to shop at that Wal Mart as it
is closer than the one in Somers.  Wouldn't it benefit the village if that money stayed here, not to mention the
jobs it would create?  And for those who are of the misguided belief that WalMart harms local business, the
facts are quite the opposite.  Study after study has shown that WalMarts are a magnet business, attracting
consumers to the area who then spend additional money at stores and restaurants in close proximity to
WalMart.  In many cases, studies show, business which were struggling report an INCREASE in sales after a
WalMart is opened in their proximity.  All of this benefits the economy and job picture for our area.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 16, 2015,  8:35 AM

I am in favor of either plan 2 or 3.  I would prefer to not have a Wal-Mart in that location.  I feel smaller retail
stores would be better suited for that location.  I feel Pleasant Prairie has done a great job in trying to determine
what is best for our village in the comprehensive plan that was developed.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 16, 2015,  2:11 PM

The fact that we already will have a Meijer and Costco in Pleasant Prairie the plans for a Walmart SuperCenter
does not make sense. I am sure that the residents in the surrounding area would agree that this will do nothing
to enhance the area and will harm future homes sales in the area nearest this location.

John Weston more than 2 miles March 16, 2015,  2:19 PM

I agree with the Village staff and am not in favor of a 150,000 square foot retail supercenter on the east side of
the Village. Plans 2 or 3 seem much more appropriate for this site.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 16, 2015,  2:52 PM

It greatly saddens me to think that a large retailer is being considered for this site.  The impact upon traffic
congestion on Sheridan Rd and 91st will be dramatic.  There are several areas that are already developed or
are in process of being developed for business without needing to develop this area into a large retail site.  I am
greatly dreading the loss of the Keno Drive-In.  It has been a staple in my husband's family for over 30 years
and we have enjoyed 10 years at the drive-in with our family.  It is  a shame and an embarrassment that this
community is allowing a need for retail development to supersede the need for families to have a place to enjoy

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 3 of 61



time together.

Charles Bruss more than 2 miles March 16, 2015,  4:04 PM

I'm from Milwaukee and I come down to the Keno Drive-in at least 15 times each season they are open.  With
all that land that is there, what a shame the drive-in can't be saved for future generations to enjoy.  It's all about
greed.  You need to save the drive-in so that families have another choice to enjoy their family time with during
the summer.  Once its gone, it can't be replaced.  It's been a Kenosha and Pleasant Prairie institution since
1949.  Don't let them tear it down.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 16, 2015,  4:55 PM

It's unfortunate that we cannot keep the Keno Drive-in as part of Kenosha. It has been a family staple for years
and my family was looking forward to introducing our new son to the joys of the drive-in.

As a local resident and someone that commutes down Sheridan daily, I am opposed to a large 150,000 sqft
retailer. There's already one Walmart in Kenosha on Brumback Rd which moved from its inner city location on
52nd St. Meijer and Costco are already creating new locations in Pleasant Prairie. There is no need for another
giant retailer. But if a choice had to be made for the future development of the area that is currently occupied by
the Keno Drive-in then I would pick Alternative #3 since it is a lower density with green spaces and small
retailers.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 16, 2015,  5:54 PM

As a Pleasant Prairie resident of southern Carol Beach area, I feel the eastern section of Pleasant Prairie is
lacking development.  I would be in favor of plans 2 or 3.  I would not be in favor of large box retail, but well
planned small retail would enhance the area.  Unfortunately a drive-in movie theater is not a profitable
alternative.
Hopefully specialty shops could take care of the needs of this area; deli/butcher, bakery, coffee shop, market,
and ice cream shop.  The Sheridan Road and 165 corridor is severely lacking in gas station/convenience store,
currently the only option is State Line or into Illinois, interstate, and further into Kenosha.  I do realize the soon
to be built Green Bay Road /165 will help.  What has come of the Village Commons plans or the larger retail
area on the northeast corner of 165 and Green Bay Road?  The other neighborhood plans would help the
public understand the overall picture of the desired development.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 16, 2015,  6:36 PM

Please keep the drive-in,  our family loves going there every summer.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 17, 2015,  7:11 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 4 of 61



Please do not allow a supercenter at this location! Pleasant Prairie is a unique community where I was born
and raised. I went out of state for college and came back because the charm of this village is one of a kind. A
supercenter in this location would change everything this village has to offer. As wonderful as a park would be, I
understand the want for growth. At least local small businesses would keep up the unique and hometown feel
Pleasant Prairie already has. I think home sales and quality of the village would greatly decrease if WalMart
moved in. Nobody wants to live near that. Plans 2 and 3 are much better alternatives if something must be done
with the land.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 17, 2015,  9:39 AM

Ultimately, whatever is developed on that corner will service the surrounding community. In this case, there is a
large density of apartments and trailer parks on the north side of 91st into Kenosha. The demographics of that
population density will be a driving factor. Wanting nice single family homes in that area is great, but that is
assuming that buyers of new, nice single family homes will want to move there. If a big box retailer becomes the
answer, make demands on green space much like the Prairie Ridge development, so that the visuals are
pushed as far back from the road as possible. Thinking outside of the box, why not extend the size of the site
further and make preservation and renewal of the drive-in a condition of approval. The village "partnered" with
U-line to build the aqua arena extension to the RecPlex, so they are well versed in the art of using leverage to
gain benefits for the community.

Steve White more than 2 miles March 17, 2015, 12:05 PM

Aside from one comment, I very much agree with all of the other posters. First of all, we already have a
Walmart. It's doing great. I won't go too much into the business practices of a multi-billion dollar corporation
here and now because that is irrelevant. My main concern is identity. Sure, Walmart may bring a few jobs that
give 39 hours a week and provide no benefits. That's not the point. The point is that another Walmart, which we
already have one, is just another way to make Kenosha forgettable. I don't want Kenosha to be another drive-
thru city. I would like to see people come here for a reason. The Keno drive in was great. Sure, it may go out of
business but that happens all the time. It's extremely unfortunate but you can't bail out every company that fails.
Think about the things that give Kenosha it's identity. Places like Frank's Diner (seen on TV), Mike Bjorn's
Clothing (seen on TV), the Velodrome, Rothwell MMA (Kenosha's own UFC fighter) and countless others that
give this place a sense of it's own culture and not just the same suburb town that can be found throughout the
entire country. I believe that the small businesses here are what gives Kenosha it's character and what makes
people come here. You can find a Walmart literally anywhere. You can't find Bjorn's clothing anywhere else but
Kenosha. We may have to sacrifice a few, not so lucrative jobs, but at least we will have a chance to make
Kenosha a place that people will remember and not another cookie-cutter city. I think that having small
businesses with our own Kenosha style might draw in more business than a mega corporation that you can find
in every other city in the USA. Walmart is doing just fine and we don't need another one here to strip away what
makes Kenosha truly great. Our own, unique identity.

Rick Appleby more than 2 miles March 17, 2015,  6:29 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 5 of 61



Please leave the Keno Drive-in Theatre there. There has Got to be Another site to put in a Wal Mart at. Keno
Drive-in is the Last of its kind in southeast Wisconsin. There still are people who love to go to the Drive-in.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 17, 2015,  6:52 PM

While the outdoor theater is a bit of an eyesore, I'd prefer that it remain open. It is a great asset and because
there are so few left, it draws people from all around. That being said, there is no need for another Walmart.
One a few miles to the north in Somers and one a few miles to the south in Zion is more than enough for our
area. If the area must be developed, I like the second and third alternatives. For the most part, Pleasant Prairie
has a small town feel and is a place that I am proud to call home. I believe that a Walmart would ruin that small
town feel and could drive other small shops out of business, as Walmart has a tendency to do. I would much
rather see small businesses move in than another Walmart. That would be replacing an eyesore with another
eyesore.

Barbara Nerdahl more than 2 miles March 18, 2015,  1:23 PM

I am emphatically against building a Walmart at the proposed site of Sheridan Road and 92nd Street.   There is
no need for another big discount store in this area as there are plenty of shopping places around.  The traffic
and congestion to that area would be terrible and unwarranted.   It is a total waste of land and resources.  I
whole heartedly vote "NO".
Barbara Nerdahl

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 20, 2015,  7:30 PM

KEEP THE DRIVE IN!!! One, we already have a Walmart less then 30 miles away, Two, how is going to buy a
house on that lound corner? I know there are houses near by but not directly off the road?!?!!? KEEP THE
DRIVE IN!!!

Michael Perion more than 2 miles March 21, 2015,  5:33 PM

I come out to the keno at least 8 times in the summer.  I bring family and friends come their many more times,
we stop at businesses  along the way in kenosha. The keno is one of three drive in left in the area and one of a
few places you can take family for a nice summer outing. It needs to be saved, one way or another.  They don't
need a Walmart their. We have them everywhere. If the keno goes dark for good  their would be no reason for
me my family and friends to come out their anymore!  That would keep my money from spending at other
businesses. In that area.  And with another Walmart or big box store their, being one by me. In racine. I would
not want to be down their.  I tell you kenosha would loose a lot of summer money from people coming with
family, to the keno!  Please do what we can do and save this last family outing. In the area  make it a historic
place and build around it.  Thanks for telling my opinion ! ,

Amy Derwae more than 2 miles March 21, 2015,  6:40 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 6 of 61



Please look at the newest Walmart on Green Bay Road. There, you have an example of what sort of neighbor
Walmart will be. I'm sure Pleasant Prairie residents do not wish to have garbage blowing along  their roads and
into their yards. 

Sadly, Walmart has proven themselves to be poor neighbors... the sort of neighbors who will up & move
someday in the future, leaving an abandoned big box eyesore behind.

Andrew Krekling more than 2 miles March 22, 2015, 10:15 AM

I am a new resident of the village as of this past year.  Moving here from the city of chicago and originally being
from Wisconsin I selected this village for it's geographical location and quiet subdivided streets.  I feel the
village has done a fine job of keeping commercial infrastructure located in the proper locations away from
established subdivisions and parks/wetlands etc.  With the coming adds to the village Costco, Meier, Kwik Trip
(big wins) and existing amount of grocery stores I do not feel commercial development in this area would add
any value for residents.  Go to the sams club/wal-mart on Hwy. 31 and look at the amount of trash, garbage,
debris that collects in the parking lots and adjacent facades.  Notice how after 10-15 years these big box
retailers decide they want another new store and leave the empty building to remain as an eyesore. An example
of this is the retailers inside the commercial area north of hwy. 50 and west off 31.  My opinion is that
Springbrook could be widened or re-routed to reduce risk of head on collisions and add bike-lanes to improve
access from Lakeshore/Chi-waukee prairie areas as well as tie-ins to the existing bike trail.  This would be a
great area for residents of the adjacent locations to develop a community garden and a large park for residents
with adolescent children.

Denise Emrick more than 2 miles March 22, 2015,  5:45 PM

Please keep the KENO drive in! There are very few drive in theaters left, I look forward to visiting my nephews
in the summer because one of the activities we enjoy is going to the drive in! Use some of the money to restore
it to its former glory so it can be enjoyed for future generations! There is no need for another Walmart, grocery
store or gas stations! We should preserve history for future generations.

John Oldham more than 2 miles March 24, 2015, 10:38 PM

Please find a way to help us keep the Keno Drive alive.
It is a healthy family activity that we the people want to keep. there has to be a way to keep this historical
landmark in the village. I have spent the last 25 years attending the Keno with my wife and our 6 kids and would
love the opportunity to do the same with our grand kids. The Drive-in means a lot to our Village.
John - Save The Keno

1 Attachment
https://pd-oth.s3.amazonaws.com/production/uploads/attachments/131bygooolnk.1sk/Tiffany_101.jpg (32.1 KB)

Joseph Labuda more than 2 miles March 25, 2015, 10:37 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 7 of 61



Don't close the Keno Drive In. This is where families go to enjoy being together, as well as, being with their
neighbor. What better way to enjoy watching a movie under the stars. Wal-Mart should not be destroying areas
that promote community life style. Keep Keno Drive In open.

Kimberly Oldham more than 2 miles March 25, 2015, 11:06 AM

I was born and raised in Kenosha grew up going to the drive-in. I am 45 years old now I have 6 children who all
got to experience the drive-in growing up I now have 15 grandchildren 9 of which live in Kenosha 1 in Union
Grove... I want to be able to have my grandchildren grow up going to the drive-in as I did and my children did.
This is an  American Family past time.. Something a family can do together we don't have much family activities
in the area.. I urge the Village of Pleasant Prairie to not let this happen don't take away our drive-in.... SAVE
OUR KENO DRIVE-IN...

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 25, 2015, 11:14 AM

We don't need another Walmart. Keep Kenosha's iconic landmark!!

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 25, 2015, 11:36 AM

I believe that keeping the Keno Drive In Theatre  is more important than another retail center with a big box
anchor retailer such as Walmart. Your roadways are not designed for the amount of traffic that this planned
development will require.  The Keno is part of your community.  A classic inexpensive family based
entertainment venue. Being in the theatre industry,  I know of numerous digital projectors available for under
$100,000. The free standing booth can be easily fitted for hvac as required for digital equipment. I drive an hour
and a half to visit the DRIVE IN during the summer. Many customers do the same. But, I'm not willing to spend
money in your area if the land is redeveloped.  Walmart has leveled many DRIVE IN theatres throughout the
U.S..  Let's not let this happen in your town.  Please, develop a different area, leave the theatre alone.

Erin Ginn more than 2 miles March 25, 2015, 12:27 PM

I know that the neighborhood could use a face lift but I believe that getting rid of the Keno Drive-In would be
such a loss to the community. With Drive-In's disappearing around the nation, it makes the one on Sheridan
and 91st that much more special. We all have childhood memories there and I know that this is an activity that
my kids look forward to every spring and summer. Even now as we pass it they are asking what is playing and
when will it be open. It's an experience like no other and it would be a shame for this generation and the next to
miss out on that. It truly is a piece of history for Kenosha County and Pleasant Prairie. Please do not let it
disappear.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 25, 2015, 12:34 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 8 of 61



I think Keno needs to stay it would be a great loss to us all we already have enough Walmarts and if anything
use the money to rebuild the Keno , this is the place we all grew up and Want to keep the same for many years
to come it is a great family place

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 25, 2015, 12:42 PM

PLEASE do not build a Wal-Mart or other super center in the location of the Kenosha Drive-In. As a community
we should support one of the last such places in the state of Wisconsin.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 25, 2015, 12:54 PM

Kenosha needs that drive in!! It's a great family friendly activity!!! People come from all over to go there! It's a
ace that creates memories for children's those  children's children!!! We do not need another super center, such
as Walmart. Meijer is not even open yet, we don't need to plan for another one. I want my children to have
memories of going to the drive in and I want them to be able to share that with their kids!!!! It's a landmark in
Kenosha! Why take away such a positive place that brings so much to our community!

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 25, 2015,  1:07 PM

I have been going to the Keno since I was a child.  I was born and raised in Kenosha and the Keno was where
you went to watch movies.  In a day and age where more families are finding it hard to afford a trip to the
movies, the Keno filled the void.  What this community needs is more consideration for the past and how it has
helped shape us, and less focus on retail property that end up closing and having vacant space left behind.
Kenosha, and Pleasant Prairie already have enough wasted office and retail space, we do not need to tear
down a piece of history to create more.  Put the money into renovating the Keno and you will see an even
bigger uptick on visitors.  Last summer the drive in was packed everynight they had new movies.  The
community has spoken and we want the Keno to stay.

Anthony Makovec more than 2 miles March 25, 2015,  1:22 PM

I grew up attending the Starlite Drive In in Menominee Falls.  They closed it down in the early 90s. I have
countless fond memories from there throughout my childhood.  It appears in my dreams frequently.  I lived in
CA for 15 years and they have NO drive ins.. it was deeply saddening.  Upon returning to Milwaukee, with the
Starlite gone, I attended the Keno.   I was blown away at the similarities to the Starlite, and literally was reduced
to tears upon parking.  It happened again upon exiting the snack bar, after holding the tears back waiting in line.
It's strikingly similar to the Starlite.  It felt like I had been allowed to reclaim a part of myself I am quite fond of, I
had thought was lost forever. 

If they close it down, there will not be a drive in to attend within practical driving distance for our family. Being
we attend the drive in regularly during the season, the removal of the opportunity to do so would create a huge

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 9 of 61



hole in our family culture, impossible to fill.  We would be truly sad, as nothing can replace the drive in
experience.  

With a renewed spirit and vigor securing and broadcasting a long term contract has been secured, and with an
intelligent marketing campaign, I believe the Keno is worth it's weight in gold!  Please preserve the Keno, what
a precious gem you have in your town that enriches the lives and culture of far more people than you may ever
truly realize!  Proposal number 3 makes the most sense.  

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 25, 2015,  2:05 PM

We need to do whatever is necessary to keep the Keno Drive-in. We don't need another shopping center and
surely don't need another Wal-Mart. The Keno Drive-in is an iconic landmark and is a place where family and
friends can go to have a fun outing. This city spends so much on frivolous things to bring people to town, they
should be investing money in the things we already have, such as the Keno Drive-in.

Dorothy Ortiz more than 2 miles March 25, 2015,  2:08 PM

Make ur store or business elsewhere.   This is the  one and only remaining out door theater.  There has to b
other abandoned bldg and or properties  where u can make ur store.  Why take our one and only place of
outdoor time with family movie nite.  Why do stores have to have a corner.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 25, 2015,  2:15 PM

We don't need another Walmart we need our keno drive in. Family and friends need and love this drive in .

Lory Peacock more than 2 miles March 25, 2015,  2:58 PM

The Keno is a tradition and landmark. Stores can be put anywhere. Don't take this jewel from us!

David Moran more than 2 miles March 25, 2015,  3:14 PM

Please don't get rid of our outdoor theater. There are plenty of empty retail buildings in the Kenosha area that
they can put another store in. I believe there still is an empty Walmart in Kenosha. The Keno has been a
favorite summertime destination of mine for my entire adult life. Nights spent at the drive in leads to money
spent at the Spot or other restaurants and gas stations.  I'm not sure if I'd be willing to spend much time or
money in the area if the theater wasn't there. There just wouldn't be anything to draw me to the area.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 25, 2015,  3:24 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 10 of 61



I've lived in SEWI for 10 yrs, and this is one of the only attractions I look forward to every summer. With so
many stores around, why do you want to demolish this great place? Just so you can make more money? How
about making history, year after year, making memories of family and love, having the one place where worries
seem to stop, two movies at a time? The memories built here, you can't find at the store.

brian halfaday more than 2 miles March 25, 2015,  3:47 PM

Save the drive in, it should be a county landmark!

John Rocha more than 2 miles March 25, 2015,  3:52 PM

The drive in theatre in Kenosha has been a favorite destination spot of mine and a number of my family
members for so many years.  The drive in brings back so many nostalgic feelings or works be a shame to lose
it. Having the drive in situated so neat the Illinois border draws customers from bayous parts of northern Illinois
and southern Wisconsin.  This unique attraction should be looked at as a highlight to the area target than lot
waiting to be paved over.  The family friendly atmosphere one experiences at the drive in is incomparable. The
site has fallen on hard times as of late although with the renewed interest, this opportunity to continue fun family
attraction should not be ignored but rather fostered.  I surely hope that this iconic spot does not fall into
obscurity.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 25, 2015,  5:07 PM

Love the out door!   I do understand it is gone, just don't let a big box store is.  The rules were put in place for a
reason.     The truck traffic alone sould be enough to discourage anyone.    Thanks,  life long resident and
former Village employee.

David Wahl more than 2 miles March 25, 2015,  8:28 PM

The Keno Drive In is more valuable to the community and surrounding area than any Wal Mart or corporate
development will ever be. Why destroy something that is    such a sought after destination for so many choosing
to spend an evening with family. There is nothing more enjoyable than movies under the stars and sharing
memories like we all did all of these years. I found the Keno Drive In years ago when I was dating my wife and
my kids grew up watching movies here. Please find a way to let these memories continue for future generations
to come, once this gem is lost, it will fade away and this does not need to happen. Please Save the Keno.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 25, 2015,  9:31 PM

Kenosha is always talking about increasing tourism. We have one of the last drive in theaters left and we are
talking about closing it. What a waste. My daughter will never know how wonderful it is to watch a movie under

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 11 of 61



the stars. PLEASE SAVE KENO DRIVE IN!!!

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 25, 2015, 10:38 PM

3 miles away
Why would you put another Walmart (or any other store) and tear down a piece of Kenosha history?  Last time I
checked we had a Walmart, Target, Shopko, Kmart, Sams Club, soon to have a Cosco and a Meijer.  Not to
mention there is a Walmart 10 minutes down the road on Hwy 173.  How can you with a good conscious
approve This?  My family drives from Milwaukee every summer for a weekend of fun in Kenosha including the
annual Keno night.  That drive in is packed every night during the season.  If it needs updating then as a
community  let's fix it...if this about greed, then as a community  we really need to assess if sticking a retail
store in the middle of a residential  area is a smart idea for those that have to look at it everyday.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 26, 2015,  6:51 AM

This drive in is a special place for families! It's history and a memory maker. There is not many true family
friendly places now a days. Please please please don't let this wonderful place close!

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 26, 2015,  1:00 PM

There are plenty of empty retail spaces in Kenosha. We absolutely do not need any more!!

When I moved to this area seven years ago, I had never been to an outdoor theater. Now I go every chance I
can! When friends and family come to visit this and Jelly belly have been must-dos on the tourism list. We're
losing Jelly belly, if you let the drive-in go, why will people come to this area? To go to Walmart? No.

Kimberly Penna-Wampole more than 2 miles March 26, 2015,  1:41 PM

We have been going to the Keno Drive in every Tuesday and several weekend all summer long for the past 4 or
5 years. We make the half an hour drive down from Racine.  It's something we can take our son to and have an
amazing family time. We came down to the LAST night y'all were open and truthfully, cried as we drove home.
It's something that we enjoy doing and would LOVE to be able to support in the future. It's good family fun!

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 26, 2015,  4:42 PM

Have to say the drive-in has been a staple of life in Kenosha since before I was born. Why can't the community
or the village update and bring it back up to the way it needs to be in order to bring families together. If you want
another superstore there is an empty Walmart store that's been abandoned for years on 52nd street. This area
needs to be preserved. Bring back the Keno Drive-in!

Chad Freeman more than 2 miles March 26, 2015,  5:36 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 12 of 61



This town does not need anymore shopping centers.  Homes, bars, banks, gas stations, auto shops and
restaurants.  At least not right now especially where the Keno drive in is.   I agree with has been said already.
Their are plenty of empty stores around town that can be used, for people to shop at. Their is a empty
Supervalu building off of 80th st in Kenosha that can be used, same with the empty Walmart building on 52 nd
st in Kenosha that can also be used.  Why don't we/community and or the village have a fund raiser or pitch in
to update the keno drive in.  It would not be hard to do.  The owner of the keno drive in is willing to update it.
So why not help restore the drive in.  I will gladly help restore the keno drive in. It would indeed be a very smart
move for the village to take part in restoring the keno drive in.  That is the only plan that should be laid out in
front of them.

John Kulick more than 2 miles March 26, 2015,  6:20 PM

My family and I travel an hour to go to the Keno Drive Inn, we have always enjoyed the area and had no
problem with the area and the drive from our home. I work in the Kenosha area and there are enough retail
outlets inn the area. Why destroy something that families can enjoy and support. Destroying one of the last
pieces of Americana to put in a shopping outlet would be a crime.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 26, 2015,  7:40 PM

Keep the Kenosha theater. It's a place for families to watch movies together.

Amy Rendon more than 2 miles March 26, 2015,  8:21 PM

Please keep the Keno open. There are so many other areas to develop shopping areas. The Drive In theater is
one of very few left. It's a place of many memories. I hope to be able to continue to take my son there. Please
keep our theater open. I'd hate to tell him it's gone.

Karole Gomaz more than 2 miles March 26, 2015, 11:38 PM

I was born in Kenosha, grew up in Milwaukee and mostly Racine.  This place is one of my fondest memories of
my childhood, and my four daughters also remember going to see movies at the drive-in.  It is one of the last
places to go to and remember the 'good ole days' before video games, smart phones, and social media!  I look
forward to going there with my grandkids when I come back to visit, since I moved out of state!

Christina Keller more than 2 miles March 26, 2015, 11:44 PM

Keep the Keno open.... My parents used to take me there when I was a kid...I have taken my kids.... This is a
past time that is quickly forgotten... There aren't many around anymore... I refuse to go to the movie theatre
because I love the drive in so much... Keep it open please!

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  7:02 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 13 of 61



Please, please please do not get rid of the drive in. The community can raise money I am sure for the updates
needed. This is a true piece of American history that has been and will be treasured for many years to come.
Don't take that away from our future generations. Walmart or a shopping mall can build anywhere and still profit
and create jobs. Thank you!

Timothy Graham more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  7:06 AM

The Drive in is not only an incredible source for wholesome family moments and making of cherished childhood
memories it is truly a historical landmark for Pleasant Prairie. The drive in theater is part of a dying American
breed and the Village has the opportunity, given the decision to save it, to save a piece of true American history
to be enjoyed for generations to come.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  7:41 AM

Please don't take the keno ... it is a great place my family loves to enjoy . I have taken my children as my
parents took me... we need to keep a little of this.part of American culture alive. There are many other options
in kenosha to build on. Let my childrens children have that slice of tradition too.

Jessica Mahoney more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  7:54 AM

Do not tear down a piece of history and a valuable place for families to go!! Why is it not an option to keep the
Keno open? They want to upgrade and invest in this area. I'm so sick of going to any town and seeing the same
horrible stores, whether that be a Walmart or other box store. They are all the same. I have that here, so I will
not be going to that area anymore and spending my money. The smaller strip mall type stores are no better. No
originality. Towns need to keep the things that make them original!! The Keno is worth traveling to and spending
my money there. Save the Keno!

Derek N more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  8:05 AM

If Keno were to be no more, so many lives would be effected. Not just now but for the future, too. Traditions are
drying up. I use to go to 41 twin when I was little, that is gone. Keno filled the void and now that is in jeopardy. I
would never travel an hour for walmart but Keno I would travel longer and further.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  8:34 AM

Please Keep the Keno! It's so important to have a theater for families (and kids!) in the community. Super stores
come and go, promising profits but often taking more from the community than they offer. A drive-in always
gives back -- local dollars to local businesses, and a local commitment to the community.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  8:52 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 14 of 61



Please reconsider taking away the drive in many families enjoy this. It has become a tradition for many. In this
day in age we need family friendly places. The world has enough shopping malls and way to many walmarts.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  9:08 AM

I think it's a need to keep a drive in. It's a place to make memories and positive ones too. I would be so sad to
see it go.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  9:22 AM

One of the things my husband and I loved the most about moving here in 2008 was the drive in. Having a night
out with a little one sometimes can be a task. At least this way we could put her in her pjs and let her fall asleep
watching the first movie and catch the second as a "date night". Drive ins were always a big family event for me
growing up in Maine. This is an icon for Kenosha/Pleasant Prairie. Don't take away a family entertainment place
where so many memories have been made. Besides we don't need another "big box" store as we already have
3 with a 4th being built.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  9:57 AM

There are so few drive in theaters around anymore and letting this one go would be such a loss for the
community.  Please rethink closing Keno Drive In.

Nancy Clark more than 2 miles March 27, 2015, 10:48 AM

Keep big box retail OUT!  Save the Outdoor land site!!!

Paul Goodson more than 2 miles March 27, 2015, 11:21 AM

First, your extensive planning and this open forum should be adopted by every community. Second, not one
proposed plan includes your drive-in. An American tradition, family friendly and best entertainment value. The
Keno would makes a great neighbor in a park, entertainment or recreation complex, and residential area. This
type of facility fosters family traditions, a sense of community, life long memories, first summer jobs and much
more. A Wal-mart should not be considered at all. They foster low pay, unfair competition, traffic congestion and
offer you very little in return. Please, don't make a lasting mistake and trade the Keno for a Wal-mart.

Monica Gratton more than 2 miles March 27, 2015, 11:45 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 15 of 61



The world doesn't need another Walmart.  Save the drive in!

Bob Tucker more than 2 miles March 27, 2015, 11:46 AM

Taking away the drive in is taking a piece of american history.  There are so few of them now.  People should be
fighting to keep it going as it provides a service to families and friends that just need a place to hang out and
watch movies.  The drive in should be upgraded to digital.  The drive in is something that will never die.  You will
always have die hard movie fans who like the outdoor experience.

Unfortunatley there is no drive in where I currently live, but whenever I goto a place that does have one, you can
be sure we go to it.

Rachel Tank more than 2 miles March 27, 2015, 12:42 PM

The Drive in is a family tradition that we unlike many other states have and can go to. Our children need this, it
brings closeness with family and not out running the streets.  We do not need another Walmart around this area
we have shopping stores on ever corner. PLEASE SAVE THE DRIVE IN

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 27, 2015, 12:47 PM

This drive-in has been a staple to my family every year. We drive down from Milwaukee just to attend. I can't
image summers without it. There will be children who grow up and don't even know what a drive-in is if this is
taken away. Please save the drive in.

Jace Junkerman more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  1:38 PM

I've lived in Kenosha my entire life and the Keno Drive-in has been one of the top hotspots makes this city what
it is. We do not, DO NOT, need another Walmart in this town. Please keep the drive-in!

Deb Vaughn more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  3:12 PM

I will boycott any business built on the site if it does not include the Keno Drive-in.  I will also strenuously advise
anyone and everyone I can to do the same.  To destroy a historical icon in this city to make another buck...there
are already too few places to go as a family and I urge the board to take this into consideration.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  3:22 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 16 of 61



I have been going to the keno drive in for as long as iv been alive , Its the best thing kenosha has ! I pray i can
share the same amazing times i have had there with my kids . Save the keno drive in . Keep the family time
alive !!!!

Sean Albert more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  3:58 PM

The Keno Drive-in Theater is one of the few things in this city that has made it different and made it so special
to not only its residents but to residents of near cities as well. This drive-in has continued to be an important
landmark as well as an important part of many generations of people who have experienced it in their childhood
and continue to do so with their children and i hope i will get the chance to experience it with my children in
future years. It is a shared experience between people of all ages and generations, that they can relate to each
other with and how many of those kinds of experiences do we have left? We cannot continue to demolish and
take away these establishments that have provided us so many memories and good life experiences and
replace them with buildings and stores who's only use is just more consumption. I am 25 years old and even i
believe we are in a world where we can access everything from home and it is so easy to not be social and
experience things with other people. I feel that it is essential that we keep establishments like the Keno Drive-in
around because too many have already gone. We have an opportunity to keep alive something that is quickly
becoming extinct in this country. Lets be one of the few that still supports an american past time, the drive-in
movie theater!
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=B5lhzMa8ctc
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=evvLeMACnXk

Justin De Fiblander more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  6:40 PM

We have enough walfarts in the area, the keno is a classic drive in theatre and some of us out here prefer the
old school ways. Keep the drive in,  the people have spoken. ON COMMAND  TO THE BEARER ON DEMAND.
The way it used to read on our dollar bills.

Taylor Cerminara more than 2 miles March 27, 2015,  8:51 PM

We do not need another shopping center, especially another Walmart. I don't think that area of town is built to
have a store like that on the corner of a fairly busy road. Please save the keno drive-in!!!

Krystal Gonzalez more than 2 miles March 27, 2015, 10:09 PM

Kenosha is one of the few cities to still have a drive-in. It has been a place families go in the summer for many
years. I am totally against replacing the Keno Drive in with a Walmart. Why do we need another one? It would
not bring favorable company to that area. It would cause more late night drama to the neighborhood and be
constantly busy with traffic and people. I believe the Keno is a part of Kenosha's history. Don't take away the
little Kenosha has that's unique to other cities and towns.

richard wallace more than 2 miles March 27, 2015, 10:30 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 17 of 61



Why tear down the Keno drive-in. its one of the last drive in theaters in the country, a piece of our history and an
icon. Its great family fun and for people of all ages. As a single college student, I took my girl friend there on a
date many times, had a great time for under 20 bucks. And for what, to build yet another Walmart. There's a
Walmart in Zion, Kenosha, and two in Racine. Walmart, communist China's biggest customer that pays its
employees a starvation wage (many of whom have to go on government subsitities to survive). The United
States of America doesn't need another Walmart. It needs to help small family businesses survive. Owners of
small businesses usually live in the same community that they serve and don't have all their family members on
the top ten richest people's list. The revenue from their gross sales stays for the most part in the town, not sent
to Bensonville, Ark. When are cities and towns across this country going to realize that Walmart does not help
them. Too many small towns have had their down towns destroyed by Walmart, then in ten years Walmart
consolidates all its local stores into one big super store. Plus, how many grocery stores do we need, Costco
and Meijer's are both building super stores just south of Hwy 50 on Greenbay Road. Everybody sells groceries,
even Menard's and Target. But we have one of the last drive in's in the country left...let's not lose it.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 28, 2015,  7:17 AM

Please find a way to keep the drive in open. It is a great entertainment resource not only for the local area, but
for the region. I live in Cudahy but come down several times a year to eat dinner then go over to the drive in,
generating money for your community. The drive in is a unique attraction that should be preserved as a point of
distinction.

Sarah Castaneda more than 2 miles March 28, 2015,  9:01 AM

Keno drive in is one of the best places to spend summer nights with family and friends. Its a shame they cant
come up with the money to transform it to digital but can add more stores. We wait out our long winters in
Wisconsin to finally do fun family activites outdoors..not inside shopping.

Anita Riley more than 2 miles March 28, 2015, 11:13 AM

What a shame it would be to see the Keno Drive-In gone forever. So many families with so many happy
memories thru-out the years because of the Keno Drive-In. Why does it seem that preserving something old is
not considered progress? Why do we have to keep building new things that will probably never affect people the
way the Keno Drive-In has affected people? Wouldn't it be better to be known and remembered by preserving
an icon than building more stores or apartment buildings? How many strip malls and such do we need?  Give
future families a chance to enjoy an evening under the stars watching movies, eating pizza and popcorn and
making new memories by saving the Keno!

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 28, 2015,  6:13 PM

Save this theater! Its been part of Kenosha for more than "50" years. Stop taking away things that are part of

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 18 of 61



this city, lets preserve this for all the future people. I went there as a kid & adult & it was so enjoyable & what a
great memorable time of life. I am from Lincoln Park area in Kenosha while I was growing up.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 28, 2015,  7:13 PM

I do not believe that land is fit for anything other than what is there now, a drive in movie theatre. Anything else
would be a mess for nearby houses and businesses. What is there has been there for well over 50 years
without issue. There is no need for more retail in this general area. Other similar is nearby in the Villiage, Zion,
and Kenosha.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 28, 2015, 11:09 PM

I live in Milwaukee County and make a point to come to Kenosha every summer for the Drive-In Theatre. No
point in coming down for a Walmart.

Kriss Zuidema more than 2 miles March 28, 2015, 11:50 PM

My family and I have lived here for 7yrs. now. This is one of the very few activities we can enjoy together here in
Kenosha. It's not just about the movies. The psychological benefits a venue like this has is priceless. Meeting
people FACE TO FACE from all over and enjoying something amazing. I understand money is more important
to some people than humanity. Priorities.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  1:10 AM

My husband and I had our very first date at the keno drive-in and it breaks our hearts to hear that we will never
be able to spend our anniversarys at this amazing place.

I have so many good memories of my parents taking me and my brother in our pajamas! The keno drive-in is a
historical land mark and should not be torn down! It should be invested in and given the respect it truly
deserves! 

We do not need any more retail stores or residential properties. 

Please let the keno drive-in stay!

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  2:34 AM

The Keno Drive-In has been a part of all our lives for many wonderful years.  In small town Kenosha, WI, the
drive-in is one of the last great treasures we have to call our own.  It may not be fancy and all spruced up, but

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 19 of 61



that's what makes it an amazing place. It's part of the charm that keeps us coming back year after year.  I have
been going to the drive-in for 21 years, all of my life.  It is one of my most cherished memories. Stores like
Walmart, or really any store, cannot build those memories. It's very materialistic and selfish to strip the
community of our beautiful drive-in and of all the wonderful memories we have yet to make there with our
friends and family, both new and old. No one wants to say goodbye to such a beloved place, but especially for
such outlandish reasons as these. Kenosha has plenty of businesses that provide more than enough income for
the community and if wealthy owners want to be even more greedy, there's sure to be plenty of back-alley land
slots available that won't forcefully take a beautiful place with beautiful memories away from the community.
And Walmart? Really? It's quite sickening. The Keno Drive-In should remain forevermore; it is one of the last
historical, CLASSICAL places we have left in these parts. Wallets might hold a lot of money, but they won't hold
nearly as much hate as the community will if the drive-in goes!

Lynn Shulak more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  5:07 AM

I grew up in Kenosha and now live in Racine.  I still go to the Keno every summer to see movies.  I prefer to see
them at the Drive In instead of at a theater because I enjoy the history and setting.  I am disappointed that
some of Kenosha's history is being removed to make way for a huge shopping center that is not needed.  Why
not put an L shaped shopping strip around the Keno instead?  This would both drive business to the Keno as
well as encourage shopping before seeing a movie at the drive in.  Both parties would benefit that way.

Racheal Hernandez more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  7:19 AM

A town doesn't just need houses and retail spaces to thrive. It needs destinations and community spaces to
build a strong and safe place for everyone.  The Kenosha Drive in is such a place.

I went to the drive in as a kid with my parents, as a teenager with my friends, and as an adult with my family.
The Kenosha Drive in is extra special to me because it is where I had my first date with my husband.

However, if commerce is more important to the village, I will never shop at the proposed super center, but I will
go to the Kenosha Drive in multiple times per season.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 29, 2015, 10:13 AM

The drive in is the last of its kind around here and is more family friendly then the theaters. We all love it and will
be sad to see it go.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 29, 2015, 10:14 AM

The keno drive in has been something I have gone to routinely since I was about six years old. It brings
something different to the area, attracting groups from all over. It is a different experience than you are able to

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 20 of 61



get an the regular movie theater entirely. It is devastating that it is in jeopardy of being replaced by small
business, housing, or a Walmart. Whatever replaces the Keno is likely to upset the surrounding people, causing
them to boycott whatever business goes there. Houses can be built anywhere so why replace something
extraordinary for something that's ordinary? Keep the Keno! It's a great place for families and teenagers too.

Chelsy Hammill more than 2 miles March 29, 2015, 11:23 AM

We need the keno drive in.... It is a link to our past. My daughter should get the chance to watch a movie this
way with her family on a summer night invert the stars. Please don't take this away from future generations.

Julie (Stone) Arnold more than 2 miles March 29, 2015, 12:30 PM

NO ONE wants a shopping center there. No one!! Look at how Market Square tanked. Why tear down a historic
site for shopping considering all of the new development popping up on Hwy 50 & 165? It's too far for someone
to drive 10 minutes out there to shop? It's ridiculous. SAVE THE DRIVE IN!!

What would need to be done to save it? How much would it cost? Name it, we'll make it happen. Do you need
money and/or volunteers to fix up the place? Do you need money to get digital equipment? What? Give us an
amount and a deadline and watch this community rally together to support this important family oriented
landmark. 

If we fail at it, then go ahead with your plans, but please at least give Southeast Wisconsin and Northern Illinois
a chance to have their voices heard. Thanks.

Pamela Kneeland more than 2 miles March 29, 2015, 12:43 PM

KENO DRIVE IN is the last drive in movie theater anywhere. I used to go there with my family when I was
growing up in Zion until I moved away. The few times when I came home for a visit I would go there. This is the
only family friendly theater for the aware that does not cost a lot of money to take a car full of families to.

Ed Cameron more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  1:11 PM

It's sad to see another outdoor theater being removed, we've been going to the Keno for many years. I grew up
in Waukegan,Il. and the outdoor in Waukegan and Grayslake were removed years ago for the same reasons.
So many great times had, wish they could save the Keno so future generations can enjoy the experience.
Thank you

Beatrice Penna more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  2:10 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 21 of 61



Beatrice Penna
I have been going to the Keno since I was a little girl, with my brother and sisters. We used to go early so we
could play and ride the train. I am now 63 years old and I am now going to the Keno with my daughter, her
husband and my eight year old grandson. We all enjoy ourselves and look forward to watching a good movie on
the big screen. This is something we can do as a family, PLEASE do not take it away from us.

Brenden Paquette more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  2:16 PM

Please do not close the Keno!!!! It is one of the few spots in Kenosha where we still have any semblance of a
culture. Don't make this city dwindle down to having no entertainment value besides bars.

Robin Pence more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  2:40 PM

No one wants another Walmart or stripmall. We want to keep the keno drive in! It is one of the best affordable
places to take our children, and spend quality time with them. Please don't take that away from us.

Beth Lueck more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  2:47 PM

Please do not destroy the Keno Drive In. This is an historic property, a part of the Kenosha area history since
the late 1940's. It is worth saving and revitalizing. Unfortunately many other drive in theaters have disappeared
from America's landscape. Those remaining can be tourism magnets - and a source of community pride. Drive
in theaters throughout the Midwest have been revitalized and are great entertainment for local families as well
as being unique sources of pride in the landscape. I have no issue with Pleasant Prairie making improvements
to the landscape and creating well planned developments, but destroying what makes a community unique is
not the way to do it - and especially if those plans pave the way for yet another bland and generic strip mall, or
worse still a Walmart. I have really fond memories of growing up and going to the Keno, and would very much
like the opportunity to do so in the future. Use this as a way to draw people into the area, as opposed to paving
under a piece of local history

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  4:28 PM

I don't think we need another shopping mall.  We need to keep the Outdoor/drive-in theaters. There are some
things we need to keep to pass on to our children and grandchildren. Drive-in theaters are one of the best
things I remember from my childhood. In this day of electronics, we need to keep some of the simpler things.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  4:52 PM

It is heartbreaking to think that yet another un-necessary Walmart could replace the beloved Keno Drive In. My
parents took me there, my husband and I took our children there and I want to be able to share that wonderful

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 22 of 61



feeling with my grandchildren. Please, please don't let another "Big Bully" corporation dim the family friendly,
beloved drive in.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  5:00 PM

Please don't destroy the Keno drive in.  I believe it would be more fitting to place the drive-in on the Historic
Landmarks.  Lord knows another Walmart or another strip mall is not needed.

Nathan Davis more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  6:04 PM

Hello. My name is Nathan Davis. I have reviewed the three redevelopment plans, and as for the land currently
occupied by the Keno Drive-in, it should not be redeveloped. This is a historical site, and is one of the few
entertainment venues left for the youth of Pleasant Prairie and Kenosha. When youth don't have things to do,
they statistically turn to drugs and/or illegal activity. If you would like evidence, I can definitely produce that for
you. That's not something anyone wants for this community, is it? Let's finally do something for the youth of this
area and deem the Keno Drive-in a historical site. Let's keep it open, not only for nostalgia, but for the
betterment of this community. As for the land directly around it, it would be a great idea to build small
convenience stores and/or restaurants such as Sonic. There would no apparent backlash to even downsizing
the Keno. Regardless of what anyone wants to think, this is not prime retail space and would not attract a lot of
business so a mega supercenter and/or strip malls would not fill up fast and might even remain empty for years.
I beg you to consider the people of this area when considering redevelopment. The people do not want this,
and the Village of Pleasant Prairie should respect that. A government is supposed to serve the people as a
whole, not the one with the most money. Thank you and again, please consider the people first.

Jessica Goforth more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  7:24 PM

Please do not redevelop the land, please don't turn it into a strip mall center.  The Keno Drive In is one of the
few remaining drive ins in the area, and brings a great deal of revenue to the Kenosha/Pleasant Prairie area
(people travel from Chicago, Milwaukee and even farther to attend movies at the Keno, and while they're in town
they patronize other area businesses as well).  The Keno Drive In is a historical landmark that should not be
destroyed.  Please do everything in your power to keep it going.  The people of Kenosha do not want another
strip mall, they want this drive in preserved for future generations.

daniel norris more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  7:31 PM

I live in kenosha and would never go to or live in the area if the keno is torn down to build this.  The 75 year old
theater should be a historical landmark.  It is one of the few places a family can go to spend time together
anymore.  If the city purchased the land, they could build a rec center or game center on the back half of the lot
and keep the theater open.  The property could make money year round and we get to keep the theater.  So
many of our theaters have been torn down or gutted for crap like Mills plan.  Let's try and keep one?

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  7:38 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 23 of 61



The drive-in needs to stay!!! No more mass produced chains like walmart or super centers. We need to keep it
original and historical for the kids today and in the future. its a great family experience as well.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  7:56 PM

I live on the Northside of Racine. I usually drive down and go to Keno drive in once or twice a month during the
open season. I eat at the restaurants, stop at the convenient stores, and the gas stations in the area. If the keno
was to close. I would have no reason to frequent this area. The keno drive in is a special asset to your
community that should be preserved.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 29, 2015,  8:33 PM

Please work to preserve the Keno Drive In as a historical and entertainment center.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 29, 2015, 10:24 PM

The drive in is a piece of history!  Childhood, teenage and now adult memories have been made there that I will
always cherish.  As a parent now, I had hoped to share that with my kids.  My son has gone the past two years,
being one of the only places a baby can go and not "annoy" other people when they make noise!   We need to
save this special place!  There's room to keep the drive in and still develop the surrounding land.  This should
be the plan!

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 29, 2015, 11:52 PM

It would be a tragedy to trade out real Keno nostalgia for a greedy corporation that will not only lower the
property value for the area in question, but will raise taxpayers' dollars by not offering a living wage to their
employees, forcing them to live off of government assistance. The Drive Inn will NEVER make this kind of
negative impact on the community.

Heidi Zadler more than 2 miles March 30, 2015,  8:46 AM

Please save the drive in.  It's a piece of history.  I've been trying to tell people we could have car shows and flea
markets there to make extra money! We would pay for booths, entry fees, and food too! Would be very sad to
see the drive in close. They're are many more ideas out there to make more money if the owners would just
consider them. 

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 30, 2015,  9:57 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 24 of 61



The Keno Drive In has been a staple in the community for years. It has provided countless nights of
entertainment for a variety of people over the years. I am a parent of 2 small children and that has all but
stopped my movie going experiences for now. As most people know small children have a hard time sitting still
and being quiet for extended periods of time. The Keno Drive In is the perfect place for me to take my kids and
still be able to watch current movies and not disturb any other movie goers. It would be a great loss for for my
family and other families that have a similar situation if we no longer had the Keno Drive In as a choice for
entertainment during the summer. Please reconsider the choice to close the Keno Drive In. We need activities
like this in our area.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 30, 2015, 10:32 AM

Please keep the drive in alive! It is Pleasant Prairie and Kenosha History! The Keno drive in is also a main
activity to do in our community. Not everyone has money to go shopping at a fancy shopping center. We have
enough of those! And plenty of them in Pleasant Prairie already. Change the name to Pleasant Drive In or
something and bring it back!

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 30, 2015, 11:43 AM

Please keep the Keno Drive In alive!  Its the only drive in around this area that is enjoyed by young kids and
older kids alike.  Its the only place you can go to "just be a kid"..bring your own popcorn or buy it there and
watch movies outside and just be yourself in your own environment with your family.  Its one of the things that
you can do as a family without costing an arm and leg to do it.  It always one of those favorite things to do on
the weekends after you have worked so hard doing the week.  A time to enjoy being together as a family.
Please keep the Keno Drive In alive !  Thank you.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 30, 2015, 12:10 PM

I think the drive in needs to stay. It's the only thing we have left to for our kids. I have gone there a lot when I
was a kid and would like to take my kids again. They would be missing out on what their parents used to do as
kids. Plus it's cheap and the only one left in town.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 30, 2015, 12:53 PM

Save the drive-in!! Everyone loves to go watch movies at the drive-in. It's a tradition for so many in the Kenosha
area. People have been enjoying it for generations! I want to be able to take my kids there.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 30, 2015,  4:50 PM

I had grown up going to the Keno Drive In it would be a doing Kenosha a disservice in closing it and replacing it

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 25 of 61



with yet another shopping center. We currently travel from Walworth county several times during the summer to
go to the drive in. Often times with groups of friends from this area that didn't realize Kenosha still had the drive
in and have also now become part of the summer caravan to the movies. We will not be doing the same for a
shopping center. Please, we urge you to keep the drive in and help keep the drive in traditions alive.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 30, 2015,  9:46 PM

First, thank you for adding this feedback platform to the website.  What a wonderful way to incorporate
technology in the collection of feedback on community issues.  For someone who travels much of the week, and
am unable to attend many of the open forum meetings that touch on these issues it is a terrific platform.

I would love for the property to remain an outdoor theater but understand that financially it is an unlikely "best
use" for a very expensive asset.  I would hope that the landowners desire to build out the retail space will be
approved.  I know from discussions with informed folks, that the village has very clear guidelines to ensure that
the space will be well designed and visually appealing.  I believe that the person/persons who have invested in
this property should be allowed to do as they see fit as long as it meets villiage guidelines.

Ryan Anderson more than 2 miles March 31, 2015,  8:22 AM

I would like to take a moment to give a truly unbiased take on this land and tell you why adding a walmart over a
drive in is an unneeded pursuit.

For starters, I audit walmarts, and getting another one actually means more work for me. So im sure you're
wondering "why would he be opposed to another one then?". I'll tell you why. For the last 21 years of my life that
drive in has been an institution that shaped my growth as a young adult into the adult I have become. It is a
place where I have more individual memories at than my own home. In a society that seemingly prides itself on
smaller screens, distancing itself from others as a means of bringing us "closer" with more technology, and
consistent attempts to take away things that were once an enjoyable part of the outdoors, I say that if anything
we need institutions like this more than ever.

I do not know if what I write here today will be even read or considered, but for the first time in my life I am
speaking out about a cause more important to me than any political or government based decision.

I believe in the drive in. I do not believe in Walmart.

I will stand for whatever it takes to keep this land from changing. Even if it requires making it a landmark of our
city. (Which I believe it to be)

I write this not because I expect the village to read this, but because I believe that those who care about the
people and their better interests will see that keeping this place will be for the betterment of Pleasant Prairie
and Kenosha.

My name is Ryan Anderson and I Thank you for your time.

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 31, 2015,  9:14 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 26 of 61



People seem to be missing the point of this feedback forum.  It’s not a question of whether we save the drive in
or not.  The owner wants to develop the land and has the right to do so, as long as the proposed development
is within village regulations.  Which his proposal is NOT.  That is why the other two plan alternatives make more
sense.  The drive in was no longer making a profit and would be too costly in upgrades.  Get rid of the drive in if
the owner so chooses, but don’t approve his proposed plan by granting special privileges.

Shannon Stokes more than 2 miles March 31, 2015,  1:50 PM

Please don't take the drive in away from our city thank you

Katie Wilson more than 2 miles March 31, 2015,  3:30 PM

Save the Keno! I grew up going to the drive-in every weekend. It will be such a shame to lose a great piece of
history! Please renovate & re-launch The Keno Drive-in! We don't need any more Walmart's or any other store.
If you can spend so much money building a Walmart then you could instead just renovate and re-vamp the
Keno! We need to keep the history alive and Keep the Keno drive-in!! I grew up in Zion, Il. but now I live in
South Charleston, W.V. When I heard about them closing the Keno I just had to say my peace! I go back to the
Keno every time I visit. It would be a crime if that wasn't possible next time! SAVE THE KENO!!! LANDMARK
HISTORY!!!!!!!!!!

Rhonda Sisco more than 2 miles March 31, 2015,  5:48 PM

Although I no longer reside in Kenosha, my daughter and grandkids do. I have so many wonderful memories of
going to the drive in while I was growing up and then as my children grew up we all enjoyed it together. It's a
wonderful place for families to spend quality time in this fast paced world we all live in. So many family things
are so expensive and the drive in was always pretty reasonable. Don't take this legacy away from Kenosha and
the future generations. Let them enjoy it like we all did.  Thank  You

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 31, 2015,  9:57 PM

Save the keno drive in!!! It should be deemed a historical landmark -never to be torn down!!

Name not shown more than 2 miles March 31, 2015, 10:31 PM

I think the drive in should stay it has made memories for people and that place is a place that people that live
close to the drive in look foward to when it becomes nice out. No store or place that you guys wanna build
would give anyone the same feeling. I used to get taken there when i was a kid and i still go. So i want the drive
in to stay. Please and thank you.

Name not shown more than 2 miles April  1, 2015,  1:56 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 27 of 61



Please don't take the Drive In away. Kenosha is a small town with hardly anything to do as it is, this is a safe
place were families and friends can share memories together. Ive been going since I was little i can still
remember playing in the grass in front of the giant screen with friends and then getting snacks and enjoying the
movie. I haven't stopped going since and have spent birthdays there. It is so important to keep such a classic
genuine place in this city not many towns have a drive in so many are being closed we can't let that happen
here. WE DO NOT NEED ANOTHER WALMART! How many does one town need? I can't understand why a
walmart would serve a better purpose on this land other than $ but that seems to be the driving factor in all of
this.  If The Drive In closes part of this town dies, and this town can't afford anymore loss. Please don't take this
historic popular attraction away, I would love to see it stay open and play new films as well as the classics and
maybe do movie marathons or something like that instead of removing it make it better!!

Name not shown more than 2 miles April  1, 2015,  8:44 AM

This has been a place I grew up going to. Being 25/30 minutes from my home.. On any given night I know my
family is up for the little drive to enjoy the Keno drive in. There have been other places to close down in the past
few years and it is quite a shame. We are closing down the things that have been around for generations that
we share with the future generations. If this closes down.. It will be quite a heart break for not only my family
and I but hundreds and hundreds of families. I still till this day tell people from other towns in Illinois of this place
and they are always excited to hear of it. Keep it open please!

Rebecca Lynn more than 2 miles April  1, 2015,  8:44 AM

Keno drive-in needs to remain.  The first 'movie' I ever attend in my life, 43 years ago was at the keno drive-in.
The keno was a big part of my life growing up, and even though we moved away from Kenosha, the keno was
always there for return trips.  Please do not tear this historical landmark down.  Drive-ins are almost extinct in
the US, don't take ours away!!!

Ali Bavuso more than 2 miles April  1, 2015,  9:20 PM

My family and I have been coming out to the Keno family drive in for the last 8 years, multiple times during the
summer. We drive 1.5 hours out of our way just to come. We love the environment and love everything about
the theater. On our way, while in town, we stop at local stores and/or restaurants. There are not many of these
type of establishments left in southeastern Wisconsin. They are a draw for people and it helps other local
businesses. Please do not close this down.

Erin Erdmann more than 2 miles April  2, 2015,  9:41 AM

My husband and I have been taking our kids to Keno Drive-in for 7 years and before that, our parents took us.
We live in Muskego and it's a treat and a tradition to go and pack up the family for a night under the stars. The
scent of popcorn in the air, the laughter of Kids in the background, an occasional car alarm going off

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 28 of 61



accidentally...lawn chairs and blankets spread around and car lot neighbors having small chat while the kids
throw around a fridge Or ball. It's a sense of safety in a crazy world beyond the theatre lot gates. It's not easy to
get family quality time for all ages and the drive in keeps us bonded and provides the memories and space for
the little ones as well as the oldest. Give the families and the teenagers something Positive to do that doesn't
put a huge dent in their pockets. What's the price tag for healthy close knit families these days? Please please
please keep the keno drive in open.

Laura Brzostowicz more than 2 miles April  2, 2015,  9:57 AM

Please do not shut down the drive-in as we love coming here. For the past 7 years we have been coming to the
drive-in as a nice, relaxing way to watch movies and spend the evening. Our 5 year old daughter loves the play
time before the first movie begins and always looks forward to going to the drive-in. Sure there's movie theaters
but it's just not the same. The ambiance and the experience are what make it worth it.  We drive an hour one
way just to get there and would love to see it open this summer.

Kathy Schumacher more than 2 miles April  2, 2015, 12:53 PM

I don't believe a Walmart is the best choice considering they still have a empty building on 52nd street in
Kenosha that just sits empty. I would also like the drive in to be able to continue to stay open and run. Maybe he
(the land owner) should give them one more year and they could ask for volunteer workers and save some
money for the season and try to buy the land from him.I know I would volunteer.

Chris Jones more than 2 miles April  2, 2015, 10:53 PM

The drive in makes Kenosha special.  I come from over an hour away, several times a summer, specifically for
the drive in.  Many times eating dinner beforehand at Shirle's drive in and always buying gas during the visit.
It's always a wonderful time.  When was the last time someone enjoyed a Walmart?  Don't we have enough of
them already?  The drive in lets Kenosha stand out against our increasingly homogenized landscape and is
surely a destination for many others from other cities.  Don't let it disappear.
Thank you,
Chris Jones

Kelly Ishmael-Francois more than 2 miles April  3, 2015,  7:31 AM

I was born and raised in Pleasant Prairie.  I do not live there now but my family that I adore does and I visit as
often as I can. Whenever possible, I make it a point to catch a movie at the Keno.  I have the fondest memories
of going there. My family went often in my youth.  And as I grew, the Keno remained an enjoyable part of my life.

That said, I realize this neighborhood plan is about more than bulldozing the Keno.  But hearing of the

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 29 of 61



destruction of a place that is so dear to my heart is what brought me to this page.  So first - The drive-in movie
theatre is a dying breed that must not be lost to the history of America.  While many of us wax nostalgic over
the drive-in, many of today's youth find the experience as enjoyable as any of us older folk.  There truly needs
to be a council in Kenosha to revive this simple and magnificent venue of entertainment AND the treasured
Keno.  In the not too distant future, the Keno will be a historical landmark and attraction that people from many
miles around would purposefully mecca just for the experience.  Treasure it, don't disregard and discard it with
the shortsighted excuse of progress. 

In reading the plan and many of the responses,  I agree with the many respondents that turning this area of
Pleasant Prairie into yet another shopping center and mass packed housing development would be a detriment
to the overall health of the Pleasant Prairie/Kenosha area.  I live in Northern Colorado where many of the cities
and towns will not permit big box centers any where near and most certainly not within their city limits - and
we're not just talking about the tree-huggers here.  They're not permitted or desired for the very simple reason
of the demographic influx that impacts the region and most certainly the quality of life of those already
pleasantly settled there.  Moving to a small quiet city in Northern Colorado 13 years ago, I have watched this
town explode in growth and citified change, and I grow ever more saddened and disappointed watching the
significant urban change that has occurred here, most notably around the two Walmarts and actually other
‘shopping centers’  located here.  The health of those areas have deteriorated and have become a blemish to a
once quiet and peaceful community.  Yes, all cities have a consistent life-cycle of growth, decay, urban renewal,
repeat.  Yes, it is not 'Walmart's' fault for the attraction of a surrounding community that monopolizes on its
necessity of less expensive (more often cheap) non-American made, and most certainly imported not locally
supplied merchandise.  Yes, we all want to save money wherever possible, however, if a big box like Walmart
has already located and failed within arm's reach, does it make sense to create another with an influx that will
create an unwanted residual at this location for the established community to have to 'manage' once this big
box fails or moves out?  Consider too the impact yet another big box would have on other shopping centers in
the area.  More failed businesses and empty buildings littering the streets of a once thriving community.  And
there is always a disturbingly significant impact to the local Mom and Pops'.  Without the intentional and active
support of the community, they are quickly plowed under.  The local charm and establishments of generations
are lost.  Big boxes do NOT care of impact on the environment or the local/regional economy.  Absolutely they
package their proposal beautifully with a big bright bow on top speaking of the number of jobs and potential
income to the community.  By the way, a good share of those huge numbers of job positions are eaten up by the
influx.  And in the end, who has the fattest wallet?  It's the green in our pockets they're after. They do not care of
our health - environmental, physiological, personal or economical. It is not a Win-Win.  Another big
box/development such as this can only add to the already sad looking and unhealthy cement city of Mil-ago
(Milwaukee to Chicago).  Yes, you may feel my rosy little memories of a long ago pleasant Pleasant
Prairie/Kenosha and in particular my love of the Keno, have colored my perspective on this issue,  but I feel
Pleasant Prairie/Kenosha could and should focus on lifting up and cultivating the community, concentrating its
finances and energies on more promising potentials within its borders that would attract an abundantly
influential, progressive and forward-thinking populace that would in turn attract more affluence and cultural
desirability than what is even known today; and most certainly more than that of what would surround yet
another big box development.  Flourish and develop from within.  Don't add on more dead weight.  

Thank you for the opportunity to voice an opinion from a distance.

Name not shown more than 2 miles April  3, 2015,  9:15 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 30 of 61



I have lived near the drive inn my whole life. It was a great memory as a child to go there & enjoy family time
together. Now I have children of my own & love taking them & doing things I did as a child. Its a great
experience to have! Some people are less fortunate & don't get to experience the outdoor theater. We have a
family of 6 & to take that many people to the movie theater is very costly. Loved being able to be able to get out
& do things with the kids. It is very special for me & my family to try to keep the drive inn. We have 2 walmarts
within a 30 mile span! Why another??  As for the subdivision with the economy as it is right now you build &
houses sit empty. There are plenty houses that have been sitting on the market for years. Why we need more
housing is beyond me. I just would love to keep it. I feel its a great thing for all people young & old! Great place.
SAVE THE DRIVE INN!! PLEASE

Name not shown more than 2 miles April  4, 2015,  4:26 AM

Ever since I moved down to southeastern wi we have enjoyed the keno drive in.  It didn't matter when I lived in
silver lake or south milwaukee, I have always made it there to see movies. For over 11 years now my whole
family stops at a restaurant in kenosha to eat and a gas station on Sheridan for snacks and soda before we get
in line for the drive in to open. We spend our money in the local area just because the drive-in draws us to that
area. What reason would we have to be tourist in your town if you let keno close forever? At the age of 5 I
remember going to the drive-in in green bay to see Flash Gordon and rock & roll high school. That was over 35
years ago. I remember the drive-in in Oak creak. Do you think that the big insurance building that stands in its
place now creates alot of great family memories or encourages tourism in the area? I think you will be missing a
great landmark and all us tourists won't be coming down to your city if your plans don't involve a drive-in
theater. 
Dawn falk
mount pleasant wi

Brion Flaningam more than 2 miles April  4, 2015, 10:17 AM

I grew up in Bristol, WI, and have lived there for 29 years. Some of my fondest memories are at the Keno Drive-
In Theater. I believe the best course of action for Pleasant Prairie and Kenosha together would be to request a
solution be drafted by the owners of the property that would closely resemble Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan
Alternative #3, but include plans for a new, reduced capacity Drive-In theater, "Keno 2" if you will. This could
also include materials from the original theater to help keep costs down. Pleasant Prairie and Kenosha will
suffer a great loss if they find themselves without an outdoor theater. Why should their residents have to take
their children and their money to McHenry, IL or Jefferson, WI in order to see a movie at the Drive-In?

Name not shown more than 2 miles April  4, 2015,  1:25 PM

a Wal Mart is nothing more valuable to me than an overgrown gas station. 
Many of us grew up going to drive ins & I wanted to take my kids to the 41 when I became a parent. 
All I can do now is show my kids the insurance monolith that built there, we all spit say something not nice and
leave. 

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 31 of 61



Wal mart can build somewhere else. 

What our state would benefit more from is a re invented Keno, with go kart tracks, concerts held at the site and
more. The Drive in experience is uniquely American, we shouldn't allow it to go away.

Robbie Needham more than 2 miles April  4, 2015,  6:14 PM

I really wish you would leave the Drive-In alone. This is the ONLY place that a family can come and watch films
and not be over charged a arm and leg to go. This is History and should not be destroyed. This is the only place
I have been able to come and watch movies in the 10 years. Please Save The Drive-In.

Clare J. more than 2 miles April  5, 2015,  6:10 PM

Please don't tear down the Keno to build a big box store, Walmart or otherwise. The drive in is an important and
unique part of the Kenosha landscape, and one of the reasons I come to the area.

Name not shown more than 2 miles April  5, 2015,  9:39 PM

Keep the Kenosha drive in!! This is the only drive in near, my summers depend on the keno drive in so many
family and friends love this drive in, it would be a tremendous lost to the Kenosha area.

Teresa Covington more than 2 miles April  5, 2015, 11:56 PM

Drive Ins represent community and are the social fabric of our past.  They represent a slower time when
families were priority, people felt a sense of community from within, while keeping the drive in an affordable
option for family entertainment.  I run a drive in in Ohio that my parents purchased 28 years ago and I do it not
for the money, but because it is a positive part of the community.  Drive Ins are a dying breed so it is imperative
we save as many as we can. Superstores are not always the way to keep a community strong. It can be just the
opposite - they put the "mom and pop" stores out of business because they can't compete with the Walmarts,
etc. it's the local business people who keep the community strong - they live there, they work there, they care
what happens there as well. Walmart is not good for a community - it will become the only store in town soon
and all that money will go back to Arkansas. You will be killing the futures of your local businesses and that is
unfair to them. I respect the land owners desire to sell the property for obvious reasons, but isn't there  another
way that someone or the community could purchase the land and make it a community drive in, or turn it into
non-profit while still keeping the fabric of "small town USA" alive??  Once you lose that you will never get it
back.  Our country has lost too many of the good things in our past to so called "progress". That's why I started
Save Americas Drive Ins over a year ago - so I could possibly help keep them here. Please don't let the Keno
become another casualty. Respectfully submitted, Teresa Covington, Sidney Auto Vue, Sidney, OH 45365

2 Attachments

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 32 of 61



https://pd-oth.s3.amazonaws.com/production/uploads/attachments/132cvde28hfk.3t2/image.jpg (285 KB)
https://pd-oth.s3.amazonaws.com/production/uploads/attachments/132cvfx0fl68.1aq/image.jpg (1.91 MB)

Name not shown more than 2 miles April  5, 2015, 11:58 PM

I know the decision before the board regards zoning or potentially rezoning. I am concerned about the negative
effects that a large retailer has on the community. Not only the unrepairable harm to the small businessman, but
also to the surrounding neighborhoods property values and increase in maintenance costs do to all the extra
traffic and heavy trucks. What is even more concerning to me is The Keno Drive In. The Keno has been a
staple of this community for well over 60 years. I have cherished memories as a kid running thru its lot and
playing in the grass. As a young man and father it was my only option for my wife and I to have "our date night"
with babies in tow. My children grew up loving the experience as much as I had when I was a child. Now they
have children of their own and frequently share those fond memories with their family. The drive in experience is
tremendous, one of a kind. I don't understand why the owner would want it gone. Every time I go, I wait in line
for at least 30 minutes just to get in. Other nights I have waited twice as much. Not only am I against the
rezoning, but I would also like to see a development plan that combines both a rejuvenated drive in and smaller
commercial that falls within the current zoning laws. I'm pretty sure the Keno would qualify for a designation as
a historical site and get tax breaks, possibly grants for restoring. Might be worth looking into. Help to keep ours
and many other families traditions alive. There is absolutely nothing else that comes close to the experience of
a movie under the stars on a nice warm night, having family fun and making new friends. Thank you for your
consideration.

Therese Cucunato more than 2 miles April  6, 2015,  9:44 AM

I am a lifelong resident of Kenosha so I feel inclined to add a little feedback. How is any Supercenter at that
corner going to benefit future generations. Kenosha has a brand new not yet open Meirer store and blocks from
that is another not yet open Costco.
We can also look at the environmental  impact a big box store will have on the surounding area aka the creek
itself and how about the Indian Artifacts that have been found right in this area. Isn't some of this protected? Not
only will the developers of this corners teardown our FUTURE  memories by destroying our Beloved 66 year old
Keno Drive In......but it very well will destroy PAST relics of a time long ago. There is some historic significance
here that can't be destroyed of the past and the future. Please don't rezone for the privileged few.
Kenosha/Pleasant Prairie do not need another big box store. We have plenty of Empty Store and Holes in our
town where things are knocked down and nothing has replaced it....Thank You for your time.
Therese M Cucunato

Robert Mager more than 2 miles April  6, 2015, 10:57 AM

Please consider a different plan that would keep, The Keno Drive in intact . Please Mr Mills,  Please reconsider
selling the land that the Keno sits on, So someone else can keep this piece of Historic Americana preserved.
Thank You  Robert Mager

Patrick Vranak more than 2 miles April  6, 2015, 12:52 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 33 of 61



Americana! Americana refers to the history, geography, folklore, and cultural heritage of the United States.
Along with the poems of Walt Whitman, the songs of Otis Redding, and the first Model T to roll off of Henry
Ford's Assembly line, the outdoor drive-in theater is a stitch in the fabric of time that holds together this beautiful
country that we grace.

Camden New Jersey, circa1932: Richard M. Hollingshead nails a screen to some old trees in his back yard. He
proceeds to prop a 1928 Kodak projector onto the hood of his car and an old radio behind the screen. On
August 6th, 1932, Hollingshead applies for a patent, which is granted on May 16th of 1933. On June 6, 1933, a
40x50’ screen plays Adolphe Menjou’s film “Wife Beware” and the American Outdoor drive-in theatre is born.

Hollingshead billed his theatre as a place where “The whole family is welcome, regardless of how noisy the
children are”. The original facility only operated for about three years but the concept was spreading across the
states like wildfire. Fast foreword sixteen years to May 18th 1949: With a capacity of 850 cars the Keno Drive-In
theatre opens for business in Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin. To this day the oldest-running theatre in the state, the
Keno Drive-In stands tall and proud- a true piece of Americana!

I love the Keno Drive-In. I can’t think back to a time when the Keno drive-in wasn’t in my life. I remember going
there as a child, where I arrived at the theater in my pajamas. After settling into our carefully chosen spot my
mother would allow my brother and I to run around in the grass in front of the giant, imposing screen where we
and other kids our age played as the daylight faded away to dusk. This was our cue to find our way back to the
family car to get settled in for what was more often than not a triple feature. Shortly thereafter the classic drive-
in ads would run, compelling all in attendance to purchase their Pic mosquito repellent and refreshments from
the concession stand. As dusk went black leaving nothing but stars twinkling in the sky the anticipation grew.
Before long the impatient moviegoers would proceed to sound their horns in an effort to prompt the projectionist
to start the film. I imagine him chortling to himself as he let us squirm just long enough to build the suspense
that much more.

It was a miniature vacation away from home. A road trip so to speak, that both Mom and Dad could enjoy
without the fatigue of a long-distance drive. Our destination? That was in the hands of the movie's director.
Really, we didn’t care where we wound up. We just knew we wanted to go there. I never made it much further
than fifteen minutes through the second feature- I would wake up the next morning in the comfort of my bed
somewhat confused as to how I got there. Thinking about the night before. Running with the kids. Laughing with
my mother and brother. Still tasting the bits of popcorn that had worked their way into my teeth. While the movie
was the attraction, it was so much more than that. It was the experience. It was the family bonding. Everyone
seemed to get along. Parents chatted as children played together. It didn’t matter if you knew them or not. In the
friendly confines of the Keno Drive-In there wasn’t a care in the world.

These are memories I will cherish forever. It weighs very heavy on my heart that I'll likely never be afforded the
opportunity to sustain this type of bonding with my own children. To live in the moment with my boys and
through them vicariously experience the joys I once knew, all the while passing on something special.
Something unique. A representation of “Americana” rivaled only by baseball and apple pie

America is changing. We no longer trust each other. We no longer know our neighbors. Heaven forbid we share

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 34 of 61



something about ourselves. It’s as if we turned into some kind of “Gotcha” society where we can’t wait to catch
someone slipping so that we can point our finger to them in an effort to remove scrutiny from our own
imperfections. It’s a modern witch-hunt and everyone is afraid to let his or her guard down.

I am a homeowner. I have lived in my house for around four years now. While I am friendly with my neighbors, I
know nothing about them. I have never stepped foot inside any of their homes. This is not how it was while I
was growing up. When I grew up our entire block seemed like one big yard. I had been in every house on the
block several times. I found my friends by locating the pile of bikes at the end of the driveway, no doubt gathered
for some form of harmless mischief.  When I acted up and my parents were not around I was disciplined by
another adult, and when my parents found out they were upset with me rather than the other parent. When you
had an issue with a neighbor you called them, not the cops, or in most cases simply knocked on their front door
to hash things out. In the litigious society that we live in today, people are always looking for a reason to sue.
When I was a child I once swam at a neighbor's house across the street when their deck gave way and I fell,
hitting my head. I probably needed stitches, but a lawsuit never even entered my mother's mind.

Every so often, the street I grew up on would get permits to block the road and throw a huge block party. It was
an opportunity to bond over family, friends, food and drink. Not anymore. The last time I ever experienced this
type of communal harmony was at the drive-in, where even in this day and age the etiquette I knew as a child
still thrives. It is a place where people from all walks of life can afford to take their entire family and bond. Talk to
those around them while the kids play. At the drive-in I'm whisked back to time when we unwarily accepted that
those around us were there for a good time and a chance to let life slow down for a little while.

But we are running out of venues where this is the norm. We are running out of places where lower, middle,
and upper classes spend an evening as equals, leaving nothing but a universal acknowledgement of the
endowment that life sometimes affords. If we snuff out all of the places where strangers become neighbors we
will never return to a place where we realize people are people and just want the same simple joys in life for
themselves and their family that we wish for ours.

With sprawling growth comes the inevitable development of commerce.  People like convenience. They like
one-stop shopping. They like being able to stop off on their way home from work and grab the things that they
need in a timely manner. They also don’t want to pay a lot for them. What better way to deliver this to a
sprawling suburban community than to build a brand new shopping center? After all it is easy to woo those
attractive anchor stores like Wal-Mart or Target with the promise of a brand new facility. Land a big name like
that and the smaller specialty retailers are certain to follow. Before you know it business is booming in the new
location. It's a win for the business and a win for the city, right? After all, with all of the new tax revenue the mall
provides there will be plenty of extra cash flowing into the town coffers right?

Not so fast. How this tax revenue will impact the village of Pleasant Prairie really depends on the tax structure.
There are a few things that small village counsels often overlook when evaluating the financial impact of a
large-scale retail development, one of which is the loss of existing tax revenue from the businesses that are
already there. Tax revenue is often stagnant after a new development goes up. You see, an equivalent drop in
sales tax revenue from other retailers matches the sales tax generated by the new development. This in turn
can lead to stores in other existing malls closing. This also impacts the city revenue: Once these other malls
start dying their property value decreases and in turn their property taxes decrease along with it, impacting the
revenue that the Village of Pleasant Prairie receives. Allowing existing commercial districts to fail while

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 35 of 61



developing new ones is a waste of public resources. Public investment in the roads, water lines, and utilities sit
idly by as taxpayers foot the bill for the same expenses at the new infrastructure to serve the new mall that is
sure to one day meet the same fate if we don’t rope in the crash and burn developing we have grown so
accustomed to.

We have still yet to factor in the cost of providing public services to the development: Maintaining new roads,
power and sewer lines, police and fire services, all on the taxpayers dime. While a brand new commercial
development project may seem enticing at a glance, at the end of the day it is an unnecessary and just plain
reckless use of the taxpayers' money.  In the long run the only one who wins is the developer himself, nowhere
to be found once the project inevitably blows up in the Village’s face. Trading in Americana for that? I for one
would rather see a movie about another town that this happened to.

Now I know that many people who took the time to read my long-winded view on what may become the future
of my beloved Keno Drive-In theatre will label me as a nostalgic romantic who longs for the innocence of a time
when his life was much simpler. Guilty as charged. I don’t live in the past, I just appreciate where I come from. I
get just as excited and enthusiastic about the future. I am fascinated to see how far we will go in my lifetime. I
love new technology and growth. I encourage it. But some things are just worth keeping, remembering, and
passing on. We as humans can’t forget where we come from.

While it is nice to be successful we have to ethically and responsibly evaluate when we are making decisions
that affect those around us. Mr. Mills owns that land. He can do with it what he wishes. The people elected to
be responsible for the taxpayers of Pleasant Prairie on the other hand really need to weigh the consequences
of their decisions before they decide to rezone it for development. Think about how this might affect you ten
years down the road. Talk to the homeowners around the drive in. Do they want the circus that comes with a
shopping center disrupting their home life? Particularly when that same shopping can be found minutes away?
Visit the dying malls that already exist. Visit the other mall in Pleasant Prairie that took years and years to fill.
Do you really want to kill that mall already? Visit the Wal-Mart on 52nd street that still lies vacant. An eyesore. It
depreciates itself and everything around it. Ask yourselves “Is this the road I am willing to drag my friends and
family down?” The future of this project is right in front of you if you care to see it. Right now you still have the
luxury of learning from somebody else’s mistakes instead of making your own and learning the hard way.

Take the potential consequences of tearing down the Keno Drive-In off the table for a moment. Think back to a
time when, in the innocence of your youth, something captured your imagination in such a way that you were
inspired to be a better person. Something that, when you think about it, allows you to transport to a different
time and place almost as if you could smell it in the air around you. You could hear the sounds as if they were
happening right now. The smells, the sounds, the goose bumps on your arms. It's Americana! It is who we are,
and it is where we come from. It inspires where we're heading. And if we are not careful and respectful of these
treasures they will slowly disappear - one by one - forever.

America is not so far removed from the past that we can no longer learn to trust one another again. But that is
never going to happen by simply communicating with each other through mobile devices. There is no empathy
in that. That is why we are turning so cold. We need to look each other in the eye and feel human again. Places
like the Keno drive-in provide that. I have never chosen to frequent a traditional theatre to see a movie that I
didn’t want to see. I have gone to the drive-in to see a movie that I knew I would hate more than once, and
wound up having the time of my life. Please Mr. Mills, think about the bigger picture. I understand your thought

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 36 of 61



process. And I respect your right to do what you will with your property. All I ask is for you to ask yourself: Can I
make this money another way that creates a win/win for all?

As the credits roll and the screen fades to black. The fragile flame that burns within us all burns a little warmer
and brighter on nights when we share an evening with loved ones at a place like our beloved Keno Drive-In.
Please, Village of Pleasant Prairie representatives, consider the consequences of your decision-making. I
would like it very much if that same warm light shines down on the legacy you leave behind. 

Name not shown more than 2 miles April  6, 2015,  3:19 PM

We do not need another WalMart, as we already have 2 nearby. There is a limit to the size of a structure that
can be built on that property. That limit was established for a reason, for the better of our community. Big box
stores are way too big for that area. Also, Sheridan Road needs significant improvements north of that property.
91st(?) street will also need improvements due to increased traffic of commercialization. Will this be a taxpayer
responsibility?

Lee Shultz more than 2 miles April  6, 2015,  3:39 PM

This is the last drive in even close to our area. Why would you want to take away this piece of history?  In the
age of video games, computers, streaming videos, and too many electronics to count, the drive in is a way for a
family to come together & connect. Snuggling under a blanket with a tub of popcorn under the stars watching a
movie is a perfect way to bring people back together. Wal-Mart can find somewhere else to build! Keep the
Keno around for more generations to experience!

Terry McMahon more than 2 miles April  6, 2015,  5:35 PM

In my opinion I would hope the Village would use good judgement in the future development of this property.
The seller controls it future and has the right to sell at anytime.  The village controls the future,  we don't need
any more big box stores.  There are enough of them in the area and there are enough empty ones also.  To
preserve a piece of history is nice, but that is up to the buyer in what they would like to do with the property.  I
hope the village chooses wisely.

Name not shown more than 2 miles April  6, 2015,  6:09 PM

To replace such a landmark and all that it represents to so many people is not necessary! No development of
any kind can replace the memories made and traditions carried on by those of us who love the Keno Drive-In!!
There are many other places to build or buildings to revive! Why would removing such an amazing icon even be
considered?! Please don't allow it! It would be a privilege to continue this tradition with my family. It's very
disheartening to think of losing the drive-in!!

Hannah Baker more than 2 miles April  6, 2015,  6:56 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 37 of 61



Do we really need another super center store? Another place where we can buy cheaply make junk that we
don't need? No, we don't! What we need is someplace to make memories with our families.
I remember going to the outdoor with my family when I was a kid. My dad would always tell us about his
memories of the outdoor on our way there. It was the same stories every time, but it was still awesome because
we were doing something that dad used to do. 
When I was a teenager, I went with my brothers and our friends. We learned how to push start a car there after
our battery died from running the radio for two movies. We played hacky sack while waiting for the movie to
start. We even snuck our friends in in car trunks. 
Now I take my kids there. On the way there, I tell stories about going there when I was a kid. They love it. They
stay awake for the first movie and fall asleep by the time previews end for the second. Once they are out, me
and my husband actually get to watch a movie without hiring a sitter! 
My oldest son is autistic. Seeing a movie at a regular theater is impossible. It's too loud, too bright, and he can't
sit still and stay quite. I feel bad because he disturbs everyone around him and he doesn't enjoy it because of
his sensory issues. When we go to the outdoor, the movie screen isn't as bright. We can adjust the volume in
the car. If he can't sit still, no one cares. We can even take a walk without missing any of the movie. 
This theater is a landmark for Kenosha. We have become a destination for family fun. We have the great
lakefront, the museums, the streetcar, the outlet mall, and a drive in theater. The combination of these things
brings people in from the Milwaukee and Chicago areas, and further. You know what doesn't attract people?
Wal-Mart.

David Ekkela more than 2 miles April  6, 2015,  7:27 PM

Please. We don't want or need another Walmart in the area, lived in Pleasant Prairie for 8 years now, lived just
over the border previous 38 years.  I have been going to Keno for 40+ years.  It's great for families of this area,
we have plenty of places to shop in the area, but very few family friendly activities around here.  Hope not to
lose another piece of my childhood, to more Corporate Greed.   Thank you

Adam Fonk more than 2 miles April  6, 2015,  9:38 PM

I don't think there is anything left to be said, that has not already been said. At the time I am writing this
statement there are over 330 posts on this topic. More than 95% of those posts mention saving the Keno. 

I realize the Keno is on privately owned property, but it has been a part of our community for over 65 years.
There comes a time when you as a group must do what you know is right and save the beloved theater. A
shopping center in that location would only be used by a small section of the neighboring population. The Drive-
in on the other hand has proven to bring in people from all over to our community. The Drive-in provides a place
for families to go and enjoy a night full of entertainment. The Drive-in makes memories that a shopping center
cannot. The Drive-in is so much more than going to see a movie. It is an experience unlike any other. Please
look at one another and do the right thing. Please, save the Drive-in. It is what is right for the community.

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 38 of 61



All participants living 1 to 2 miles

Donna Ives-Kimpel 1 to 2 miles March 15, 2015,  5:52 PM

I'm very happy to be a part of Pleasant Prairie.  It's developing into a beautiful community with a wide range of
local businesses.  It would be a terrible mistake to let WalMart take over the property!  Keep them out! They do
nothing positive for the areas they move in to.

Name not shown 1 to 2 miles March 16, 2015,  6:23 AM

I against building a superstore in that location.  The Village has done a great job of keeping projects like this out
by the interstate.  I would like to see either a small business strip mall or single family homes.

gary babington 1 to 2 miles March 16, 2015,  5:34 PM

My name is gary babington. you can find my address I'm sure.
I have lived here for 28 years and have watched pleasant prairie turn into a suburb of chicago. It is clear that
pleasant is definitely not as pleasant as it was 20 years ago. It is SHAMEFUL to see what this village board and
elected officials are going to leave for future generations. I firmly suspect that in another 20 years there will be
no difference between pleasant prairie and cicero Illinois. I am against ANY more development in the village. I
suggest the land be reclaimed and turned into a santuary where hiking and bicycling will not be allowed.

Name not shown 1 to 2 miles March 18, 2015, 10:33 AM

The drive-in should be considered a historic landmark and kept as one of the last of its kind but know this is
probably not a feasible option.  Pleasant Prairie does not need any 150000 sqft super center in this part of the
village.  For the most part it is still a quaint and quiet area and should remain as such.  Any supercenter would
add to the pollution environmentally (noise, traffic and light) and would not be aesthetically pleasing.  Smaller
stores as recommended in the original alterntives would provide and nice variety of options for the shopper and
the smaller footprint could fit nicely into the area.  NO SUPERCENTER!!!!!!!!!!!!

Rudy Victoria 1 to 2 miles March 19, 2015,  7:13 AM

My question on ALL these plans is, how is it that when widening of Hwy 165 was discussed they could not
widen it on the north side because there is supposedly "indian burial grounds" from Sheridan rd. west to almost
30th ave. that could not be disturbed. How is it that now the entire area can be dug up and rebuilt?

Cathy Horvath 1 to 2 miles March 19, 2015,  8:17 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 39 of 61



First and foremost:  NO WALMART.  I can't even believe it's potentially on the table for discussion.  I don't think
a gas station down by 165 & Sheriden Rd. is a bad idea, but that's it.  Secondly, why on earth do they even
need to develop this land?  We moved here 2 years ago because our road is a dead end.  Which means
minimal traffic.  Yes, we are close to 165 but it's manageable.  We have a young child and having this feature
was a huge decision in moving here because we don't have to worry as much about so much traffic.  Some kids
play football in the street and ride their bikes because it's safe.  If you open up 28th & 29th Ave as thru streets
we lose our peaceful and QUIET streets.  Leave them as dead ends.  If you have to build this nonsense, then
put in a new road.  Make a 27th Ave that is the thru street so anyone who moves there knows that's what they
are getting.  Don't ruin the great place that we just moved too.  We'd lose some of our property as you'd have to
widen the roads and it would be an insane amount of traffic coming through 29th ave for people heading to 165.
We get enough noise from 165 with all the big trucks driving way too fast to begin with, but I digress.  And why
in heaven's name do we need another school??  Our taxes will go up to support the school and our property
values will go down if you put in a walmart.  And all those "multi-family units", are we talking apartments or
condos?  Why not make it regular single family homes?  Make it a beautiful space.  Put in a nice recreational
area like in Beach Park, IL.  It's called Founders Park.  It's such a nice park with a fantastic playground for kids.
Eating area's, baseball fields, basketball & tennis courts.  Maybe a nice walking path.  Not everyone can afford
the RexPlex.  Please, please don't do this...

Bernard Colford 1 to 2 miles March 21, 2015,  1:26 PM

Please do not remove the Drive -In, it is a unique piece of local history and a good tourist attraction.  I believe it
should be restored and updated for all to enjoy for years to come, just look at the success that Wisonsin Dells
are having with their outdoor theatre.  To destroy the KENO because it is "Under utilized" since it is only open in
the summer months is ludacrist. By that logic you should close Froggies Landing and the Golf courses to build
hotels and shopping malls.  The KENO see more buisness per night in the summer than I ever see on the
Trolley to nowhere in Kenosha.  So I ask you, What is the bigger tourist attraction?

Name not shown 1 to 2 miles March 22, 2015, 12:40 PM

Everyone needs to look on the positive side of having a huge Wal Mart on that corner. The outdoor theater
won't be gone for too long.  In about 15 years when Wally moves out and leaves an empty shell of a business
we can project films on the side of the building for old times sake.

Name not shown 1 to 2 miles March 24, 2015,  2:26 PM

Please, no Walmart, further retail  development at the Barns Creek Neighborhood site of the outdoor theater.
Save the open land.
Pleasant Prairie is in danger of rapidly devolving into a memory of its former self, a naturally beautiful rural
small town community. Open space is going a foot at a time. Money talks. However the song money sings
warns, "Don't it always seem to go, we don't know what we got til its's gone? Paved paradise, put up a parking
lot. Took all the trees, put them in a tree museum. Charged all the people a dollar and half just to see 'em?" 

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 40 of 61



No development. Save the precious open land. Please, it's a priceless part of Pleasant Prairie. 
Thank you.  

Dawn Rosen-Colford 1 to 2 miles March 24, 2015,  4:10 PM

Having moved to Pleasent Prairie 20 years ago, I have always enjoyed the Drive In. My childern grew up
watching many movies there. It is a great place for cheap family entertainment. Many family and friends come
to visit from out of state and the first thing they want to do is go to the keno. One would think that the villiage
would want to keep this historical landmark. We have lost so much greenspace to homes and bussiness in the
last 20 years. Why not improve and up grade the Keno and keep it as a viable bussiness? We have so many
unbuilt sub divisions around now. Why do we need more?

Scott Chapman 1 to 2 miles March 25, 2015, 11:11 AM

Lets keep the Keno drive in, its a piece of Americana that should be preserved, we don't need more retail, we
need wholesome entertainment for all ages and the drive in fits the bill

Name not shown 1 to 2 miles March 27, 2015,  9:42 AM

There is really not much left in the way of families having such history here. I know I have been going since I
was a child and I'm 47 now. I've moved a bit of a distance and have come back, but even while away I would
brewing my family here on weekends. It a cherished thing and I have began bringing my grandchildren. We
don't need yet another superstore, they are at every corner these days. Th e re are so few drive ins left.you see
the way the world is changing, there are some who need to hold on to the old. Teach our children about family
time not just video games and gangs. Don't do it there will be. Nothing left sacred about kenosha anymore.

Nathan Dubois 1 to 2 miles March 28, 2015,  4:23 PM

Please save this piece of history ! We have enough walmarts there are very few drive ins left! If we can find
grants for a trolley that is a money pit they are filling with taxpayer money why can't we restore the drive in and
the city can make money off of somthing for once ? I challenge you to name somthing else that makes pleasant
prairie unique. This is a place people came from all around to visit, a place that many have made irreplaceable
memories at . weather it be dates , or a night out with loved ones that have passed.

Name not shown 1 to 2 miles March 28, 2015, 11:35 PM

The Keno Drive should be saved. It has been a part of the Kenosha community forever. My parents took me
when I was a child and I take my 6 year old son now. It is something to do in our city with your family and

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 41 of 61



friends, and it brings people to Kenosha as well. If you close it, it will force people to continue to plan their family
time outside of our city.  You are forcing people to go elsewhere and therefore taking money out of Kenosha
area businesses pockets, as when people leave the drive in they stop to get food, or ice cream at other
establishments.  I believe the community wants the drive in and needs the drive in.
We do not need another Walmart in town and I would not shop there if one was built.  There is a Walmart 11
min's away from where the Keno Drive in is located, why would we want another one. Please listen to the
people and find a way to save the Drive in.

Name not shown 1 to 2 miles March 29, 2015,  1:03 AM

This is a historical land mark and should remain open its not fair for corporate  scum to come in  and wipe out
what we have kenosha doesn't have much going for it the only truly amazing thing we have is the drive in plz
don't take it away

JASON FREE 1 to 2 miles March 29, 2015,  3:32 PM

If this goes through, my son will never grow up going to the drive in with his family. He'll never go with a girl, in
his first jalopy of car, and nervously hold hands during a slasher film. He'll never go out to the Keno with his
buddies or play catch on the grass before a movie. To further a travesty, this land will become the same as
every other acre of Pleasant Prairie's dwindling acreage.  It will become part of the "sudden" subdivision spread
that takes of all of the eastern third and most of the central third.  The Village will further itself as a sprawling,
residential zone up to the western Retail / Industrial nightmare right out of Max Weber's worst dreams.  We
cannot let more of the same in.  Instead, please provide support to a unique landmark to the community. Please
help to keep the Prairie in Pleasant Prairie, and stop the residential sprawl.  Keep the landmark.  Thanks.

Felicia Breiling 1 to 2 miles March 29, 2015,  7:52 PM

Please save the drive in!!!! It's a piece of history, and one of the most enjoyable things to do as a FAMILY in
Kenosha county! Maybe if more of the "powers that be" who make decisions like this put FAMILY and
community as a priority society and our local community would be in better shape!

Name not shown 1 to 2 miles March 30, 2015,  3:23 PM

My family would be distraught to lose the Keno Drive-In.  There are few entertainment venues in Kenosha.  The
Drive-in offers good all-American fun for familes, groups of young people, and all.  It is one of the last in the
country.  How sad to let this landmark go....especially if replaced by a Walmart!  Or a strip-mall, that will be all
but abandoned on 5-6 years, as most of them do.  Please, let's do what we can to keep the Keno Drive-in for
furture generations of Kenosha.

Hillary Schellinger 1 to 2 miles April  3, 2015,  1:47 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 42 of 61



Many of the comments on this forum are about saving the Keno Drive In and I feel the same way. Undoubtedly,
the Keno Drive In is an asset to the community. The Keno is more than movies; it is history, community and
family. The Neighborhood Plan Alternatives involve "Bear's proposal for a supercenter that is six times larger
than the 25,000-square-foot maximum for commercial buildings permitted in the existing plan." I live south of
165 just north of the state line. We do not need another retail supercenter or retail strip mall/housing
development in this space. I can travel to a Walmart in Zion, Walmart supercenter in Kenosha, go to Target and
frequent the soon-to-be Meijer market in less than a half an hour. Walmart also has a building on 52nd Avenue
that sits vacant. As a resident of Pleasant Prairie, I am fear that the Village will not be able to support this type
of development. I value the local treasures that make Pleasant Prairie unique; Lake Andrea, the RecPlex, lake
front, and, most of all, the Keno Drive In. A huge retail development in its space would bring increased traffic
and sink property values. I will not support any elected official who speaks in favor of these changes. If plans
are inevitable, I beg that you keep the Keno Drive In its space.

Roger Field 1 to 2 miles April  3, 2015, 11:03 AM

The Zion Walmart is about 5 miles from this site.  The Somers Walmart is 7.5 miles away. The Keno Drive-in
has been providing wholesome family entertainment for more than 65 years. We need to find a way to keep this
Kenosha icon open. 

None of the options include the drive-in. The two options that do not include a big box store are quite similar. If
we can not keep the drive in, at least stop the big box.  

Please say NO to the 150,000 square foot retail center.

Name not shown 1 to 2 miles April  4, 2015,  2:33 PM

Why would they want to build anything there? Nothing last in Sheridan Road anyway. That whole strip from 80th
to the drive in has nothing. The business that were there closed. What sense does it make to put something
else there when festival foods Walgreen etc is close by. Do you want to make drive the other stores out of
business look at all the empty buildings nearby. Use one of the vacant buildings. There is already a Walmart
nearby. Keep the drive in there are not many anymore around the country it is a part of history and a part of
kenosha/pleasant prairie. I have many memories there moved up here 20 years ago and loved to have that
drive in by me. It's something you do not see anymore. It's history it's memories. Other theaters did not make it
the one on Sheridan road and by pick in save. The only one is Tinseltown. (Which is not the greatest) the Drive
in is something to do that is different and when the weather is great its a lot of fun. I look forward to it every year
just how people look forward to big star opening. But for pleasant prairie it's all about money. They talked about
adding something one the corner of 165 and Green Bay road. That never happened. The old super value sits
vacant. And for the person that owned the drive in more like the land is just in it for money. Which is terrible. It's
HISTORY ITS PART OF KENOSHA/PLEASANT PRAIRIE . It sets us aside from a lot of places. Look even jelly
belly is closing. Save the businesss you have here
Before creating another one. Other stores are not far at all. And if a store goes there just wait it won't last there
cause nothing last on Sheridan road.

Andrew Colford 1 to 2 miles April  5, 2015, 10:34 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 43 of 61



I do not under stand why we need to make yet an other empty sub division and strip mall.  We already had a
small strip mall on the corner of the street when I moved here and it went under; what has changed to make
this new proposed one a success?  I know that we cannot force BEAR to save the Drive In but would it be too
much to ask for him to entertain selling it to someone who will save it.  As for the sub-division proposed and the
proposed school, First I wonder how it can be built when the DNR maps from your own webpage dictate that
most of the land cannot or should not be built on due to the barns creek flood plane.  Second we already have
so many empty subdivions, when are we going to fill those?.  Finally if the Village is going to approve a new
school will they break away from Kenosha Unified and mange our own education program or will we let our
taxes go up even further from the poor managemnt we are used to.  I know this is like asking a rock to roll buck
up the hill it came down but at least I can say that I tried to voice my opinion.  Thank you for your time.

rachel lostumo 1 to 2 miles April  5, 2015,  4:53 PM

I was born and raised in pleasant prairie as well as my five children. We do not need a Wal-Mart or any such
nonsense coming into our neighborhood. I'm sure many agree that pleasant prairies keno drive in is a treasure.
I understand business is business but have a heart. That corner is where our drive in belongs..not some
shopping monster. I could see a few small businesses coming in but nothing huge. We love the quiet and the
safety we feel in our neighborhood. That would be destroyed if any current proposed plans go forward. The
drive in has been a part of our area since my father was three. Please consider the nostalgia and family factor

Name not shown 1 to 2 miles April  6, 2015,  7:00 AM

There's a Walmart in Somers & Zion, there's no need for one in Pleasant Prairie. There's already Target &
Festival & now soon to have Meijer & Costco.

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 44 of 61



All participants living ½ to 1 mile

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile March 15, 2015,  9:41 AM

No Walmart, or any superstore in our neighborhood! Imagine the traffic, noise, and the riff raff that a Walmart
will bring to Carol Beach! We live here for the peace and quiet, and the natural beauty of the region. Revert the
area back to a prairie, or maybe a park? If something has to be built for tax revenue maybe a nice residential
neighborhood? It sickens me that a Walmart is being considered in place of our beloved Keno Drive In, a place
that families and young teens have enjoyed for decades. I will do everything in my power to stop it, I am now on
a mission!

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile March 16, 2015,  8:19 PM

I live across Sheridan Road from the Barnes Creek community, but consider the intersection of Sheridan and
91st as part of my neighborhood.  I suspect that most of my neighbors will oppose the intrusion of WalMart or
any other 150,000 sq ft store, and noticed that the one proponent to-date lives miles away.  However, I know
that "progress" is inevitable and the peace of Pleasant Prairie - which is the reason most of us live here - must
eventually be disturbed.  Therefore, I favor alternative 2 or 3, but with the additional request that any
commercial additions be restricted to locally owned businesses - no chains, no franchises - to enhance the
sense of community and character in Pleasant Prairie, rather than turning the village into just another carbon-
copy suburb.  Think of places like Tenuta's, Andrea's, the Coffee Pot, or the Peace Tree - rather than Starbucks,
Jimmy Johns, the Dollar Tree, and Pay Day Loans.
Regards, Deb Bartel

Harry Hagg ½ to 1 mile March 17, 2015, 11:47 AM

I do not feel that this is an appropriate location for a “Super Center”.  This is unprecedented for that stretch of
Sheridan Road and is not in keeping with the small town, small business and single family landscape of the
area.  I believe that allowing such a development will be detrimental to other nearby property owners, including
myself.   It is in the community’s best interest to maintain the historical land use and charm that is Sheridan
Road, once gone it can never be reclaimed.
Sincerely,
Harry Hagg
209 86th Place
Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158

Carol Ratliff ½ to 1 mile March 17, 2015,  1:34 PM

Do we really need to consider Walmart?  Why can't we bring new business to the east side of Kenosha county
with a Whole Foods, Sendiks or Trader Joe's. The drive-in is a good idea, but that screen is an eye sore and an
embarassment.  It is one of the first things visitors see as they enter Kenosha.  I would think we have some

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 45 of 61



requirements for the appearance of a business.  The picture on this website does not really reflect the condition
of that movie screen.

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile March 17, 2015,  8:53 PM

*Revised 3/27/15*
Please commenters in this forum,   suggest possible location alternatives for the Walmart proposal, besides just
"save the drive in." Saving it is a great thought but there's a real chance a change will occur there, that's why
the drive in is closed already, sad as that is.  Include your ideas on the future of Pleasant Prairie, we're the
residents and our ideas matter! Instead of Walmart buildng on Sheridan Rd., the closing Jelly Belly factory
location would be far more appropriate. I'm not sure how Jelly Belly is zoned, as it was distribution and a store,
but it's away from our neighborhoods, and right down the street from the to be Meijers and Costco. It'd  be very
convenient for shoppers to have them all there, and better competition for all 3 stores, meaning lower prices for
us! The traffic flow around Jelly Belly moves smoothly with  few traffic lights and wide roadways. Sheridan from
91st heading south to Russell Rd only has one lane per direction suggesting huge congestion. The roads would
have to be widened to accommodate the Walmart proposal at Keno Drive In. Heading north from 91st is one
traffic light after another. One more nightmare for us local residents in this ill planned proposal.  If a store has to
go in the Keno location , how about Trader Joes, Marianos,  Whole Foods, or something of the like? From
Russell Rd heading North on Sheridan to 91st St is kinda a wasteland, with a closed down gas station and an
adult video store. Throwing Walmart into that mix will just add to that tastless strip, and leave a bad taste in the
mouths of visitors of Pleasant Prairie and the state as a whole. We need to break this cycle,  and turn around
this area. It's a dead zone, so if it must be built up, let's take our power back and choose to have this area
flourish rather than get dragged down.

Jonas Ryan ½ to 1 mile March 17, 2015,  9:06 PM

While it is an underutilized space, the addition of a large corporation such as Walmart that imports almost
everything from poor countries & leading to harsh worker conditions, then sells all of it's products that take
cents or dollars to make for 100-200x the manufacturing & import cost using underpaid, exhausted, & over-
caffeinated employees will not only undermine this area's beautiful field & forest that sit right next to the location
but will near completely strangle the small businesses of the area; This is a repeating pattern that, while
inevitable in the long run by means of capitalistic foot-hold, is NOT in my opinion something that would be
beneficial to this location... A few miles down the road in ether direction we already have everything we need,
Why not instead construct a public park where our children can play along with a large community garden for
which the things grown can be sold at a local farmers market or donated to local shelters?

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile March 18, 2015,  8:43 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 46 of 61



I would love to see the Drive in saved but also know Bear wants to make money. Would it be possible to rebuild
the screen to the south west section of the lot & put smaller stores in front? Possibly share the parking area. My
main concern is the increased traffic not only on Sheridan but on 91st leading to 22nd & Springbrook Rd. None
of these roads can handle more traffic! Check the number of vehicles in the ditches on the curves on
Springbrook; entertaining from my window, but probably not good for anyone.
I believe more traffic studies needed for any future plans.
Plan 3 would have the least impact on the wetlands & traffic, so that would be the one since leaving it an open
area is not an option.
Thank you.

Tom Quinn ½ to 1 mile March 19, 2015,  8:29 PM

I am completely against this development.  We moved here a little over a year ago and the quiet streets were
definitely part of the draw.  Others on this forum have raised a lot the concerns we have, so I won' be repetitive,
but having a WalMart store less than a mile from our home is definitely not what I want.  In addition to the
headaches this will cause for all the nearby residents, it will greatly reduce the values of all of our properties.
I'm curious to know what percentage I can expect my property taxes to decrease should the Village be swayed
by the dollar signs in their eyes and ignore the desires of the actual residents that make up this community?

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile March 21, 2015,  5:52 PM

When a really huge store moves out, like if it does not make enough money in one area, or moves out for any
other reason, it leaves a huge empty building, like the Walmart did that was on 52nd St., and apparently it is
hard to find anyone to move into a huge empty building. Therefore, I favor a group of somewhat smaller
businesses, possibly alternative plan 2 or 3. I favor the actual corner being somewhat green, greener than it is
now, and I don't really understand what is being represented by that large "H" formation near the the corner,
esp. in alternative plan 2, although it does not show square feet on that part of the drawing, so perhaps it is not
a building, which would be good. I like the buildings set back significantly from the street with some
landscaping/green/natural looking areas here and there. A grocery store with the basics might be nice, but it
does not need to be as big as a Walmart. Along with a few other smaller businesses.

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile March 22, 2015,  9:49 AM

PLEASE no WalMart!  The negative impact this will have on the community is immeasurable.  There is a very
real reason that the allowable size of buildings are currently limited in the Pleasant Prairie regulations, and this
proposal is SIX times that size.  
A small strip mall with thriving local businesses as depicted in options 2 and 3 would be a much more palatable
option, or preferably, fixing up the Keno Drive-in to leverage that "retro" draw during and provide an
entertainment draw for the community- perhaps a combination of both options could be considered?
There are many, many options for shoppers in the area for groceries as well as the general merchandise that
WalMart offers: Festival, two Piggly Wiggly's, Pick 'n Save, Woodman's, MEIJER, Sam's Club, CostCo...  And

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 47 of 61



those are all just between here and the highway!  
If WalMart wants to become a member of this community, they (and we) would probably be better served to
look closer the highway and nearer the outlet malls.

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile March 22, 2015, 10:17 AM

No WalMart!   Even options 2 and 3 look like they aren't going to fare well-  the last thing we need is a WalMart
or another Dollar General.  
If saving the Drive-In is not a viable option, how about someone being a little more progressive and forward
thinking in deciding what goes there?  Here's a novel idea: instead of entertaining big box proposals, how about
actively seeking out something that would BENEFIT the community?  
With all the tax problems in nearby Illinois, those residents are moving over the border and commuting back to
their work.  What about contacting Trader Joe's, The Fresh Market or other smaller natural foods stores or even
a craft Brew Pub restaurant-- all of which are on-trend, more desirable and would actually ADD to the draw of
this section of Pleasant Prairie, rather than detract from it?

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile March 23, 2015,  7:56 PM

Strongly opposed to Walmart. Unnecessary and undesirable.

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile March 24, 2015,  9:50 AM

As a new resident of Pleasant Prairie,who moved here to enjoy the unique environment that the lakeshore and
the Chiwaukee Preserve provide, I am NOT in favor of any type of over-development. The idea of a super
Walmart at a prime corner near my new neighborhood is appalling. Of course change is  inevitable, but it should
be managed when possible. Keeping the Keno would be ideal, and unique, but probably not realistic. Small
businesses on the site ( Trader Joe's would be great) would be more in keeping with what this community
needs for the future. We need to look forward.

Andy Schroeder ½ to 1 mile March 24, 2015, 12:37 PM

It is a sadness that a wonderful, family, friendly, and part of the history of Kenosha is about to be gobbled
up(with land owners allowing it) by a big box corporation that seems to just want to take up land and change
communities, not always for the better; and in a few years down the road leave the empty box for the community
to deal with.
I am concern with the safety of the community when more people and traffic comes in.  The intersection on the
corner of the land and Sheridan road is already heavily used and torn up.  
I would like the owner of the land to think about this decision and how it will change the history of Kenosha and
we all lose a piece of our Americana with the drive in driving off.  
Does the owner want to change the landmark for personal wealth reasons and forever or keep a piece of

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 48 of 61



history that feature generations can enjoy?
As leaders of our community please think twice before you allow a landmark to be changed forever.  
Interestingly the time for the forum is slated from 3pm-5pm, most working people work or do not get home until
5pm. How fair is that?
Thank you for your time.
ASchroeder

tanya martens ½ to 1 mile March 25, 2015,  1:16 AM

I Dont want any of the ideas but the one where the drive in stays. We have enough shopping centers in
Kenosha. How many drive ins do we have 1 and u want to take it away. We made many memories there as I'm
sure the owner and everyone else has. Why should that be taken away from our children.

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile March 25, 2015, 11:28 AM

The Drive-In should stay right where its at! We do not need any more Walmarts and everyone in Kenosha
enjoys the Drive In, it brings friends and family together and its always a great time! Getting rid of the Drive-In
will also upset a lot of people and our children deserve to grow up and have the same experience! Keep the
Drive-In!!!

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile March 25, 2015,  2:21 PM

This outdoor theater is one of the few left in Wisconsin! It is also one of the few visitor attractions as well. Plenty
memories by so many people out there as well. I think the drive-in should stay so more families that are growing
could have those great memories as well. It would be sad to see it go.

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile March 28, 2015, 12:26 PM

The Keno Drive-In is an iconic part of our history.  To replace it with a Walmart is shameful and completely
unnecessary--there is a Walmart in Zion and another Walmart in Kenosha, both only 8 miles away from this
intersection.  Tell me why we need another one?  Not to mention the increased traffic and congestion and
unsightly building/parking lot to look at everyday as I drive home.  I am completely opposed to this proposal and
will never step foot into this business if that is what is to come of the Keno. Don't destroy this landmark. Very
disappointing.

R White ½ to 1 mile March 28, 2015,  1:42 PM

Talk about "Pave paradise to put up a parking lot!"

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 49 of 61



Closing down the Keno Drive-in to construct commercial buildings is a disgrace to Pleasant Prairie. This village
literally has the name prairie in it, which is an homage to the native prairie that we protect as a community. The
drive in still lends so much green space that would be eliminated by new construction. An environmental impact
statement or environmental assessment, which should be done, will surely show the detrimental effects that
new construction and heavier traffic flows would have on this area. This would be especially detrimental to the
Chiwaukee Prairie that is so close by, which is one of the only surviving native Wisconsin Prairies left in the
state. Again, why wouldn't we protect the area we derive our name from!

Also, most residents of this area don't want or need another commercial building in this area. Kenosha, Zion,
and Pleasant Prairie are already flooded with commercial/retail businesses that are easily accessible for these
residents. This is a matter of not in our backyard. Save the green space, don't add more concrete!

Last, the Keno Drive-in is an icon. It has been operating for 66 years and has been a family attraction for
residents and visitors. I've lived next to the drive in for 28 years and am never surprised at the turnout of cars
waiting in line to experience this one of a kind theater.

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile March 28, 2015,  6:05 PM

It's the evolution of change. ..most won't like, accept and  agree but it's all about business and money. .the land
owner. Mr mills had the property to make money. He's a developer and this is what they do. .if you don't want
what he proposes then chip  in your dollars and buy the property. .

Janine Buhnerkempe ½ to 1 mile March 28, 2015, 10:12 PM

The village should find a way to save the Keno- Drive in. A large store would be a nightmare for the
neighborhood. It is also not needed. There is a Walmart a few miles down the road in Zion. The drive in is the
only one in the area and a landmark.

Joseph Salerno ½ to 1 mile March 29, 2015,  3:16 AM

A combination of Plan 2 &3 would be the least abrasive for the residential parts of the proposal. The reason we
live in the Village is have the feel of not being a city. Over development would destroy that feel. It would also
lead to problems with traffic and cause environmental issues.
I believe there have been numerous issues with flooding or poor drainage along the Barnes Creek. Adding
population will only add to these problems. But I am sure lessons have been learned from Carol Beach
development and all studies would be done.
Most of the area is now farm land or empty fields. There is a thriving population of wildlife and natural plant life,
which we need to preserve. There is no other areas for them to live since so much development has taken over
their areas already.
There is talk of the Village wanting an increased tax base, but no mention of the increases of services that
would be needed by increased population. I laugh at Kenosha residents waiting to be plowed after a snowstorm

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 50 of 61



while our roads are cleared quickly. Will we be able to still brag? More population will need more fire/rescue and
police services also. 
Traffic would become a nightmare for Springbrook and 104th. Sheridan Rd. is already in need of improvement
due to heavy usage. Eventually another road(s) would have to be extended to alleviate the traffic caused by
new residents in the area. I live next to Springbrook and rarely use it due to speeders trying to take the curves
and failing. It seems the new fire/rescue unit is using Springbrook as the main access to Carol Beach and other
eastern areas. Now we will have senior housing with higher need of services due to Mr. Mills plans for the
corner of 91st.  & 22nd. Hopefully better traffic control will be soon added there.
I am afraid the interest by outsiders demanding the Keno Drive in be saved will overshadow the larger plans of
development. Is there any way to separate the commercial (Keno corner) and the remainder of the plan? I feel
this will allow for more input from residents who will be the ones impacted by the decision of the Board.
Thank you.

Jerome Knull ½ to 1 mile March 30, 2015, 11:25 PM

Another Walmart I will NOT shop. A company that does not take care of their own employees. The building itself
will most likely end up another vacancy down the road, just like the one in the city of Kenosha. What about the
traffic handling in that area? Would it be sufficient? I believe we have enough "shopping" facilities all within a
stones throw. Why do we need another "substandard" Walmart?  Let's keep the "Pleasant" in Pleasant Prairie.
Make the "right" decision. The drive-in is a historic icon that needs to stay. It has entertained for years! As a
Village of Pleasant Prairie resident, I am very concerned about this decision. I will be present at the meeting to
voice my concern. I have lived in the Kenosha/Pleasant Prairie areas for over 30 years, and have enjoyed this
icon over that time period as well as others who have shown their concerns here. We have all grown up with it!
My children may never have the outdoor drive-in experience. Disappointed! I hope "The People" make their
voice heard on this "issue" and the village along with Mr. Mills listen to what WE are saying. Please make the
"RIGHT" decision.

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile March 31, 2015,  1:46 PM

My statement here has more to do with the proposed changes than the loss of the drive-in. I like the Keno and
would be sad to see it go. That being said the landowner has the right and responsibility to maximize his assets
with sound business decisions. My fear is that by creating another mega-mart development that the local
residential neighborhoods will suffer and property values will decrease. With increased traffic, light pollution,
and crime, caused by the attraction of greater numbers of people. The home that we purchased because of the
current environment and neighborhood will no longer have the draw that brought us here. We will then have to
decide whether or not to stay or sell. We will support the Keno staying and will not support any changes to the
local laws to allow the development of a "mega-mart". We will also not support any elected officials that vote for
those changes.

Dave Moresi ½ to 1 mile April  1, 2015,  7:46 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 51 of 61



I live in Carol Beach, exactly one driving mile (less as the crow flies) from the drive-in.  We’ve been here for
almost 20 years.

We are talking about irreversibly altering the character of what has been a quiet, rural, sleepy, residential
neighborhood.  Permanently.  Let’s keep that in mind.  We live here because we like it the way it is.  

We’re not just talking about one intersection.  We are determining the future of the entire Southeast portion of
Pleasant Prairie, for decades to come.

Firstly: I favor adding a Metra train stop at the 91st street crossing, two tenths of a mile east of the Sheridan Rd.
and 91st St. intersection.  This would enable my neighbors & myself to walk or bicycle to and from the train,
whether traveling north to downtown Kenosha, or south to the rest of the world.

Secondly: There was talk a while back of the Village developing a “park” with baseball diamonds, soccer fields,
etc. at the former tennis club property between 3rd and 7th avenues, near to the Sheridan and 91st St. location.

I opposed the placement of such a park at that location.  However, I think the Sheridan Rd. and 91st St.
intersection would be a perfect location for such an installation.  

Thirdly: I am adamantly opposed to placement of any big box retailer at the drive-in location.  I am most
adamantly opposed to placement of a 150,000 square foot 24 hour Wal-Mart at this location.

This is a beautiful residential community.  Placement of a Wal-Mart here would instantly “ghetto-ize” the local
area, and for the rest of my life. 

You understand, I am not against Wal-Mart per se, just not at this location.  

I would have no problem with Wal-Mart installing a 24 hour, 150,000 square foot operation in an industrial park
location like the WisPark industrial park, for example, or along the Interstate like Uline, Amazon, the Outlet Mall,
CarMax, and other BIG operations.

Also, it might not be a bad idea to require Wal-Mart to fund an account, in advance, equal to the task of
eventually demolishing, then reconstructing and beautifying whatever site they might develop, if and when they
decide to abandon the location.  

Fourthly:  As an afterthought, the drive-in location might be a good place for the Village of Pleasant Prairie to
install a RecPlex East, on a far smaller scale than the Lake Andrea facility, to serve the eastern part of the
Village.

Or perhaps this might be a good place for a satellite campus of UW Parkside, with emphasis on elective adult
continuing education.

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile April  2, 2015, 12:53 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 52 of 61



Less than two years ago our young and growing family moved to Pleasant Prairie, in the immediate area of the
Keno Drive-in, and across the street from the now planned Barnes Neighborhood expansion.  We cast a wide
net in our search for a new place to call home, which included much of northern Illinois and southern
Wisconsin.  We chose Pleasant Prairie.  The recent information we received regarding the Barnes
Neighborhood development left us somewhat nervous.  It isn't clear if the mix of multi-family homes and single
family residences will be developed as an attractive, and aesthetically pleasing expansion (think high quality
construction, and variety) or another low-end house/condo-farm like we see popping up in many of the areas
we looked at when deciding where to buy a home.  We chose Pleasant Prairie for a reason, and I can
definitively say it is not the choice we would have made if the new neighborhood turns into a house / condo-
farm.  I thought that our nerves about this were enough, but now we see the recent news on the potential
Walmart, and we are beside ourselves.  What is the thinking here? I can get to two other Walmarts in less than
15 minutes. I can get to Target and soon Meijer in even less time.  Why on earth do we need a Walmart there?
And why would we put any big box store in that location?  It makes no sense, and would be completely out of
place.  And regarding the Barnes development, where are the people coming from that are going to fill all of this
housing?  I truly hope we are not moving away from the Pleasant Prairie my family thought we were buying into,
to become a just another multi-family home / Walmart community.  This will not be good for the area, and will
end poorly if this path is pursued.  The focus should be on continuing to develop Pleasant Prairie in a way that
maintains the somewhat rural, somewhat spread out feel and creating some character to that.  Not to become
another cookie-cutter community.

Melinda Hogan ½ to 1 mile April  3, 2015,  2:21 PM

Like so many, I am saddened at the idea of losing the Keno Drive-In.  

I grew up in Gurnee.  When my husband and were shopping for our first home to start our family, we wanted to
move away from the busyness of such a highly commercial area.  Pleasant Prairie was exactly what we were
looking for.  Nice sized homes and yards in quiet neighborhoods with all of the conveniences of a larger town
10-15 minutes away.  

The proposals will put a big box store or a strip mall almost in my back yard.  This area does not need any more
commercialization.  With the addition of the Meijer and Costco that are currently in the works there are plenty of
shopping options for Pleasant Prairie residents, including our Target and 2 Walmart locations within 10 minutes
of the proposed site.

I have read 100+ of these statements and I have yet to find one in favor of a big box store.  And most, like me,
are still hoping for a change of heart that will allow our beloved Keno Drive-In to remain.

Let's keep the Barnes Creek Neighborhood just that - a neighborhood.  I am putting my trust in our elected
Village officials to be the voice of our community and adhere to the current zoning laws that have served our
area so well.

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile April  3, 2015,  3:53 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 53 of 61



I am technically in Kenosha, but 2 blocks north of 91st (St Therese). A Walmart Super Center would be a
logistical nightmare that far east for all residents. I hope/pray you all go with plan 2 or 3.

Lance David ½ to 1 mile April  3, 2015,  5:43 PM

If there has to be development, option 3 is the best because it is the least dense with the most green space. If
the retail center provides shops that allow residents to acquire services without having to get in the car and
drive miles that would be great. We need bike paths and access to convenience stores and coffee shops etc.
without having to get in the car and burn gas. Lets make it neighborhood like in atmosphere. Please, no Wal-
Mart.

Name not shown ½ to 1 mile April  5, 2015,  2:10 PM

When we moved to the area about 10 years ago, we chose Pleasant Prairie because, well, it was PLEASANT!
It has plenty of GREEN SPACE, near the lake, and with a COMMUNITY feel.  To put in a super center of any
sort would ruin many things about the area.  An enormous amount of green space would be paved over with
HUGE , SUPER SIZED black-topped PARKING LOTS that you see at other super centers, which would be
LITTERED with PLASTIC BAGS and shopping carts.  These stores are OPEN 24/7 so there would be
TRAFFIC ALL NIGHT LONG.  The current roads could not contain such traffic, and would have to be widened,
taking some residents' yards.  My family daily drives, bikes, and runs along Sheridan.  The increase of traffic
would be more dangerous.  Smaller, well planned attractive businesses would be okay, such as classy coffee
shop, ect.  Meijer's, Costco and other other Wal-Marts of the area are more than sufficient.  Please honor the
wishes of all the community members, not big-business dollar signs!

Rick Matthews ½ to 1 mile April  5, 2015,  2:47 PM

I do not support building a Walmart (or any other large box retailer) at the site of the Kenosha drive in.  There
are already 6 Walmart stores within 13 miles of my home.  In addition, a Costco and Meijer's will open soon,
both of which are within 5 miles.  Festival Foods is less than 3 miles.  Within three miles, we also have two
Walgreens, a Piggly Wiggly, and one CVS.  

The only thing a box store will do is increase traffic on Sheridan Road and put some of the smaller grocery
stores in the area (like Piggly Wiggly) out of business.  We already have a vacant store property next to Festival
Foods, and I can only imagine how many more we'll have if Walmart opens up here.

In a perfect world, the land would be left undeveloped.  Short of that, the other two plans are much better;
housing that meets the Village's requirements for density, and small shops/stores.  

I still wonder, though, what developing that land will do to Sheridan Road.  The traffic during peak hours is
already bad.

Elishai Riley ½ to 1 mile April  5, 2015, 11:59 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 54 of 61



Many drive-ins have had a significant decline in the past few decades, and their decline has been distinct—and
distinctly lamented—for more than 40 years, and yet they somehow never quite die off. Like newspaper comics,
they are one of those beleaguered swatches of Americana that never quite give up. And yet there is a new
crisis. Those some 360 or so drive-ins remaining, having weathered the rise of the television and the multiplex,
declining attendance, and property investments. And many face a new dire threat yet—digital projection. But
the Keno drive-in has the sufficient funds for a digital projector, rather, it's threat is the man in the black tie, who
is causing the plausible fall of our drive-in.
This "man in the black tie" is not identified by name, but rather by attitude. It's attitude is greed, no more, no
less. And it has come to pass that this greed wants to establish a tyrannic super-center where our theater
resides. The detrimental effects of establishing a super-center are catastrophic enough, but destroying a
landmark that identifies the city, is insanity. Let me further that to say what will happen to the community
surrounding this "complex" that is supposed to be established here... nearby businesses will wane off into
nonexistence, the value of houses shall fall, and most saliently, our future generation shall not remember the
experience of a outdoor theater, because it shall not exist. Do not let this happen, I beg you.

Gary Dreyer ½ to 1 mile April  6, 2015,  9:20 PM

To start off the option of a 150,000 sqft retail store is completely inappropriate for this location.  Between the
city of Kenosha, Somers and Pleasant Prairie there are several existing locations and soon to be locations for
Kenosha County residents to choose from.  There are plenty of more locations that are more appropriate in
Pleasant Prairie if there is a need for more for large retail stores.   In addition there are several medium size
retail buildings in Kenosha County that are open because the business have moved and the city and all suburbs
should be promoting fill those before new buildings are built.  At most this area would need some small
commercial property to cover quick and convenience needs of the area.  You don’t need a massive super store
in each neighborhood.  People will travel across town to a large shopping center to do big shopping trip.  Closer
to home many people are just looking for those smaller stores that they can quickly get to, get in and out when
they just need one or two items like milk.  I have not heard many positive comments about these plans from
people living in Pleasant Prairie or Kenosha that are around this area.   Pleasant Prairie and the property owner
should take this in to consideration in their plans.

Now to talk about the drive-in that is currently in one corner of this development that seams to be the biggest
issue that people have with this whole project.  This venue is a historic part of Kenosha and our country.
Pleasant Prairie has a unique treasure in its back yard that not only provides something for families to in
Kenosha County but also surrounding communities down in Illinois and up to Milwaukee.  Once the decision is
made to tear this down it is gone.  First I would challenge Prairie to slow this process down before approving
anything.  Lets try to see if there is a way a to find a new owner to purchase the land from the current owner
that would be willing to preserve the property.  This way the community gets what it wants and he gets the
money that he cares about.   Both Pleasant Prairie and the current owner need to consider something else
about keeping this property as is.  When you look to draw people to the Kenosha area to buy these new homes
you need to make sure that there is entertainment and things to do in the community.  While you might not get
as much as you hoped for that small piece of land that the drive in sits on.  Common sense would tell you it
would help draw new people to the community and help raise the value of the residential property in the project.
Finally there is 800 some acres in this project and I would challenge the village and owner to come up with a
proposal that uses other space such as Sheridan Road and 165 or 91st Street and 22nd Avenue for small

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 55 of 61



commercial use.

1 Attachment
https://pd-oth.s3.amazonaws.com/production/uploads/attachments/132flpzom8i8.5xu/undefined (85.4 KB)

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 56 of 61



All participants living ¼ to ½ mile

Name not shown ¼ to ½ mile March 18, 2015,  6:57 AM

I am NOT in favor of a WalMart supercenter at this location.  The Village of Pleasant Prairie has always made
good choices for the community and homeowners.  Putting a "big box store" this close to so many homes will
lower the value of these homes.  I do not look forward to having bright parking lights and the trash around the
store parking lot as can be seen at the the other WalMart site.  This would not offer a very scenic view when
entering Wisconsin and will certainly disgrace our village.  Please go with the recreational park for our children
and make this eyesore something of a beautiful site to see upon entering our State, instead of an eyesore!
Options 2 or 3 would also be adequate.  I don't believe Steve Mills from Bear needs to fill his deep pockets at
the cost of our Village environment.

Name not shown ¼ to ½ mile March 18, 2015,  3:33 PM

I can NOT believe the village administrators would even consider a walmart at this location. Are they trying to
bring the value of our homes down? Have they not seen the filth surrounding the one located at Hwy 31 & Hwy
S? 
The traffic on movie nights was horrible, now it would be horrific all the time, not to mention the amount of semi
tractor/trailer traffic. Neighborhood plan alternatives should be utilized, NOT a walmart. Jelly Belly is moving
out, use that land and existing building for the walmart. 
I am dead set AGAINST a walmart at Sheridan Road and 91st Street.

Name not shown ¼ to ½ mile March 25, 2015, 10:44 AM

I have been a resident of Kenosha for 10 yrs and every summer I take my kids to the drive in its a fun night for
the family I do not believe that Keno drive -in should he closed and a supercenter should be built Kenosha has
enough store mejers and Costco will be opening soon we have a strip mall on green bay with vacant building
occupy those first before building new ones ......the drive in is a part of Kenosha and a good place for families to
enjoy a night during the summer .....DO NOT CLOSE THE DRIVE IN

Frederick Brookhouse ¼ to ½ mile March 25, 2015,  5:16 PM

I believe plan three is more appropriate for the eastern area of the village because of its natural and historic
features. The Chiwauke prairie restoration and development of a unique ecosystem seems contrary to a intense
development.  It would be more appropriate to make the development more compatible with one of the states
last nature preservation areas.  Additionally as a experienced business person I believe you create value for the
community by developing a quality driven vision rather than what makes the most money for the current land
owner.  Plan 1 serves the current owner at the expense of the long term value of the individual surrounding
owners and the eventual owners of the property with in the development.  Frederick Brookhouse

Rick Walter ¼ to ½ mile March 26, 2015,  1:17 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 57 of 61



This area, particularly east of Sheridan Road, is one of the more attractive areas in the city with the Kenosha
Dunes and Lakefront beaches nearby. 91st St is already a very busy artery and is the "access road" to these
peaceful eastern areas. The village should strive towards "bringing the lakeshore" closer to the community
rather than erecting a significant barrier as would be created by the sheer size of a "supercenter" along with the
huge increase in traffic into the area. As many commenters have already noted, there are more than enough
commercial centers in our area. Does a city the size of Kenosha really need two Walmarts? It would be easy
enough to do away with the one we already have with virtually no impact on shopping options in the city. Proper
development of this area could create a large zone of recreational possibilities tying the aforementioned
"eastern areas" and the Anderson Park community together. It would also maintain the peaceful neighborhood
feeling which a supercenter would most certainly destroy.

Jill Tadych ¼ to ½ mile March 29, 2015,  3:11 AM

I live on sheridan rd 3 blocks north of the property . First of all the drive should be saved !!!! Secondly the traffic
on sheridan rd where it's 3 lanes is already horrific.... People drive 45-55 mph a lot of times just plain
dangerous and to add more traffic and congestion would end up tragic possibly ! I'm not against the school the
houses it te retail space . If that northwest corners zoning could b changed to residential  or a park that would b
great !!!! NO STORES OR MINIMALLS !!!!

Judy Carl ¼ to ½ mile April  3, 2015,  6:34 PM

This drive in is a landmark a place of fond family times together! Why does all of our old building and landmarks
keep getting torn down! This is not the answer! Why not restore this landmark for something different to take our
children too instead of more of the same!!! Another Walmart or whatever!

Will Johnson ¼ to ½ mile April  4, 2015,  1:50 PM

I live within a mile of the Keno drive-in and I just purchased my home within the past year.  The surrounding
area is quaint and removed from some of the hustle of downtown Kenosha or the busier shopping areas along
80th St.  Adding a single large retail store destroys that charm and opens up a great deal of traffic.

I cannot imagine the need for yet another big-box store.  There exists plenty of grocery shopping within 10
minutes of the area and there is a Meijer and Costco already in-development.

Another con for having a large retail store is the potential for seedy characters to be roaming the north-east
corner of Pleasant Prairie.  Anecdotal evidence would suggest that seedy-characters tend to congregate in and
around these large retailer parking lots during all hours of the day.  Academic research would also support this.
Crime Rates in areas where Walmart established new stores in the 1990's showed stunted decline in crime
rates (Wolfe, S. E., & Pyrooz, D. C. (2014). Rolling Back Prices and Raising Crime Rates? The Walmart Effect
on Crime in the United States. British Journal Of Criminology, 54(2), 199-221.).

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 58 of 61



The second and third alternative are the lesser of the three evils.  However, I would be remiss if I did not call out
potential for increase congestion (as the alternatives call out with need for traffic analysis) as well as light
pollution.  Adding a parking lot full of streetlights that are on during all hours of the evening ruins the night-sky
for those stargazers in the area as well.

Vicki Barton ¼ to ½ mile April  5, 2015,  2:45 PM

I live in this area and have several comments which I feel strongly about since this directly affects me and my
home.  First, the Alternative 1 plan should NOT be approved, and there should be no amendment to the 2035
Comprehensive Plan and the zoning map and text. I do not want a Wal-Mart or other Big Box store here. Our
property values will go down and traffic will be horrible. We live here to be in a nice quiet safe neighborhood.  It
would change this neighborhood to place in which I do not want to live. Second, I do not like any of the other
plans either. I do not want a strip mall or any retail stores that close by. We already have many options for
stores and there are many empty stores, so new ones should not be built.  Anything done in that area should be
green space with a park.  I do not agree that we need any more residential apartments, condos or houses built
in this area. There are many for sale that won't sell.  People who want to sell their homes should have a chance
to instead of cookie cutter condos popping up everywhere.  I would oppose anything that is not green space.
Lastly if the board is determined to choose one of the alternatives then it looks like 3 is the best one with green
space. But again my position is no development. We can't grow faster than the village can support.  Keep our
neighborhood quiet and safe.

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 59 of 61



All participants living within ¼ mile

Harry Krause within ¼ mile March 17, 2015, 10:00 AM

My property and residence are the 4 corner lots on the south-east corner of Sheridan Road and 91st Street, for
at least the last 40 years or so. Naturally, what the future of Barnes Creek developement requirements entail will
be of great interest to me and my families future.
Talked to Peggy Herrick this morning, had this web site recommended for info, and was impressed with her
concern and interest and knowledge in my situation. Pleasant Prairies process so far with this developement
has been well received with myself.
Now, in my opion, the land should be developed into a large recreational park with ski hills formed! Of course,
with this in mind, I will not be attending your Monday meetings to offer my opion, but instead, will follow this fine
web site for info. 
Impressed with the Pleasant Prairie handling on this matter
Harry Krause

Rich Miller within ¼ mile March 19, 2015,  7:08 AM

There are 3 Walmart Supercenters within 12 miles of the currently proposed location at Sheridan and 91st.
Two of these locations are within 6 miles.  Why is another location needed between Zion, IL, and Kenosha, WI?
This is a ludicrous proposal for a store I refuse to shop at.

Name not shown within ¼ mile March 25, 2015,  1:12 PM

Please, we don't need more empty building to look at.  Look back at what was, Topps Department, then Market
Square, those stores inside never made it.  We as families need something as a whole to do and saving the
Kenosha Drive - In is fun for the whole family.  Why not see if investors could invest in saving families, no more
empty buildings.

Name not shown within ¼ mile March 29, 2015,  9:42 PM

I have been going to the Keno drive-in for 40 years and have looked forward to opening season every year.
Many of us have grown up with drive-ins and it holds so many memories for us. Keno is one of few drive-ins left
and I feel it's important to keep it alive for the sake of our children seeing as how things are so different today as
far as experiencing what it's like to be a kid. It is the only thing left for them to see what it was like for their
parents growing up...it is history!! I do not want any retail businesses in that location because I live across the
street from there and do not want the extra traffic, noise or riffraff and all that comes with it. KEEP KENO
DRIVE
IN-thanks. DLR

Judy Steinbrecher within ¼ mile April  5, 2015,  7:44 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 60 of 61



My husband and I are strongly opposed to the idea of establishing a single large business (such as a Walmart
or SuperWalmart) in close proximity to a quiet residential neighborhood such as the one in which we live. The
development site for the businesses in all 3 alternative plans is directly across the street from our home. We are
concerned about potentially heavier traffic, intrusive lighting, increased noise and the potential loss of real
estate value to our home and the homes in the area. Alternative one is not acceptable to us for these reasons.
Alternatives two and three are more reasonable development plans for businesses touching on several
residential areas.

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All On Forum Statements grouped by author's location (Around 9102 Sheridan Road) sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:47 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 61 of 61



All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM

As with any public comment process, participation in Open Village Hall is voluntary.  The statements in this record are not necessarily
representative of the whole population, nor do they reflect the opinions of any government agency or elected officials.  

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by
Monday, April 6.



As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM, this forum had:
Attendees: 737
Off Forum Statements: 114
All Statements: 337
Hours of Public Comment: 16.9

This topic started on March 13, 2015, 11:23 AM.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 2 of 21

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by
Monday, April 6.



Lonnie Hewuse (unverified) April  6, 2015,  4:03 PM

I drive about 145 miles one way at least once a month to bring my son to the Keno. I grew up with it and would
like to see a plan approved with the Keno included. I don't see how Pleasant Prairie needs a huge Super Center
of any kind. If my folks could drive into Kenosha proper, Waukegan or Zion why is it a big deal now, 30-35 years
later? Please vote for one of the plans which include the Keno.

Name not available (unclaimed) April  6, 2015,  1:34 PM

Please keep the drive in. It kind of goes hand in hand with the great drive in resturants in the area.(The Spot
and Big Star)

Name not available (unclaimed) April  5, 2015, 11:28 PM

The detrimental effects of establishing a supercenter are catastrophic enough, but destroying a landmark that
identifies the city, and puts it on the map, is insanity. Let me further that to say what will happen to the
community surrounding this "complex" that is supposed to be established here... there will be an increase of of
litter, a decrease of value of nearby houses (which would include many, including mine) and most importantly,
the destruction of the oldest drive-in in all of this state of Wisconsin! Either find a different area, or discontinue
this thought. Don't destroy our baby!!!

Name not available (unclaimed) April  5, 2015, 11:21 PM

I understand this developer wants to develop the area which pleasant prairie must rezone.  Please deny any
request to 're zone as it will not be in the best interest of the village and it's residents . Please consider offering
an alternative plan which would include the drive in and maybe other revenue generating entertainment for
residents or children .ex.. small train ..like the ones at malls. Live entertainment(bands) stage ? Anything would
be better than a Wal-Mart or low income housing

Name not available (unclaimed) April  5, 2015, 10:53 AM

Losing this drive inn would bring great sorrow to me. There is hardly anything for family entertainment to do in
this town as it is that doesn't revolve around a bar. Super Walmarts are a dime a dozen. Kenosha should
remain a small town with mom and pop restaurants & stores. I wanted to bring my kids to the drive inn one day.
Now I have one less thing to do with the kids when I visit.  Well I guess I could walk around another Walmart
what a shame. 

Name not available (unclaimed) April  4, 2015, 12:04 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 3 of 21



Drive ins are an important part of American culture.

Name not shown (unverified) April  3, 2015,  4:55 PM

When ever spring comes around I look forward to the Keno drive-in. Its been around for so many years that
Kenosha wouldn't be Kenosha, without it. It has been with families for generations. It has become a family
member, so if you take away the Keno drive-in it will be like tarring families apart. Who needs another Walmart
anyway. There's 4,177 Walmart's in the united states. But theirs only 1 Keno drive-in. Don't break the Kenosha
family apart.

Name not available (unclaimed) April  3, 2015,  4:18 PM

My family doesn't even live in Wisconsin. We're your neighbors from Winthrop Harbor/Zion area. We love to visit
your town and spend our money at your drive-in, and local businesses.The atmosphere is family friendly! It
would be sad to lose it!

Name not available (unclaimed) April  3, 2015,  1:27 AM

I have lived in the area since 2006. I live just south of Hwy. 165 and do not want a Walmart, nor any other
retail/housing development in my backyard. My family chose Pleasant Prairie, as opposed to communities in
Northern Illinois or west of the Interstate, for a reason. We like the convenience of being between Milwaukee
and Chicago; yet, appreciate the smaller community feel and the things that make this area unique...Lake
Andrea, RecPlex, lakefront, and, most of all, the Keno Drive In. The Keno is more than movies on a big screen;
it's history, tradition, community, family...one of the most treasured activities in this area. The Keno Drive In is a
well known, successful business with generations of customers. We have several friends who live out of state
and we enjoy visiting the Keno when we have company in town. The Keno Drive In, among the trolley
downtown, Jelly Belly, Sandy's Popper and Trolley Dogs are our usual stops. Bear's proposal for a supercenter
"six times larger than the 25,000 square foot maximum for commercial buildings" is disappointing and upsetting.
There are many existing strip malls and retail spots scattered throughout Kenosha County. Why do we need
another retail and housing opportunity in this space? Walmart has a building on 52nd Avenue that sits vacant. I
live just minutes from the state line and can access a Walmart in Zion, the supercenter in Kenosha, Target and
the soon-to-be Meijer in less than a half hour. The Keno Drive In is a fixture to the community. Please consider
saving the Keno; or, if plans move forward, it should be renovated and kept as a fixture of any new proposed
development. The Keno Drive In is a treasure.

Name not available (unclaimed) April  2, 2015,  9:49 PM

It's a sad sad day when an iconic community building and family bonding drive in gets replaced by a totally
unnecessary store.

Pauk Rhoads more than 2 miles (unverified) April  1, 2015, 11:21 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 4 of 21



Please keep the keno drive in. It is great for family entertainment.

Name not available (unclaimed) April  1, 2015,  9:28 PM

Save the Keno drive in!

Name not available (unclaimed) April  1, 2015,  8:56 PM

Keep the Keno-Drive in!! Such a wonderful way to pass the summer with friends and family! Only way young
families with kids can enjoy a movie, very affordable and you can bring the babies and the dogs!

Name not available (unclaimed) April  1, 2015,  1:37 PM

More comments should be addressed to the topic of the 3 plans that are outlined for this area of land, this is not
a Save the Drive-In forum. Please do not approve the Walmart not another big box store is needed in this
community and will do nothing to enhance the land surrounding.

Name not available (unclaimed) April  1, 2015,  8:16 AM

The Keno Drive In should be saved. It is one of a few historic family attractions in this area.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 31, 2015,  9:46 PM

This drive in is truly a landmark. This is a rarity in that drive ins are scarce. There isn't much around that is so
much family fun and it is just a good time for our young ones to enjoy and pass down.

Michelle Mckinley ½ to 1 mile (unverified) March 31, 2015,  4:35 PM

Please don't tear down the Keno! Find a way to keep it.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 31, 2015,  3:12 PM

I grew up in Zion,IL. and grew up going to the drive in every weekend. If they tear down the Keno drive-in that
would be a piece of history lost. People still love the drive in and want it too stay. I live out of state but when I
heard of the plan to destroy this landmark I had to speak my peace. Save The Keno drive in. Renovate and
relaunch the Keno!! Bring back a family tradition!!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 30, 2015, 11:20 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 5 of 21



Another Walmart I will NOT shop. I sure hope there is no DIRTY money passing from the land owner to the
village on this one.... The drive-in is a historic icon that needs to stay. It has entertained for years! As a Village
of Pleasant Prairie resident, I am very concerned about this decision. I will be present at the meeting to voice
my concern. I have lived in the Kenosha/Pleasant Prairie areas for over 30 years, and have enjoyed this icon
over that time period. My children may never have the outdoor drive-in experience. Disappointed! 

Name not available (unclaimed) March 30, 2015,  6:54 PM

Don't do it. Keep the drive in open. A lot of people in Lake county frequent the drive in.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 30, 2015,  6:44 PM

Please keep Walmart out! How about a classier retail layout like Mariano's, Target, Starbucks, etc.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 30, 2015,  4:40 PM

Don't shut the drive in down. It's good clean, fun, and inexpensive outing for families.  It makes me feel like a kid
again.  It definitely will help bring in revenue to the city.

Name not shown (unverified) March 30, 2015, 12:30 PM

Kenosha should not give up such a gem only to replace it with a monopoly of a company. The town already has
enough corporate businesses why put up another that is only going to burden the town. Drive ins are rare and
unique these days, why take away such a thing? This will also have negative impact on smaller businesses
around the area. Such a horrible idea.

Name not shown more than 2 miles (unverified) March 30, 2015, 11:43 AM

Leave the Keno Drive In! There is no need for a shopping center in an established quiet neighborhood. That will
increase traffic and has a higher chance of hurting kids playing and walking to the schools. Keno is kenosha
history. I grew up with the drive in, ive taken my kids and i hope one day my kids will take theirs. Why destroy
something everyone loves and looks forward to the summer for, for some shopping center?! The state doesnt
need tax money that bad!!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 30, 2015, 11:39 AM

Why wud you take down a the Keno Drive in ? I spent most of my childhood & fun teen years frequenting the

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 6 of 21



Keno Drive In & to replace it with a darn store or any other building wud be a darn shame !

Crystal reagles 1 to 2 miles (unverified) March 30, 2015, 10:52 AM

Even if a shopping center is built. I will still be driving down to 75th and Sgeridan to go to Dollar General. There
is NO need fir anymore retail or food places in Kenosha. Id say we have PLENTY..I'd LOVE to save the drive in,
but if that doesn't happen..how about a dog/kids play park? Or another community swimming pool....NO
RETAIL!!!!!

Name not shown more than 2 miles (unverified) March 30, 2015, 10:09 AM

The Keno is one of the last affordable, entertainment venues in Pleasant Prairie. Everything here has become
about the money.......how much of it PP will make off of the property here. I have lived in PP for almost 40 years
and have seen this community turn into a place where decisions are made not for the betterment of the
residents but as a way for the Village to line the coffers. The Keno is a place where memories are made. I have
memories of going there with my family and now I have started that with my kids. No good memories were ever
or will ever be made at walmart......unless you are talking about the web site people of walmart. At some point I
would love to see the Village put some thought into the futures and happiness of families living here not the
bank accounts. The board should fight to preserve an icon like the keno,not find ways to replace it with crap that
can be found anywhere. I understand that the property owner has a right to use their property as they see fit but
have him do it to one of the other of the hundreds of acres he owns. Please don't let such an iconic place be
torn down just to cover it in more junk we don't need. Pleasant Prairie should keep at least one affordable family
friendly attraction.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 30, 2015,  9:23 AM

Please dont do this. That drive in means history, great memories and will be a part of our lives for another 75
years. There isn't much around anymore that we can reminisce about with such great family memories. THIS IS
TRULY A LANDMARK IN KENOSHA. Don't let a big corporation take that away.

Name not shown (unverified) March 29, 2015, 11:41 PM

I think would be a tragic shame to trade real keno nostalgia, for a greedy corporation who will not only lower
property value of the area in question but also raise local taxpayers dollars when they have to subsidies
government aid because Walmart does not provide living wages to their workers. The Drive-Inn does not and
will never make this type of negative impact on the community.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  8:24 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 7 of 21



I am not a Pleasant Prairie Resident, but I come up to the area specifically for the Keno Drive-In. Removing the
Keno would result in a loss of my business to the area.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  7:20 PM

Please please keep keno drive in I grew up going there my family  and still love going there in the summers
please we don't need another Walmart or stripe mall keep the drive in so many more generations  can enjoy it

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  7:11 PM

The Keno Drive-In is one of the few drive-ins left in America, people drive hours just to watch movies here. It's
practically a historic spot and it should be given the respect it deserves.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  6:43 PM

Save the drive in.  We don't need another Walmart!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  6:39 PM

The Keno Drive In site should be listed as a historical site in Kenosha County.  There are not many places left
like the Keno Drive In and I, for one, do not believe we need ANOTHER supercenter in the Pleasant
Prairie/Kenosha area!  We need a family place where our children can enjoy that family atmosphere!  I spoke to
my teenage son about the Drive In closing and he told me, "There's really nothing left for me to enjoy about
Kenosha anymore."  That is a sad thing to hear from a child who could potentially stay in Kenosha and raise his
own family!  I urge you to consider making this site a historical landmark instead of giving in to these big
supercenter corporations once again!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  6:09 PM

We don't need anymore stores. Save the drive in!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  5:59 PM

Hello. My name is Nathan Davis. I have reviewed the three plans, and as for the land currently occupied by the
Keno Drive-in, it should not be redeveloped. This is a historical site, and is one of the few entertainment venues
left for the youth of Pleasant Prairie and Kenosha. When youth don't have things to do, they statistically turn to
drugs and/or illegal activity. Let's finally do something for the youth of this area and deem the Keno Drive-in a

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 8 of 21



historical site. Let's keep it open, not only for nostalgia, but for the betterment of this community. As for the land
directly around it, it would be a great idea to build small convenience stores and/or restaurants such as Sonic.
There would no apparent backlash to even downsizing the Keno. Regardless of what Steve Mills wants to think,
this is not prime retail space and would not attract a lot of business so a mega supercenter and/or strip malls
would not fill up fast and might even remain empty for years. I beg you to consider the people of this area when
considering redevelopment. The people do not want this, and the Village of Pleasant Prairie should respect
that. A government is supposed to serve the people as a whole, not the one with the most money. Again, my
name is Nathan Davis, and I will be at the meeting to speak. I can be reached at (262) 344 - 0132 or
ntdavis0910@gmail.com. Thank you and again, please consider the people first.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  5:09 PM

Save the keno drive inn!
Commerce from box stores is nothing more than civic cannibalism and destroys the mom and pops in the
community...drive inns like the one here are far more important than Walmarts.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  4:56 PM

I want my kids to be able to experience a drive in theatre. I've only been able to go one time, and I really hope it
won't be my last.

Name not shown more than 2 miles (unverified) March 29, 2015,  4:53 PM

I don't think they should do this..I love this

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  4:43 PM

Save the drive in.  I will never shop on what ever is put on this site!!!! No more walmarts!!!!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  3:37 PM

Please bring the drive-in back, I have so many wonderful memories, my brother and I would go there, and stay
until midnight, to bond, and watch movies. The drive-in always brought my family closer together, and it would
be a horrible piece of Kenosha history to lose!

Mike Pavelich (unverified) March 29, 2015,  2:03 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 9 of 21



This site is a historical site, one of only a few which remain in the U.S. Pleasant Prairie doesn't have many
historical sites and should save this one.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  1:51 PM

I am in favor of saving the Keno. I don't know how it can thrive in the digital age, but I like to see history
preserved, not destroyed.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  1:29 PM

We don't need anymore shopping centers and no one wants it there! Why take away something so historic and
a place family and friends go to make amazing lifetime memories. Putting a store or anything else like that
would be a mistake not to mention all the traffic!!! SAVE THE KENOSHA DRIVE IN!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  1:10 PM

Beatrice Penna                                 
I remember being a little girl going to the Keno almost every weekend with my brother and sisters. We always
got to ride the train and play until the movie started.We were in our pajamas so when we got home we could go
right to bed.  I am now 63 years old and I now go to the Keno with my daughter, her husband and my only
grandson. And we always have a great time. This is a family outing for us. PLEASE do not take this away from
us. We live in Racine and it takes us half an hour to get to the Keno but  the trip is worth it because we have so
much fun.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015, 11:21 AM

We need the keno drive in.... It is a link to our past. My daughter should get the chance to watch a movie this
way with her family on a summer night invert the stars. Please don't take this away from future generations.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015, 10:57 AM

Im against it what will happen to all our wildlife and also our farmland. We dont need a store that will be ran
down and have alot of bums hanging out there. What about this school can't it be built some where else. These
people that want to be richer and not think about our wildlife,farmers and the nature. I will sell my home and
move to another area before i will loose all this takes place. I moved up here from  illinois to enjoy this and now
its being taken away. I can't believe these people. Please lets stop it and leave it alone let us enjoy our nature.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  9:39 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 10 of 21



I think we sould keep the drive-in I have been going there for 29yrs and now I bring my kids and they love it

Name not shown more than 2 miles (unverified) March 29, 2015,  8:25 AM

Just what we need... Another supercenter. No. What we need is an affordable place for families and friends to
make memories. That place would be the Kenosha drive in. The drive in is so original, there is nothing like it
around here and people love to go here. Why would we change that for a Walmart? There is a ton of abandon
buildings and land in Kenosha, find somewhere else to put your supercenter. We want the drive in to stay.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  3:55 AM

Do not close the Keno drive in its an icon in Kenosha. We dont have too many of them left also im sure alot of
ppl have childhood memories going their to watch movies playing outside and getting some popcorn.  So if you
tear down a national landmark you are taking part of Kenosha with it!!!!!!!!!!! :-) :-)

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  2:17 AM

A combination of Plans 2 & 3 would appear to have the least "side affects" to the feel of our Village. If memory
serves there have been problems with flooding around most parts of Barnes Creek. I don't believe there is a
good solution to that problem unless large areas are left as is. Over development will lead to traffic problems,
environmental issues, changes to the wildlife and plants that thrive in the area, and other problems. Village
services would need to be increased to handle the increased demand by increased population. I always thought
the Village had a desire to remain a Village, not a city. 
If all housing is developed as in the plans how are the 3 roads going to handle the increased traffic?
Springbrook is already heavily traveled & dangerous due to speeding & the curves. It is also the main road for
the new fire/rescue building. Sheridan is also heavily traveled & in need of upgrades. 104th is only going to
send more traffic to 39th or Sheridan. There is no other road in or out of proposed area. 
As much as we hate to have the Keno torn down & the whole area developed it is the "future". Let's hope we
can build it to cause the least detrimental changes to our Pleasant Prairie.
Due to the interest by non residents concerning the Keno I'm afraid the other areas in the plan will be
overshadowed. Is it possible to break this package into just the commercial & just the residential? 
Thank you.

Name not shown more than 2 miles (unverified) March 29, 2015,  2:01 AM

My husband and I grew up in Kenosha. He is in the military and every time we visit home we enjoy going to the
drive in with our children. Kenosha has gone through an enormous amount of "development" in the past 20
years leaving some parts of the town almost unrecognizable. The last thing this town needs is to be
overdeveloped with nothing to offer people but tons of duplicate shopping centers. Change and progress is
inevitable but everyone can enjoy and appreciate experiencing a living piece of history such as the Keno Drive

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 11 of 21



In. PLEASE do not tear it down to make way for something that is truly not needed!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 29, 2015,  1:46 AM

The Keno Drive-in is a unique and historic destination that attracts people from all around the area for family
friendly fun.  A Walmart is a generic and unnecessary store that does nothing to distinguish our area as special
or interesting.  The Village should do whatever is within its power to prevent the closing of the Keno and prevent
the construction of a Walmart.  There are plenty of vacant lots and tracts of farmland in the area where retail or
residential land could be developed that does not require the tearing down of Kenosha's history.  These options
should be explored before we make hasty decisions we cannot undo.

Name not shown (unverified) March 28, 2015,  7:55 PM

Please keep THE DRIVE IN. It's a historical tradition. A family tradition. I went when I was a child. I bring my
children. My kids are now teens. They will go as teens. And bring their kids. And so on. They keep taking
everything out of kenosha/pleasant prairie area. What does that leave for kids to do? We have no roller rink any
longer... we have one movie theatre  and it Costs too much. We NEED to keep the drive in.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 28, 2015,  6:07 PM

Everyone is trying Change old customs. This theater has been apart of Kenosha for more than 50 years.
Please keep this for all of those who grow up loving to go there.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 28, 2015, 12:16 AM

Here's the issue as I see it. The only way the Keno can remain open is thru monetary constant donations and
fundraising. The owner is proposing to sell. Which worked for a year, then back to what it was three years ago.
Problem is people are willing to raise their voice louder than their wallets,  myself included sorry to say. And if I
or anyone I have ever known had that prime land they would more than likely take in serious consideration to a
large development payout. Just like the other outdoor theatres have done. I could only recommend that the city
could assure the owner of funds per year for the theater improvements.  Pleading the need for the American as
the drive in shouldn't die in Kenosha.
But hey I'm a voice on the otherside of the boarder. What do I know.

Name not shown (unverified) March 27, 2015,  9:31 PM

I have gone to Keno Drive In and it is a cool place to watch movies. I would be heart broken if it is turned into a
something else. And I would not shop or do anything in or near the location of where Keno Drive In should be.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015,  8:29 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 12 of 21



My parents brought me and my siblings to this drive-in when we were little and now that they are grandparents
they love the opportunity to bring their grandchildren to the same drive-in. Let's keep it classic for generations to
come so everyone can enjoy a little taste of the old fashion way, not everything has to be so high tech and it's a
nice escape to the past!!!! Please don't take that away!!!!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015,  7:37 PM

It would be the saddest thing ever to lose this classic drive in that has made the area so special & what it is
today! Keno has brought so many wonderful times & memories to myself, my family & many families & friends I
know & it isn't summer until you go to the drive in!! We don't need anymore Wal-Mart's & I definitely won't shop
there or anywhere in the vicinity & will make sure myself & everyone else we know spreads the same  word 2
many others, and with our pull in the community, we can be quite successful at making sure many people will
follow suit!! Please keep Keno alive & the tradition of drive in theatre alive!!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015,  5:45 PM

I think something other than a Wal-Mart or big box store. PDQ with car wash that or nice little eatery?  get
creative for a change.

Name not shown more than 2 miles (unverified) March 27, 2015,  5:18 PM

Save the Drive In! I don't live in Kenosha but we make the trip down from Milwaukee to visit the Keno multiple
times every summer. This is something so many families share with their kids, it'd be a shame to see this
landmark knocked down.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015,  5:03 PM

Hoping that Keno drive in will be here to stay!! I have lived in kenosha all my life and we would always spend
our weekends at the keno drive in when i was little. I have been bringing my own children now and I think it
would be a shame for them to close down. There isnt much to do in kenosha for families with young children.
PLEASE SAVE KENO DRIVE IN!!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015,  4:12 PM

The Keno is a Kenosha Landmark. Isn't there enough land taken up for shopping centers and how about all the
stores sitting empty that have moved to Hwy. 50?. Enough is enough.

Amanda Mathis more than 2 miles (unverified) March 27, 2015,  3:58 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 13 of 21



The Keno Drive In had been a summer tradition in my family for what seems like forever. Just as I did, my kids
love going there several times a year every year and now it makes a great date night spot too. We will be
devastated if it ceases to be. Please make it a HISTORICAL LANDMARK, restore the property to its original
glory and SAVE THE DRIVE IN!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015,  2:21 PM

Please do not destroy a wonderful family tradition! The Keno is also a tourist attraction. People come from
Illinois. I'm sure people who visit our city in the summer also enjoy the Keno! There  are so few drive-ins left.
Why not advertise more and make this a destination in Kenosha?

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015, 12:59 PM

destroying history erases heritage

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015, 12:43 PM

Keep the drive-in.  We definitely don't need anything else owned by the Walton family in our community.  Low
wages and congestion is what it would bring.  The drive-in is part of the history in this area.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015, 12:40 PM

SAVE DRIVE-IN!!!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015, 12:39 PM

Save the drive in!

Name not shown more than 2 miles (unverified) March 27, 2015, 12:00 PM

I would be sad to see the Drive in close.  In a day in age where we need more time for the family unit to bond,
this is a family Value.  I am not from the area but visit the Drive in 3-4 times a year.  and on the way we stop at
local business for snack.  I can say with  a Wal-Mart I will not be coming down there any more.  with that I will
not be visiting those other businesses either.  This would be a huge loss for the community.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015, 11:42 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 14 of 21



Please Keep the Keno Drive-In! Taking the family to the Keno Drive-In should be something everyone gets to
experience. Taking it away from the community would be a horrible thing.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015, 10:30 AM

Please tear the thing down so people will stop complaining about it. A drive-in is completely useless and our
need to cling on to every "historic landmark" in this town is the reason why we are so far behind in terms of
economic and physical growth.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015, 10:16 AM

Keep the Drive-In!!! It can be saved! Generations of families patronize this landmark!

Carol Humphrey Lopez more than 2 miles (unverified) March 27, 2015,  9:00 AM

Why do we always think it's better to get rid of the old day's? We should want to bring Families together to
spend some quality time together. In a time when Families are going 10 different directions saving The Keno
would be a way to give Families some Family time together. PLEASE SAVE THE  KENO and give Families back
the good old day's.

Name not shown (unverified) March 27, 2015,  8:15 AM

I cannot believe this village stresses community yet is doing the EXACT opposite!!! The drive-in has been a part
of MANY family nights as well as neighbor nights as well. Now you want to put in a Walmart????? Why don't
you find a way to update what we all know and love instead of another big box and houses? Have you seen all
the empty houses from foreclosures as it is???? GET IT TOGETHER PEOPLE SAVE THE DRIVE-IN!!!!! If this
plan does go through I know there WILL be more empty houses....including mine! See you April 13

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015,  7:10 AM

Drive-ins preserve open space and provide low-cost fun to families and people of all ages. Trading a drive-in for
yet another retail development is an unwise trade-off especially at a time when many middle class workers
across the country are still struggling economically. I hope that those who live in the area will opt to keep the
drive-in.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 27, 2015,  6:50 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 15 of 21



PLEASE-PLEASE-PLEASE KEEP THE KENO DRIVE-IN!!!!!!!!!!!!! What a fantastic draw for Kenosha!! Put
Walmart in the old empty SuperValue on 80th Street! I LOVE THE KENO DRIVE-IN!!!!!!!! DON'T TAKE IT
AWAY!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 26, 2015, 11:27 PM

Pls KEEP the Keno drive in OPEN! I want my children to experience it for years to come, such a good time
shared with family.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 26, 2015,  7:55 PM

Please keep the theater. There are so many other places to build and develop. The Drive in theater is a place of
many memories. I would hope to be able to continue to enjoy the theater and new memories with my son.

Name not shown (unverified) March 26, 2015,  4:22 PM

We do not need another Wal Mart.  Please keep the Kenosha Drive In

Name not available (unclaimed) March 26, 2015, 10:55 AM

Keep Keno! We don't need another walmart. Keno is a monument to the community.

Esther Roberts more than 2 miles (unverified) March 26, 2015,  7:31 AM

The drive in is such good family fun! We used to come up from Illinois just for the drive in and now that I have a
daughter and live in Kenosha, the drive in is part of what we love and enjoy about our town!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 25, 2015, 10:08 PM

I was born and raised in Kenosha.  I grew up in Pleasant Prairie. The Keno Drive In is one of the last in the
United States. Why not update it and take advantage of that?
Do you really think another a Super Walmart is going to beautify your city? No, I'm sorry. It's not "helping things"
to put it there. Get out of the downward spiral so people might want to live in the city again.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 25, 2015,  8:56 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 16 of 21



The Keno Drive-in should be a landmark for Kenosha! The idea of a shopping center there is a nightmare. I
grew up in Kenosha and always looked forward to the weekend at the drive-in. With all of the great movies
come out in the near future, is would be a very sad loss for Kenosha to lose suck a relic that everyone knows.
There are only three drive-ins in the state, including the Keno Drive-In! Don't let this historic emblem be wasted
to history!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 25, 2015,  5:57 PM

Save the Drive in!!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 25, 2015,  5:47 PM

Please save the Drive in! Removing a piece of americana is not progress.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 25, 2015,  5:40 PM

Save the drive in!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 25, 2015,  5:37 PM

Save the Drive in! Destroying a piece of Americana is not progress.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 25, 2015,  5:33 PM

The outdoor has been a part of my family for 35+ years. I along with my children have enjoyed it every year.
Hoping this landmark can stay and provide more entertainment/ family values for my grand children and their
children. Pease keep the outdoor there and open. Thank you.   Mike Perez

Name not available (unclaimed) March 25, 2015,  4:40 PM

Love this place. Make it there a couple times a month all the way from Oak creek. Safe, family orientated place.
Worth every penny at the concession stand, which is awesome! Please stay!!

Venustiano Oviedo II more than 2 miles (unverified) March 25, 2015,  4:35 PM

Last thing we need is another super store. The drive in is a Kenosha landmark and should be saved.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 25, 2015,  1:25 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 17 of 21



that is a landmark

Name not available (unclaimed) March 25, 2015, 11:33 AM

There are very very very few drive-ins in the country anymore. We need to preserve as many of then as we
can. As was said, we have enough retailers around here, not enough drive-ins. Save The Drive-In!!!

Annie Wright more than 2 miles (unverified) March 25, 2015, 11:31 AM

Take away the Keno Drive In, Why??? When my children were younger, we had 2 Drive Ins to choose from THE
KENOSHA or THE MID CITY. Both of these places brought a lot of enjoyment to our family, we could hardly
wait for them to open and the kids were upset when they closed for winter. Getting ready for a night at the
outdoor theater was fun too. Popping popcorn,  packing up blankets& pillows, then cleaning the windows on the
car and off we went. We also took friends of our kids along and we used meet some of our friends there
too.The outdoor is as important to famlies,as our parks.We don't need another Wal- Mart, not with Costco and
Meijer opening soon. Please leave "THE KENOSHA DRIVE IN" where it is. Thank You.  Annie Wright.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 25, 2015, 10:59 AM

Save keno drive in

Name not available (unclaimed) March 25, 2015, 10:55 AM

Don't do it! Keep the drive in

Name not available (unclaimed) March 25, 2015,  6:45 AM

SAVE KENO DRIVE IN!!!

Name not available (unclaimed) March 24, 2015, 10:31 PM

Keno Drive-in is a long standing tradition. Upgrade to digital will prove to be a worthy investment. Keep the
Keno! Nobody wants another Walmart.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 24, 2015,  6:07 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 18 of 21



Interesting the time for the forum is slated from 3pm-5pm, most working people work or do not get home until
5pm.  How fair is that?

Name not available (unclaimed) March 24, 2015,  6:06 PM

Interesting the time for the forum is slated from 3pm-5pm, most working people work or do not get home until
5pm.  How fair is that?

Name not available (unclaimed) March 24, 2015, 10:51 AM

Keep the village plan intact to limit the size of retailers who locate here. Don't change to accommodate a big
box store - any big box store, not just Walmart. Retain the proposed neighborhood feel here, and leave the big
boxes to bigger corridors in the village (like Highway 50).

Name not available (unclaimed) March 23, 2015,  8:26 PM

NO.  There is already one Walmart in Kenosha, and another one in Gurnee.  The store they moved out of has
been vacant since moving.  We do not need another big box store in Kenosha/Pleasant Prairie.  A Cosco and a
Mejer will be opening later this year.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 21, 2015,  7:55 PM

Instead of Wal-Mart buildng on Sheridan Rd., the closing Jelly Belly factory location would be far more
appropriate. Away from the neighborhoods, and right down the street from the to be Meijers and Costco. Better
competition for all 3 chains.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 18, 2015,  8:27 AM

In all sincerity they need to leave that corner as a keno drive in ... Reason is if Walmart built there .. Be traffic
issues , accidents , fights, noise , trash issue etc ... Even down the street there was a little strip mall that been
there for years they let it dwindle and got vandilized so after tearing it down now it's just plot of land..highway 50
has all the malls we need and traffic is still a mess .... So they need to leave this area alone ... Just revamp
screen .. Make all new and tear down make more modern or slap on new paint .. If complaints it an eye sore ..
remodel the concession stand entirely and bathrooms .. All problems will be solved ... Save a piece of history ..
For future enjoyments ... Just remember this ... If u build a Walmart thre u are hurting all the mom and pop
stores in the long run that been there for years and if they get closed the hole town will suffer bigger losses ...
Need to think with your heads and not your greedy pockets

Meagan Brown ½ to 1 mile (unverified) March 18, 2015,  3:25 AM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 19 of 21



It seems the real issue is working with the landowner to make it worth his while to honor the integrity of the
neighborhood over the money He would would get from a big corporation. I am curious about the price tag to
keep the Keno Drive-in functional and usable (I heard it could be $150,000?) If that money could be raised and
the landowner was willing to work WITH the residents, it could be a real boost for our community and and
potentially empower us to be invested in other community building efforts.

Megan Mercer (unverified) March 17, 2015, 11:23 PM

The trailer park right around the corner is infested with heroin addicts. If you put a neighborhood there in ten
years it would be destroyed. If you put in retail anything you set yourself up to be bothered by constant
shoplifters. Plus if u are looking at possible profit out of waukegan   you  willjustbeaddingtotrafficinghero

Name not available (unclaimed) March 17, 2015,  8:18 PM

Leave Keno Drive-In, another Walmart is really not necessary.

Name not shown (unverified) March 17, 2015, 10:18 AM

Please keep the drive in. Its a great place for people of all ages to come together and enjoy a movie while being
outside and meeting new people. Everyone complains about kids not goin outside nowadays and i have seen
more and more kids and teens coming out to enjoy their evening. I have made many friends there as well. And i
have went there up to 3 times a week with my friends just because of what it haves to offer. Also if it is restored
and expanded it may offer more jobs for young adults. I even thought if they would open earlier and do a car
show every once in a while it would be a big attraction and bring lots of business not only to the drive in but the
comunity around it. Please save the drive in. its is a great place and a great culture.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 16, 2015,  4:50 PM

Kenosha County is big enough to need two Walmarts.  If you look north to Green Bay, they have several and we
have nearly the same population.  I will not mourn the loss of the Keno Drive In.  It was run down, dirty, and
desolate, not to mention used for many generations as a place to get stoned.  This is a good location for the
southeast portion of the county, especially when other businesses keep moving out west.  It could bring
commerce to an area that hasn't seen much in growth.  I'm all for it.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 16, 2015, 11:05 AM

PP

Name not available (unclaimed) March 15, 2015,  1:24 PM

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 20 of 21



One more supercenter is not wanted in my neighborhood. Too much traffic, with too much overall environmental
impact. Please "86" this plan.  Thanks    Dave Nerdahl 11333 8th Avenue

Name not available (unverified) March 15, 2015, 12:38 AM

I've read the background information given & considered all three plans.  I am against Plan #1.  PLPR can do
better than that!  I like the mixed use, and combination of single-family, green space, commercial, & multi-family
as proposed by the village staff.  We live in Prairie Ridge Estates, and could not be more happy with the
direction of the development here.  I think something similar on the east side would make future PLPR residents
as pleased as we are here.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 14, 2015, 10:23 AM

What is the difference between Alternate 2 and Alternate 3? They look identical.

Name not available (unclaimed) March 14, 2015,  9:59 AM

I travel through that intersection daily.I can't imagine the amount of traffic this kind of development will create
and what an eyesore a big box development would be especially Walmart. Will more people travel Lakeshore
Drive?

Planning for Barnes Creek Neighborhood Underway
Please share your input regarding the three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives. Please share your feedback by Monday, April 6.

All Off Forum Statements sorted chronologically

As of April  7, 2015,  9:43 AM http://peakdemocracy.com/2556 Page 21 of 21











pherrick
Typewritten Text
Exhibit 2











 

 

 

1 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 

VILLAGE HALL AUDITORIUM 

9915 39TH AVENUE 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 

6:00 P.M. 

 April 13, 2015 
 

A regular meeting for the Pleasant Prairie Plan Commission convened at 6:00 p.m. on April 13, 2015.  

Those in attendance were Thomas Terwall; Michael Serpe; Donald Hackbarth; Wayne Koessl; Deb 

Skarda (Alternate #2); Jim Bandura; John Braig; Judy Juliana; and Bill Stoebig (Alternate #1).  Also in 

attendance were Michael Pollocoff, Village Administrator; Tom Shircel, Assistant Administrator; Jean 

Werbie-Harris, Community Development Director; and Peggy Herrick, Assistant Zoning Administrator. 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER. 
 

2. ROLL CALL. 

 

3. CONSIDER THE MINUTES OF THE MARCH 23, 2015 PLAN COMMISSION 

MEETING. 
 

Judy Juliana: 

 

Move to approve. 

 

Wayne Koessl: 

 

Second, Chairman. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

IT’S BEEN MOVED BY JUDY JULIANA AND SECONDED BY WAYNE KOESSL TO 

APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE MARCH 23, 2015 PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 

AS PRESENTED.  ALL IN FAVOR SIGNIFY BY SAYING AYE. 

 

Voices: 

 

Aye. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 

 

4. CORRESPONDENCE. 

 

5. CITIZEN COMMENTS. 
 

 

 

pherrick
Typewritten Text
Exhibit 3

pherrick
Typewritten Text



 

 

 

2 

Tom Terwall: 

 

If you’re here for one of the two items that are on the agenda, since both of those items are public 

hearings, we would ask that you hold your comments until the public hearing is held so we can 

incorporate your comments as an official part of this meeting.  However, if you want to raise an 

issue that’s not on the agenda now would be your opportunity to do so.  We’d ask you to step to 

the microphone and begin by giving us your name and address.  Is there anybody wishing to 

speak under citizens’ comments? 

 

6. NEW BUSINESS 

 

 A. PUBLIC HEARING AND CONSIDERATION OF PLAN COMMISSION 

RESOLUTION #15-12 FOR A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT to 

amend Appendix 9-3 Neighborhood Plan #2 for the Barnes Creek Neighborhood.  

The Barnes Creek Neighborhood is bounded by 89th and 91st Streets on the north, 

STH 32 (Sheridan Road) on the east, STH 165 (104th Street) on the south and the 

Kenosha County Bike Trail on the west in the Village. 
 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 

 

Mr. Chairman and members of the Plan Commission and the audience, Item A is public hearing 

and consideration of Plan Commission Resolution 15-12 for a comprehensive plan amendment to 

amend Appendix 9-3 Neighborhood Plan #2 for the Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan.  The 

Barnes Creek neighborhood is bounded by 89th Street and 91st Streets on the north, State 

Highway 32 or Sheridan Road on the east, State Highway 165 or 104th Street on the south, and 

30th Avenue or the Kenosha County Bike Trail on the west all being in the Village of Pleasant 

Prairie. 

 

With that, Mr. Chairman, I’d like to present the staff comments for the record and to provide 

some background information regarding this petition’s request.  As part of the land division, 

planning and development process in the Village of Pleasant Prairie, a neighborhood plan must be 

created for each neighborhood geographic area in order to guide its development, and that 

development plan must be consistent with all of the components of the Village’s 2035 

Comprehensive Plan including the Land Use Plan and the Zoning Ordinance.  

 

For historical reference, the first Comprehensive Plan for the Village of Pleasant Prairie was 

adopted in 1967 as a part of the Kenosha Urban Planning District.  Updates to this plan were 

adopted in 1996 and then again in 2009, each time with extensive community input.  The current 

Comprehensive Plan guides the Village Plan Commission and Village Board in their development 

decisions through the plan design year 2035.  Each of these Comprehensive Plans and an analysis 

of their various components, along with citizen input were used to develop the current Land Use 

Plan.  

 

In the hierarchy of community planning, the Land Use Plan provides an overview of the general 

land use types, intensity and density.  A neighborhood plan refines the Land Use Plan for a 

particular neighborhood. A conceptual plan provides additional details for a part of the 

neighborhood plan. Plats and site and operational plans provide specific details for the 

Conceptual Plan, and that allows construction to take place on a certain site.  So in the slide on 



 

 

 

3 

the wall you can see that there is a hierarchy to the planning process in Pleasant Prairie.  And, 

again, this is a process that we have been doing here for over 25 years.  It’s a very deliberate and 

methodical process in order to allow for future development to occur in our community. 

 

So I’ll begin with the development of the Land Use Plan.  The Comprehensive Plan is an adopted 

blueprint which provides direction for the Village based upon a set of goals, objectives and 

recommendations that includes Village policies and programs in order to guide the future 

development and redevelopment of public and private property. The Land Use Plan, which is a 

component of the Comprehensive Plan, contains a listing of the amount, type, intensity and 

density of existing and proposed uses of land in the Village.  The Land Use Plan seeks to preserve 

and protect environmental, archeological and other significant lands.   The Land Use Plan 

analyzes trends in supply and demand of land uses, opportunities for redevelopment and potential 

for land use conflicts.  The Comprehensive Plan, adopted prior to the then State deadline of 

January 1, 2010 also contains projections, based upon background information and research for 

the community's growth for the next 25 years or in this case our plan is to the design year 2035. 

 

What I’d like to do is just briefly go through for everyone the Land Use Plan that’s been adopted 

by the community.  The Land Use Plan then outlines the general types of land uses that are 

permitted in different areas of the community.  And as shown on the slide the 2035 plan has seen 

some amendments since 2009-2010, but that is an accurate plan as we see it.   

 

Residential lands are those areas -- could I just have you just slide a little bit further, just a little 

bit that way?  Thanks.  Residential lands are those land uses that have been broken down into four 

different categories.  There’s a low density category which on our map are all of those areas that 

are identified in yellow.  Low density residential for our Land Use Plan means that 19,000 square 

feet or more per dwelling unit would be planned in those areas.  The low-medium density is 

between 12,000 and 18,999 square feet per dwelling unit.  And those areas are the tan areas.  The 

bulk of our residential is identified in this particular land use classification. 

 

The upper-medium density has 6,200 to 11,999 square foot per dwelling unit, and those areas are 

identified as the orange areas on the map.  And the high density areas are those that average less 

than 6,200 square feet per dwelling unit.  We have very few, but there are a couple of these brown 

areas in the Village of Pleasant Prairie. 

 

The next classification is identified in the pink color on the map, and this is pretty much located 

in the center off of 39th Avenue and 165, and that’s identified as a mixed land use designation.  

Also the future Village Green Center for the community. 

 

The next classification are the red areas.  The read areas are identified as commercial lands.  And 

there are a number of commercial lands on Sheridan Road, Sheridan Road at 91st Street.  There’s 

some commercial lands at the intersection of Highway 165 and 31, some commercial lands out by 

the Interstate at 165, also up at C.  And then a large amount of commercial land has been 

identified along Highway 50 and then coming down Highway 31. 

 

The commercial lands have been designated in certain categories.  There’s an N on some of the 

maps which reflects neighborhood retail and service centers, a C which is community retail and 

service centers, F which is freeway-oriented service center, O which is freeway office centers, an 

R which is freeway-oriented retail.  The last three classifications were done with a PDD, and 



 

 

 

4 

those areas are just west of the Interstate.  We have a BA-1, BA-2 and BA-3 areas.  Again, this is 

very unique for a very specific property and a specific project in that location. 

 

The next type of land use on the land use plan are the other transportation, communication and 

utilities lands.  This is identified in purple on the map.  Such lands include the power plant, the 

landfill site south of Highway 50, all of the railroads that run through the Village, the weigh 

station out by the Interstate and Highway ML, and then T which is overhead high tension wires, 

and we have a number of those throughout the Village as well.  When they encompass larger 

easements they’re clearly shown on the Land Use Plan map. 

The next designation is governmental and institutional land uses, and they’re identified in blue on 

the map. These areas identify M for municipal administrative offices, F for the fire station, P for 

the police station, H for hospital, and then the three designations for schools, E for elementary 

school, MS for a middle School and S for senior high school.  So, again, those are identified as 

blue areas on the map. 

 

The industrial lands are identified in gray.  Again, we’ve been planning for industrial areas for 

years.  The largest industrial area is right in the center of the community identified as the 

LakeView Corporate Park.  And then we do have some industrial areas that are actually to the 

west of the Interstate.  The industrial lands are divided up into L for limited industrial, G for 

general industrial, P for production and manufacturing, and CA PDD-1 and, again, that 

corresponds with those lands west of the Interstate south of Highway C. 

 

The next designation that we have in Pleasant Prairie are the park and recreation and other open 

space lands.  These are shown as the light green on the map.  They include neighborhood parks, 

community parks and regional parks.  Our most recently calendar for Pleasant Prairie actually 

identifies these parks with maps and drawings and photographs and some descriptions of each of 

these parks.  And as most of you know many of them are associated with different schools and 

different areas, large area park areas.  Regional parks would be the Prairie Springs Park.  

Community parks would be the Village Green Park in the center of the Village area.  And then 

we have neighborhood parks in and around a number of the subdivisions. 

 

The next classification on the map corresponds with some green and blue colors.  Those areas are 

the environmentally significant lands.  Pleasant Prairie has a significant amount of those.  We 

have primary and secondary environment corridors which there are a great deal of those down in 

the Chiwaukee Prairie/Carol Beach area as well as the Des Plaines River Watershed area that 

extends throughout the Village on the west end, isolated natural areas, wetlands, surface waters 

and floodplains. 

 

And then the final designation I’d like to talk about is an overlay area, and this is identified as our 

urban reserve area.  And these are identified with cross-hatching.  It’s a little bit difficult to see at 

that distance, but there’s a number of areas that actually have a cross-hatch designation on them.  

Those areas have been set aside and can only develop when and if a neighborhood plan is 

completed and adopted for a particular area, as well as public infrastructure has been extended to 

that area.  By public infrastructure I mean public sanitary sewer and water in order to serve the 

new growth that’s anticipated. 

 

So as I mentioned the next step in our planning process is the neighborhood plan and the 

development of a neighborhood plan.  For land use and infrastructure planning purposes, the 



 

 

 

5 

Village is divided into neighborhoods, sub-neighborhoods and special planning districts.  Each 

area varies in size, but it’s approximately 1½ square miles in area.  These neighborhood areas are 

typically bounded by transportation features such as arterial roadways, railways or they can be 

bounded by a body of water such as along the east side of Pleasant Prairie.   

 

Some neighborhoods as you can see cross into the City of Kenosha.  Again, as part of our 

planning process for the Kenosha Planning Urban Area back in 1996 we developed these 

neighborhood areas so that planning would take place cooperatively with our adjacent neighbor to 

the north.  So as you can see some of the neighborhoods actually transition and move into the 

City of Kenosha.  But there are certain areas that are still in Pleasant Prairie so we do count those 

as part of our neighborhoods as well.  There’s about 33 of these such neighborhoods.  

Neighborhood plans are completed for these areas prior to development.  Village neighborhoods, 

sub-neighborhoods and special planning districts, again, help us guide that planning process as 

we put together these neighborhood plans. 

 

As previously noted a neighborhood plan is a more refined component of the Land Use Plan and 

is essential to the orderly growth of the community because it establishes a framework within 

which future development can occur.  A fairly recent example of how a neighborhood plan works 

is a neighborhood plan that was developed for the Prairie Ridge neighborhood in the very 

northwest area of the Village.  Specifically planning for municipal services to accommodate 

development and growth in the Prairie Ridge area which is a mixed land use development area 

along Highway 50 between 88th Avenue and 104th Avenue began more than 20 years ago.  And 

it’s helped to contribute to the attractive and orderly growth that will be financially sustainable 

into the future for the community. 

 

So we went through the comprehensive planning process, the neighborhood planning process, we 

did a series of traffic impact analysis or traffic studies, and we did a lot of planning in that area in 

order to determine exactly how and if and when that development could occur.  And by working 

with the landowner we determined how that would work by developing future plans for that 

particular area.  And, again, that area is not fully built out but it’s getting there. 

 

Neighborhood plans help municipality or the Village plan for the future provision of public 

services such as: water, sanitary sewer, storm water management, police and fire protection, 

schools, parks, and road improvements.  In preparing a neighborhood plan many aspects are taken 

into consideration such as the  availability of municipal resources, the capability of the 

transportation system, compatibility of adjacent land uses, preserving environmental, cultural and 

historical resources, obtaining input from the community, examining urban design features, 

community character and architecture, and well as several other factors.   Because the Village 

must remain capable of providing services as the community grows, the Village Board must be 

able to know with some amount of certainty what type of growth will occur and in which areas of 

the community. 

 

Despite having the ability to use planning to establish a guide for orderly development, the 

Village is not, for the most part, the driving force behind growth in the community.  The private 

landowners are.  Private landowners decide when to sell and develop their property.  Land owners 

or developers who want to purchase their land approach the Village with a proposed idea or plan 

and a pre-application staff conference typically occurs. 

 



 

 

 

6 

The Village reviews the land owner's or a developer's proposed plan to ensure that it falls within 

the framework established by both the Land Use Plan, the subsequent Neighborhood Plan and the 

associated Zoning District regulations for the area.  These reviews help the community determine 

if the uses proposed by a private land owner or a developer are compatible with the existing 

surrounding land uses and the planned future uses within the neighborhood. 

 

These reviews involve a great deal of time and effort and research and work by the Village staff 

as well as the developer.  They include research, analysis, meetings, engineering and traffic 

studies, plan reviews, telephone calls, environmental delineations and studies, evaluations, public 

input, public meetings and public hearings.  These actions help the Village to determine if it can 

financially provide adequate municipal services for the new development without shifting any of 

that costs to existing taxpayers in the community. The Village has long followed the practice of 

requiring new development to pay its own way so that the existing taxpayers would not have to 

shoulder the financial tax burden for any new development. 

 

Now, moving next specifically to the Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plans.  The Barnes Creek 

Neighborhood is bounded by 89th and 91st Streets on the north, Sheridan Road or State Highway 

32 on the east, Highway 165 or 104th Street on the south, and the Kenosha County Bike Trail 

which is at about 30th Avenue on the west.  Springbrook Road is currently one of the only main 

streets that cut right through.  We do have some other roadways to the north in the south Kenosha 

area, but it’s the only local arterial other than 91st that is kind of cutting right through the center 

of the development.  We do have arterials as you can see, though, on all of the perimeter of the 

neighborhood. 

 

The neighborhood comprises a number of older area including the Springbrook, Brookside 

Gardens and Hickory Grove Subdivisions.  And, again, they’re all located to the north end of the 

development area.  There are a number of residential home sites along 28th and 29th Avenues, 

and they’re in the southwest area of the neighborhood.  The remainder of the area is primarily 

farmland but it includes some scattered home sites along the perimeter of the roadways along 165 

as well as Sheridan Road and 91st.  And in the very northeast corner of the neighborhood is the 

Keno Drive-In Theater.  One other significant area is in the very south corner, southeast corner of 

the neighborhood, and that is the Chesrow archeological site. 

 

Generally, the Land Use Plan, which is a part of the 2035 Comprehensive Plan, shows the 

following existing and future proposed uses in the neighborhood.  Now, what I’ve done is I’ve 

blown up exactly the neighborhood as shown on the Land use Plan.  So based on the 2035 

Comprehensive Plan the future proposed land uses have been generally identified for the Barnes 

Creek Neighborhood.  There are several areas that are designated as low-medium density 

residential lands, and this is comprising a mixture of single family and multi-family housing that 

are located throughout the neighborhood. 

 

[Inaudible Audience Comment] 

 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 

 

Again, the way that the Comprehensive Plan has been identified is that we are just looking at a 

generalized land use density on the Comprehensive Plan.  So overall this entire neighborhood is 

intended to be developed with a low-medium density land use classification.  This is not the 



 

 

 

7 

Neighborhood Plan, this is the Comprehensive Land Use Plan just for the boundary area of this 

particular neighborhood.  An area that is designated for community retail and service center 

which currently has the existing local outdoor drive-in theater on it is located in that very 

northeastern corner, again, the Keno Theater.  It’s in an area that’s been identified for community 

commercial and is identified with a C on the comprehensive plan.   

 

There’s an area identified as a government and institutional land area, and it’s designated for the 

St. Joe’s Nursing Home which is a group quartered area, and that is located in this area.  And then 

a second government and institutional land use area which is shown for a future public 

elementary school neighborhood park.  And as you’ll see on the Neighborhood Plan we’ve 

adjusted the location, but the Comprehensive Plan kind of showed in more in the central part 

north of 104th Street. 

 

There are a number a number of environmentally significant lands in this particular area of the 

Comprehensive Plan.  These include environmental corridors, isolated natural areas, wetlands, 

floodplains and shorelands.  These are all designated in the green areas, and they typically follow 

along the tributaries of the Barnes Creek.  The other item I just wanted to take note is of the other 

significant open lands there’s the Chesrow archeological site which is right at the corner of 165 

and Sheridan Road. 

 

So that brings us to the landowner’s request for the Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan.  The 

Village has established a very detailed development review process as set forth in Municipal 

Code Chapter 395.  That ordinance is the Land Division and Development Control Ordinance.  It 

was initially adopted by the community back in 1990.  To further provide direction to 

landowners, the Village staff conducts a pre-application staff conference, and we also provide a 

developer checklist for land divisions and developments.  This describes all of the steps required 

when proposing new development in the Village. 

 

The request to complete a Neighborhood Plan for the Barnes Creek Neighborhood was submitted 

by the landowner who was interested in selling his property for a big box development to be 

located at the southwest corner of State Highway 32 or Sheridan Road and 91st Street to replace 

the current commercial land use, the Keno Drive-In outdoor theater at the location.     

 

In order to obtain direction from the community, the landowner has requested approval of Barnes 

Creek Neighborhood Plan Alternative #1 that depicts a  150,000 square foot big box retail 

supercenter at that southwest corner of 91st Street and Sheridan Road. This alternative also 

presents a slightly higher overall residential density than what is allowed for in the current Land 

Use Plan.   So we’re going to leave that alternative 1 up for just a minute.  We’re going to come 

back to each of the alternatives, but I’m just providing a general overview first. 

 

So due to Village staff concerns for the proposed land uses presented in alternative #1, the staff 

went ahead and drafted two additional Neighborhood Plan Alternatives for comment and 

consideration. Alternatives #2 and #3, and we’ll be going through them, this is alternative #2, and 

this is alternative #3.  Both alternatives #2 and #3 prepared by Village staff are compliant with 1) 

the existing Community Retail and Service Center land use designation that’s in the Land Use 

Plan for the most part,  and the B-2, Community Business Zoning District for the area in the 

northeast corner of the Neighborhood. 

 



 

 

 

8 

Again, when I said for the most part there is one exception, and that’s both alternative 2 and 3 do 

allow for one additional lot at this location to be identified as part of a community commercial 

designation.  This plan also does comply with the overall residential land use density as provided 

in that Land Use Plan.  And, again, that was that low-medium density classification.  Therefore, 

in addition to the Neighborhood Plan based on what’s been presented an amendment to the Land 

Use Plan would be required for these plans.  There are some similarities between each of the plan 

alternatives, and there are some major differences with respect to the alternate plans, and all three 

will be explained in detail. 

 

So with respect to the Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan overview I’m going to be looking at 

them by land use type.  Under residential lands, each Neighborhood Plan Alternative shows the 

existing 324 single family residential units.  Again, these are existing residential, and they’re all 

identified in the tan color on the map.  So all three maps would show those existing residential 

single family unites.  This comprises about 211.5 acres of this neighborhood.  This includes areas 

west of 22nd Avenue, north of 93rd Street, an area north of Highway 165 or 104th Street, areas 

adjacent to both 28th and 29th Avenues and areas adjacent to 91st street and Sheridan Road.  So, 

again, all of the areas I’ve just reference are the areas that are in that low-medium density 

classification. 

 

In addition, each alternative includes the existing units at St. Joe’s property which includes some 

residential apartments.  Proposed residential land by various conceptual density types is shown 

throughout the northern, central and southern portions of the neighborhood.  It is important to 

note that while the number of multi-family units is shown on each building, the total number of 

buildings is not an automatic approval of that exact number of units shown for each development.  

So what I mean by that is in each of these areas there’s boxes that delineate a multi-family 

building.  And in each of these boxes there’s a number.  It could be 2, 10, 12, 36, 40, and that 

represents the number of units that was proposed as part of this alternative 1 plan.  

 

But just to be clear as each individual project is developed it is still a requirement that they need 

to meet certain standards for setbacks, fire access and parking.  So at this level of planning that 

detailed analysis was not done.  This was done just as an overview as part of a refinement to the 

Land Use Plan.  That typically would be covered in the next planning step or the conceptual plan 

step. 

 

The chart that Peggy is just putting up now is actually a breakdown of the total number of 

existing and proposed residential units by building type in each alternative.  And many of you had 

an opportunity to take a look at the three plans, and this is a chart that breaks down the numbers.  

So we’ve got the residential unit type, alternatives 1, 2 and 3.  The existing number of single 

family units is the same in all three, 324.   

 

The existing multi-family was the same in all three for the St. Joseph’s apartments.  The proposed 

single family units alternative 1, 203, alternative 2, 203, and the third is 285.  And the proposed 

two unit buildings 86, 96, 92.  Four-unit buildings -- I’m sorry.  Oh, the four units are existing, I 

apologize.  And then the six unit buildings 24, 132, 132.  Ten unit 280, 280, 280.  Proposed 24, 

360 in alternative 1, none in alternatives 2 and 3.  Proposed forty unit buildings 560 residential 

units, 480 in 2 and 3.  proposed 48-units buildings a total of 96 units.  So the total units in the 

three alternatives, again, the first alternative is 1,977, alternative 2 is 1,651, and alternative 3 is 

1,733.   



 

 

 

9 

 

The acres or the area of residential development 506 total for alternative 1; 505.6 and 524 in 

alternative  3.  Net residential density the first alternative is 3.9, the second is 3.27, and this is the 

total number of units per acre, and alternative 3 is 3.30.  The average lot size, and again I spoke of 

this earlier when we talked about the Land Use Plan, the average lot size per unit in alternative 1 

is 11,158, in alternative 2 is 13,339, and alternative 3 is 13,188. 

 

So in accordance with the Village Land Use Plan, the overall net density for the neighborhood is 

recommended to be within the Low-Medium Density Residential land use category with the 

average lot area being between 12,000 square feet 18,999 square feet.  This allows for some areas 

of the neighborhood to have larger residential lots while some areas will have smaller residential 

lots or be developed as multi-family.  The net density of the alternative #1 has an average lot size, 

again of 11,128 which is outside the lot size per dwelling allowed for this neighborhood per the 

Comprehensive Plan.  Alternatives 2 and 3 have an average lot size of 13,339 and 13,188 

respectively and are within the density range as shown on the Comprehensive Land Use Plan. 

 

With respect to population projections for the neighborhood, the vacant portions of the 

neighborhood will not develop until the land owners wish to develop their land which makes 

neighborhood planning essential for the growth of the community.  The Neighborhood Plan is 

used by the community to evaluate the proposed population growth patterns in order to track 

growth on an incremental basis as the neighborhood develops over time so that it can be 

appropriately served by the municipality. 

 

Based on the 2010 census information for the Village, the average number of persons per 

household is 2.71 and school age children between the ages of 5 and 19 make up 22.6 percent of 

the population.  The Village provides copies of proposed developments to the Kenosha Unified 

School District to assist in their long-range planning.  Pursuant to the information provided by the 

KUSD for Pleasant Prairie, 42 percent of the new dwelling units will have new students that will 

attend public schools.   

 

The long range population projections at full build out at 2035 for this neighborhood, alternatives 

1, 2 and 3 are shown on the slide.  With full build out, again, that can come 20 to 25 to 30 years 

from now, alternative 1 986, alternative 2 986, number 3 986 for current population.  Proposed 

population 5,358 under alternative 1, 4,474 under alternative at full build out, and 4,696 under 

alternative 3 at full build out.  So the estimate of school age children 830 under alternative 1, 693 

under alternative 2, and 728 under alternative 3. 

 

The next area I’d like to talk about is community commercial areas.  All three plans show a 

commercial area at that southwest corner of Highway 32 and 91st Street.  However, the areas 

shown for all three are not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.  The Comprehensive Plan 

requires that the Land Use Plan and the Neighborhood Plans be consistent with the Village 

Zoning Ordinances both the Zoning Text and the Map.  As such, the Village established specific 

Zoning Ordinance Districts to reflect the various commercial land use designations identified in 

the Land Use Plan.  That’s something that I talked about at the very beginning when I talked 

about all those different classifications, C for commercial, N for neighborhood, F for freeway 

oriented. 

 



 

 

 

10 

The Land Use Plan identifies land on this corner as a community retail and service center to 

provide community level retail and service facilities in a medium density residential urban area.   

Specifically, the community retail and service area corresponds with the B-2, Community 

Business Zoning District, which only allows for buildings to range in size from 4,000 to 25,000 

square feet, and it’s  intended to provide for a cluster of retail, service or office uses.   

 

Alternative #1: Alternative #1 shows approximately 19.3 acres that encroach into the portion of 

the environmental areas to the west.  This alternative shows a 150,000 square foot big box retail 

store at the corner and a 30,000 square foot building to the south.   As indicated previously, a 

150,000 square foot big box retail store shown in alternative #1 is six times larger than the 

maximum commercial building size of the B-2 District which is only 25,000 square feet. 

 

It's important to note that alternative #1 provides for a land use that would be classified in the 

Village's Land Use Plan as a Freeway-Oriented Regional Retail Center land use designation.  

This land use designation corresponds with the B-3, Regional Retail Business District, which 

would allow for big box retail with a minimum floor area of 50,000 square feet per building.  The 

Freeway-Oriented areas near I-94 freeway interchanges and the Land Use Plan anticipate 

continued strong demand for regional retail but along I-94.   

 

Under alternatives 2 and they both show similar commercial layouts with approximately 18.3 

acres of commercial land with no encroachment to the environmental features.  Both alternatives 

indicate small commercial buildings ranging in size from 8,900 square feet to 24,000 square feet.  

They comply with the Comprehensive Land Use Plan with respect to the building size.  With, 

again, a minor exception of that additional commercial area, that additional lot to the south.  The 

smaller commercial development would be created to meet the requirements of the B-2 District 

with no more than 25,000 square feet permitted per building for each of its own parcels.  Six 

parcels could be created each meeting the minimum two acre lot size with a minimum of 150 feet 

on a public road as required by the B-2 District.  These alternatives would require shared parking 

and cross-access easements and agreements. 

 

The southernmost commercial lot on each alternative, alternative1 the  30,000 square foot 

building and alternatives 2 and 3, an 11,000 square foot building, is not identified on the Land 

Use Plan currently as commercial.  If any of the alternatives are being considered for approval, it 

is important to note that the Land Use Plan Map would need to be amended first to include this 

area in the Community Retail and Service Center land use designation. 

 

In addition, alternative #1 does not comply with the Land Use Plan as stated above.  The 

Commercial Community Retail and Service Center designation does not allow for big box retail 

in the B-2 District.  If alternative #1 is approved an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan, not 

only the Land Use Plan but other areas of the Comprehensive Plan would need to be amended to 

allow for big box at this location. 

 

In addition, the corresponding commercial land use designation would more likely be Freeway-

Oriented Regional Retail Center.  Therefore a new policy direction would need to be provided 

and re-evaluated by the community to determine if big box retail should be allowed in other areas 

of the Village not just by the freeway.  If this direction is pursued, other changes to the Zoning 

Ordinance may also be required since the Comprehensive Plan and the Zoning Ordinance shall be 

consistent. 



 

 

 

11 

 

The next area is government and institution area.  All three alternatives show approximately 40.8 

acres of land identified as Governmental/Institutional land uses, including: the existing St. 

Joseph's facility at the northwest corner of 93rd Street and 29th Avenue and a site approximately 

26.4 acres which is along 104th street for a future elementary school and park.  It’s approximately 

where 22nd Avenue would come through to the south.   The Village staff continues to work with 

the Kenosha Unified School District on proposed developments and the locating of future 

schools.  This site is intended for development in approximately 15-20 years depending on the 

development status of the surrounding neighborhood and the need for another elementary school 

in this area to serve the community. 

 

With respect to open space are4as on the neighborhood plans, the neighborhood plan includes the 

following types of open space:  public park which includes the Brookside Gardens Park which is 

the recently renamed area, the former Manutronics site, primary environmental corridor, isolated 

natural areas, wetlands, 100-year floodplain and other open space.  Open spaces ranges from 

267.5 acres to 331.9 acres in the three alternatives.  These are areas that have been identified in 

green and gray.  Primarily the gray areas reflect the isolated natural areas on the plan. 

 

 

• Alternative #1 identifies approximately 267.5 acres or 30.3 percent of the lands within 

the neighborhood would remain as open space.   

 

 • Alternative #2 identifies approximately 268.7 acres or 30.5 acres of the lands that would 

be open space. 

• Alternative #3 which has the most open space is 331.9 acres or 37, almost 38 percent of 

the land within the neighborhood that would remain as open space. 

 

Each alternative shows the existing 10-acre park for Brookside Garden Park between 26th and 

24th Avenues.  Each alternative shows 31.3 acres of isolated natural areas.  Again there are 

woodlands, wetlands, floodplain and other areas that are deemed to be approved for preservation.  

And each alternative shows approximately 166.4 acres of land for primary environmental 

corridor.  Again, that’s primarily adjacent to the waterways of the Barnes Creek and its 

tributaries.   

 

Each alternative also shows the location of the 100-year floodplain.  The floodplain is located 

adjacent to the Barnes Creek and its tributaries throughout the neighborhood.  Prior to 

consideration of any conceptual plan or any other detailed site planning on the property, there 

would need to be a detailed field verification of the 100-year floodplain or any other 

environmentals on the property. 

 

Any development that constricts the flow of water or reduces floodplain storage which may create 

upstream or downstream flooding problems and reduces capacity of the floodplain to store water 

is prohibited.  In some instances property can be removed from the floodplain, but this is only 

with the proper floodplain boundary adjustment, engineering analysis.  And that equal amount of 

floodplain would need to be recreated within this neighborhood. 

 

In addition there would always need to be additional regulatory approvals from the Wisconsin 

Department of Natural Resources and the Federal Emergency Management Agency.  In addition, 



 

 

 

12 

again, there would need to be an equal volume classification, equal volume characteristics that 

would allow for areas to be filled if new areas are created.  The last thing that I would like to say 

about floodplains is that any area that is in the floodplain that is going to be filled needs to be 

filled to an elevation at least two feet above the elevation of the regional flood elevation to avoid 

any potential problems.  Again, in Pleasant Prairie we don’t allow any development within the 

floodplain. 

 

Each alternative shows the location of interpolated wetlands.  What I mean by that is that prior to 

any development occurring within a conceptual plan or a site and operational plan the developer 

would be required to have field verified wetlands by a biologist.  At this point they’re interpolated 

by the Regional Planning Commission and by the Wisconsin DNR.  They’re mapped as final 

wetlands, but again they’re subject to that interpolation and further delineation.  And that work 

needs to be done and they have to be verified by both the DNR and the Corps of Engineers prior 

to any development that could take place. 

 

And typically these environmental areas are not delineated right now.  We’re using the aerial 

photo interpretations because those delineations are typically valid for five years or less.  If there 

are a lot of changes in the environment and development is not imminent then that verification 

and that delineation that was done five years ago may not last five years.  It may only last a 

couple of years.  So it’s important to note that that has not yet been done on this property or any 

of these properties. 

 

Each alternative indicates other open spaces, and this is what causes the variation in the open 

space classification and the category of the percentage of open space.  Between alternatives 1 and 

2 they’re very similar because they’re based on the similar road layout pattern as it relates to the 

single family development.  So alternatives 1 and 2 have that more traditional look to a single 

family development in Pleasant Prairie.  They have public roads, larger lots that are anywhere 

from a third to a half acre in size.  And a lot of the open space is incorporated then into those 

individual lots. 

 

Alternative #3, however, that’s a little different.  We decided to introduce a newer concept for 

alternative 3, and that new concept would provide for smaller single family lots that could be 

single family or they could be condominium with the open spaces around each unit to be common 

open space for the development.  These single family units would front upon private roads, and 

the intent is that every unit in this particular area would abut upon green space.  So as you can see 

there’s green space on all perimeters inside the development area and outside.  And that would be 

the same thing this area to the south and the same thing to the area to the west.  It’s kind of a new 

concept.  We thought it could work as a gated community.  Again, it would have private streets in 

these particular areas.  The multi-family areas on alternatives 2 and 3 are the same.  Again, it’s 

alternative 1 that the density of the multi-family was much higher. 

 

The other open spaces include future stormwater management facilities, retention basins which 

are shown on each of the alternatives.  And at the time that a conceptual plan, again which is that 

next level of detail or a detailed site and operational plan is submitted for any portion of the 

neighborhood, the developer’s engineer would be required to evaluate the development site based 

on actual field conditions.  And they would need to provide detailed stormwater management 

plans which meet all the Village requirements. 

 



 

 

 

13 

Now I’d like to go into a Barnes Creek Neighborhood plans overview analysis. 

 

 1. Availability of sanitary sewer and water:  For all three Neighborhood Plan Alternatives 

all new residential, governmental and institutional and commercial development are 

required to be connected to the municipal sanitary sewer and water facilities as a 

condition of development approval.  For any new residential development to occur in the 

neighborhood, sanitary sewer would need to be extended from south to north based on 

the grade of the land and the depth of the sanitary sewer line.  So what I’m saying is that 

all new residential development would likely need to begin near Highway 165 or 104th 

Street and progress northward. 

 

New commercial development as proposed at the southwest corner of 91st Street and 

Sheridan Road would not be able to develop until a new water distribution line project is 

completed in 2016 along Sheridan Road. In the Village's Capital Improvements Plan, the 

Village had planned for a new water distribution line along Sheridan Road in order to 

protect the integrity of its two main water transmission lines that transport water from the 

Kenosha Water Utility into Pleasant Prairie. The commercial corner at 91st and Sheridan 

Road already has a temporary access to municipal sanitary sewer on 91st Street.  

Additional development or redevelopment would require access to the sanitary sewer 

main at about 92nd Street at Sheridan Road. 

 

So for that corner only up here there’s a temporary connection to the City of Kenosha 

system.  And if it’s redeveloped or developed for any purpose a new connection would 

have to come from the Village’s main not from the City of Kenosha’s main.  All other 

lands to be developed would be required to have all of these services prior to any 

development. 

 

 2. Transportation system and access analysis:  All new residential, governmental and 

institutional and commercial development must evaluate the traffic impact generated by a 

new development.  This analysis typically begins at the Neighborhood Plan review step.  

Roadways must be designed and specific access defined to allow traffic to move 

throughout the neighborhood and throughout community.   

The Barnes Creek Neighborhood is adjacent to two state highways, State Highway 165 

on the south and State Highway 32 along the east.  Springbrook Road runs on an angle 

diagonal through the neighborhood, and 22nd Avenue serves as a local arterial or 

collector street within the Barnes Creek Neighborhood.  These State highways and local 

arterial and collector streets carry local traffic and traffic for those passing through the 

community.   

 

A Traffic Impact Analysis is also referred to as a TIA.  So a TIA is required to be 

completed by a traffic engineer to determine the amount of right-of-way needed, the type 

of improvements required to address the future traffic increases, the type of intersection 

improvements needed, and the location and number of driveway access points to continue 

to move the traffic in and around the area.  The TIA will also provide time lines as to 

when improvements may be warranted based upon proposed development patterns.  A 

preliminary TIA which the Village has and was put out on the website, has already been 

prepared by the Wal-Mart Super Center traffic consultant for their proposed big box 

development. 



 

 

 

14 

 

There are several preliminary comments and concerns from both the Village and the 

Wisconsin Department of Transportation regarding the impacts of the proposed big box 

retail store on the adjacent and nearby roadway system as reflected in the traffic study 

and the Wisconsin DOT letter which was dated June 27, 2013.  Also, since 91st Street is 

in the City of Kenosha jurisdiction, the City will also need to be afforded the opportunity 

to provide comments regarding the traffic study and any required improvements.   

 

It is important to note that a TIA not only looks at existing traffic counts but puts great 

emphasis on future traffic counts to be generated which is based on the land uses being 

proposed.  The TIA cannot be completed for final review or evaluation until the 

Neighborhood Plan is completed and adopted.    

 

All of the Neighborhood plan alternatives 1, 2 and 3 show existing and proposed access 

roadways and driveways to the local arterials, collector streets and state highways 

generally at the same locations.  Some intersections are shown as a typical four-way 

intersection which may or may not include stop signs or signals, and some are shown as 

roundabouts.   As noted on each of the alternatives, the type of intersection will be 

determined by the TIA.   The TIA will need to be approved by the Wisconsin Department 

of Transportation, the Village and the City of Kenosha.  

 

Neighborhood planning also involves examining how other local roadways connect to 

these arterials and how traffic will flow throughout the neighborhood.  Due to the larger 

amount of environmental features within the neighborhood, what is being proposed are 

two main boulevard streets on all three alternatives.  There is a proposed north/south 

boulevard with roundabouts connecting to 165 on the south at about 22nd Avenue and to 

the north at Springbrook Road at 29th Avenue.  So this is the main north/south road 

through the development.  Again, roundabouts are shown on the south, in the center and 

at the north.  This is a very precarious intersection with five different legs that are coming 

into that particular area. 

 

 There is an east/west boulevard leading from Highway 32 or Sheridan Road at 97th 

Street and extending west to 28th and 29th Avenues.  Again, a boulevarded road is 

shown, a roundabout is at this time shown on Sheridan Road, a roundabout in the center, 

and then connections to the two 28th and 29th Avenues on the west. 

These collector roadways intersect in the center with the roundabout. These roadway 

locations were carefully laid out based on environmental features of the site with limited 

crossings of environmental areas at the narrowest parts.  Roadway crossings of these 

environmental features require detailed environmental delineations, surveys, and detailed 

engineering plans along with approvals and permits from other government agencies.  

The Village staff believes that these two boulevard collector roadways are very important 

to move traffic throughout this neighborhood and from neighborhood to another.     

 

3. Compatibility with adjacent land uses analysis:  The Alternate #1 Neighborhood Plan 

commercial area for a proposed big box retail store is not compatible with the adjacent 

land uses.  The negative impacts to be generated from the development at this location far 

outweigh the benefits to the community.  Big box retail development should be located in 

proximity to other retail uses in a freeway regional area or regional commercial area 



 

 

 

15 

where the surrounding residential land uses would not be negatively impacted by the 

operations of the commercial activities.   The regional retail commercial operations could 

negatively impact the quality of life for residents in close proximity to the development, 

along with placing undue burdens on the local community for services.   

 

Such negative impacts could include, but would not be limited to traffic congestion, 

noises from vehicles, trucks, back up truck beeping, banging of trucks, garbage dumpster 

and compactor usage and collection noises, parking lot and building light pollution, 

garbage and debris, stray shopping carts, electronic signage flashing and glare, patrons on 

site after hours, increases in crime, site and landscaping maintenance issues, and illegal 

pods and trailer storage brought on site to deal with surplus goods and services.  

 

4. Preservation of environmental and archeological resources analysis: As reflected in the 

neighborhood plans, the Village staff is recommending the preservation of the 

environmental corridors and the wooded isolated natural areas within the neighborhood.  

For the most part, these areas are interconnected by the Barnes Creek and its tributaries.  

At the southeast corner of the neighborhood is a property that was donated by the land 

owner and designated as an archeological site-referred to as the Chesrow site.   

 

5. Compliance with the Village's Land Division and Development Control Ordinance 

process: While the Village has not yet received any formal submitted application request 

for an amendment to the Comprehensive Land Use Plan modification on behalf of the 

land owner or the retailer, a rough draft of the Wal-Mart Conceptual Plan and a 

preliminary traffic study were submitted for the Village staff's initial review, and an 

initial pre-application staff conference was held regarding the placement of a big box 

retailer at the referenced location. 

 

Because the size of the big box store depicted in the land owner's proposed neighborhood 

plan it was identified that it was six times larger than the maximum commercial building 

size currently allowed in this area, and because of the higher residential housing density 

proposed in the neighborhood, the developer must request amendments to the 2035 

Comprehensive Land Use Plan and the Zoning Map and Text in order to proceed.  Under 

the Village's current master planning document which is that 2035 Comprehensive Land 

Use Plan and the corresponding zoning which is that B-2 District, the maximum 

commercial building size currently allowed on this corner is 25,000 square feet.  In 

addition, the density proposed is higher than that allowed for in the Land Use Plan. 

 

As indicated previously, the Village's Land Division and Development Control 

Ordinance and the developer checklist sets forth required steps to follow for the approval 

process in the community.  As noted in a January 22, 2015 Village staff letter to the 

landowner, in quotes, in order for the Village to process the landowner's request for the 

Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan, which will be a component of the Village's 

Comprehensive Plan, a complete application shall be submitted along with the required 

application fee of $225 for a Comprehensive Plan Amendment.  The application shall be 

in the form of written letter that details the specific amendments to the Village 

Comprehensive Plan that you are requesting.  This direction was again provided by the 

Village staff in a letter to the land owner on February 22, 2015.  

 



 

 

 

16 

As noted in the letter, upon receipt of the required application materials, the Village staff 

will process your request in a timely manner; however, we feel obliged to caution you 

that your proposed Neighborhood Plan for Barnes Creek Alternative 1 does not comply 

with the Village Comprehensive Land Use Plan in that the southwest corner of STH 32 

and 91st Street, which is identified as  Community Retail and Service Center would not 

allow for the big box retail that you are proposing at this location.  In addition, the 

Village staff indicated again to the landowner that the Comprehensive Plan component, 

the Land Use Plan, must be amended either prior to or at the same time as consideration 

of the Neighborhood Plan. The request for the Comprehensive Land Use Plan 

Amendment was not submitted. 

 

6. Economic impact on the Village services:  The Village has made a land use commitment 

about 20 years ago that major regional retail and big box retail centers in the community 

would be located along I-94 in proximity to 165 and along Highway 50 with Village's 

resources for major retail services focused in those areas.  Locating a major big box 

retailer on the east end of the community does not allow for an efficient and effective use 

of the Village's municipal resources.  

 

 7. Examining urban design features, community character and architecture:  Urban design 

features, community character and architecture would need to be closely reviewed and 

approved for the entire neighborhood.  The Village has not yet received any detailed 

architectural plans for a big box retail store for review.  The architectural design of the 

building and site is critically important to the review of the property and its future use. 

 

And finally I’d like to mention that in order to obtain public input on these Neighborhood Plan 

Alternatives, the Village sent the required notices to property owners within the neighborhood 

and within 300 feet of the neighborhood boundaries.  Over 640 notices went out to Village and 

City residents.  We then posted and published the required 30 day notice in the Kenosha News.   

In addition, the Village on its website solicited public input in and open Village Hall forum.  And 

as a point of information, this information is also out there, and all of the comments of individuals 

that posted concerns regarding these neighborhood plans and other issues. 

 

In addition, I just wanted to mention that we did receive some additional comments to the Village 

Clerk and to the Village administrative staff that came in on Friday as well as today.  And those 

additional items have also been provided to you or have been placed in front of you.  Those are 

concerns and emails from additional residents above the other ones.  In addition, the staff has 

spoke with or met with approximately 50 people who came into the Village Hall to take a look at 

the neighborhood plans and the process and to get information.  And this afternoon a public open 

house was held.  There was no formal presentation at that time, but there was a good lively 

discussion about the various neighborhood plans.  And I think we had between 80 and 100 people 

that attended this afternoon to gather some additional information.   

 

Many of them are back this evening, and they signed up this afternoon.  But also many of them 

signed up to speak this evening as part of the public hearing record.  And then in addition staff 

reminds me that we also did receive some written comments that we will make part of the record 

as well from folks that could not come back this evening but were at the public open house this 

afternoon.  So with that I’d like to continue the public hearing.  I think it would be best to begin 

with the landowner and his application and listen to any comments that he has for our public 



 

 

 

17 

meeting and public record.  And then we do have a number of signups.  And I would recommend 

that we start with those signups.  And then anybody else in the audience that didn’t get a chance 

to sign up that we can call them in an orderly fashion to come up to speak for the record. 

 

Steve Mills: 

 

Thank you.  My name is Steve Mills, and I am the owner or I should say I represent the owner 

tonight of Berwick Properties and Mills Holdings.  Ninety percent of the entity is owned by my 

children.  S.R. Mills is here tonight, Kathleen and Elizabeth who are not.  Ten percent is owned 

by Marty Mills, their mom, and the balance myself, the balance of that 10 percent.  The property 

is 556 acres.  And it is basically the subject of this land plan and the fact that the other properties 

that make up the 200 and some odd other acres are already basically built out.  So that I think 

we’re the subject matter for the evening. 

 

The history of this property goes back 39 years.  I acquired the first component of this I believe in 

1976.  It was the Duma farm.  The address was 9501 29th Avenue, 60 acres, an old farmhouse 

and barns and buildings.  And Marty Mills and I moved in and made that our home.  And it was a 

true fixer upper going back to those days.  Actually had two houses, one of them we had to burn 

down.  But over the next four decades, 39 years, I’ve acquired the other parcels that make up this 

556 acres when those parcels became available.  There’s actually another 100 acres down the 

road, down Sheridan Road called Tobin Creek which we also developed probably a decade or so 

ago.  That as I believe, Jean could probably tell, 93 lots I believe on about 100 acres. 

 

My son and I -- first of all I guess it’s fair to say that we’re here bringing this land plan forward.  

We’ve owned much of this property a very long time.  I don’t believe that I will probably see this 

property fully developed in my lifetime.  I thought while I was still kicking we’d at least bring a 

plan forward.  So Jean did a very eloquent presentation.  And I thank her for the comments.  I’m 

here tonight with my son, S.R.  In the past we’ve had a land planner, our engineers and 

environmental consultants, and we worked on this plan for about three years. 

 

I’d like to thank Jean Werbie-Harris, Peggy Herrick and Mike Pollocoff specifically for the time 

and the effort and professionalism throughout this whole process.  While we didn’t always agree 

and still don’t we’ve never had anything but courtesy from the Plan Commission, and it was 

never mean spirited or adversarial.  It was all business and we appreciate that. 

 

My vision for this property really includes Sheridan Road.  And it includes Sheridan Road from 

75th Street I believe all the way to the State Line.  When I came to Kenosha in 1971 South 

Sheridan Road was a very vibrant area.  It had a commercial corridor.  There were auto 

dealerships.  There were grocery stores, a Kroger’s.  There was a big box retailer, Arlen’s if 

anybody remembers that, and many other prosperous businesses.  Arlen’s wasn’t so prosperous.  

It did eventually close, and that’s where the County has a facility there today. 

 

I guess I looked at this plan as maybe a rebirth of that corridor.  Our Alternative Plan 1 calls for 

approximately 1,900 housing units on 506 acres, about 3.9 units per acre, very similar to what 

Jean and her group have basically brought forward.  And it is as we look at it very low density, 

and we believe that we’re sticking close to the plan.  We can work that out.  These new 

residences will need shopping and neighborhood services.  Our plan accomplishes that.  It also 



 

 

 

18 

provides these services to all south Kenosha, Pleasant Prairie and really Green Bay Road east of 

Lake Michigan. 

 

We have an interest in our commercial site for the most successful and well capitalized retailer in 

the world.  I don’t believe there will ever be another Arlan’s.  Their interest, their market 

research, there commitment to invest $10 to $15 million in this location proves to me, again, that 

they’ve done their homework, that it will work at this site if we’re allowed to put it there.  The 

possible addition of a Wal-Mart or a big box retailer to this corner I think would be a game 

changer in a positive way.  It would bring business and commerce up and down Sheridan Road 

and I believe, again, from 75th Street all the way to the State Line.  We might bump out the old 

book store and maybe knock off another vacant gas station down on south Sheridan Road.  I think 

south Sheridan Road in Kenosha has had some significant progress in the last few years with new 

business with a Culver’s, a Taco Bell, an Auto Zone, a Walgreens.   

 

Our vision or my vision, right or wrong, was that that also could be accomplished on the site that 

we own here.  My family would be willing, as Jean mentioned, to do a neighborhood shopping 

center of about 30,000 square feet which they call a shadow anchor to a Wal-Mart where we’d 

have 1,200 square feet to 5,000 square foot users.  And we could fill that space because of the 

amount of people that Wal-Mart would bring to this location.  One of our concerns or my concern 

is without an anchor at this corner the ability to backfill this space with small users or six 25,000 

square foot users is not practical.  The land area on 91st and Sheridan Road consists of 56.98 

acres with about 34.5 usable for the assessor, Pleasant Prairie Assessor.  Clearly it’s certainly the 

balance is wetlands, 34.51.  It’s certainly large enough to accommodate the proposed uses that 

we’re talking about.   

 

And I guess I go back, again, many years as you can see by the ownership of this property, and 

I’m a principal in a real estate company called the Bear Real Estate Group.  We’ve been around 

since 1924 in this area and this County.  I promise I’m not that old.  I started with I.J. Bear in 

1973.  That is 42 years ago.  I’ve seen Kenosha County in the worst of time, and I now believe I 

see it in the best of times.  Progress and what has happened in the I-94 corridor and the 

throughout the marketplace is finding its way out of a very tough recession that there were not too 

many prisoners taken in the business world.  And those of us who survived are very optimistic. 

 

I and my company were also part of development of that Highway 50 corridor that Jean talks 

about, and we’re very proud of that.  I know a local farmer who acquired 300 acres on the corner 

of 104th Avenue and Highway 50.  And we did that in 1980.  It was the Neblong Farm, and we 

raised corn there until about 1992.  And that parcel is on the north side of Highway 50, Prairie 

Ridge is on the south side.  Later actually when we acquired it that property on the north side was 

in Pleasant Prairie.  And because of the incorporation it found its way into the City of Kenosha. 

 

Many positive things have happened in that corridor where once we were raising corn.  And on 

the north side of the road between about 86th Avenue and 104th Street we did most of that 

development where we had the land and supplied that to the developers that came into the market.  

That started in about ‘92.  We just sold our last site, at least in the 300 acre site, actually we didn’t 

sell it, we developed it where Concordia University is.  And the reason I say that is it looked 

much like Sheridan Road.  And I believe that the 869 housing units that were put on the Neblong 

farm, we built 1,212 condominium units, retail, office, Candlewood Suites that we own, we built 

a hotel there, banks and financial locations, two assisted living facilities, daycare, day school, 



 

 

 

19 

adult education with Concordia, a new backfilling of a building with a medical and surgical 

center that’s just gone in across from Aurora.  And numerous other tenants that are occupying 

that space up and down Sheridan Road, excuse me, up and down Highway 50 I would like to 

emulate in this Sheridan Road corridor. 

 

I believe that, again, with the retailer that has expressed interest in this site being the most 

successful retailer and most well capitalized one in the world that this location would prosper.  

And the area from Green Bay Road east, State Line north, 75th Street south people need to go 

someplace and shop.  And it’s basically a department store.  Whether it’s all under one roof or 

spread out across multiple 25,000 square foot boxes it can draw to this location and this location 

and also all of Sheridan Road. 

 

The elephant in the room here, though, and it’s why I think a lot of people are here tonight is the 

Keno Drive-In Theater.  And so I thought I’d just make some comments in reference to that.  I 

acquired the Keno Drive-In in 1996.  And the Keno has had its ups and downs.  Immediately after 

I bought the Keno in 1997 Cinemark Tinseltown came to town with 14 screens.  And they opened 

in Kenosha and immediately put three other theaters out of business.  We were the lone survivor.  

And because we didn’t really generate our livelihood off of the Keno we fed it and kept it open.  

It was sort of like David and Goliath. 

 

So for many years we made some money and we lost some money.  And we had a lot of fun 

running the Keno.  We gave away tickets to customers in our real estate business, to our tenants, 

to charity raffles, employees and their kids.  Sometimes I even gave them to strangers who looked 

like they were having a bad day.  Here’s a couple tickets to the drive-in.  As I said, we had fun 

and liked the notoriety.  I can tell you right now I and my family don’t care much for the 

notoriety because of the fact we’re in the cross-hairs of having to close it. 

 

The Keno was purchased for what it is and that’s a commercial corner to be developed as a 

shopping center when retail parcels to the south were assembled, this map.  The time is now and 

the plan is needed to move our 556 acre parcel forward, and that’s really why we’re here.  The 

Keno itself, the facilities which is evident if you were ever to drive by in the spring we lose a 

number of boards off of that screen, four by eight pieces fly around the infield so to speak, and 

we get to put them all back up.  And Jim was here a little earlier, and Jeff who really worked that 

Keno and loved it for many, many years they did a lot of that work.  We usually supplied the 

capital.  The screen, the projection room, the concession stand they all are in dire need of 

replacement.  They’re 67 years old.   

 

Kind of the straw that broke the camel’s back was the new digital equipment meaning that we 

can’t get movies now without spending $80,000 to $100,000 in new equipment for the ability to 

play movies at the facility.  We can’t insure the facilities on the site, meaning the buildings, for 

loss due to their age and conditions.  There are certain possible code violations that if enforced to 

the letter to be too prohibitive financially to cure.  And we don’t want to wait around for that.  

And Pleasant Prairie has been very good kind of letting us limp along.   

 

We’re open about five, six months a year, and we have five employees.  I think Wal-Mart has 250 

full-time employees and 350 including their part-time.  So I can go into all of the reasons why it 

makes sense potentially to put that kind of an engine on Sheridan Road.  But I don’t think I’ll do 

that.  I know I’ve chosen not to comment in the press or local newspaper, the TV station, and I 



 

 

 

20 

know it’s been a hot topic.  Our choice was really to come here as business people in the 

community for a long, long time and air this up and out in front of you, the Plan Commission.  

We thought that was a proper venue.  And really what we’re doing tonight is doing just that, 

we’re just kind of giving you our take or our opinion of what we think should happen to Sheridan 

Road and how what we’re proposing at that corner could be a viable alternative and make this 

side of Pleasant Prairie as attractive as that side of Pleasant Prairie.  Because there’s a lot of 

people in Carol Beach and these neighborhoods that I think deserve it. 

 

As far as the Keno is concerned I believe there’s a future for a drive-in theater, but it’s just not I 

and my family running it at that location.  I believe those who are here to support it should 

continue to support it.  I think they should probably put together a nonprofit type of an 

organization.  I know there’s people out there that they’ve worked very hard, and we might do 

some contributing, to do, again, a nonprofit organization to be formed.  They need to have enough 

energy and enthusiasm and fundraising ability to prove to the donors that it could be viable and 

continue to benefit the community.  But it’s not the responsibility of me or my family to provide 

that.  This was bought as a real estate investment.  And we’ve kind of done what we can do with 

it.  And it’s kind of now whether it’s an adjacent site next to the Keno, whether it’s going to 

another location.  There’s lots more people, and if there’s a market for it they ought to be able to 

replace it, again, with us or without us.  And those are my thoughts, and I thank you for your 

time.  I am going to ask my son to come up to deal with this land plan and the ultimate economics 

of it and what we would like to see adjusted or changed or discussed.  Thank you. 

 

S.R. Mills: 

 

Thank you, appreciate your time.  As my father mentioned I’m going to discuss a few more of the 

particulars.  Really in dealing with Peggy and Jean and Mike and Tom very much appreciate -- 

 

--: 

 

Need your name and address. 

 

S.R. Mills: 

 

Sure, S.R. Mills, 4011 80th Street, Kenosha, Wisconsin, thank you.  Again, I appreciate all the 

time and effort that staff and officials have spent with us.  As mentioned, our goal tonight is really 

just to begin the conversation on the neighborhood plan, review the potential important impacts, 

both positive and negative, and receive feedback from this Commission that will allow us to 

continue to work with staff to refine the plan.  We appreciate that there’s multiple steps in this 

process.  Jean did a far better job of explaining that than I ever could as it relates to the land plan, 

more of a macro look, the neighborhood plan which is what we’re dealing with this evening, 

more granular.  And then an eventual concept plan as it relates to site and operational, building 

elevations, etc. 

 

And to be very clear our expectations tonight are not to vote on on a land plan.  We would very 

much just like to receive that feedback.  Two of the main reasons we’ve tempered our 

expectations, really we’re not all that thrilled with any of the three alternatives either.  Again, we 

believe they all need work, we think that they can get there, but both as it relates to the 

commercial and the residential we need some thoughts and to roll up our sleeves and to work 



 

 

 

21 

through it.  Also, we realize the adoption of a neighborhood plan will likely require some plan 

amendments both from a land use plan and as it relates to the commercial specific to the concept 

plan.  We fully, again, appreciate the process that Jean laid out.  And it’s sometimes a little cart 

before the horse here, but in trying to solicit that feedback we will work in conjunction with staff 

to prepare the necessary land use plan amendments, prepare the detailed concept plans.  We just 

want to make sure we don’t get ahead of this body and start proceeding down the path that you 

don’t want us to. 

 

As mentioned, the total neighborhood plan encompasses 881 acres.  The commercial component 

we’re discussing this evening is 18 to 19 acres.  Open space parks, prime environmental corridor, 

isolated natural resource approximately 216 acres.  And the residential component is about 505 

acres plus or minus depending on the plan, 211 of which has already been developed.  And I just 

mention that as a precursor to some of the specifics I’m going to review here first with the 

commercial.  As noted, the northeast corner we actually own 56 contiguous acres there.  But the 

commercial is only denoted as 18 to 19 acres depending on where that final prime environmental 

corridor line gets set. 

 

Alternatives 2 and 3 that were proposed by staff, and Jean please correct me if I’m wrong on this, 

but I counted about 106,000 square feet in total when adding up all of the various buildings.  It 

essentially accounts for six to seven users ranging somewhere between 5,000 and 25,000 square 

feet.  It’s our understanding of the rule book which we don’t think is very applicable here where 

we could have hypothetically six separate sites, 25,000 square foot building per site.  The 106,000 

square feet on that 19 acres is about a 13 percent coverage ratio which is what we use often to try 

and compare it at least from a commercial standpoint to density and intensity of use. 

 

Alternative 1 depicts 150,000 square foot user in addition to a 30,000 square foot box due south 

of that.  The biggest difference between other than there are some obvious square footage 

differences, but really the bigger question is it small and medium box users versus having one 

large anchor tenant that acts as a catalyst and a driver of retail traffic.  It’s our opinion, and it is 

just that, our opinion, that for this 18 to 19 acre commercial site we need a large anchor for it to 

be successful as a great retail development.  Now wether that anchor is Meijer, Costco, Wal-Mart 

we feel it’s appropriate to have one large user.  Fully acknowledge that it is different from the 

plan as it’s written today where we would have six 25,000 square foot users or some deviation of 

such.  We’re just trying to compare apples to apples. 

 

A good example is right across the street at Village Center.  Village Center I believe has 24 acres 

of commercial that has been approved, neighborhood plan approved, probably not concept plan at 

this point.  Approximately 135,000 to 267,000 square feet on the 24 acres due west of here.  It’s a 

coverage ratio of 13 percent to 26 percent.  So that site is currently planned for small to medium 

box retail in that center, so that would be a different experience, a different type of retail product 

than what we’re proposing at least in alternative 1 on the subject commercial site. 

 

One of the topics brought up that we would like to discuss this evening or discuss at a future time 

is the police and fire and the concern with proximity.  It’s our thought being one and a half miles 

from 130,000 to 260,000 square feet of proposed it seems that they would not be out on an island 

there.  We recognize that having an outpost where police and fire have to constantly go to or have 

to go to and juggle that drive time could be a lot of balance.  Our thought is, though, that it’s still 

within the wheelhouse here given its proximity to the Village Center and the Village Hall. 



 

 

 

22 

 

We also believe, and we’ve agreed to disagree with staff on this, that one larger user would be 

easier to manage from a police/fire issue standpoint because you have one point of contact versus 

multiple smaller users.  But that’s something that we can certainly debate and discuss.  The 

biggest issue just to go full circle on it is the size difference from what was proposed in 

alternative 2 and 3 with 106,000 square feet versus what we’ve proposed to 180,000 square feet.  

We’re certainly willing to discuss what’s appropriate.  And really our goal this evening was to try 

and solicit that feedback so we can modify it accordingly and put something together that the Plan 

Commission feels is reasonable, staff feels is reasonable and would work for us as well on the 

commercial side. 

 

On the residential it’s easy to look at this 881 acre plan, and we’re spending probably a 

disproportionate amount of time on the commercial, not that it’s not important, but very much 

concerned, and the balance of the residential is something that we want to focus on as well.  We 

are committed to achieving the 12,000 to 18,000 square foot low to medium density area per 

dwelling unit.  So right now that plan that was submitted is 11,000 and change.  We would like to 

try and clarify a couple of points because we think we can make the plans better. 

 

One of those issues, again, with over about 500 acres of residential is how we quantify the prime 

environmental corridor and the isolated natural resources, the woods area.  We need to get a little 

further clarification on that.  The numerator and denominator in coming up with that 12,000 to 

18,000 feet it’s just figuring out what that balance is and what counts.  As mentioned, we have 

166 acres of prime environmental corridor here that doesn’t count in that equation.  So we 

basically take that out of the mix when we’re coming up with that 12,000 to 18,000 square foot 

ratio, as well as the 31 acres of isolated natural resource.   

 

So one thing we’ve done in the past, and we’ve done it successfully at other developments is 

SEWRPC, Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission, allows a development within 

a small component of a prime environmental corridor.  I’m not sure if that’s allowed within the 

Village, but we can look at that potentially where it’s one unit per five acres.  Again, not that 

we’d be looking at a significant component of it, but think that they could be some nice estate lots 

and do something very unique, maintaining the trees, deed restrictions, and creating some unique 

sites. Alternatively trying to figure out how those PEC and isolated natural resource areas factor 

into that equation.  So that’s something we’d like to get help with. 

 

Specific to the plan and residential piece the Creekside Crossing in the southeast component 

that’s an area that we’d like to discuss a little further.  We believe it’s potentially unnecessary 

given the proposed circulation, and it’s also very expensive.  In addition to that we’re still 

working through what the permitting process would be there.  I think we have a number of 

unanswered questions that we would like to review.  So the crossing area here [inaudible] 

corridor.  So that’s a topic we’d like to review. 

 

The school site right now we’re showing 26 acres of a school site.  We think that’s a little large.  

We looked at the other neighborhood plans, they’re between 14 and 19 acres.  I believe one 

neighborhood plan shows about 90 acres which is a high school site.  But what we would like to 

do is find something, we think there’s a design that could be incorporated there to shrink the size 

of that a little bit.  We’d like to bring KUSD in on that discussion as well to ensure what we’re 

allotting as far as land size is appropriate and that they would want it. 



 

 

 

23 

 

And then there’s a good example in the Pleasant Homes Neighborhood Plan which I’m not sure 

when exactly it was adopted, but it seemed that there was a unique structure set up there where 

they actually approved a neighborhood plan in the event the school didn’t take the site.  So we 

would like to try and have a neighborhood plan ready to go, have a period of time, whether it’s 10 

years, 15 years, 20 years if KUSD chooses not to proceed on that site that we have that alternative 

to proceed with. 

 

And then my last comment really is on that density.  I’m bringing that back down within that 

13,000 to 18,000 square foot tolerance.  We’re very committed to doing that whether it’s a 

component of the single family, the multi-family, multiple pieces.  We would just like to gain 

feedback this evening and have the directive to work with staff to continue to refine the plan.  

Thank you. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Before I open it up to comments and questions, Wayne you had a comment you wanted to make? 

 

Wayne Koessl: 

 

Mr. Chairman, through the Chair to the staff, I really appreciate the in depth study that you 

presented tonight on how the Village of Pleasant Prairie does their planning and zoning to ensure 

we have quality development.  I don’t know how many man hours the staff put into that plan 

tonight.  But I went over it twice, and I could not find any flaws.  It gave me every detail I wanted 

to make a decision tonight, and I really appreciate that.  And I hope the people in the audience 

realize they got an education on how we do our zoning and planning.  Thank you. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thanks, Wayne.  I’m going to open up now.  This is a public hearing.  I’m going to open it up for 

comments from the audience.  Before I do I just want to preface my remarks by two comments.  

Number one, I want to thank everybody for how attentive you’ve been this evening.  We’ve had 

groups not quite this large that hasn’t been this nice.  So we appreciate the way we’ve been 

treated tonight.  That was for your benefit as well. 

 

Secondly, the other comment I want to make is it’s not an issue for the Plan Commission tonight 

whether the outdoor theater should be there or shouldn’t be there.  The outdoor theater is valid, 

it’s within the zoning, it can stay there as long as it wants to stay there.  And the Village is not in 

a position to either knock it out or to keep it there.  It’s a permitted use, it’s zoned properly, and 

as long as it’s there we’re happy with that.  But we also are not in a position to force the owner to 

tell him what he has to do with that property anymore than we can tell any other business in this 

community what they have to do.   

 

So I’m going to open it up now for your comments.  By the way, for those who wish to speak 

tonight we’re going to limit you to three minutes because we’ve got to be out of here by 

midnight.  If there’s that have not signed up after I’ve completed this list you’ll be given an 

opportunity as well.  The first one is Steve Wattron. 

 



 

 

 

24 

Steve Wattron: 

 

Hi, I’m Steve Wattron, 8215 26th Avenue.  I had a couple questions but I think Mr. Mills already 

answered them.  Do Bear Realty or Mr. Mills seriously consider keeping the outdoor movie 

theater?  I didn’t see anything in these outdoor plans.  And, number two, is the cost of digital 

conversion the biggest problem here, the $50,000 to $100,000?  Because I know some wealthy 

people who might be able to help out to save this local landmark.  That’s all I have.  Thank you. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you.  When we get through these, if Mr. Mills you’re prepared to answer some of these 

questions we’re going to ask that you be prepared at the end of this.  The next person is Harold 

Brown. 

 

Harold Brown: 

 

Harold Brown, 9441 8th Avenue.  I’ll be just very brief.  I was very impressed with the young 

lady over here, and I also was very impressed with the two gentlemen that spoke in the first place.  

And I would like to agree with him wholeheartedly.  I see we need something on this side of 

town.  We don’t have any.  We have to drive a long way.  And I’m looking at tax revenue as far 

as sales tax.  Most of the taxes are going out to Somers, out to Wal-Mart and the stores out there.  

And I think that we really have a gold mine if we have this big box store here.   

 

If you look at the geographics of Kenosha you’ve got hundreds of condominiums down by the 

lake, you’ve got surrounding most of Kenosha would be coming here to shop.  And then you’d 

have people in Winthrop Harbor coming here.  And so I think it would be a gold mine for the 

Village of Pleasant Prairie.  I served on committees in Beach Park before I came here, and I was 

on the business commission, and we would have given a right arm to have a store like that for 

revenue.  And so I think it’s a gold mine for Pleasant Prairie.  And Pleasant Prairie has done very 

well as far as sales tax is concerned.  And I appreciate your looking into this.  Thank you. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you.  Michael Rosenthal. 

 

Michael Rosenthal: 

 

Hi, I’m 10219 29th Avenue.  And I really didn’t want to speak about the Keno Drive-In.  I’m 

more interested in the residential, the thorough ways that you’re putting through.  I”m on 29th 

Avenue.  You’re planning on turning that into a main thorough way.  Which if everything in there 

was single family residential or duplex or something, you know, it wouldn’t be so bad.  But 

you’re putting 40 unit apartment complexes just junked together in there.  And the traffic in this 

neighborhood is just going to skyrocket.  I bought this property five years ago, living in Pleasant 

Prairie, choosing to live in Pleasant Prairie because it was such a small community.  Now what do 

we get?  It’s going to turn into a major, major -- I might as well have moved to Kenosha, you 

know?  What’s the point of moving to Pleasant Prairie if this is what you’re going to do to us? 

 

 



 

 

 

25 

Mary Cohn: 

 

Thank you, 9037 15th Avenue, Kenosha, the City of Kenosha.  And the first thing that I want to 

say is thank you to Pleasant Prairie for inviting the citizens of the City of Kenosha to attend this 

meeting as your neighbors.  Thank you very much. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

You’re welcome. 

 

Mary Cohn: 

 

I would like to just say that I don’t agree with the big box store on that corner, not only because 

it’s in my neighborhood, but because there’s a tremendous amount of expense.  And you don’t 

need me to tell you about the expense of creating roadways between I-94 and Sheridan Road to 

be able to get carriers and delivery vehicles down there.  That expense is not only State, County, 

Pleasant Prairie, it comes back to us taxpayers eventually.  But that’s just a small part of it.  

Maybe a big part of it.  

 

But the other part is that in alternatives 2 and 3 I would just like to comment that there are a 

couple of things that I would have liked to have seen.  And not being a resident of Pleasant Prairie 

I do respectfully request that you would at least consider some things like perhaps a year ‘round 

marketplace, like a true farmers’ market, perhaps a place for selling fresh and seafood because the 

whole City of Kenosha does not have one spot that can do that.  Some toddler parks in the various 

neighborhoods.  Peggy was kind enough to point out to me several parklands that are in each of 

the neighborhoods.  But some small toddler parks would be nice so that you don’t have to walk a 

mile and a half to get your toddler to a swing or something. 

 

I agree with what the gentleman back there said about the 40 unit apartment buildings.  It just 

seems counterproductive to what the rest of Pleasant Prairie has been planning all of this time.  

I’d like to see just a little bit more recreational areas, some tennis courts, maybe a bocce ball 

court.  Maybe a softball diamond for kids to play softball, okay?  Thank you for listening to me, 

and than you for inviting us. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you very much.  Mary Herbert. 

 

Mary Herbert: 

 

I’m going to let my husband speak. 

 

Mike Herbert: 

 

I’m Mike Herbert, 2511 Springbrook Road.  I by no means begrudge Mr. Mills’ right to develop 

his land or make a profit.  That’s the American way.  But I do have a few concerns.  First of all 

I’m a small business owner.  And Wal-Mart is to small businesses what Tinseltown was to the 



 

 

 

26 

other three theaters that Mr. Mills spoke of.  You would be doing a great disservice to us small 

business people by putting such a big box store in that location. 

 

My other concern is the density.  When you look at this map it’s very heavy multi-family.  And I 

feel it’s too heavy multi-family.  The complex on 116 with all the 40 units that is a huge complex.  

I’m an old apartment manager and I know.   That’s a big complex.  But of particular concern is 

the 24 units on the bike trail and Springbrook Road.  Those are just too big for that area.  Those 

are inappropriate.  When you look at the map and you talk densities you’re saying low to medium 

density.  If you take all of that environmental corridor out of there it becomes medium to high 

density.  There’s too much multi-family in there, and they should be toned down a bit. 

 

And my third concern is particularly Springbrook Road and the whole area there needs to be more 

bike friendly.  There’s a lot of bike traffic on Springbrook Road right now, and it’s very 

dangerous.  Someone is going to get killed.  I see bicycles going down there, and there’s 45 mile 

an hour cars going down there.  There’s no police enforcement there.  With this development I 

would like to see it be more bicycle friendly, and bike path or lane included down Springbrook 

Road at the same time as this development.  Thank you. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you.  John Oldham. 

 

John Oldham: 

 

Thank you, Village Board for allowing me to speak tonight.  1401 11th Avenue.  I wanted to start 

up by actually addressing Mr. Mills and letting him know that this group that I had started, Save 

the Keno Drive-In April 2015, we have to disrespect for him, no hate for him.  I understand he’s a 

businessman and what he’s trying to do here.  But we ask that he understands that this is a part of 

our family, this history of this, the Keno Drive-In.  Comments were made about going to 

Tinseltown.  It’s not the same thing.  By no means is it the same thing.  So with that being said 

I’d like to ask Mr. Mills if he would please spare a small piece of this plan he’s got and save the 

Keno Drive-In.   

 

And also addressing Mr. Mills once again, he made a comment up here, and hopefully everybody 

caught it that he said it’s not his family’s obligation, and I may not be quoting this exactly right, 

Mr. Mills, that is wasn’t his responsibility to supply us with the drive-in.  But the very next breath 

he says I would be willing to make a contribution.  And with that being said please include us in 

your plans.  That’s all we ask is for a partnership.  We want to save the Keno Drive-In.  That’s 

been our only motivation through this.  Sir, I have the utmost respect for you.  Anything that we 

have said to degrade you or disrespect you please accept my sincere apologies, sir.  Thank you 

very much. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

I can’t read the first name.  Riley is the last name. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

27 

Eli Shai Riley: 

 

I am representing a group of LakeView Technology Academy students. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Give me your address, sir. 

 

Eli Shai Riley: 

 

9202 24th Avenue.  This comment is personal and not school affiliated or produced as adjoined 

pending by multiple students.  There are several approaches that can be taken to preserve the 

Keno.  But by far the most inclusive of them involves a slightly downsized Keno Drive-In, 

several 1950s themed restaurants and other commercial developments along Sheridan Road.  The 

Keno Drive-In would most optimally be reconfigured to fit within the boundaries of Sheridan 

Road, 91st Street, a continuation of 15th Avenue, and a continuation of 92nd Place.  15th Avenue 

and 92nd Place would intersect to form a 90 degree angle or slight curve.  These continuations 

would serve as an access road for the Keno which would eliminate the traffic that currently builds 

up on 91st Street and Sheridan Road on showing nights. 

 

A 1950s themed restaurant would continue the theme.  This business establishment along with the 

commercial along Sheridan Road would remain open year ‘round and would serve as a stable 

source of income throughout the area.  There are many options we have to look at, and we hope 

to work with Bear Realty to develop the best plan for everyone.  Thank you. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you.  Ken Bozych. 

 

Ken Bozych: 

 

2802 Springbrook Road.  I’ll also speak on behalf of my neighbors Jim and Joan Wood at 2814 

who were not available to join us here this evening.  They are somewhere in the middle of the 

Pacific Ocean on vacation.  Jean, thank you so much for your [inaudible] leading this meeting and 

speaking for so long.  Thank you for pointing all the ways in which the alternative number 1 plan 

here does not meet the Village’s Comprehensive Plan as required.  In truth I’m a bit perplexed as 

to why the Planning Commission and the residents in attendance here, time is being wasted 

listening to this alternative when it does not meet that Comprehensive Land Use Plan.  We should 

not be considering going back and changing our Comprehensive 2035 Land Use Plan.  That is 

what sets the tone for the entire Village.  Follow the rules. 

 

There’s little I can say to communicate my disapproval for this big box store being proposed in 

alternative #1 that hasn’t already been said.  Let me just say this.  I’ll remind the Planning 

Commission and all the residents here in attendance that we already do have a Wal-Mart in this 

location.  That Wal-Mart is less than five miles from this very location we are at tonight.  We 

really do not need a second Wal-Mart store within six, seven miles of the other one.  Thank you. 

 

 



 

 

 

28 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Lori Ralph?  Lori Ralph?  Earl Beasley? 

 

Earl Beasley: 

 

920 91st Place, Pleasant Prairie, I was glad to hear that Wal-Mart really doesn’t fit.  I would 

prefer that there be single family homes there.  But if they really wanted to put something 

commercial there how about something like PF Chang’s or the Cheesecake Factory?  They’re 

fairly big restaurants.  The trees in the background would make really nice outdoor seating.  So I 

just wanted to throw that thought out there. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you.  Donna Caliendo.  Welcome back. 

 

Donna Caliendo: 

 

Donna Caliendo, 2710 104th Street.  I don’t think we need to address the fact, or may I repeat that 

this big box store is six times larger than the ordinance calls for.  So, again, I don’t think it works 

in this area because of that.  I border the residential area.  I, too, feel that it’s too high a density.  I 

understand that we need rental, but 40 unit buildings are just way too large.  I like plan number 3, 

and the reason I like it is because of the green space.  I love the plan the way that it backs up to 

the green space areas.  And my other concern is 28th Street.  I border 28th Street.  The traffic, I’m 

concerned if curb and gutter is called for I don’t want that on our backs.  The street is crumbling 

away as it is now.  So let that be on the developer to put that street together.  And I think that’s it.  

As far as the commercial area he can do what he likes, it’s his land, it’s not an issue regarding the 

drive-in theater. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you, ma’am. 

 

David Horvath: 

 

10322 29th Avenue.  I like the idea of the good old days.  And it’s the first time I’ve ever heard of 

Wal-Mart being associated with the good old days.  Being on 29th Avenue my biggest concern, 

too, is that the quiet dead end road right now, it’s a very narrow road you can barely get two cars 

down that road.  Some of the homes are very close to the road.  So making that a through street I 

don’t see how that would work.  It would make it very unsafe for my four year old that we have, 

and there’s other families with young children on that road.  The increased traffic volume on 165 

which from that point to Sheridan Road is already a death trap.  If you’re walking on 165 and a 

car approaches you, you have a choice to either jump in the ditch or you block traffic. 

 

Sheridan Road itself would have to be widened considerably to allow for that kind of 

development.  But, again, I definitely go back with the other gentleman.  Since the ordinance 

doesn’t provide for that size of a store I think that’s a non-issue then.  That should not be allowed, 



 

 

 

29 

and nothing should be amended for that to take place in there.  I think that that covers everybody 

else’s, pretty much what I was gong to say as well.  Thank you. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you. 

 

Leo Schuch: 

 

1328 30th Court, Kenosha.  

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Give your address again, sir. 

 

Leo Schuch: 

 

Pardon me? 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Give your address again, please. 

Leo Schuch: 

 

1328 30th Court, Kenosha.  I just want to thank you for your land use plan and your 

neighborhood plan as far as allocating 38 percent of the space for your environmental corridors 

and your natural buffers.  I think that’s going to add value to the whole project.  It’s going to give 

us a nice upscale look to the whole area.  And I think it will be a great complement to the Village 

of Pleasant Prairie.  I can see why you got the award for excellence.  I think it’s going to help the 

demand, and it’s going to be easier to market those properties.   

 

And we’re looking forward to it because we need some developments like this, especially the 

condo area and some of the single family homes.  Because right now there’s no developments 

like this with that much green space involved in it.  And we have people now that are trying to 

buy in Prairie Village and a couple of the other developments, and there’s just not a lot of product 

out there for side-by-side condos and smaller condos that are one to one and a half stories.  Thank 

you. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you very much. 

 

Hillary Schellinger: 

 

1342 110th Street. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

30 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Wait until you get up here ma’am.  We didn’t get that on the record.  Now give us your address 

again. 

 

Hillary Schellinger: 

 

1342 110th Street.  I’m the one with the noisy baby so I do apologize.  In speaking with my 

neighbors at Tobin Creek I haven’t met one person who supports any of the three proposed plans 

for the area.  Pleasant Prairie is unique because of its green space and charm.  Adding even more 

commercialization and development to this area takes away from the very essence that leads 

many people to call Pleasant Prairie home.  I know this meeting isn’t about saving the Keno, but I 

believe a partnership can be developed that has the Keno at its heart.  The community has spoken, 

and many do not want big box development in this area.  Certainly a plan can be drafted that will 

allow Mr. Mills to make a profit on his investment while giving the community what it wants. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you. 

 

Judy Nelson: 

 

10330 29th Avenue.  I’m with my neighbors here on 29th Avenue.  I don’t know if they need to 

widen that road.  Are we going to have to have a stoplight since we’re going to be a very 

thoroughfare through everything.  Our houses are pretty close to the road.  I don’t know how they 

would do it.  They have a lot of places to get in there.  I don’t know why they have to go down 

28th and 29th and open that up.  That’s all I have to say. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you.  Dr. Joe Mangi.  Welcome, Joe. 

 

Joe Mangi: 

 

Thank you, thank you very much.  Joe Mangi, 8712 3rd Avenue in Carol Beach.  And I would 

like to thank the Planning Commission for the opportunity for all of us to speak tonight, and to 

Jean Werbie for your help, Mike Pollocoff, everybody that’s made Pleasant Prairie pleasant, a 

pleasant place to live.  My wife Pat and I moved here in 1970.  We’ve been here for 45 years.  

And we stayed here because of the quality of Pleasant Prairie, the green space, the wonderful 

people in our community, the great school system. 

 

And, yes, the Keno Drive-In it’s here tonight.  I mean it’s been part of Kenosha since the 1940s.  

And so Pleasant Prairie has done an outstanding job of continuing to make our community family 

oriented.  A case in point the RecPlex.  There’s no place like the RecPlex anywhere else in the 

country.  With that in mind, since you’ve already demonstrated the commitment to be family 

oriented, why not keep or try to keep somehow some way the Keno Drive-In which is a positive, 

wholesome family entity for almost 70 years?  Our children, our grandchildren, friends, there’s 



 

 

 

31 

noplace like it.  The point is it’s family oriented.  Why would we give up a 70 year old jewel that 

makes Pleasant Prairie and Kenosha unique for a big box store or even a strip mall? 

 

I’m arguing that we find a way, since the commitment is already there with the RecPlex, continue 

with that.  That’s what makes us special.  It’s Pleasant Prairie.  It’s not Everywhere, USA.  It’s 

not blight that you see all over this country.  The comment was made that Wal-Mart’s the best in 

the world.  Fine, but you know what they’re going to do?  They create urban blight wherever they 

go because they’ll knock out the Piggly Wiggly on 22nd, the CVS.  They’re gong to knock out 

the White Hen or Southport Pantry on 7th Avenue.  They’re going to knock out the stores on 

Sheridan Road.  They are like an amoeba.  We’ve already got blight with Roger and Marv’s 

sitting there.  There’s blight on 75th Street going along Highway 50 with all those stores west of 

47th.  We have eight big box stores in our community already.  We’ve got only one Keno Drive-

In that’s part of our history. 

 

The other problem I have before my three minutes is up air quality.  Last time I looked we’ve 

been failing for some years now. 

 

Jan Petrovic: 

 

Time. 

 

Joe Mangi: 

 

Okay. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Finish your point, Joe.   

 

Joe Mangi: 

 

Thirty more seconds.  I’m really concerned about, and I think all of us are about the air quality in 

Pleasant Prairie and Kenosha and Somers.  It’s not our fault.  We’re near Chicago.  We’ve got the 

power plant, all of those things.  But Pleasant Prairie is a hedge against that because of the green 

space.  And God bless you guys and Jean for putting in green space as part of this plan. But 

putting a big box with the noise pollution, all the rest of it, we’ve got sick people in this 

community because of the quality of air.  This isn’t going to help it.  So for that, lastly, the more 

big box stores you put into a community and the blight that it creates with the closing of other 

stores around it means fewer students in our schools.  We’ve got a problem with our schools in 

that we’re losing enrollment.  Whatever we can do to build our neighborhoods and continue to 

bring families into our community and let them grow and have fun and enjoy more power to it.  

So thank you very much. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thanks, Joe. 

 

 



 

 

 

32 

Keith Rosenberg: 

 

Good evening ladies and gentlemen.  Keith Rosenberg, 8709 34th Avenue.  I’m the Alderman of 

the 9th District which borders basically this property.  The north side of Pleasant Prairie borders 

up with my district from Sheridan Road all the way to 39th.  I have a lot of concerns with the big 

box store.  I’ve had several phone calls.  A little history going back to what we dealt with in the 

City of Kenosha with Wal-Mart.  They wanted to build a Super Wal-Mart next to Supervalu 

where the current Festival Foods is right now.  Well, before I got elected the City came up with 

an ordinance no big box stores east of Green Bay Road of more than 100,000 square feet.  That 

was a good fit.  You don’t want it in our crowded neighborhoods.  We had a lot of safety 

concerns there if Wal-Mart was placed there with Lance Middle School, Tremper, etc. 

 

The bottom line when it comes down to Wal-Mart, if you buy a property for $240,000, it’s worth 

$3 million now, they offer you $10 to $15 million you can say, oh heck yeah, give me the money.  

That’s what it comes down to, show me the money.  The history of the Keno, I was born and 

raised in Kenosha.  I grew up at the Keno.  I would love to see it stay the Keno, but it’s going to 

take somebody to buy that property from Mr. Mills.  I have the utmost respect for Mr. Mills.  

He’s a businessman.  If Wal-Mart is going to shove $10 to $15 million in front of your face 

you’re going to take it.  He’s a realtor.  That’s how he makes money for him and his family, and I 

respect that. 

 

But you as Board members for Pleasant Prairie you need to listen to the residents of Pleasant 

Prairie.  I’m the voice of the 9th District so I’m just passing on my concerns for my constituents 

that a big box store would be bad for the neighborhood north.  The south Sheridan business 

complex is starting to come back, i.e., with the Taco Bell, the Culver’s, the Kenosha Kingfish.  

Things are slowly -- Toolamation just moved in my district out of Zion.  So I mean businesses are 

coming back.  Pleasant Prairie has always been a quiet village, always has been where people 

want to get out of the city, nice and quiet out in the country.  Same thing going out west out in 

Paddock Lake, Salem, Silver Lake, Trevor, Paris.  People want to get away from the hustle and 

bustle of the city.   

 

Let’s talk about the development on Highway 50 Mr. Mills brought up.  Yes, they’ve done a lot 

of development on Highway 50 and what’s happening now.  The State is coming in in the next 

few years and totally redoing Highway 50, tearing it up because that’s the most traveled area.  

Green Bay Road and Highway 50 is the worst intersection in the city because of all the businesses 

that we put out there.  That was all farmland when I was a kid.  I remember that. 

 

Jan Petrovic: 

 

Time. 

 

Keith Rosenberg: 

 

Thank you very much for your time.  But please don’t put a big box store near my district.  I 

would appreciate it. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

33 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you. 

 

David Salica: 

 

Hi, Dave Salica, 9801 Sheridan Road.  I can’t really add too much to what has been presented so 

far other than if you stick to your guns and keep the commercial property as originally designed it 

would be better.  Because it was already included in designs, and by expanding it it’s not going to 

work out so hot.  I understand that doing a balancing of the size of the TRA -- doing the 

balancing of the size of the population versus traffic you can work numbers out and the size of the 

property as the same thing.  Including another 18 acres would maybe fit the formulas better.  But 

it goes against for what we stand for in Pleasant Prairie.  We want to have a nice Pleasant Prairie.  

That’s it.  Thank you very much. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you. 

 

Patrick Vranak: 

 

Hi, Patrick Vranak, 4710 24th Street, Kenosha, Wisconsin.  And you know with sprawling 

growth comes the inevitable development of commerce.  People like convenience, they like one 

stop shopping.  They like being able to stop off on the way home from work and grab things that 

they need in a timely manner.  They also don’t want to pay a lot for them.  And what better way 

to deliver this to people in a sprawling suburban community is to build a new shopping center.  

You know, after all, it’s easy to woo those attractive anchor stores like Wal-Mart and Target with 

the promise of new facility.  To land a big name like that and the smaller specialty retailers are 

certain to follow.  And before you know it business is booming, a new location.  It’s a win for the 

business and a win for the city, right?  I mean after all the new tax revenue the mall provides 

there.  It’s plenty of extra money in the coffers. 

 

Not so fast.  How the tax revenue will impact the Village of Pleasant Prairie really depends on the 

tax structure.  There are a few things that small villages overlook when evaluating financial 

impact of large scale development.  One is the loss of existing business from the revenue of the 

businesses that already exist there.  Tax revenue is often stagnant after a new development goes 

up you see.  An equivalent drop in tax revenue from the existing retailers matches the increased 

revenue at the new location.  This in turn can lead to stores in the other existing malls closing.  

This also impacts the city revenue.  Once these other malls start dying then the property value 

decreases and, in turn, the property taxes decrease along with it impacting the revenue the Village 

of Pleasant Prairie receives.  It allows existing commercial districts to fail while developing ones 

is a waste of public resources.  People invest in the same expenses of the new infrastructure to 

serve that the new model is going to have. 

 

You’re going to be spending the money over again.  We already spent that money in the malls 

that exist and now we’re maintaining that.  You still have to factor in the cost of providing public 

services for the development, maintaining new roads, power and sewer lines, public and fire 

services all on the taxpayers’ dime.  While a brand new commercial development project may 



 

 

 

34 

seem enticing at a glance, at the end of the day it’s unnecessary, and it’s just plain a reckless use 

of the taxpayers’ money.  Thank you. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you.  Sue Holt. 

 

John Holt: 

 

She left, she left.  She was disgusted with the whole thing.  I’m John Holt, 9205 Lakeshore Drive.  

We’re looking at the choice of three choices, alternative 1, 2 and 3.  I would like to propose 

alternative 4 which is to leave it alone. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Pardon me? 

 

John Holt: 

 

Which is to leave it alone.  All this Village planning and everything is growing and booming, Mr. 

Mills said I’d like to make Sheridan Road just like over by the highway.  Do you want that? 

 

Voices: 

 

No. 

 

John Holt: 

 

We don’t want that.  We live in a quiet community.  This is the Village of Pleasant Prairie.  It’s a 

pleasant place and it’s a prairie.  And if you develop all this land, all that wetland, even 

alternative 3 you have all that open space.  Well, what happens in an open space?  All the 

chemicals, the salt, everything leaches into that open space.  You kill all the wildlife, the frogs, 

the birds, everything that’s living there.  Everything that we’re here for.  We’re here to live in 

open space and to live in a quiet family community.  That’s what we want.  We don’t want to 

build and put concrete on every single place that is left.  So that and, of course, like everybody 

else, save the Keno.  Thank you. 

 

Laverne Garos: 

 

I live at 324 116th Street.  And I think everything I was going to say has been said.  I would just 

to reiterate I would support the Keno if there’s any way to save it.  I especially like the ideas from 

the students.  I think they have some great creativity.  I want to say I’m opposed to alternative 1.  

I have concerns even though about alternatives 2 and 3.  For number 1 the aesthetics which has 

been talked about, we don’t want a big box store.  Number 2, corporate neighbor Wal-Mart does 

not have a very good reputation as being a good corporate neighbor for a number of reasons, 

safety, wages, what it does to other businesses in the area, and there are huge lists of concerns. 

 



 

 

 

35 

But, third, I guess is my concern about traffic.  And I think the one thing that hasn’t been 

discussed too much is I think the impact all the way down to 116th Street and to Russell Road.   I 

think that that particularly with Wal-Mart and the traffic that would be coming from Illinois that 

that’s going to back up.  It’s going to affect the whole route of Sheridan Road.  And then you’re 

going to have to probably look at widening the road, and what cost would that be.  Thank you. 

 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you.  Jeff Weiss?  Jeff Weiss?  Larry Casebolt, Jr.? 

 

Larry Casebolt: 

 

Hi, good evening.  I’m at 4510 Wood Road, Racine, Wisconsin.  I do have some concerns about 

the big box.  I understand what people have said about the multifamily.  I wouldn’t want that in 

my neighborhood.  But main concern is the tradition that the Kenosha Drive-In holds for this 

community.  I’ve spoke to a lot of people about this particular plan, all three of these plans 

actually over the last couple of weeks.  And I’ve found very few people at all that want to get rid 

of the Keno.  They do agree that it needs to be restored.  I think that could be obtained through 

community help, fundraising and donations by businesses. 

 

The group that I’m involved with, John’s group, Save the Kenosha Keno Drive-In we would like 

to offer our services to Mr. Mills to do just that.  We would like to fix the buildings, we would 

like to put in new screens.  We would like to keep the Keno in our community.  We’d like to 

make it a beacon in the Village.  It’s been here so long.  There’s three, maybe four generations of 

families that have been going there.  I understand it’s just an investment to him, and if somewhere 

down the line he wants to seel it off to us give us a chance to buy it, the community buy it and 

make it something that’s going to be there forever.   

 

Right now the Keno holds the longest continuous operation history of 66 years.  We would like to 

see that not be disrupted.  That puts it at the top of the list of all those drive-ins in Wisconsin.  

This group has already set up a donation site.  We’ve already set up fundraising.  We have 

actually filled out an application to send into the Historical Society at the State level.  And some 

of our people have already spoke to them.  They said that the Keno could probably get on the 

State registry, and then the State would recommend it for national registry.  And if it were 

accepted to the registry there would be tax breaks for the owner.  There would be funds available 

for restoration.   

 

And I think it means something to this community that if there was a group of people, 100 

dedicated people that we have in this group, there’s 2,500 total.  But there’s 100 people that are 

very dedicated and passionate about that venue.  We would like to raise it up, renew it and make 

it something that is a tourist attraction not only from the 50 miles wide that we get now and the 

radius, because I’ve talked to many people when I was at the drive-in and they come in hours 

away.  You get free publicity, places to see in Wisconsin, places of interest.  I think it’s worth a 

hot.  If Mr. Mills is to work with us, with the community, I promise you I will do everything I 

possibly can, sir, to safe the Keno Drive-In. 

 

 



 

 

 

36 

Michelle Marschel: 

 

My address is 6116 82nd Avenue.  And I came here tonight solely for the drive-in.  I do 

appreciate the presentation with the three different options provided.  I would say that it was very 

disheartening to hear that the property was purchased solely for commercial development at some 

point.  That someone didn’t actually procure it in order to preserve the charm of the things that 

were in place to begin with.  As a person who has a young family and who would probably 

consider some of these different housing options I would not move to Pleasant Prairie for a Wal-

Mart or a big box store.  I think when you do send out information to families who are new to 

Kenosha which I received when I first moved back her after college I got picture of the lake 

fronts, of the sprawling green areas, of the stars in the sky that you can see from this area because 

there is no light pollution.  And certainly something as charming as a drive-in is going to 

welcome families. 

 

Also limiting the number of acres to a school is probably not in your best interest because as 

schools expand when you’re trying to invite families into a community then you want to have that 

extra space in order to provide playgrounds and more rooms and things like that.  So I wouldn’t 

think that it would be beneficial to limit an area.  You would want to expect that growth and plan 

for that growth.  And so if you really want to create a community where people want to come to 

and belong to the kinds of things that have been proposed tonight will actually have a negative or 

adverse effect on people who are making those decisions.  Thank you. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you. 

 

Gary Dryer: 

 

Gary Dryer, 1426 87th Place, Kenosha.  First of all I’d like to thank you for inviting Kenosha 

residents people to speak at this as being a neighbor to your north just about three and a half 

blocks.  And obviously a big box retail store would drastically affect not only Pleasant Prairie but 

our neighborhood as our alderman got up here and spoke about some of the difficulties that we’ve 

dealt with in Kenosha when they wanted to move in there. 

 

The second thing that a big box retail store, specifically Wal-Mart, if anybody wants to know just 

go out to Somers.  As you can see the Wal-Mart first of all they have trouble staffing it 

sometimes, and it’s starting to get in a decline look-wise from when they just opened.  So maybe 

they think about keeping their store that they have right now up to par before they start opening 

up a second one. 

 

I think at the 2035 plan that you guys developed that had limited space for retail there’s a reason 

that that was done, and I’ve heard several people from Pleasant Prairie come up here that 

basically said the same thing, that they don’t want that large big box store in there.  So to go off 

of what you originally planned for this space is not a good idea and is not going to be good for the 

community. 

 

Now on the subject of the Keno, and this is more directed for the Mills family, would be to if you 

want an example of someplace that was in decline in the City of Kenosha that they actually 



 

 

 

37 

brought back with help from private investors take a look at Simmons Field.  That’s a good 

example of an area where they brought in some private investors, they were able to work with the 

City to bring that back.  I think between the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Mills family and private 

investor that there could be something done to save that to bring people into your area.  You hear 

many people, and I’ve seen comments online where people are coming from Illinois, down from 

Milwaukee area to come see this.  People aren’t going to drive down here to go to Wal-Mart.  

Thank you. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

That completes the list of people that have signed up.  In a minute I’m going to give anybody else 

that wants to speak an opportunity to do so.  But I just want to preface that by saying that the 

Village Planning Commission is not a developer.  It’s not our intention to develop 1, 2 or 3.  All 

we’re saying is we need to put a long-term plan in place so that when development does occur 

this is the way it’s going to happen.  You have to be ready with the roads, with sewer, water, and 

so we’re trying to put a plan to go to the year 2035 of what could possibly develop.   So that’s 

what we’re trying to do here tonight. 

 

I’m not here to advocate any one of those plans because I’m not going to develop any one of 

those plans.  But if a developer comes in and wants to develop either a multi-family or a single 

family area he’s going to have to abide by whatever plan gets ultimately adopted.  So with that 

I’m going to say if there’s anybody else that wishes to speak.  Yes, ma’am? 

 

Beth Brown: 

 

Thank you so much for letting me speak.  My name is Beth Brown, and I’m at 1917 104th Street.  

There is absolutely nothing about this plan that I like.  I am going to speak more from the fact that 

I’m a resident who is deeply affected by the choices that you will be making.  I will speak for 

those who live on 28th and 29th Avenue.  And for myself I know we all feel the same.  We chose 

Pleasant Prairie to live for very specific reasons.  I moved here 15 years ago from Illinois because 

I wanted to get away from what it’s turning into.  I moved into here because it was a pleasant 

area.  My blood pressure went down when I crossed the State line.  I’m not kidding.   

 

I love Pleasant Prairie.  I love where I live.  I have the most beautiful piece of property that I 

think anyone could imagine.  This incredibly beautiful open field across the street from me.  I 

can’t get to it because of this enormous waterway.  I can’t walk through it.  It’s private property 

anyways.  There’s deer across the street.  There’s animals across the street.  I get to view them.  

There’s racoons and fox and everything like that everywhere.  Thank you for the new garbage 

cans, my garbage no longer gets eaten on a daily basis. 

 

29th Avenue and 28th Avenue do not need to connect to this new neighborhood.  There’s no 

reason for it.  Those people chose that property so that they could live on that dead end street.  I 

chose my property because it was incredibly beautiful because Pleasant Prairie is only town in 

Kenosha County, thank you Jesus, that gives me consistent taxes.  I can rely on my taxes every 

single time.  But I’m going to just tell you that I’m one of the houses that’s going to be torn down 

when you do this.  I am slated to be ripped down.  So I will not have a home when you decide to 

do this which makes my ten year old and my nine year old say that Pleasant Prairie is not pleasant 

and will no longer be a prairie. 



 

 

 

38 

 

So I’m going to tell you that no one has mentioned the fact that the house on 22nd Avenue and 

104th is going to get ripped down to put in your roundabout because it’s clearly right through his 

house.  My neighbor will lose her house, two houses down will lose her house because the street 

is going to need to be widened.  And I get that.  I really get that.  I was told many years ago that 

I’ll probably never be able to sell my home, and I’ll just have to sit out and wait until it’s time to 

go.  But I will tell you that I totally disagree with the 40 units across the street from my home.  

That does not fit in with this.  And I totally do not like that we’re covering up this so called low 

density because half of the property practically is undevelopable.  It is high density to me when 

you drop 440 people across the street from my home who will have multiple people in there, who 

will probably be over maybe 1,200 cars entering to get to these first units here by the street.  So 

my road will be widened and I will lose my home. 

 

But on behalf of the people who do get to stay I don’t agree with the way this is laid out.  I don’t 

agree with the immense amount of multi-units.  The only thing that I will agree with at all is what 

the other lady said where everyone has some backyard, but that’s only at the price of paying for 

less property, that’s all.  It’s the same exact property.  It really is the same amount of empty 

space, it’s just now community empty space.   Developers have got to do what they’ve got to do.  

If he wants to sell his property and he wants to develop something that’s fine.  But I will tell you 

that I think all these people agree the only thing I wanted was a gas station and you gave it to me.  

It’s right down the street now, you’re building it.  I’m going to be able to get my milk, I’m going 

to be able to get my bread.   

 

I want to live in the middle of nowhere.  I chose the middle of nowhere.  I chose no sidewalks.  I 

chose no neighbors.  This is hat I chose.  And I think that’s why we all chose this.  And I just feel 

as though the way this is laid out doesn’t match.   I like Village Green.  It’s right down the street.  

I like it.  I think it really improves Pleasant Prairie and draws in really wonderful families who 

want to appreciate our neighborhood.  But I don’t think a 1,000 people across the street from me 

is what Pleasant Prairie stands for. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you.  Yes, sir? 

 

Tom Wood: 

 

I’ve been listening to this. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Give your name and address, sir. 

 

Tom Wood: 

 

My name is Tom Wood, 1131 92nd Place.  Right there where the little X is.  I’ve been listening 

to this, and it has occurred to me that so many hearings have been held, and they’ve fallen on deaf 

ears for this.  I want to know, I hope you can give me an answer Mr. Terwall, or someone, the 

people who have raised their voice in opposition to the big box stores are they really heard or will 



 

 

 

39 

they be heard?  Will they be represented?  Or will this body like other elected bodies feel that 

they’ve been elected, they know best, they’ll do what they want? 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

That won’t happen.  I’ll go that far and tell you that it’s not going to happen.  Ultimately the 

decision on whether a big box goes in at that location or not is not for this -- we will make a 

recommendation to the Village Board, and the Village Board, all of whose members are here 

tonight, will make the ultimate decision.  But we’ll make a recommendation to them based on 

what we heard tonight.  And that’s as far as I’m prepared to go right now.  Stay until the meeting 

is over and you’ll know what our decision is because I can’t speak for the other members.  But I 

can guarantee you that it’s not falling on deaf ears. 

 

Don Hackbarth: 

 

I resent the fact that you say that we don’t listen to people.  What do you think we’re doing 

tonight? 

 

Tom Wood: 

 

I’m sorry. 

 

Don Hackbarth: 

 

We took the time to listen to everybody here tonight. 

 

Tom Wood: 

 

I’m sorry.  I did not say that you don’t listen to people.  I said so many elected bodies don’t listen 

to people.  I was not referring to you, Mr. Hackbarth.  I wasn’t referring to anyone in this room. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you.  One more.  Anybody else?  You’re up, sir. 

 

Dave Moresi: 

 

I’m Dave Moresi.  I live at 104 87th Place in Pleasant Prairie.  That’s Carol Beach.  I wasn’t 

planning to say anything tonight.  In fact, I was planning to say nothing tonight.  But one 

statement was made that I just can’t let pass.  It was stated that the residents of Carol Beach 

deserve this, and as a resident of Carol Beach for almost 20 years we don’t deserve this. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Go ahead.  Two more.  You’re up first and then you. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

40 

Charles Bress: 

 

I’m Charles Bress.  I’m 10525 West Greenfield Avenue.  I’m actually from West Allis.  I wasn’t 

planning on speaking tonight.  I’m here to support the Keno.  Too many drive-in theaters have 

come and gone to places like Wal-Mart.  You have a unique situation here in Pleasant Prairie.  

It’s a destination that people come.  There’s very few of these left even in the country.  To me it 

feels like a  cross-roads right here and right now.  The decision could be made to try and preserve 

it or let it go.  I want to see it preserved.  I respect Mr. Mills and his right, it’s his property.  But I 

do hope that he would take this opportunity to be the hero of this community and to southeastern 

Wisconsin, northern Illinois and just save that little chunk of land right there.  Yes it needs work.  

There’s a lot of people here that are willing to do the work and help and finds ways to finance it.  

It’s a small little chunk of the land of the big picture.  It can be preserved for future generations 

and families from here on forth.  Thank you. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you. 

 

Robert Clarke Davis: 

 

Robert Clarke Davis, 10330 32nd Avenue.  I came not to say anything either.  I came to listen.  

But I wonder about the idea of a big box store there.  I’m not from the area.  I moved here about 

15, 20 years ago, and I remember when South Sheridan Road was the way it was.  Morrow, the 

shopping center and all that stuff was there.  They moved to the highway not from the highway.  

Likewise there was a Wal-Mart in downtown Kenosha.  It didn’t move toward downtown, it 

moved toward the highway.  So I am not Wal-Mart obviously because I have a hole in my pocket.  

But the idea of I just find it really suspect that at company where they’re doing everything to be 

around where people can get into it would move to an area here.  It just seems like it goes against 

all logic and all that we’ve seen happen in Pleasant Prairie and Kenosha for the last 15 or 20 

years.  Thank you. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Thank you.  You’re it, ma’am.  You’re the last one. 

 

Diane Lynn Frank: 

 

Hi, I’m Diane Lynn Frank, and I’m at 8980 Lakeshore Drive.  And I just thank all of you for 

listening to us today.  I really do appreciate it.  I understand Mr. Mills has a right to sell his 

property.  He has a right to close the drive-in, and I appreciate it being open as long as it was.  

I’m going to miss it, but it is what it is.  I don’t want a big box store there.  I don’t think I deserve 

it either.  I’m part of Carol Beach and we don’t deserve it. 

 

I want to mention that through a couple websites I found there’s 152 vacant Wal-Mart stores in 

the United States.  That’s over 1,600 million square feet of land that’s blighted across the United 

States.  Wal-Mart Realty.com has 63 properties right now for sale or lease.  And so that’s around 

five to six million square feet.  So if we see a discrepancy there between those two I’m wondering 



 

 

 

41 

where the other ten million square feet are.  Maybe they’re over on 52nd Street right now like that 

Wal-Mart store that’s closed.   

 

So I don’t think that the first thing that people need to see when they come into Wisconsin on 

Sheridan Road is a dark store because I think that’s what will happen.  I think they’re going to 

open that store, close one of these other ones, close whatever else is around.  Then they’re going 

to close that store, and we’re going to have another dark store right as we drive into Wisconsin.  I 

don’t want that to happen. 

 

 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

I’m going to close the public hearing and open it up to comments and questions from 

Commissioners and staff.  Don, you’re first. 

 

Don Hackbarth: 

 

You know the 2035 plan was really not our concept.  It was what the State of Wisconsin 

demanded, that every community look at their areas and to zone it.  And the reason we zoned the 

thing the way we did is because we wanted the industrial park where it is, we wanted the retail 

out at the west, okay?  And when we looked at the eastern side of Pleasant Prairie we looked at it 

and zoned it in such a way to protect the residents.  And this is exactly why we zoned it this way 

to protect you to say that we don’t want a big box.  This is exactly why we did it.  And this is why 

we’re saying it’s going against our Comprehensive Plan because we zoned that piece of property 

already in the future to say that that should not take place. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Tom, we can discuss back and forth about the neighborhood plans, about each alternative plan.  

But I’m going to make a recommendation that we deny all three and send especially number 2 

and 3 back to staff with special consideration to the density issue that a lot of people have talked 

about. 

 

Wayne Koessl: 

 

I’ll second that. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Is that a motion? 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

I’ll make that a motion. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

42 

Wayne Koessl: 

 

I’ll second. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Okay, we have a motion by Michael Serpe and a second by Wayne Koessl.  You’re up.  You want 

to speak? 

 

Judy Juliana: 

 

Yes.  I would like to thank everyone for coming.  I appreciate all of your comments.  I’d like to 

thank the Mills family for coming.  But I agree with Mike and with Don that we spent a lot of 

time on the 2035 Comprehensive Plan.  We wanted to make sure that we had good growth, we 

didn’t have a lot of high density areas.  We didn’t want to have big box stores.  And alternative 1, 

2 and 3 just do not fit into the Comprehensive Plan.  I don’t feel that we need to go back and 

revisit the 2035 Comprehensive Plan and make any changes to it.  I agree with Mike Serpe that 

we need to deny all three alternatives and work on 2 and 3 on the density issue. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Do you have a comment, Deb? 

 

Deb Skarda: 

 

Yes.  I guess I want to thank the audience because a lot of the things that I read on the forum 

probably 90 percent of it was about the Keno and the respect that everyone showed in addition to 

the time limit.  Some of you cut that short, and we very much appreciate that.  But the holistic 

thought patterns that you all put into your comments about the space, the traffic, the density, the 

schools, the pollution, from all of those perspectives we really appreciate a very well balanced 

approach.  To the Mills family thank you very much for your collaboration with the staff.  And I 

think that it’s something that I know that we may continue to disagree.  I agree with my fellow 

Board members that I would agree to deny all three of the plans and have the staff go back and 

see if there are potential alternatives.  But the Comprehensive Plan I think was put in place with 

good purpose.  Thank you. 

 

Don Hackbarth: 

 

The last thing I want to say is when we did the 2035 we laid that out and that was zoned.  What 

really isn’t fair is for a developer to come in and say, well, I don’t like that zoning, let’s change 

the rule in order for my big box to fit.  And I don’t think we’re going to do that. 

 

Jim Bandura: 

 

I’m in agreement with this.  I can’t support the three plans right there.  And with that said to the 

group out there for Save the Keno at one time I believe there was a national group that was trying 

to save the drive-in theaters throughout the country.  So I would definitely recommend you 

looking into it, and maybe that would help.  And if Mr. Mills and whoever you get to support 



 

 

 

43 

leaving that there more power to you.  I would definitely look into it and start a dialogue with the 

owner. 

 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 

 

Mr. Chairman, did you want staff to respond to some of the comments that were made before we 

give our recommendation? 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Please do. 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

I think one that’s important because it was a comment that was made about what the community 

is going to have to pay for development, and I think it’s important not only in this neighborhood 

but across the entire Village, one, when it comes to retail development and commercial for sales 

tax every time you buy something and you pay five and a half percent sales tax, five percent goes 

to the State of Wisconsin, and a half a percent goes to Kenosha County.  So the Village receives 

no revenues from any commercial development for sales tax.  The only revenues we see are for 

property taxes. 

 

And the local tax rate in the Village this year, similar to some years before, is $4.42 per thousand.  

When you get your tax bill it’s higher than that, but the amount that the Village keeps for police, 

fire, rescue, snowplow, all those things we do is $4.42.  For a commercial building valued at $6 

million which Target in Prairie Ridge is looking to have their store valued at that, that brings a 

local tax of $26,534.  Not a lot of money.  If it was twice that it would be $55,279.  Now, I don’t 

begrudge anybody paying taxes.  I’m happy when people pay their taxes because that’s what we 

all do.  But it’s not a big source of revenue. 

 

But that being said what I want people to walk away from this meeting know is that the Village 

Board and the Village Plan Commission have adopted ordinances dating back almost 30 years 

where we’re different than the City of Kenosha whereby the Village won’t pay for anything.  We 

don’t pay for roads, we don’t pay for curb and gutter, we don’t pay for sewer, we don’t pay for 

water, we don’t pay for grading, we don’t pay for stormwater basins because we can’t.  We can’t 

afford to do that.  It just doesn’t happen.  So any development you see whether it be this 

development in whatever form it eventually takes and as it eventually develops, or any other 

development you see in the community whoever develops that property and whoever is going to 

profit from that development has to pay for that development.   

 

At $4.42 we can’t afford to -- the average home in the Village pays $800 in taxes.  For $800 we 

have to have a copy by there so many times a day, we have to have a fire engine and an 

ambulance ready to go there, we have to plow the snow.  We take care of all this in the office.  

For all these things to have to happen that $800 basically covers.  But if we have to go and repave 

the roads or do things like that it’s difficult.  So any development that occurs, whether it’s this or 

anyplace else that developer has to pay for it.  The development in Lake View Corporate Park 

which is a really expansive development that was paid for through the TIF District which means 



 

 

 

44 

those businesses in the Corporate Park paid for that development.  You as property taxpayers, 

residential property taxpayers didn’t pay for that.  They pay for it. 

 

And that’s become even more critical under the new public finances going on in Madison where 

there’s a lot less room to maneuver.  So however this unfolds, and whatever unfolds there’s going 

to be, if Mr. Mills decides to proceed and go back and amend the land use plan we’ll all be 

coming back to take a look at the next version of what that looks like and what the staff prepares.  

But the one thing you can be certain of is that us, all of us who live here as residential taxpayers 

in Pleasant Prairie we’re not going to pay for that development.  Not because we’re scrooges or 

we’re stingy or whatever, we can’t afford it.  

 

We’ve adopted laws that say the developers have to pay for that.  The developer will get that 

money when he sells it or he borrows from the bank or whoever they do it that’s up to them.  But 

that’s how it has to happen because we can’t afford to build 165 or build Highway 32 or build 

that new north/south road or anything like that.  I want everybody going away from this meeting 

know that’s the concept.  The City of Kenosha was built on the City charging special assessments 

for sewer and water and streets to promote development over the years.  They don’t do that as 

much now, but we’ve never been able to do that.  And I would be really surprised to see the 

Village Board or the Plan Commission to adopt something like that. 

 

I think that in response to some of the comments made by S.R. Mills about the questions that 

were raised about how much density the Village would approve under the Master Land Use Plan, 

commercial density or comparing it to other uses, I think those are all fine discussions to have.  

But they need to be had in the setting where we’re talking about the Master Comprehensive Plan 

so that we have some balance in the community as to what we’re going to approve and we’re not 

going to approve.  I really think to jump in and say, well, look at our Conceptual Plan, accept that 

but don’t look at the master plan.  One, this committee won’t do it, but secondly I just think it 

really spends a lot of resources either for him or us to look at something that’s out of step.   

 

And I think to have those kinds of discussions, and we don’t mind having them because that’s 

why we’re here, everybody should be able to come to the community with a different idea of 

what they want to do with their land, but that’s got to fit in with the master plan.  And those 

discussions, those issues you brought forward are good discussions to have, but they need to 

happen at the master land us plan level so that our comp plan if we have to make adjustments 

there’s a public hearing process, a public notice process, a public input process so that we can do 

that efficiently. 

 

And I think all that happens, I think if we do this right and we stick to what the community really 

from a ground level creates or generates for land use planning, the Keno problems or whatever 

they take care of themselves.  Maybe the Keno doesn’t get built, another one doesn’t get built, 

maybe one doesn’t come there, but I think that everybody should know that the efforts they’ve 

made into over time, not just tonight, but to have input and comments into how this community is 

going to grow and look that’s what really sustains this community is to stay true to what we really 

wanted when we laid down our plan for what we wanted.  Not for one specific use or another.  I 

think if we as a community do that the decisions of the Keno are probably made easier by Mr. 

Mills, or you guys can accept the fact that whatever he’s going to do is going to be easier.  But I 

think the worst thing we can do is chuck the plan just to save one use or one item.  I think that 

doesn’t serve anybody very well. 



 

 

 

45 

 

I know Jean has got some other comments.  And the staff would like to get in our final 

recommendation and a recommendation on the resolution for the issue tonight. 

 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 

 

One of the comments that I wanted to make is we do have an adopted bike and pedestrian trails 

plan for the community.  And that is one layer or one element of the Comprehensive Plan.  And 

we would like -- the next time we would bring any plans back we will make sure that that overlay 

is shown on here so it’s very clear that there’s an interconnection, a system of trails and bike trails 

and so on.  Because we are trying to achieve a very bike friendly community aspect here in 

Pleasant Prairie. 

 

So what I’d like to do, Mr. Chairman, is I’d like to read the Village staff comments for the 

project.  Based on all the facts, the Village staff recommends denial of the Alternative #1 

Neighborhood Plan.  Specifically, the Neighborhood Plan is in conflict with the Comprehensive 

Land Use Plan and the B-2, Community Business Zoning District regulations and cannot be 

approved.  Furthermore, the Alternate #1 Neighborhood Plan commercial area identifying a 

proposed big box retail store is not compatible with the adjacent land uses.  In addition, the 

negative impacts as discussed in this memorandum that would be generated from a big box retail 

store at this location far outweigh the benefits to the community. 

 

The Alternative #2 and #3 Neighborhood Plans warrant some consideration, however, with the 

addition of another property at that southwest corner of Sheridan Road and 91st Street as a 

community commercial land use as shown on the Neighborhood Plans there is a conflict with the 

Comprehensive Land Use Plan and these Neighborhood Plans cannot be approved until and 

unless there is an amendment to the Comprehensive Land Use Plan if that’s the desire of the Plan 

Commission and the Board in order to expand the community commercial further south.  

Therefore, the Village staff based one everything that has been discussed recommends denial of 

Alternatives 2 and 3 Neighborhood Plans. 

 

John Braig: 

 

Thank you.  I really didn’t know what to expect coming to this meeting tonight.  We’ve had 

meetings before that have aroused considerable interest in the community.  I think this exceeds by 

far any that we’ve had that I’ve been exposed to in the past.  But more significantly of the issues 

that have aroused interest in the past there were usually two sides that were quite strong.  This is 

one time when everybody in the community is expressing a uniform opinion with the exception 

of the developer.  I’ll make a comment to the staff, I think this group will support rejecting all the 

alternatives.  But I think as the staff looks at additional possibilities or plans it definitely should 

not allow a big box, and that would be my position. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

We have a motion by Michael Serpe and a second by Wayne Koessl. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

46 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 

 

For the record there is a Village of Pleasant Prairie Plan Commission Resolution 15-12 as 

prepared by staff to deny the Comprehensive Plan amendment as presented.  So the staff 

recommends that this resolution specifically say resolution to deny the Pleasant Prairie 

amendment to alternatives 1, 2 and 3.  And it states at the bottom that it would be denied for the 

following reasons as I just read into the record.  And, again, it also references the public 

meetings, the public hearings, the open house and all the input that we have received up to this 

point with respect to this.  And due to the fact that they’re in conflict with the land use plan that 

we are recommending that the Plan Commission send a denial recommendation to the Village 

Board for alternatives 1, 2 and 3.  And, again, it should read to deny in the heading. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

I’ll amend my motion to deny Resolution 15-12. 

 

Wayne Koessl: 

 

And I’ll second, yes. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

A MODIFIED MOTION BY MICHAEL SERPE AND SECOND BY WAYNE KOESSL.  

AND I’M GOING TO CALL THE QUESTION.  WHEN I HEAR REVEREND 

HACKBARTH SAY THIS IS GOING TO BE THE FINAL COMMENT, WHEN A 

MINISTER SAYS THAT’S IT, THAT’S IT.  ALL IN FAVOR SIGNIFY BY SAYING 

AYE. 

 

Voices: 

 

Aye. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Opposed?  So ordered.  Thank you very much ladies and gentlemen.  I want to, again, express my 

appreciation for the way you folks have conducted yourselves.  Can I have your attention please.  

Can I have your attention.  The Plan Commission is not done, so we’re taking a five minute 

recess to give you an opportunity to clear the auditorium, and then we’ve got to continue on.  So 

thank you very much. 

 

[Recess] 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

I’ll call the meeting back to order.  Jean, we’re ready to proceed in Item B. 

 

 B. PUBLIC HEARING AND CONSIDERATION OF ZONING TEXT AMENDMENT 

to amend Sections 420-27 and 420-28 related to zoning fees for fences and driveways 



 

 

 

47 

permits and fees for Site and Operational Plan application that requires staff review 

only. 
 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 

 

Mr. Chairman and members of the Plan Commission and the audience, this is a public hearing 

and consideration of a zoning text amendment to amend Sections 420-27 and 420-28 related to 

zoning fees for fences and driveway permits and fees for site and operational plan application that 

requires staff review only. 

 

On March 23, 2015, the Village Board adopted Resolution #15-07 to initiate some amendments to 

the zoning ordinance to re-evaluate zoning permits and application fees.  Section 420-27 C is 

being amended to change the application fee for site and operational plan application that 

required staff review only, and we’re recommending that it be changed from $100 to $50.  This 

fee has been re-evaluated and reduced since the application fee coupled with the zoning permit 

fee of either $40 tenant change without alterations or $85 tenant change with alterations covers 

the staff time to review the permit and the zoning permit inspections required. 

 

Zoning permit fees are being amended for fence permits, Section 420-28 A (6), Section 420-28 A 

(8) and Section 420-28 A (9.   The fee is being changed from $40 to $50.  This fee includes the 

zoning review, a staking inspection and a final inspection.  The Building Inspection Department 

does not charge any additional fees for a fence permit although they do perform the two 

inspections for the CD department. 

 

Driveway permit fees are being created in the zoning ordinance.  Currently the permit fees for a 

new, replacement or extended driveway are found in the building code and range in price from 

$30 to $50 per driveway entrance.  Since a driveway permit is regulated in the zoning ordinance, 

the permit fees are being removed from the building code and being added to the zoning 

ordinance.  In addition, there will be one fee for a new driveway, a replacement driveway or to 

extend a driveway of $50 per entrance.  This fee includes the zoning review, a staking inspection 

and a final inspections for each driveway.  The Building Inspection Department will not charge 

any additional fees for a driveway permit although they perform the two inspections.  And my 

staff and I have worked through all of the modifications and changes with the inspection 

department superintendent.  So with that this is a public hearing. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Is there anybody wishing to speak on this matter?  Anybody wishing to speak?  Anybody wishing 

to speak?  Hearing none, I’ll open it up to comments and questions from Commissioners. 

 

Wayne Koessl: 

 

If there aren’t any questions, Mr. Chairman, I’ll move approval. 

 

Jim Bandura: 

 

Second. 

 



 

 

 

48 

Tom Terwall: 

 

IT’S BEEN MOVED BY WAYNE KOESSL AND SECONDED BY JIM BANDURA TO 

APPROVE THE ZONING TEXT AMENDMENTS AS INDICATED.  ALL IN FAVOR 

SIGNIFY BY SAYING AYE. 

 

Voices: 

 

Aye. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Opposed?  So ordered.  Thank you. 

 

7. ADJOURN. 
 

John Braig: 

 

Move adjournment. 

 

Judy Juliana: 

 

Second. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

All in favor signify by saying aye. 

 

Voices: 

 

Aye. 

 

Tom Terwall: 

 

Opposed?  We stand adjourned. 

 

 

 

 

Meeting Adjourned: 9:04 p.m. 







1 
 

 

VILLAGE STAFF MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Michael Pollocoff, Village Administrator 

  Village Board of Trustees 

FROM:  Jean M. Werbie-Harris, Community Development Director 

SUBJECT: Partial Termination of Development Agreements and Variances 

DATE:  May 12, 2015 

Consider the request of Wendy Banasik, agent on behalf of Kwik Trip, Inc. is requesting a 

partial termination and release from three (3) Agreements entered into by and between the 

previous land Owner (V.K. Development Corporation) and the Village of Pleasant Prairie and 

two (2) variances granted by the Village for the related infrastructure improvements in the 

Prairie Ridge Development installed in the land areas located between 88th and 104th 

Avenues south of STH 50 in the Prairie Ridge Development.  The specific property that the 

petitioner is requesting partial termination for is identified as Tax Parcel Number 91-4-122-

081-0105 (Outlot 18 of Prairie Ridge Subdivision), which is located at the northwest corner 

of 88th Avenue and 76th Street.  All of the public related improvements as referenced in the 

Agreements and Variances have been completed, inspected and accepted by the Village.  All 

of the obligations referenced in the Agreements have been fulfilled and financial securities 

held by the Village have been disbursed. 

The Village staff recommends approval of the Partial Termination of Memorandum 

of Development Agreements and Variances as referenced below and recommends 

that the Village President and Clerk be authorized to execute the documents.  

1. Memorandum of Development Agreement V. K. Development Corporation dated 

September 13, 1996 and recorded in the Kenosha County Register of Deeds office 

on September 18, 1996 as Document No. 1035830.  (Title Commitment #14).   

This Memorandum was related to the initial mass rough grading, drainage 

improvements and erosion control work for the development based upon the 

Preliminary Plat and Preliminary Engineering Plans for the Prairie Ridge 

Development.  

2. Variance Grant Document No.  96-14 executed  by  Village of  Pleasant Prairie 

and  VK Development Corporation on December 16, 1997 and recorded in the 

Kenosha County Register of  Deeds office on February 10,1998 as Document No. 

1085139.  (Title Commitment #18).  This Variance allowed for roadways within the 

single family portion of the development to extend more than 600 feet in length. 

3. Memorandum of Agreement executed by Village of Pleasant Prairie and V. K. 

Development Corporation on October 29, 1997 and recorded the Kenosha County 

Register of Deeds office on November 4, 1997 as Document No. 1075619. (Title 

Commitment #16)  This Memorandum was related to the completion of the final 

required public and private infrastructure improvements for the development based 

upon the Final Plat and Final Engineering Plans for the Prairie Ridge Development. 



2 
 

4. Variance Grant Document No. 97-09 executed by Village of Pleasant Prairie and VK 

Development Corporation on October 20, 1997 and recorded in the Kenosha County 

Register of Deeds office on February 10, 1998 as Document No. 1085138. (Title 

Commitment #17). This Variance related to the timing of the installation and 

completion of public improvements for the Prairie Ridge development. 

5. Memorandum of Development Agreement executed by Village of Pleasant Prairie 

and V. K. Development Corporation on March 9, 1998 and recorded in the Kenosha 

County Register of Deeds office March 12, 1998 as Document No. 1088728.(Title 

Commitment #12).  This Memorandum was related to the completion of the final 

required public and private infrastructure improvements for the development based 

upon the Final Plat and Final Engineering Plans for the Prairie Ridge Subdivision 

Phase 1 (a/k/a Addition #1) Development. 









































































 

 

8600 Green Bay Road    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-2709    Phone 262.925.6765    Fax 262.694.2941    

PleasantPrairieOnline.com 

Office of the Director of Public Works  
John Steinbrink Jr., P.E. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To: Michael Pollocoff 

From: John Steinbrink Jr. 

Subject: Bentz Estates Pond Maintenance Award of Contract 
 
Date: May 12, 2015 

 
On October 23, 2014 the homeowners in the Bentz Estates Subdivision were issued 
letters regarding an update and subsequent options to be taken pertaining to the costs 
associated with the maintenance responsibilities for Outlot 1 (storm water pond) for 
which the homeowners are responsible.  (Please see the attached.)  Bentz Estates 
property owners were given until January 5, 2015 to respond.  No responses were 
received. 
 
On April 24, 2015, a request for proposal for Bentz Estates Pond Maintenance for a 
three-year term was offered to all landscape companies pre-qualified to work in the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie.  Two of these companies requested bid proposal packets. 
 
One bid was received for this project: 
 
     Contractor              Bid 
 Kenosha Grounds Care  $1,925.00/year  

 
Kenosha Grounds Care has been maintaining the pond for the last several years. 
 
I recommend that the Village enter into an agreement with Kenosha Grounds Care in 
the amount of $1,925/year for a contract total of $5,775.00.  

 

 







 

 

 
 

 
 
 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL  

RFP #15-PARK-02 
 
 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
 

 

Bentz Estates Pond Maintenance 

 

 
 

 

April 24, 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ISSUED BY: 

 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 

Department of Public Works 

8600 Green Bay Rd 

Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 

 

 



 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
 
 

Notice is hereby given that proposals will be received by the Village of Pleasant Prairie 

(“Village”), Wisconsin for: 

 

Bentz Estates Pond Maintenance 

RFP #15-PARK-02 

 
Proposals shall be delivered or mailed to: John Steinbrink Jr. P.E., Director of Public Works, 

Village of Pleasant Prairie, 8600 Green Bay Rd, Pleasant Prairie, WI, 53158. 

 
Proposals will be accepted until: 

 
Date: Tuesday, May 12, 2015 

 
Time: 10:00 A.M. (CST) 

 
Proposals submitted after the above-noted due date and time will be rejected. Respondents 

accept all risks of late delivery of mailed submittals regardless of fault. 
 
The Village reserves the right to reject any and all submittals and to waive irregularities and 

informalities in the submittal and evaluation process. This RFP does not obligate the Village 

to pay any costs incurred by respondents in the preparation and submission of their 

statement of qualifications. Furthermore, the RFP does not obligate the Village to accept or 

contract for any expressed or implied services. 
 
It is the policy of the Village of Pleasant Prairie to assure that no person shall, on the basis 

of race, color, religion, sex or national origin, as provided by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act 

of 1964, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be otherwise 

discriminated against under any of its federally funded programs and activities. 
 
The Village is committed to a program of equal employment opportunity regardless of race, 

color, religion, sex, age, nationality, disability, or sexual orientation. The successful 

consultant must comply with the Village of Pleasant Prairie’s equal opportunity 

requirements. 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

       April 24, 2015   

John Steinbrink Jr, P.E.    Date 

Director of Public Works 



 

 

   TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 
PURPOSE & INTENT ................................................................................ 1 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/PROJECT REQUIREMENTS ......................................... 1 

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS AND FORMAT .................................................... 1 

POND MAINTENANCE SCOPE ................................................................... 2 

SUBMITTAL PROCESS & REQUIREMENTS................................................... 3 

SCHEDULE ............................................................................................ 4 

EVALUATION COMMITTEE, SELECTION & AWARD PROCESS ......................... 5 

MISCELLANEOUS ................................................................................... 5 

ATTACHMENTS 

 RESPONDENT’S PROPOSAL ................................................................. 9 

 RESPONDENT’S PROPOSAL SIGNATURE PAGE AND LEGAL STATUS ....... 10  

 CONTRACTOR’S AFFIDAVIT .............................................................. 11 

 



 

- 1 - 

 

1) PURPOSE & INTENT 

 
This solicitation involves Bentz Estates Pond Maintenance for the Village of Pleasant Prairie. 

 

The Village is responsible for managing the retention pond for the Bentz Estates Homeowners 
Association.  The pond is located on the Northwest corner of 85th St and 60th Ave.  Required 
pond maintenance is detailed in Section 4.   
 
The Village of Pleasant Prairie will distribute Request for Proposals. A Village of Pleasant Prairie 

Evaluation and Selection Committee will evaluate the RFP’s submitted and establish a short list. 

Those firms selected on the short list will be ranked. The Village of Pleasant Prairie will then 

discuss approach, project schedule and resources with the highest ranked firm. Negotiations of 

fee’s, terms and conditions will follow. In the event that the negotiations with the highest 

ranked firm are unsuccessful, negotiations will then proceed to the second highest ranked firm. 
 
2) SCOPE OF SERVICES/PROJECT REQUIREMENTS 

 

A) DEFINITIONS 
 

(1) “VILLAGE” means the Village of Pleasant Prairie. 
(2) “COUNTY” means Kenosha County. 
(3) “PROJECT” means the Bentz Estates Pond Maintenance 

 
B) GENERAL 

 
(1) The Services under this contract shall consist of all tasks necessary or 

incidental to accomplish the PROJECT. 

(2) The Respondent shall furnish all services and labor necessary to conduct and 

complete the services, and shall furnish all materials, equipment, supplies, 

and incidentals other than those designated in writing as to be furnished by 

the VILLAGE. 

(3) The services under this contract shall be performed in accordance with 

generally accepted standards.  
(4) The services shall comply with the applicable State and Federal laws 

and regulations consistent with the scope of project. 

 

C) REQUIRMENTS - This project will require the selected firm to provide the following:  

Bentz Estates Pond Maintenance as outlined in this document. 

 

3) GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS AND FORMAT 
 
The evaluation and selection of a consultant will be based on the information submitted in the 

request for proposal plus references and any required interviews/presentations. Consultants 

shall respond clearly and completely to all requirements. Failure to respond to any of the 

requirements in the RFP may be the basis for rejecting a submittal. The submitted 

qualifications shall be typed and submitted on 8.5” x 11” paper and bound securely. 

Tables/Graphs/Charts and other exhibits may be submitted on 11” x 17” paper, properly 

folded to an 8.5” x 11” size and bound securely within the document. There is a 12 total page 

limit to the responses. 

 

 



 

- 2 - 

 

4) RETENTION POND MAINTENANCE SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Pond Maintenance  

 Treatment of shoreline and cattail treatments six times per year. 

Sprinkler System Maintenance 

 Spring - Sprinkler system includes adjustment and repair heads as needed. 

 Fall – Blow out system.  

Fountain Maintenance 

Spring – Install fountain, ensuring that it is operating properly operating from 5 am to 

11 pm daily. 

Summer – Monthly inspection of fountain, ensuring that it is operating and timer is set 

correctly. 

Fall – Removal of fountain, clean and store for winter.  Inspect for repairs.  Cost of 

additional repairs is not a part of this contract and will be paid for in addition.  

Pond Maintenance 

 Treat pond for algae 4 times per year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

- 3 - 

 

5) SUBMITTAL PROCESS & REQUIREMENTS 
 
Qualifications are sought from firms with recognized expertise in Bentz Estates Pond 

Maintenance. Items A through H shall constitute the technical proposal;  

 

Proposals shall include the following: 

 

Technical and Qualifications Proposal: 
 

A) Firm name, address, telephone number and contact person. A two-page statement of 

interest and qualifications for this project. 

 
B) Brief history of the firm. 

 
C) A brief (maximum four-page) project understanding description.   

 
D) Discussion of firm’s specific abilities and expertise to provide the required services.  

 
E) Key personnel proposed as project team members. 

 

F) Clearly identify sub-consultants, if proposed, with similar information.  
 

G) Examples of specific knowledge, expertise and project experience related to this 

type of project. 

 

H) References of other owners for which the firm has provided similar services. 
Reference information must include: 

 
(1) Name of owner. 

(2) Project name. 
(3) Brief description of firm’s involvement. 

(4) Contact person. 

(5) Project/Contact address. 

(6) Project/Contact telephone number. 

(7) Firm’s key personnel assigned to the referenced project. 
 
 

 

Firms must submit the following items: 

 

 One original (clearly labeled as such) PLUS three copies of all materials required for 
acceptance of their qualifications (Proposal Items A through H), Completed 

Respondent’s Proposal, Respondent’s Proposal Signature and Legal 

Status, and Contractors Affidavit. 

 
On or before 10:00 a.m. on Tuesday, May 12, 2015, via U.S. Mail, UPS, Fed Ex, DHL, 
Airborne, etc. to: 

 
Village of Pleasant Prairie 

Attn: John Steinbrink Jr., P.E.  

Director of Public Works 

8600 Green Bay Rd. 

Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 



 

- 4 - 

 
The Village of Pleasant Prairie does not accept facsimile or email submitted proposals. A firm, 

if it so chooses, may hand-deliver its proposal package on or before the date and time listed 

above. All submittals must be date-stamped by the Village of Pleasant Prairie.  Submittals 

received after 10:00 a.m. on Tuesday, May 12, 2015, will not be accepted. 

 

The complete proposal package shall be plainly marked as shown below.  
 

All submittals must be packaged, sealed, and clearly labeled to show the following 

information on the outside of the package: 
 

Firm’s Name and Address 

“Village of Pleasant Prairie – RFP#15-PARK-01 
Bentz Estates Pond Maintenance  

RFP Due Date of Tuesday, May 12, 2015 

 
 
It is not the intent of this RFP to solicit an overly long response, but it is important that the 

firm’s experience/expertise is adequately described. It will, for example, be much more useful 

to address abilities and expertise directly comparable to this project than to include an 

exhaustive list of all projects completed by the firm. Village staff will review the submitted 

proposals. The selected firm will meet with the Village to prepare a contractual agreement 

between the Village and the firm after the final selection is complete. 
 
6) SCHEDULE 
 
Listed below are estimated dates and times of actions related to this RFP. In the event that 

the Village finds it necessary to change any of the specific dates and times, it will do so by 

issuing amendments to this RFP. Failure by the Village to issue amendments to this schedule 

will not invalidate this selection process. 
 
 

     RFP SCHEDULE: 
 

EVENT DATE 

RFP Release April 24, 2015 

RFP Responses Due Tuesday May  12, 2015 

Contract Recommendation to the Village Board May  12, 2015 

Village Board Approval 
May 18, 2015 

Contract Begins May 26, 2015 

Contract expires  December 31, 2018 

 

  



 

- 5 - 

7) EVALUATION COMMITTEE, SELECTION & AWARD PROCESS 
 

A) Evaluation committee. The Village RFP Evaluation & Selection Committee will consist 

of: 

 John Steinbrink, Jr., Public Works Director  

 Jesse Houle, Village Construction Manager 

 
The evaluation committee members have been selected because of their special 

expertise and knowledge of the service(s) and/or product(s) that are the subject of this 

RFP. 
 

B) The selection committee will evaluate the proposals utilizing the proposal evaluation 

criteria. The Village, because of time constraints and depending upon the thoroughness 

of the proposals, may at its sole option award a contract based upon the initial 

proposal submittal. Do not assume there will be an opportunity for submittal of 

additional information. Submit your proposal as if it were your “best and final offer.” 
 

C) Right to reject qualifications and negotiate contract terms: 

 
The Village reserves the right to reject any and all submittals. The Village reserves 

the right to negotiate the terms of the contract, including the award amount, with the 

selected consultant prior to entering into a contract. 

 
D) Award of contract: 

 
The Village reserves the right to make an award without further discussion of the 

submittals. The firm selected as the apparent successful firm will be expected to 

enter into a contract with the Village. The foregoing should not be interpreted to 

prohibit either party from proposing additional contract terms and conditions during 

the negotiations of the final contract. If the selected firm fails to sign the contract 

within ten (10) business days of delivery of the final contract, the Village may elect to 

negotiate a contract with the next-highest ranked firm. The Village shall not be 

bound, or in any way obligated, until both parties have executed a contract. No party 

may incur any chargeable costs prior to the execution of the final contract. Following 

consultant selection, the successful consultant shall prepare a proposal and scope of 

work for review by the Village. Once the Village and consultant have reached an 

agreement on the scope of services, a final contract will be prepared by the Village. 
 
8) MISCELLAN0US 
 

A) Questions 
 

Questions regarding this RFP may be directed to John Steinbrink Jr. P.E., Director of 

Public Works, via e-mail at jsteinbrink@plprairiewi.com. Unauthorized contact 

regarding this RFP with other Village employees may result in disqualification from 

consideration in the proposal. Any oral communications will be considered unofficial 

and non-binding on the Village, unless it is followed by a written statement from the 

Village. 

 

B) Rejection of Submittals 
 

The Village reserves the right to reject any and all submittals and to waive 

irregularities and informalities in the submittal and evaluation process. This RFP 

does not obligate the Village to pay any costs incurred by respondents in the 

mailto:jsteinbrink@plprairiewi.com


 

- 6 - 

preparation and submission of their qualifications. Furthermore, this RFP does not 

obligate the Village to accept or contract for any expressed or implied services. 
 

 
C )  Withdrawal of Qualifications 

 
Consultants may withdraw a submittal, in writing, at any time up to the proposal due 

date and time. The written withdrawal notice must be received by the Village Director 

of Public Works. The notice must be signed by an authorized representative of the 

consultant. 
 

D) Incurring Costs 
 

The Village is not liable for any costs incurred by consultants in responding to this 

RFP.     

 

E) Proprietary Proposal Material 

 
Any proprietary information revealed in the submittal should be clearly identified as 

such by the respondent. 
 

F) Terms 
 

There is no expressed or implied obligation of the Village to reimburse firms for any 

costs incurred in preparing submittals in response to this request. The  Village 

reserves the right to reject any and all submittals and to modify the scope of services. 

The Village further reserves the right to retain all submittals and to use any idea in a 

submittal regardless of whether that submittal is selected. 
 

G) Signatures 
 

RFPs shall be signed by one of the legally authorized officers of the submitting 

firm/corporation. If awarded the contract, the contract shall also be executed  by 

said officer. 
 

H) Contract Negotiation 

 
The Village reserves the right to negotiate all elements of the submittals, proposals, 
terms and conditions, and/or scope of work as part of the contract negotiation process 

prior to any formal authorization of the contract by the Village. 

 

I) Equal Opportunity Employment 

 
The successful consultant(s) must comply with the Village equal opportunity 

requirements. The Village is committed to a program of equal employment 

opportunity regardless of race, color, religion, sex, age, nationality or disability. 

 

J) Title VI 
 

It is the Village's policy to assure that no person shall, on the basis of race, color, 

religion, sex or national origin, as provided by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 

be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be otherwise 

discriminated against under any of its federally funded programs and activities. 

 



 

- 7 - 

K) Insurance Requirements 

 
The selected firm shall maintain insurance that is sufficient to protect the firm’s 

business against all applicable risks. Standard requirements may be negotiated if it is 

in the best interest of the Village. 

 
L) Non-Endorsement 

 
As a result of the selection of a firm to supply products and/or services to the Village, 

firm agrees to make no reference to the Village in any literature, promotional material, 

brochures, sales presentation or the like without the express written consent of the 

Village. 

 
M) Non-Collusion 

 
Submittal and signature of a statement of qualifications swears that the document is 

genuine and not a sham or collusive, and not made in the interest of any person not 

named, and that the consultant has not induced or solicited others to submit a sham 

offer, or to refrain from proposing. 
 

N) Compliance with Laws & Regulations 
 

In addition to nondiscrimination and affirmative action compliance requirements 

previously listed, the consultant or consultants ultimately awarded a contract  shall 

comply with Federal, State and local laws, statutes and ordinances, and industry 
standards relative to the execution of the work. This requirement includes, but is 

not limited to, protection of public and employee safety and health; environmental 

protection; waste reduction and recycling; the protection of natural resources; 

permits; fees; taxes; and similar subjects. 

 

O) Public Records 
 

Under Wisconsin state law, the documents (including but not limited to written, 
printed, graphic, electronic, photographic or voice mail materials and/or 

transcriptions, recordings or reproductions thereof) submitted in response to this RFP 

(the “documents”) become a public record upon submission to the Village, subject to 

mandatory disclosure upon request by any person, unless the documents are 

exempted from public disclosure by a specific provision of law. If the Village receives 

a request for inspection or copying of any such documents it will promptly notify the 

person submitting the documents to the Village (by U.S.  mail and by fax if the person 
has provided a fax number) and upon the written  request of such person, received by 

the Village within five (5) days of the mailing of such notice, will postpone disclosure 

of the documents for a reasonable period of time as permitted by law to enable such 

person to seek a court order prohibiting or conditioning the release of the documents. 

The Village assumes no contractual obligation to enforce any exemption. The Village 

does not accept any  responsibility for agreements, contracts or purchase orders 

issued by other public agencies to the consultant. Each public agency accepts 
responsibility for compliance with any additional or varying laws and regulations 

governing purchase by or on behalf of the public agency. The Village accepts no 

responsibility for the performance of the consultant in providing goods and/or services 

to other public agencies, nor any responsibility for the payment price to the 

consultant for other public agency purchases. 

 
 



 

- 8 - 

P) Clarification and/or Revisions of this RFP: 
 

Revisions to this RFP will only be made by an official written amendment issued by 

the Village. In order to be eligible to receive amendments to this RFP, all 

respondents are responsible to notify the Village of its official contact person, 

address and email address. All amendments/clarifications will be forwarded to the 

respondents of record. 

 

  



 

- 9 - 

 
 

RESPONDENT’S PROPOSAL 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

WE HEREBY PROPOSE TO FURNISH ANNUAL MAINTENANCE OF THE POND IN THE BENTZ 

ESTATES SUBDIVISION FOR A THREE YEAR CONTRACT AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Activity    Treatments per year  Unit Cost Extended 

Pond Maintenance-Shoreline & Cattails        6   $_______ $__________ 

Sprinkler System Maintenance        $__________ 

Fountain Maintenance         $__________ 

Pond Maintenance-Algae          4   $_______ $__________ 

      

     Total Annual Cost   $__________ 

     Total Three Year Contract Cost $__________ 

 

 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 

            

 Company     Title 

       ______________________________ 

Signature     Date 

 

  



 

- 10 - 

 

 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

RESPONDENT’S PROPOSAL 

SIGNATURE PAGE AND LEGAL STATUS 
 
 

THE UNDERSIGNED CERTIFY THAT THEY ARE AN OFFICIAL LEGALLY AUTHORIZED TO BIND 

THEIR FIRM AND TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT SHOULD THE VILLAGE ACCEPT THIS PROPOSAL. 

 

 

PROPOSAL BY: ______________________________________________________________ 

                    (Name of Firm) 

 

 

LEGAL STATUS OF RESPONDENT:  (Please check the appropriate box) 

 

CORPORATION ______ STATE OF INCORPORATION _____________________ 

 

PARTNERSHIP _______ LIST NAMES  _________________________________ 

 

_________________________________ 

 

DBA ________________ EXPLAIN _________________________________ 

 

_________________________________ 

 

_________________________________ 

 

 

SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT:   TITLE: 

 

 

 

_____________________________________ _________________________________ 

 

ADDRESS:     CITY: 

 

_____________________________________ _________________________________ 

 

ZIP:      TEL: 

_____________________________________ _________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

Signed this _____________________ Day of ________________________________ 20____. 

 

 



 

- 11 - 

CONTRACTOR’S AFFIDAVIT 
 

            

  

 

STATE OF WISCONSIN  ) 

 

( SS. 

 

__________________VILLAGE ) 

 

______________________________, an office of  

 

___________________________________ 

 

to-wit: I, _________________________________, being first duly sworn in oath, says: 

 

That ____________________________________,  has no contractual relationships whatsoever, either 

direct or indirect, with any officer, agent, or employee of the  

 

 

 

Owner: __________________________________; nor has any officer, agent, or employee of the 

Owner any financial interest, either direct or indirect, present or prospective, absolute or conditional in 

the contract to which this bond pertains, as this affiant well knows. 

 

Dated at __________________ this _________ day of ________________, 20___ 

 

Affiant ____________________________________________________________ 

 

Title ______________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this _________day of ________________, 20____ 

 

 

 

_________________________________________ 

Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 

 

 

My Commission Expires: ____________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

8600 Green Bay Road    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-2709    Phone 262.948.8945    Fax 262.694.2941    

PleasantPrairieOnline.com 

Office of the Department of Public Works 

Jesse Houle, P.E. 

Construction Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To: Michael Pollocoff 

From: Jesse Houle 

Subject: Award of Contract for Park and Ride Service Lot - Project #44908 

Date: May 12, 2015 

Sealed bids for the above referenced project were received until 11:00 a.m. on April 28, 
2015, at the Village of Pleasant Prairie Public Works Department. The bids were 
publicly opened and read aloud.  The apparent low bidder results are attached for 
review. 
 
This project had been re-scoped to include reconstruction of existing gravel parking lot, 
storm sewer improvements, concrete curb and gutter, furnish and place new concrete 
sidewalk, furnish and place new asphaltic pavement and swale restoration.  
 
A total of two proposals were received for this project: 
 

 DK Contractors, Inc. $511,609.00 

 Payne & Dolan, Inc. $ 607,523.14 
 
This project was originally bid earlier in the year.  The initial project was based on an 
engineer’s estimate of $820,685.10.  The lowest bid received was $1,079,111.00.  All 
bids were rejected.  The project was re-scoped, minor design modifications were made 
and the project was re-bid.  
 
I recommend that the Village award this project to DK Contractors, Inc. in the amount of             
$511,609.00.  DK Contractors has completed similar projects for the Village in the past. 
 
Following the formal award by the Village Board, we will prepare the necessary 
documents for execution by the Village and the Contractor. 



Future
Proposed

Fire
Station

Photography by AeroMetric Inc.

T h e  V i l l a g e  o f  P l e a s a n t  P r a i r i e  m a k e s  n o  r e p r e s e n t a i o n s  c o n c e r n i n g  t h e  a c c u r a c y  o r  v a l i d i t y  p r e s e n t e d  o n  t h i s  m a p .  I n f o r m a t i o n  i s  f o r  g e n e r a l  i n f o r m a t i o n a lT h e  V i l l a g e  o f  P l e a s a n t  P r a i r i e  m a k e s  n o  r e p r e s e n t a i o n s  c o n c e r n i n g  t h e  a c c u r a c y  o r  v a l i d i t y  p r e s e n t e d  o n  t h i s  m a p .  I n f o r m a t i o n  i s  f o r  g e n e r a l  i n f o r m a t i o n a l
p u r p o s e  o n l y  a n d  i s  n o t  t o  b e  u s e d  f o r  s y s t e m  d e s i g n  p u r p o s e s  b y  o t h e r s .p u r p o s e  o n l y  a n d  i s  n o t  t o  b e  u s e d  f o r  s y s t e m  d e s i g n  p u r p o s e s  b y  o t h e r s .

/P A R K  A N D  R I D E  S E R V I C E  L O T  -  O R I G I N A L  B I DP A R K  A N D  R I D E  S E R V I C E  L O T  -  O R I G I N A L  B I D

swlahovich
Rectangle

swlahovich
Rectangle

swlahovich
Oval

swlahovich
Line

swlahovich
Line

swlahovich
Typewritten Text

swlahovich
Typewritten Text

swlahovich
Typewritten Text

swlahovich
Typewritten Text

swlahovich
Sticky Note
Unmarked set by swlahovich

swlahovich
Sticky Note
Marked set by swlahovich

swlahovich
Typewritten Text

swlahovich
Typewritten Text

swlahovich
Typewritten Text

swlahovich
Typewritten Text

swlahovich
Typewritten Text

swlahovich
Typewritten Text

swlahovich
Typewritten Text

swlahovich
Typewritten Text

swlahovich
Typewritten Text

swlahovich
Typewritten Text

jhoule
Text Box
PARK AND RIDE SERVICE LOT - ORIGINAL BID(ALL BIDS REJECTED 2/23/15)RECONSTRUCTION OF ALL LOTSALSO INCLUDED CONSTRUCTION OF 10' WALK ALONG TERWALL TERRACE AT MIDPLEXREJECTED BID $1,079,111.00



Future
Proposed

Fire
Station

Photography by AeroMetric Inc.

T h e  V i l l a g e  o f  P l e a s a n t  P r a i r i e  m a k e s  n o  r e p r e s e n t a i o n s  c o n c e r n i n g  t h e  a c c u r a c y  o r  v a l i d i t y  p r e s e n t e d  o n  t h i s  m a p .  I n f o r m a t i o n  i s  f o r  g e n e r a l  i n f o r m a t i o n a lT h e  V i l l a g e  o f  P l e a s a n t  P r a i r i e  m a k e s  n o  r e p r e s e n t a i o n s  c o n c e r n i n g  t h e  a c c u r a c y  o r  v a l i d i t y  p r e s e n t e d  o n  t h i s  m a p .  I n f o r m a t i o n  i s  f o r  g e n e r a l  i n f o r m a t i o n a l
p u r p o s e  o n l y  a n d  i s  n o t  t o  b e  u s e d  f o r  s y s t e m  d e s i g n  p u r p o s e s  b y  o t h e r s .p u r p o s e  o n l y  a n d  i s  n o t  t o  b e  u s e d  f o r  s y s t e m  d e s i g n  p u r p o s e s  b y  o t h e r s .

/P A R K  A N D  R I D E  S E R V I C E  L O T  -  P H A S E  1P A R K  A N D  R I D E  S E R V I C E  L O T  -  P H A S E  1

swlahovich
Rectangle

swlahovich
Rectangle

swlahovich
Oval

swlahovich
Line

swlahovich
Line

jhoule
Polygon

jhoule
Callout
Additional 10' Connector Sidewalk

jhoule
Polygonal Line

jhoule
Polygon

jhoule
Callout
Phase 1 Limits

jhoule
Callout
Phase 1 Limits

jhoule
Callout
Entrance will not be constructed in Ph 1

jhoule
Text Box
Village to perform Electrical and Storm



OFFICIAL NOTICE TO BIDDERS 
 

PARK AND RIDE SERVICELOT 
 

OWNER:  The Village of Pleasant Prairie hereby gives notice that sealed Bids will be received for the 
reconstruction of the existing gravel Parking Lot along Terwall Terrace near Pleasant Prairie Park and Ride 
Facility and Lake Andrea. 
 
The project consists of one prime Contract and is identified as follows: 
 
Project No. E-14-012: 
 
The Park and Ride Service Lot Project consist of the following work and generally described as follows: 
 
Park and Ride Service Lot – Reconstruction of existing gravel parking lot, storm sewer improvements, 
concrete curb and gutter, furnish and place new concrete sidewalk, furnish and place new asphaltic pavement 
and swale restoration. 
 
All Contractors shall comply with the “Contractor Qualification Ordinance of the Village of Pleasant Prairie” 
requiring pre-qualification of Contractors prior to obtaining bidding documents or submitting bids or to act as 
a Contractor or Subcontractor on any public improvement project.  Applications for Qualification forms may 
be obtained from the Village of Pleasant Prairie Clerk at 9915-39th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 53158 
or obtained from the following website: 
 http://www.pleasantprairieonline.com/formsandlicensing/prequalification/index.asp 
 
TIME AND PLACE OF BID OPENING:  Sealed Bids will be received until 11:00 A.M., Local Time, on the 
28th day of April, 2015, in the office of the Village Public Works Department, 8600 Green Bay Road, Pleasant 
Prairie, Wisconsin, 53158.  After the official Bid closing time, the Bids will be publicly opened and read 
aloud. 
 
BIDDING DOCUMENTS: The Bidding Documents are those designed as “Village of Pleasant Prairie – Park 
and Ride Service Lot” prepared by Clark Dietz, Inc., 5017 Green Bay Road, Suite 126, Kenosha, WI 53144. 
These  documents are on file for inspection at the Village Hall, 9915-39th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  
53158. All submitted Bidding Documents shall be original copies obtained directly from the Village of 
Pleasant Prairie.  Bid Documents, which cannot be verified as being obtained from the Village of Pleasant 
Prairie, will not be accepted.  Copies may be obtained by applying to the Village of Pleasant Prairie, 9915-39th 
Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158. Direct inquiries may be directed to Mr. Steven Wlahovich, 
Engineering Technician, at (262) 925-6767. 
 
A $30.00 non-refundable payment for each set of Bidding Documents is required.  A separate $15.00 non-
refundable handling charge is required for each Document set that is mailed regular ground delivery.  Copies 
of the Bidding Documents may be secured in person at the Village Hall, 9915 39th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, 
Wisconsin, eliminating the handling charges.  
 
LEGAL PROVISIONS:  The Contract letting shall be subject to the provisions of Sections 61.54, 61.55, 
66.0901, and 66.0903 of the Wisconsin Statutes. 
 

ON-1 



WAGE RATES:  CONTRACTORS shall be required to pay not less than the prevailing wage rates on the 
Project as established by the State of Wisconsin, Department of Workforce Development.  Copies of these 
wage rates are on file in the office the Engineer and incorporated into the Contract Documents. 
 
BID SECURITY: Bid Security in the amount not less than 5% nor more than 10% of the Bid shall accompany 
each Bid in accordance with the Instructions to Bidders.  Acceptable bid Security shall be Bid Bond, Certified 
Check, Cashier’s Check or Money Order. 
 
CONTRACT SECURITY:  The Bidder to whom the Contract is awarded shall furnish a Performance Bond 
and Payment Pond each in the amount equal to the Contract Price. 
 
BID REJECTION / ACCEPTANCE:  Owner reserves the right to reject any and all Bids, waive informalities 
in bidding or accept the Bid or Bids, which best serve the interest of Owner.  
 
BID WITHDRAWL:  No Bid shall be withdrawn for a period of 40 days after the opening of the Bids without 
the consent of Owner. 
 
Published on April 10th & April 17th 2015 by authority of the Village of Pleasant Prairie. 
 
By: 
 John P. Steinbrink, President 
 Jane Romanowski, Clerk 
 
  
 
 
  

ON-2 



 

 

8600 Green Bay Road    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-2709    Phone 262.948.8945    Fax 262.694.2941    

PleasantPrairieOnline.com 

Office of the Department of Public Works 

Jesse Houle, P.E. 

Construction Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To: Michael Pollocoff 

From: Jesse Houle 

Subject: Award of Contract for Park and Ride Service Lot – Construction 
Management - Project #44908 

Date: May 12, 2015 

 
Proposals for the above referenced original project were received until 3:00 p.m. on 
February 13th, 2015.  The proposals were reviewed by the evaluation committee, 
ranked and compiled.   
 
A total of two proposals were received for the original project: 
 

 RA Smith, Inc. $ 42,554.00 

 Clark Dietz, Inc. $ 53,630.00 
 
The original project was rejected however RA Smith was selected for the construction 
management portion by the evaluation team based on their original bid. 
 
The original project was re-scoped to include reconstruction of existing gravel parking 
lot, storm sewer improvements, concrete curb and gutter, furnish and place new 
concrete sidewalk, furnish and place new asphaltic pavement and swale restoration.  
 
Negotiations were entered into for the construction management contract and RA 
Smith’s proposal was reduced to $24,422.00 for the re-bid work. 
 
I recommend that the Village award this project to RA Smith in the amount of             
$24,422.00.   
 
Following the formal award by the Village Board, we will prepare the necessary 
documents for execution by the Village and the Contractor. 
 
 



 

 
 

 
 
 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
RFP #15-01 

 
 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
Project #44908 

 

 

Terwall Terrace Parking 

Lot/Sidewalk 2015 
 

 

Professional Engineering Construction 
Management Services 

 

 

February 4, 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ISSUED BY: 

 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 

Department of Public Works 

8600 Green Bay Rd 

Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 

1 



2 
 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
 
Notice is hereby given that proposals will be received by the Village of Pleasant Prairie 

(“Village”), Wisconsin for: 

 

RFP #15-01 
Project      
#44908 

 
Terwall Terrace Parking 

Lot/Sidewalk 2015 
 
Proposals shall be delivered or mailed to: Jesse Houle, Village Construction Manager, Village of 

Pleasant Prairie, 8600 Green Bay Rd, Pleasant Prairie, WI, 53158. 

 
Proposals will be accepted until: 

 
Date: Friday, Feb 13, 2015 

 
Time: 3:00 P.M. (CST) 

 
Proposals submitted after the above-noted due date and time will be rejected. Respondents 

accept all risks of late delivery of mailed submittals regardless of fault. 
 
The Village reserves the right to reject any and all submittals and to waive irregularities and 

informalities in the submittal and evaluation process. This RFP does not obligate the Village 

to pay any costs incurred by respondents in the preparation and submission of their 

statement of qualifications. Furthermore, the RFP does not obligate the Village to accept or 

contract for any expressed or implied services. 
 
It is the policy of the Village of Pleasant Prairie to assure that no person shall, on the 

grounds of race, color, national origin or sex, as provided by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act 

of 1964, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be otherwise 

discriminated against under any of its federally funded programs and activities. 
 
The Village is committed to a program of equal employment opportunity regardless of race, 

color, creed, sex, age, nationality, disability, or sexual orientation. The successful 

consultant must comply with the Village of Pleasant Prairie’s equal opportunity 

requirements. 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Jesse Houle 
February 4, 2015 

Jesse Houle, PE Date 

Village Construction Manager 



3 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
1) PURPOSE & INTENT 

2) SCOPE OF SERVICES/PROJECT REQUIREMENTS 
3) GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS AND FORMAT 
4) SUBMITTAL PROCESS & REQUIREMENTS 

5) SCHEDULE 

6) EVALUATION CRITERIA 

7) EVALUATION COMMITTEE, SELECTION & AWARD PROCESS 

8) MISCELLANEOUS  
9) EXHIBITS 

A. Project Plan Set 



4 
 

1) PURPOSE & INTENT 

 
This solicitation involves Engineering Construction Services for the complete 
construction of Terwall Terrace Parking Lot/Sidewalk 2015 (RecPlex South 

Entrance)  

 

 (Exhibit A – Plan Set) 

 
The Village of Pleasant Prairie will distribute Request for Proposal requests. A Village 

of Pleasant Prairie Consultant Selection Committee will evaluate the RFP’s submitted 

and establish a short list. Those consultants selected on the short list will be ranked. 

The Village of Pleasant Prairie will then discuss approach, project schedule and 

resources with the highest ranked firm. Negotiations of fee’s, terms and conditions 

will follow. In the event that the negotiations with the highest ranked firm are 

unsuccessful, negotiations will then proceed to the second highest ranked firm. 
 
2) SCOPE OF SERVICES/PROJECT REQUIREMENTS 

 

A) DEFINITIONS 
 

1) “VILLAGE” means the Village of Pleasant Prairie. 
2) “COUNTY” means Kenosha County. 

3) “FHWA” means the Federal Highway Administration. 
4) “PROJECT” means the Terwall Terrace Parking Lot/Sidewalk Project 2015. 

5) “Services” means the construction management/engineering Services. Labor, 

equipment and materials furnished by CONSULTANT in accordance with this 

CONTRACT.  

6) “MANUAL” means the Wisconsin Department of Transportation Facility 

7) Development Manual and other manuals referenced therein. 

 
B) GENERAL 

 
(1) The Services under this CONTRACT shall consist of performing those phases 

or portions of the construction management for the PROJECT necessary or 

incidental to accomplish the PROJECT. 

(2) The CONSULTANT shall furnish all Services and labor necessary to conduct 

and complete the Services, and shall furnish all materials, equipment, 

supplies, and incidentals other than those designated in writing as to be 

furnished by the VILLAGE. 

(3)The Services under this CONTRACT shall be performed in accordance with 

generally accepted standards of the engineering profession and 

requirements contained in the MANUAL. 

(4) The Services shall comply with the applicable state and federal laws 

and regulations consistent with the funding to this project. 

under sec. 84.01(10), Wis. Stats., to enter private lands to make surveys or 
inspections or otherwise to carry out the Services required by this CONTRACT. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



5 
 

 

C) REQUIRMENTS - This project will require the selected firm to provide the following: 

 

(1) Coordinate and conduct a pre-construction meeting at the Village of Pleasant 

Prairie 

(2) Promptly respond to all questions from the Contractor and the Village during 

construction of the project. 

(3) General Contract Administration 

(4) Track, monitor, review and approve contract quantities and process pay 

requests form the Contractor.  Quantities will need to be provided on a weekly 

basis to the Village for review and approval. 

(5) Review, approve and process change orders as required.  All change orders will 

need approval from Village 

(6) Coordinate and conduct weekly progress meetings with Contractor and Village 

staff.  Meetings will be held at the Village Prange building.  Consultant will 

record and provide meeting minutes to Contractor and Village. 

(7) Prepare, distribute and administer a punch list at end of project. 

(8) Prepare and coordinate project completion and closeout documents including 

as built (record) drawings.   Record drawings shall be provided to Village upon 

project completion in both hard copy (11”x17” - .pdf acceptable) and in 

AutoCAD Civil 3d .dwg digital format.  Record drawings are to include any 

changes from original plans as constructed in field. 

(9) Provide on-site inspection services to include: 

 

a. Review of all materials for Contract compliance. 

b. Monitor construction activities to ensure minimum clearance on 

underground appurtenances (water/sewer/storm sewer, etc.) are 

maintained during construction. 

c. Monitor construction activities to ensure proper backfilling of utilities is 

performed by utilizing proper construction techniques and bedding 

materials that meet or exceed Contract requirements. 

d. Measure, record, and track all quantities. 

e. Attend and record all meetings and distribute to Village all minutes. 

f. Inspect erosion control measures and traffic control measures and have 

Contractor correct any deficiencies as needed. 

 

(10) Provide Construction Layout Services (Survey) 

a. All staking as required to complete the work.  Provide, record, 

and verify all line and grade for construction (one-time 

construction staking of all utilities, curb/gutter, sidewalk, sub-

grade and base staking).   Provide cut-sheets to the Contractor 

and Village as necessary. 

 

5) GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS AND FORMAT 
 

The evaluation and selection of a consultant will be based on the information submitted 

in the request for proposals plus references and any required interviews/presentations. 

Consultants shall respond clearly and completely to all requirements. Failure to 

respond to any of the requirements in the RFP may be the basis for rejecting a 

submittal. 

The submitted qualifications shall be typed and submitted on 8.5” x 11” inch paper 

and bound securely. Tables/Graphs/Charts and other non-verbiage exhibits may be 
submitted on 11” x 17” inch paper, properly folded to an 8.5” x 11” inch size and 

bound securely within the document. There is a 12 total page limit to the responses. 

 

 



6 
 

 

6) SUBMITTAL PROCESS & REQUIREMENTS 
 

Qualifications are sought from firms with recognized expertise in the construction 

management and inspection of construction of roadways and associated infrastructure 

and on the Wisconsin Department of Transportation’s approved list of consultants. 

Items A through J shall constitute the technical proposal; Item K shall constitute the 

compensation proposal. 

 

Proposals shall include the following: 

 
(1) Firm name, address, telephone number and contact person. A two-page 

statement of interest and qualifications for this project. 

 
(2) Brief history of the firm. 

 
(3) A brief (maximum eight-page) project understanding description.   

 
(4) Discussion of firm’s specific abilities and expertise to provide the required 

professional services and qualifications related to project requirements, including 

project management skills and methodology to monitor project budgets and 

schedule.  
 
(5) Key personnel proposed as project team members, including detailed resumes. 

 

(6) Clearly identify sub-consultants, if proposed, with similar information.  

 
(7) Examples of specific knowledge, expertise and project management 

experience related to this type of project. 

 
(8) Description of three recent and related projects completed by the firm. Identify 

how each is similar to our project. 

 

(9) References of other owners for which the firm has provided similar 
professional services. Reference information must include: 

 
a. Name of owner; 

b. Project name; 
c. Brief description of firm’s involvement; 

d. Contact person; 
e. Project/Contact Address; 

f. Project/Contact Telephone number; 

g. Firm’s key personnel assigned to the referenced project; 
 

(10) Level of Effort: 

 
a. List of all major tasks. 

b. A detailed inventory of all project personnel by task. 

c. Proposed hours (level of effort (including sub-consultant personnel) 

by task. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



7 
 

(11) Compensation Requirements: (TO BE PROVIDED IN SEPARATE 

SEALED ENVELOPE) 

 
a. List of all major tasks; 

b. A detailed inventory of all project personnel by task; 

c. Proposed hours (level of effort) and fully-loaded hourly rates for all 

project personnel (including sub-consultant personnel) by task; 

d. Proposed fully loaded hourly billing rates; 

e. Hourly billing rates should include firm overhead, such as computer 

resources, telephone, local travel etc. Reimbursable expenses may 

include printing and copying, non-local travel etc. 

f. A spreadsheet of the total costs associated with the proposal by your 

firm and those sub-consultants/subcontractors you are utilizing. 
 
 

Firms must submit the following items: 

 
  One original (clearly labeled as such) PLUS three copies of all materials required 

for acceptance of their qualifications (Technical Proposal Items A through J); 

  One copy of the compensation proposal (Item K) in a separate sealed envelope 

 
On or before 3:00 p.m. on FRIDAY, February 13th, 2015, via U.S. Mail, UPS, Fed 

Ex, DHL, Airborne, etc. to: 
 

Village of Pleasant Prairie 

Attn: Jesse Houle, P.E. 

Village Construction 

Manager 

8600 Green Bay Rd. 

Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 
 
The Village of Pleasant Prairie does not accept facsimile or email submitted proposals. A 

firm, if it so chooses, may hand-deliver its proposal package on or before the date and 

time listed above. All submittals must be date-stamped by the Village of Pleasant Prairie.  

Submittals received after 3:00 p.m. on FRIDAY, February 13TH, 2015 will not be accepted. 

 

The complete proposal package shall be plainly marked as shown below. A complete 

proposal package shall consist of two individual envelopes that are both placed within a 

single complete proposal package. The first envelope shall contain the proposal 

transmittal letter and the firm’s technical and qualification proposal (original plus six 

copies), without the proposed compensation. A second sealed envelope shall also 

include the proposal transmittal letter and the proposed compensation (one copy). 
The single complete proposal package and each of the two individual envelopes shall be 
marked as shown below. 

 

Written questions prior to submittal may be submitted via email at the following: 

 

Jesse Houle, P.E. 

Construction Manager 
8600 Green Bay Road 

Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 
Phone: 262-948-8945 
Fax :    262-694-2941 

E-mail: jhoule@plprairiewi.com 

mailto:jhoule@plprairiewi.com


8 
 

 

All submittals must be packaged, sealed, and clearly labeled to show the following 

information on the outside of the package: 
 

Firm’s Name and Address 

RFP Title – “Village of Pleasant Prairie – RFP Terwall Terrace Parking 

Lot/Sidewalk Construction Management - 2015” 

RFP Due Date of FRIDAY, February 13TH, 2015 

 
 

 
(Label as appropriate: COMPLETE PACKAGE, TECHNICAL AND 
QUALIFICATION ENVELOPE, or COMPENSATION ENVELOPE) 

 
It is not the intent of this RFP to solicit an overly long response, but it is important the firm’s 
experience/expertise is adequately described. It will, for example, be much more useful to 
address abilities and expertise directly comparable to this project than to include an exhaustive 
list of all projects completed by the firm. Village staff will review the submitted proposals and 
will select firms to meet with in an interview format, to discuss the proposal and firm 
qualifications, in greater detail. The selected contractor will meet with the Village to negotiate 
compensation for the proposal, and prepare a contractual agreement between the Village and 

the contractor, as soon after the final selection as is reasonable. 

 
7) SCHEDULE 

 
Listed below are estimated dates and times of actions related to this RFP. In the event 

that the Village finds it necessary to change any of the specific dates and times, it will 
do so by issuing amendments to this RFP. Failure by the Village to issue amendments 

to this schedule will not invalidate this selection process. 

 
RFP SCHEDULE*: 

 
EVENT DATE 

RFP Release February 6, 2015 

Questions in writing (if any) Due February  11, 2015 

RFP Responses Due February  13, 2015 

Internal Village Review of RFP 
Responses 

**Week of February  11, 
2015 

Scope and Contract Negotiation **February  18, 2015 

Contract Recommendation to the 

Village Board 
March  2, 2015 

Village Board Approval March  2, 2015 

*Schedule could be amended as deemed appropriate and necessary by the Village. 
**The Village may request an interview which would then alter the schedule. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



9 
 

 

9) EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 

The Village staff will review and evaluate all submittals. The Village reserves the right 

to select the submittal that it deems to be in the best interest of the project, or to 

reject any and all submittals. The selection of the Consultant will be based on the 

following criteria: 

 
  Project Manager/Key Personnel (experience and capabilities of 

proposed project team and key team members)-20 points 

  Project Approach (statement of project understanding, 
management/technical approach, modifications or expansions of tasks, 
assumptions in developing level of effort, detailed description of quality 
control plan)-25 points 

  Previous experience and capabilities of the firm with similar projects-20 

points 

  Overall quality of statement of qualifications-10 points 
  Compensation proposal-25 points 

  100 points total 
 

10) EVALUATION COMMITTEE, SELECTION & AWARD PROCESS 
 

(1) Evaluation committee. The Village RFP Evaluation & Selection Committee will 

consist of: 

 
  Jesse Houle, Village Construction Manager 

  John Steinbrink, Jr., Public Works Director 

 
The evaluation committee members have been selected because of their special 

expertise and knowledge of the service(s) and/or product(s) that are the subject 

of this RFP. 
 

(2) The selection committee will evaluate the proposals utilizing the proposal evaluation 

criteria (except compensation). The Village, because of time constraints and 

depending upon the thoroughness of the proposals, may at its sole option award a 

contract based upon the initial proposal submittal. Do not assume there will be an 

opportunity for submittal of additional information. Submit your proposal as if it 

were your “best and final offer.” 
 

(3) If the Village intends to hold interviews, the Proposers to be interviewed will be 

contacted to schedule an interview. The interview will further evaluate the Proposer 

in the following categories: (1) Project Manager/Key Personnel; (2) Overall 

Qualification of Firm/Team; and (3) Project Approach. The point values or ratings 

for these categories are subject to change based upon the interview. 

 

(4) D) After completing the technical evaluation, compensation packages of only the 

highest-rated proposals will be opened. There will be no required number of 

compensation packages opened. Following selection of the highest rated Proposer, 

a letter will be sent to all Proposers informing them of the Village’s selection and 

the date of anticipated Village Board Meeting to award the contract. The Village will 

negotiate contractual terms, level of effort, and scope of services with the highest 

rated Proposer and, upon successful negotiations, an award recommendation will 

be made to the Village Board. Contract award will be made to the Proposer whose 

proposal best complies with the RFP and will be the most advantageous to the 

Village, as indicated by the final score based upon evaluation of both technical and 



10 
 

compensation proposals. 

 

(5) Final evaluation: 
 

Upon completion of any interviews/presentations by the respondents, the 

Evaluation& Selection Committee will review its evaluations and make any 

necessary ranking adjustments based on the information obtained in the 

interview/presentation,possible reference checks, and any other pertinent 

respondent information. 
 

(6) Right to reject qualifications and negotiate contract terms: 

 
The Village reserves the right to reject any and all submittals. The Village 

reserves the right to negotiate the terms of the contract, including the award 

amount, with the selected consultant prior to entering into a contract. 

 
 

(7) Award of contract: 
 

The Village reserves the right to make an award without further discussion of the 

submittals. The firm selected as the apparently successful firm will be expected 

to enter into a contract with the Village. The foregoing should not be interpreted 

to prohibit either party from proposing additional contract terms and conditions 

during the negotiations of the final Contract. If the selected firm fails to sign the 

Contract within ten (10) business days of delivery of the final Contract, the Village 

may elect to negotiate a Contract with the next-highest ranked firm. The Village 

shall not be bound, or in any way obligated, until both parties have executed a 

Contract. No party may incur any chargeable costs prior to the execution of the 

final Contract. Following consultant selection, the successful consultant shall 

prepare a proposal and scope of work for review by the Village. Once the Village 

and Consultant have 
reached an agreement on the scope of services, a final contract will be prepared 

by the Village. 
 
11)MISCELLAN0US 

 
(1)  Questions 

 
Questions regarding this RFP may be directed to Jesse Houle, P.E., Village 

Construction Manager, via e-mail at jhoule@plprairiewi.com. Unauthorized 

contact regarding this RFP with other Village employees may result in 

disqualification from consideration in the proposal. Any oral communications will 

be considered unofficial and non-binding on the Village, unless it is followed by a 

written statement from the Village. 

 

(2)  Rejection of Submittals 
 

The Village reserves the right to reject any and all submittals and to waive 

irregularities and informalities in the submittal and evaluation process. This 

RFP does not obligate the Village to pay any costs incurred by respondents in 

the preparation and submission of their qualifications. Furthermore, this RFP 

does not obligate the Village to accept or contract for any expressed or 

implied services. 

 

 
 

mailto:jhoule@plprairiewi.com


11 
 

 
( 3 )  Withdrawal of Qualifications 

 
 Consultants may withdraw a submittal, in writing, at any time up to the proposal 

 due date and time. The written withdrawal notice must be received by the Village 

 Engineer. The notice must be signed by an authorized representative of the 

 consultant. 
 

(4)  Incurring Costs 
 

 The Village is not liable for any cost incurred by consultants in replying to  

 this RFP.     

 

(5)  Proprietary Proposal Material 

 Any proprietary information revealed in the submittal should be clearly identified 

 as such by the respondent. 
 
 

 

(6)  Terms 
 

 There is no expressed or implied obligation of the Village to reimburse firms for 

 any costs incurred in preparing submittals in response to this request. The 

 Village reserves the right to reject any and all submittals and to modify the scope 

 of services. The Village further reserves the right to retain all submittals and to 

 use any idea in a submittal l regardless of whether that submittal is selected. 
 

(7)  Signatures 
 

 RFPs shall be signed by one of the legally authorized officers of the submitting 

 firm/corporation. If awarded the contract, the contract shall also be executed 

 by said officer. 
 

(8)  Contract Negotiation 

 
 The Village reserves the right to negotiate all elements of the submittals, 

 proposals, terms and conditions, and/or scope of work as part of the contract 

 negotiation process prior to any formal authorization of the contract by the 

 Village. 

 

(9)  Equal Opportunity Employment 
 

 The successful consultant(s) must comply with the Village equal 

 opportunity requirements. The Village is committed to a program of equal 

 employment opportunity regardless of race, color, creed, sex, age, 

 nationality or disability. 

 

(10) Title VI 
 

 It is the Village's policy to assure that no person shall, on the grounds of race, 

 color, national origin or sex, as provided by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 

 be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be otherwise 

 discriminated against under any of its federally funded programs and activities. 
 



12 
 

 
(11) Insurance Requirements 

 
 The selected firm shall maintain insurance that is sufficient to protect the firm’s 
 business against all applicable risks. Standard requirements may be negotiated if 

 it is in the best interest of the Village. 
 

 
(12) Non-Endorsement 

 
 As a result of the selection of a firm to supply products and/or services to the 

 Village, firm agrees to make no reference to the Village in any literature, 

 promotional material, brochures, sales presentation or the like without the express 
 written consent of the Village. 

 
(13) Non-Collusion 

 
 Submittal and signature of a statement of qualifications swears that the document 

 is genuine and not a sham or collusive, and not made in the interest of any person 

 not named, and that the consultant has not induced or solicited others to submit a 

 sham offer, or to refrain from proposing. 

 
(14) Compliance with Laws & Regulations 

 
 In addition to nondiscrimination and affirmative action compliance requirements 

 previously listed, the consultant or consultants ultimately awarded a contract 

 shall comply with federal, state and local laws, statutes and ordinances, and 

 industry standards relative to the execution of the work. This requirement 

 includes, but is not limited to, protection of public and employee safety and 
 health; environmental protection; waste reduction and recycling; the protection 

 of natural resources; permits; fees; taxes; and similar subjects. 

 

(15) Public Records 
 

 Under Wisconsin state law, the documents (including but not limited to written, 

 printed, graphic, electronic, photographic or voice mail materials and/or 

 transcriptions, recordings or reproductions thereof) submitted in response to this 

 RFP (the “documents”) become a public record upon submission to the Village, 
 subject to mandatory disclosure upon request by any person, unless the 

 documents are exempted from public disclosure by a specific provision of law. If 

 the Village receives a request for inspection or copying of any such documents it 

 will promptly notify the person submitting the documents to the Village (by U.S. 

 mail and by fax if the person has provided a fax number) and upon the written 

 request of such person, received by the Village within five (5) days of the mailing 

 of such notice, will postpone disclosure of the documents for a reasonable period 
 of time as permitted by law to enable such person to seek a court order 

 prohibiting or conditioning the release of the documents. The Village assumes no 

 contractual obligation to enforce any exemption. The Village does not accept any 

 responsibility for agreements, contracts or purchase orders issued by other public 

 agencies to the consultant. Each public agency accepts responsibility for 

 compliance with any additional or varying laws and regulations governing 

 purchase by or on behalf of the public agency. The Village accepts no 
 responsibility for the performance of the consultant in providing goods and/or 

 services to other public agencies, nor any responsibility for the payment price to 

 the consultant for other public agency purchases. 
 



13 
 

(16) Clarification and/or Revisions of this RFP: 
 

 Revisions to this RFP will only be made by an official written amendment issued 

 by the Village. In order to be eligible to receive amendments to this RFP, all 

 respondents are responsible to notify the Village of its official contact person, 

 address and email address. All amendments/clarifications will be forwarded to 

 the respondents of record. 

 

 



 

 

8600 Green Bay Road    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-2709    Phone 262.925.6765    Fax 262.694.2941    

PleasantPrairieOnline.com 

Office of the Director of Public Works  
John Steinbrink Jr., P.E. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To: Michael Pollocoff 

From: John Steinbrink Jr. 

Subject: Timber Ridge Water Tower Paint Award of Contract 
 
Date: May 12, 2015 

The Water Utility Department is scheduled to repaint the Timber Ridge elevated water 
tower.  This water tower was constructed in 1976 and holds a volume of 200,000 
gallons.   

A recent tower inspection determined the water tower wet interior and exterior are due 
to be repainted.  In addition, per DNR requirements this project must be completed by 
August 31, 2015.   

A total of five proposals were received for this project: 
 
     Contractor   Project Bid Total 
 L.C. United Painting $198,000 
 Seven Brothers $231,400 
 Maxcor $339,365 
 TMI Coatings $347,600 
 Classic Protective Coatings $389,200 

 
The professional services and inspection of the water tower painting contract was 
awarded to Dixon Engineering on March 2nd of this year at a cost of $19,871.00.  Total 
budget for this project is $252,000.00.  The painting services will be paid for through the 
Water Utility Enterprise Fund. 

L.C. United Painting is a contractor in good standing with Dixon Engineering and Dixon 
Engineering is recommending award of contract to L.C. United Painting. 
 
I recommend that the Village enter into an agreement with L.C. United Painting in the 
amount of $198,000.  

 

 



PLEASANT PRAIRIE – NOTICE to BIDDERS - 1 

SECTION 00 00 30 
NOTICE to BIDDERS 
 Village of Pleasant Prairie 

8600 Green Bay Road 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158-2709 

 
Separate sealed Bids are solicited for the following project: 
 
Project Name:    200,000 Gallon Spheroid 
   Exterior Overcoat   
   Wet Interior Repaint 
   Dry Interior Partial Repaint 
   and Miscellaneous Repairs 
 
Note:  This project name shall be understood to include the entire scope of project as defined and 
detailed by these specifications. 
 
Scope of Work:   
The structure is a 200,000 gallon spheroid water storage tank with a high water line of 135 ft. 
and located at 6115 123rd St. Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin. 
 
Exterior:  High pressure water clean (5,000-10,000 psi), spot power tool clean to a SSPC-SP11 
standard, and apply a three (3) coat epoxy urethane fluoropolymer system. 
 
Wet Interior:  Abrasive blast clean to a SSPC-SP10 near white metal standard, apply a three (3) 
coat epoxy system, and apply a polyurethane caulk to the roof lap seams.  The cathodic 
protection system shall be removed, and reinstalled by the owner’s vendor, coordination and 
payment is the contractor’s responsibility. 
 
Dry Interior:  Abrasive blast clean the entire tops of the platforms (including 1 ft. up the riser 
wall) and spot failures throughout to a SSPC-SP6 commercial standard, and apply a spot two (2) 
coat epoxy system. 
 
Pit Piping:  Abrasive blast clean to a SSPC-SP6 commercial standard, and apply a two (2) coat 
epoxy system. 
 
Foundation:  Water clean and apply a two (2) coat epoxy system. 
 
Repairs: 

1) Replace manway gasket. 
2) Replace wet interior roof hatch. 
3) Replace access tube hatch. 
4) Replace platform hatches. 
5) Replace fill pipe insulation. 



PLEASANT PRAIRIE – NOTICE to BIDDERS - 2 

6) Install overflow flap gate. 
7) Replace condensate drain line. 
8) Install fall prevention devices. 
9) Rotate the access tube ladder. 
10) Replace vent with a frost-free roof vent. 
11) Install rigging couplings under existing painter’s rail. 
12) Replace light bulbs in dry interior. 
13) Weld safety attachment lug. 
14) Replace aviation light. 
15) Install sample tap. 

 
Separate sealed bids will be received by the Owner and then publicly opened and read aloud at: 
 
Bid Opening Site:     Village of Pleasant Prairie, 8600 Green Bay Road, Pleasant Prairie, 

 WI 53158-2709     
 
Bid Opening Date: May 5, 2015 
 
Bid Opening Time:  11:00 A.M.  (local time) 
 
The SPECIFICATIONS/PLANS may be examined at the following locations: 
 
Construction Association  Central Michigan Plan Room  Builders Exchange 
43636 Woodward Ave.  2026 Independence Dr.   1243 N. 10th St., Suite 175 
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48302 Mt. Pleasant, MI 48858   Milwaukee, WI 53205-2575 
 
At the OFFICE of the ENGINEER and at the OFFICE of John Steinbrink Jr. 
  
Copies of the SPECIFICATIONS/PLANS and PROPOSAL FORMS may be obtained at the 
office of DIXON ENGINEERING, INC., 1104 Third Avenue, Lake Odessa, Michigan, 48849 
upon payment of $60.00 (handling charge for each set).  Payment for SPECIFICATIONS should 
be made to Dixon Engineering, Incorporated.  There will be no refund of handling charge for 
return of specification packages.  Each BIDDER must deposit with his BID, Security in the 
amount, form, and subject to the conditions provided in the INFORMATION FOR BIDDERS.  
The OWNER reserves the right to accept any PROPOSAL, to reject any or all PROPOSALS, 
and to waive any irregularities in any PROPOSAL.  No BIDDER may withdraw his BID within 
sixty (60) days after the actual date of the opening thereof. 
 
LEGAL PROVISIONS:  The Contract letting shall be subject to the provisions of Sections 
62.15, 66.0903, and 779.15 of the Wisconsin Statutes.   
 
WAGE RATES:  Contractors shall be required to pay not less than the prevailing wage rates on 
the Project as established by the State of Wisconsin, Department of Workforce Development.  
Copies of these wage rates are on file in the office of the City Clerk and incorporated in the 



PLEASANT PRAIRIE – NOTICE to BIDDERS - 3 

Contract Documents.   
 
BIDDER’S PROOF of RESPONSIBILITY:  In accordance with Wisconsin Statute 66.0901(2), 
Bidders shall file or have on file valid Bidder’s Proof of Responsibility form with Owner not less 
than five (5) days prior to the time for opening of bids. 
 
Note l:  The Engineer assumes no responsibility to supply Builders Exchanges and similar plan 
review rooms with all addenda issued.  An attempt will be made to do so; however, only 
registered plan holders will be notified by fax of expected addendum with short preparation 
times. 
 
Note 2:  Prequalification of BIDDERS - Dixon Engineering will review qualifications of all 
Contractors and determine their status.  Contractors will be prequalified for different sized tanks 
and towers based on experience, workmanship, and financial data.  Any Contractor who has any 
projects in dispute or unfinished because of Contract problems will be considered NOT 
prequalified.  CONTRACTORS wishing to be prequalified must submit their latest financial 
statement and a list of ten (l0) similar sized projects using similar coating systems.  Failure to 
submit may result in rejection of bid.  A prequalification status may be upgraded or downgraded 
during the course of the season as a result of new data submitted, resolution or origination of 
project conflicts. 
 
Owner is prohibited from knowingly soliciting Bids from, negotiating with or awarding 
contractors to, and approving or allowing subcontracts with a debarred Contractor.  If a Bidder, 
offeror, or proposed Subcontractor is listed on the consolidated list of debarred Contractors 
compiled by Department of Workforce Development in accordance with Wisconsin 
Administrative Code Chap. Ind. 94, it may not be awarded the contract or be allowed to 
participate as a Subcontractor, except as otherwise provided in Wisconsin Administrative Code 
Chap. Ind. 94.   

 
Note 3:  All bidders must submit Contractor Qualification Application to the Village of Pleasant 
Prairie one week prior to the bid opening.  
 
 
  



 

 

8600 Green Bay Road    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-2709    Phone 262.925.6765    Fax 262.694.2941    

PleasantPrairieOnline.com 

Office of the Director of Public Works  
John Steinbrink Jr., P.E. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To: Michael Pollocoff 

From: John Steinbrink Jr. 

Subject: Municipal Solid Waste Disposal Bid  
 
Date: May 12, 2015 

On April 10, 2015, a request for proposal for Municipal Solid Waste Disposal was issued 
to VendorNet where it was sent to 111 waste management companies.  It was also 
advertised in the Kenosha News Legal Section for two weeks.  In addition, bid packets 
were sent to 7 landfill companies. 

In 2014, the Solid Waste Department collected 6,698 tons of solid waste from the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie.  The Solid Waste Department’s tipping fee budget for 2015 
is $290,000. 

On Thursday, May 7, 2015, at 10:00 a.m., bids were received for Municipal Solid Waste 
Disposal.  Two bids were received. 

I recommend that all proposals be rejected and this contract be re-bid. 

  

 

 
. 



























 

 

8600 Green Bay Road    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-2709    Phone 262.925.6765    Fax 262.694.2941    

PleasantPrairieOnline.com 

Office of the Director of Public Works  
John Steinbrink Jr., P.E. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To: Michael Pollocoff 

From: John Steinbrink Jr. 

Subject: Electronics Recycling Award of Contract  
 
Date: May 12, 2015 

On April 10, 2015, a request for proposal for Electronics Recycling was issued to 
VendorNet where it was sent to 114 vendors.  It was also advertised in the Kenosha 
News Legal Section for two weeks.  In addition, the request for proposal was sent to 25 
State of Wisconsin Registered Electronics Recyclers. 

On Monday, May 11th at 1:00 p.m. bids were publicly opened and read aloud.  Three 
bids were received.   

Bids were evaluated based on proposed costs and rebates offered by each recycler by 
type of electronic material. Please see the attached bid analysis sheet. 

Based on the attached analysis, Universal Recycling offers the lowest cost for electronic 
recycling.  Universal Recycling processed the Village’s electronics in the past, prior to 
the Village participating in a cooperative purchasing agreement with other 
municipalities.   

I recommend that a contract for Electronics Recycling be awarded to Universal 
Recycling. 

  

 

 
. 



ELECTRONICS RECYCLING RFP COST COMPARISON
5/11/2015

HISTORICAL BREAKDOWN OF MATERIALS (Data from Year 4-DNR Annual Report)
MATERIAL LBS %

TELEVISIONS 27,463      77% 6123

MONITORS 2,234        6% 498

MISC EED 3,084        9% 688

COMPUTER/CPU 3,099        9% 691

TOTAL 35,880      100% 8000 lb load

BIDDER Rebates/(Costs) TVs MONITORS MISC CED COMPUTERS LAPTOPS TRANSPORTATION SUPPLIES

Dynamic Recycling (0.16)$       (0.14)$        (0.06)$       (0.19)$            0.75$       (650.00)$                  -$          

Universal Recycling (0.07)$       (0.05)$        0.09$        0.15$             -$         (135.00)$                  -$          

Vintage Tech (0.14)$       (0.04)$        (0.10)$       (0.10)$            -$         (500.00)$                  -$          

BID ANALYSIS Assumes 8,000 pound load

TVs MONITORS MISC CED COMPUTERS LAPTOPS TRANSPORTATION SUPPLIES TOTAL

Dynamic Recycling (979.73)$   (69.73)$      (41.26)$     (131.28)$        * (650.00)$                  0 (1,872.00)$ 

-$           

Universal Recycling (428.63)$   (24.91)$      61.89$      ** 103.65$         (135.00)$                  0 (423.00)$    

-$           

Vintage Tech (857.26)$   (19.92)$      (68.76)$     (69.10)$          (500.00)$                  0 (1,515.05)$ 

*If laptops are separated, receive $.75/lb. credit.

**Average rebate for listed peripherals































 
ADDENDUM NO. 1 
TO ALL VENDORS 

 

Electronics Recycling 
 

 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

 

Project #15-SW-03 
 

May 5, 2015 

 

To All Vendors: 

 

The following changes, additions, and/or deletions are hereby made a part of the Proposal for the 

proposed project: 

 

This is Addendum No. 1, which provides for the following: 

 

Change in Time and Day of Bid Opening: 

 

 Remove within document –  Sealed Bids will be received until 10:00 A.M., Local Time, on the 7th 

day of May, 2015, in the office of the Village Public Works Department, 8600 Green Bay Road, 

Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin, 53158. 

 

 Add within document – Sealed Bids will be received until 1:00 P.M., Local Time, on the 11th day of 

May, 2015, in the office of the Village Public Works Department, 8600 Green Bay Road, Pleasant 

Prairie, Wisconsin, 53158. 

 

Delete “single stream recycling” and replace with “electronics recycling”: 

 

 Delete from Page 1, (C) REQUIREMENTS – “single stream” and replace with “electronics” 

 

 Delete from Page 2, (4) “Single Stream” and replace with “Electronics” 

 

Delete Historical compensation value: 

 

 Delete from page 3, 5) SUBMITTAL PROCESS & REQUIREMENTS – “Item J shall constitute the 

historical compensation value.” 

 

 Delete Page 4 and insert Page 4R (See attached) 

 

Change in RFP Schedule 

 

 Delete Page 5 and insert Page 5R 

 

 

 

END OF ADDENDUM #1 

5/05/15 

 

 



 

- 4R - 

 

 

Firms must submit the following items: 

 
 One original (clearly labeled as such) PLUS three copies of all materials required for 

acceptance of their qualifications (Proposal Items A through I), Completed 

Respondent’s Proposal Signature and Legal Status, Completed 

Contractors Affidavit. 
 
On or before 1:00 p.m. on Monday, May 11, 2015, via U.S. Mail, UPS, Fed Ex, DHL, 
Airborne, etc. to: 

 
Village of Pleasant Prairie 

Attn: John Steinbrink Jr., P.E.  

Director of Public Works 

8600 Green Bay Rd. 

Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 

 
The Village of Pleasant Prairie does not accept facsimile or email submitted proposals. A firm, 

if it so chooses, may hand-deliver its proposal package on or before the date and time listed 

above. All submittals must be date-stamped by the Village of Pleasant Prairie.  Submittals 

received after 1:00 p.m. on Monday, May 11, 2015, will not be accepted. 

 

All submittals must be packaged, sealed, and clearly labeled to show the following 

information on the outside of the package: 
 

Firm’s Name and Address 

“Village of Pleasant Prairie – RFP#15-SW-03 
Processing of Electronics Recycling 

RFP Due Date of Monday, May 11, 2015 

 
 
It is not the intent of this RFP to solicit an overly long response, but it is important that the 

firm’s experience/expertise is adequately described. It will, for example, be much more useful 

to address abilities and expertise directly comparable to this project than to include an 

exhaustive list of all projects completed by the firm. Village staff will review the submitted 

proposals. The selected firm will meet with the Village to prepare a contractual agreement 

between the Village and the firm after the final selection is complete. 

  



 

- 5R - 

 
6) SCHEDULE 
 
Listed below are estimated dates and times of actions related to this RFP. In the event that 

the Village finds it necessary to change any of the specific dates and times, it will do so by 

issuing amendments to this RFP. Failure by the Village to issue amendments to this schedule 

will not invalidate this selection process. 
 
 

     RFP SCHEDULE: 
 

EVENT DATE 

RFP Release April 14, 2015 

Questions in Writing (if any) Due April 30, 2015 

RFP Responses Due Monday May 11, 2015 

Internal Village Review of RFP 
Responses 

May  11, 2015 

Scope and Contract Negotiation May 12, 2015 

Contract Recommendation to the 

Village Board 
May  12, 2015 

Village Board Approval May 18, 2015 

Contract Begins June 1, 2015 

 

  



 
 

9915 39th Avenue    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504    Phone 262.925.6709    Fax 262.694.4734    PleasantPrairieOnline.com 

Office of the Finance Director/Treasurer 
Kathleen M. Goessl 
  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
TO:   Village of Pleasant Prairie Board 
 
CC:  Mike Pollocoff, Village Administrator 
 
FROM:   Kathleen Goessl, Finance Director 
 
DATE: May 12, 2015 
 
SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE TO AMEND SEWER SERVICE CHARGES 
 
Pleasant Prairie’s Sewer Utility transports village waste water to the Kenosha Water Utility for 
treatment.  During April, the Village received notice that the Kenosha Water Utility is increasing sewer 
treatment rates by 3% effective June 1.  
 
Attached is the ordinance to amend Chapter 285 relating to sewer service charges.   The ordinance 
changes only reflect the 3% increase in the cost of sewage treatment, which translates to a 1.11% rate 
increase for Village residents and businesses.   
 
The average sewer charge for Pleasant Prairie resident at the current rate is $47.31.  At the new rate, 
the average sewer charge will be $47.84, a difference of $.53. 
 
I recommend passing this sewer ordinance amendment to chapter 285. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

9915 39th Avenue    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504    Phone 262.925.6709    Fax 262.694.4734    PleasantPrairieOnline.com 

 
 



1 

 

ORDINANCE #15-19 
 

ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 285 
OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

RELATING TO SEWER SERVICE CHARGES 

 
 

 BE IT ORDAINED AND ESTABLISHED by the Village Board of Trustees of 
the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin that Chapter 285 of the 
Municipal Code is hereby amended as follows: 

 
§ 285-20. Amount of sewer service charges. 

 
A. The user charges for Category A customers in the Pleasant Prairie Sewer Utility 
and Lake Michigan Sewer Utility District are as follows: 

 
Meter Size  Pleasant  Lake  

     (inches)  Prairie   Michigan 
       Sewer   Sewer 

       Utility   Utility 
          District  
 

 Volume charge  
(per 1,000 gallons)      $5.70$5.76  $7.13$7.21 

 plus 
 Monthly customer charge 5/8  $13.11$13.26 $16.39$16.57 
      3/4    $13.11$13.26 $16.39$16.57 

      1  $18.09$18.29    
     1 ½  $21.63$21.87   

      2  $36.34$36.74   
     3  $59.57$60.23   
      4  $92.76$93.79   

     6  $129.40$130.84   
  

 
 Groundwater surcharge  
(per 1,000)      $5.70 $5.76  $7.13$7.21 

  
B. The user charge rates for Category B customers are as follows: 

  
Meter Size  Pleasant  Lake  

     (inches)  Prairie   Michigan 

       Sewer   Sewer 
       Utility   Utility 

          District  
        



2 

 

 Volume charge  
(per 1,000 gallons)      $5.70$5.76  $7.13$7.21 

 plus 
 Monthly customer charge 5/8  $13.11$13.26 $16.39$16.57 

      3/4    $13.11$13.26 $16.39$16.57 
      1  $18.09$18.29    
     1 ½  $21.63$21.87   

      2  $36.34$36.74   
     3  $59.57$60.23   

      4  $92.76$93.79   
     6  $129.40$130.84   
  

 
 Surcharges (per pound) 

 BOD above 180 mg/l    $0.79$0.80  $0.98$0.99 
 Suspended solids above 200 mg/l  $0.55$.056  $0.69$.070 
 Phosphorous above 6 mg/l   $10.75$10.87 $13.44$13.59 

  
 

Passed and adopted this 18th day of May, 2015. 
 

 
 
       ______________________________ 

       John P. Steinbrink, President 
 

Attest: 
 
 

 
_______________________________ 

Jane M. Romanowski, Clerk 
 
Posted:________________ 



 

9915 39th Avenue ∙ Pleasant Prairie ∙ Wisconsin 53158-6504 ∙ (Ph) 262.925.6721 ∙ (Fx) 262.694.4734 

Office of Village Clerk 

Jane M. Romanowski 

              

       

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO: Village Board of Trustees 

 
FROM: Jane M. Romanowski 

Village Clerk 
 

DATE: May 12, 2015 
 

RE: Municipal Code Chapter 194 Amendments 

 

 
I am proposing the following changes to Chapter 194 of the Municipal Code relating to 

intoxicating liquor and fermented malt beverages: 
 

§ 194-2 Licenses required. Add Section A. (1) to specifically identify the state 
statute that allows Village officials and employees to serve fermented malt beverages 

at public parks without obtaining a license or permit. 
 

§ 194-3 Classes of licenses and fees. Delete paragraphs B. (1) and (2) to expand 
and re-create as Section 194-3 N. 

 

§ 194-3 J.  Operator’s license.  Add a fee of $10 to create a duplicate Operator’s 
License.  Many requests are received from licensees who lose their license, and this 

charge is warranted for staff time and materials to prepare a duplicate license. 
 

§ 194-3 J. (1) (6) (7)  Operator’s license.  Amend the ordinance to allow the 
Village Clerk to issue Operator Licenses.  Attached is a legal opinion issued by the 

League of Wisconsin Municipalities advising the delegation of this power is merely an 
authority to administer and execute the laws in existence.  In 2008 at the 

recommendation of former Police Chief Brian Wagner, the Village Board approved, by 
ordinance amendment, the attached Uniform Liquor and Other Intoxicating Beverage 

Licensing Guidelines. As documented, from 2009-29014, 534 operator license 
applications received Village Board approval and only 7 applications were denied based 

on the recommendation of the Police Chief and Village Clerk.  Granting the authority for 
the Village Clerk’s Office to issue Operator Licenses will streamline the process to issue 

these licenses and will eliminate staff time to place the items on the Board’s agenda for 

each meeting.  Additionally, it will most likely eliminate the need for an applicant to pay 
 

 



 

9915 39th Avenue ∙ Pleasant Prairie ∙ Wisconsin 53158-6504 ∙ (Ph) 262.925.6721 ∙ (Fx) 262.694.4734 

Village Board Memo 

Chapter 194 Amendments 
May 12, 2015 – Page 2 

 
an additional fee to receive a provisional license which would allow them to bartend 

prior to Village Board approval and once again eliminate staff work.  Paragraphs (6) 
and (7) establish sufficient standards to grant or deny an Operator License. 

 
§ 194-3 M. Provisional retail licenses.  State law allows for a provisional retail 

license to be issued to a person or corporation who applies for a liquor license but 
requests a provisional license to maintain business operations prior to Village Board 

consideration.   Although Chapter 125 of the Wisconsin Statute is adopted and made 
part of our Municipal Code, the need to issue a Provisional License arose for the first 

time this past December; and, therefore, I am requesting this section be incorporated 
into the Municipal Code. 

 

§ 194-3 N.  Temporary Class “B” Beer and Temporary “Class B” Wine Licenses. 
I have included some of the language that was deleted under Section 194-3 B. (1) and 

(2) and have expanded on the proposed regulations relating to granting and issuing 
Temporary Class “B” beer and Temporary “Class B” wine licenses.  Requests for this 

type of license have arisen in the last two years and to date, four licenses have been 
issued.  This amendment authorizes the Village Clerk, upon the recommendation of the 

Police Chief and other applicable departments, to issue these temporary licenses 
without Village Board approval. 

 
§ 194-3 O.  Late penalty fee.  I am requesting a late fee of $100 be charged to any 

licensee who fails to complete and submit the required application and documents to 
renew their yearly intoxicating and/or fermented malt beverage licenses.  Every year I 

am making courtesy telephone calls and/or sending letters to applicants who failed to 
follow the statutory filing deadline.  The late fee will be included in the renewal notices 

sent out. 

 
§ 194-3 E. Paragraph E is no longer necessary as all applicants must abide by the 

guidelines set form in Section 194-5 A.   This paragraph was included in the 2008 
ordinance amendment to grandfather the records of current licensees until the next 

licensing cycle.  
 

§ 1946-B. Tax delinquencies and claims.  This amendment expands on the 
payment of delinquencies which exist on a premise or by a person and includes the 

collection of forfeiture delinquencies as authorized by Section 66.0115 of the State 
Statutes.   

 
§ 194-6 F(2)  This paragraph is amended to conform to state law. 

 
 

 

 



 

9915 39th Avenue ∙ Pleasant Prairie ∙ Wisconsin 53158-6504 ∙ (Ph) 262.925.6721 ∙ (Fx) 262.694.4734 

Village Board Memo 

Chapter 194 Amendments 
May 12, 2015 – Page 3 

 
 

§ 194-3 P.  Alcoholic Beverages to be Stored, Sold, Consumed or Served only 
in Authorized Parts of a Premise.  This section is added to stress the importance  

of the law relating to where alcoholic beverages may be stored, sold, consumed or 
served on a licensed premise and outlines the process to request a change to that 

premise whether permanently during the licensing year or for a special event. 
 

As you can see, there are a few other minor amendments to this Chapter.  Mike 
Pollocoff, Village Administrato,r and Dave Smetana, Police Chief, have reviewed and 

approved the proposed changes.  I recommend the Village Board adopt Ordinance  
#15-17 amending Chapter 194 of the Municipal Code as presented. 

 

***** 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



1 

 

Ordinance No. 15-17 
 

Ordinance to Amend Chapter 194 
of the Municipal Code of the 

Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin 
relating to Intoxicating Liquor and Fermented Malt Beverages 

 

BE IT ORDAINED AND ESTABLISHED by the Village Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin, that Chapter 194 is 

amended as follows: 
 
§ 194-2 Licenses required. 

 
A. No person, except as provided by § 125.06, Wis. Stats., shall distribute, 

 vend, sell, offer or keep for sale at retail or wholesale, deal or traffic in or, for 
 the purpose of evading any law or ordinance, give away any intoxicating 
 liquor or fermented malt beverage, or cause the same to be done, without 

 having procured a license as provided in this chapter, nor without complying 
 with all the provisions of this chapter and all statutes, ordinances and 

 regulations of the state and Village applicable thereto. 
 

 (1) In accordance with 125.06(6), no license or permit is required for  
  officers or employees of the Village to sell fermented malt beverages  
  at the RecPlex or Prairie Springs Park for Village-sponsored events. 

 
 B.  A license shall be required for each stand, place, room or enclosure or for 

 each suite of rooms or enclosures which are in direct connection or 
 communication to each other where intoxicating liquor or fermented malt 
 beverages are kept, sold or offered for sale. 

 
§ 194-3 Classes of licenses and fees.  

 
There shall be the following classes and denominations of licenses which, when 
issued by the Clerk under the authority of the Village Board, after payment of the 

fee herein specified, shall permit the holder to sell, deal or traffic in intoxicating 
liquor or fermented malt beverages in Ch.  125, Wis. Stats. The fee for Class "A," 

"Class A," Class "B," "Class B," Reserve "Class B" and "Class C" licenses obtained 
under this section during the year shall be prorated according to the number of 
months or fraction thereof for which the license is issued; all other licenses shall not 

be prorated. 
  

A.  Class "A" fermented malt beverage retailer's license: $250 per year. 
 
B.  Class "B" fermented malt beverage retailer's license: $100 per year. 

  
 (1)  Temporary Class "B" license (picnic license, beer): $10 per event. 

  Issued to organizations enumerated in § 125.26(6), Wis. Stats., to sell 
  or serve fermented malt beverages at a picnic, meeting or gathering;  



2 

 

  provided, however, that the total fees paid during any licensing year  
  by any one application shall not exceed the fees provided for a Class  

  "B" fermented malt beverage retailer's license, as stated in Subsection 
  A above. The total maximum number of days per licensing year for  

  which a license may be issued shall not exceed 25 days per applicant. 
  
 (2)  Temporary "Class B" license (picnic license, wine): $10 per event  

  except that no fee shall be charged in the event a license under   
  Subsection B(1) above is simultaneously issued. Issued to   

  organizations enumerated in § 125.51(10), Wis. Stats., to sell or serve 
  wine containing not more than 6% alcohol by volume at a picnic  
  meeting or gathering. 

  
C.  Wholesaler's fermented malt beverage license: $25 per year. 

  
D.  Retail "Class A" liquor license: $500 per year. 
  

E.  Retail "Class B" liquor license: $500 per year. 
  

F.  Retail "Class B" liquor license issued to a full-service restaurant or hotel  
 pursuant to § 125.51(4)(v), Wis. Stats.: $500 per year. 

  
G.  Retail reserve "Class B" liquor license: $500 per year. 
  

H.  Initial reserve "Class B" liquor license: $10,000 upon approval of initial retail 
 reserve "Class B" liquor license application, to be paid in addition to the 

 annual fee due under Subsection G above, and any other fee required under 
 this section. 
  

I.  Retail "Class C" wine license: $100 per year. See § 125.51(3m), Wis. Stats. 
 Issued to persons enumerated in § 125.51(3m)(c), Wis. Stats., to permit the 

 retail sale of wine by the glass or in an opened original container for 
 consumption on the premises if all of the following conditions are met: 
  

 (1)  The premises is a restaurant in which the sale of alcoholic beverages  
  accounts for less than 50% of gross receipts. 

  
 (2)  The premises does not have a "barroom," defined herein as a room  
  that is primarily used for the sale or consumption of alcohol beverages. 

   
 (3)  The Village's quota under § 125.51(4), Wis. Stats., prohibits it from  

  issuing a "Class B" or reserve "Class B" license. 
  
J.  Operator's license. License fee of $65 which includes fee for police check. 

 (Duplicate License $10) 
 



3 

 

 (1)  The Village Clerk, upon recommendation of the Police Chief, may issue 
  an Operator’s License Operator's licenses may be granted to   

  individuals by the Village Board for the purpose of complying with  
  §§  125.32(2) and 125.68(2), Wis. Stats. 

  
 (2)  Operators' licenses may be issued only on written application on forms 
  provided by the Village Clerk. 

  
 (3)  Operators' licenses shall be valid for two years and shall expire on  

  June 30 of the second year of the licensing term. 
  
 (4)  Applicants must complete a responsible beverage training course prior  

  to issuance of a license. Applicants are exempt from the training  
  course requirement if they are renewing an existing operator's license, 

  have completed the training course within the last two years, or have  
  held a retail license, manager's or operator's license anywhere in the  
  state within the last two years. 

  
 (5)  There is no statutory residency requirement. 

  
 (6) Consideration of granting or denial of an Operator’s License will be  

  based upon the conviction record of the applicant subject to the   
  limitations set forth in § 194-5 of this chapter. 
 

 (7) If the Police Chief recommends denial, the Chief shall provide the  
  reason(s) for such recommendation.  The Village Clerk shall in writing  

  inform the applicant of the denial, the reason(s) therefore and of the  
  opportunity to request a reconsideration of the application by the  
  Village Board.  Such notice must be sent by mail to or served upon the 

  applicant at least 10 days prior to the Village Board’s reconsideration  
  of the matter. 

 
K.  Provisional operator's license: $15 (valid for 60 days). 
 

 (1)  The Village Clerk, upon the recommendation of the Police Chief, may  
  issue a provisional operator's license to a person who has applied for  

  an operator's license. Only one sixty-day provisional license period is  
  valid. 
  

 (2)  No such license shall be issued unless the applicant is enrolled in a  
  responsible beverage server training course as provided in Subsection  

  J(4) above. 
  
 (3)  A provisional license may be revoked by the Village Clerk upon   

  discovery of false statements by the applicant on his or her   
  application. 

  



4 

 

L.  Temporary operator's license: $20, which includes the fee for police check 
 (valid for one to 14 days). 

 
 (1)  The Village Clerk, upon the recommendation of the Police Chief, may  

  issue a temporary operator's license to a person who has applied for  
  said license. 
  

 (2)  This license may be issued only to operators employed by, or donating 
  their services to, nonprofit corporations which have been granted a  

  temporary Class "B" or "Class B" license under Subsection B above. 
 
 (3)  No person may hold more than one license of this kind per year. 

  
 (4)  This license is valid for any period from one day to 14 days, and the  

  period for which it is valid shall be stated on the license. 
  
M. Section 194-3 M. Provisional retail licenses. 

 
  (1) A provisional retail license may be issued by the Village Clerk to a 

 person who has applied for a Class "A", Class "B", "Class A", "Class B" or 
 "Class C" license and authorizes only the activities that the type of retail 

 license applied for authorizes, provided that the applicant meets all the 
 requirements for receiving such a license.   
 

 (2)  The fee for a provisional retail license shall be $15 and the license shall 
 expire 60 days after its issuance or when the Class "A", Class "B", "Class A", 

 "Class B" or "Class C" license is issued to the holder, whichever is sooner. 
 The Village Clerk may revoke the provisional retail license if he or she 
 discovers that the holder of the license made a false statement on the 

 application. 
  

 (3) The Village Clerk may not issue a provisional "Class B" license if the 
 municipality's quota under s. 125.51 (4) prohibits the municipality from 
 issuing a "Class B" license. 

  
 (4) No person may hold more than one provisional retail license for each 

 type of license applied for by the holder per year. 
 
 

N. Temporary Class “B’ Beer and Temporary “Class B” Wine Licenses:  Under 
 Sec. 125.26(6) and Sec. 125-51(10), Wis. Stats. $10 per event (plus $7 

 police investigation fee) except that no additional fee shall be charged if a 
 temporary beer and temporary wine license are issued simultaneously. 
 

 (1)  The Village Clerk, upon the recommendation of the Police Chief, may  
  issue a Temporary Class “B” Beer or Temporary “Class B” Wine   

  License for only the activities that the type of retail license applied for  



5 

 

  authorizes, provided that the applicant meets all the requirements for  
  receiving such a license.   

 
 (2) A Temporary Class "B" license (picnic license, beer) may be issued to  

  organizations enumerated in § 125.26(6), Wis. Stats., to sell or serve  
  fermented malt beverages at a picnic, meeting or gathering; provided, 
  however, that the total fees paid during any licensing year by any one  

  application shall not exceed the fees provided for a Class  "B"   
  fermented malt beverage retailer's license, as stated in Subsection A  

  above. The total maximum number of days per licensing year for  
  which a license may be issued shall not exceed 25 days per applicant. 
  

 (3)  Temporary "Class B" license (picnic license, wine) may be issued to 
  organizations enumerated in § 125.51(10), Wis. Stats., to sell or serve 

  wine containing not more than 6% alcohol by volume at a picnic,  
  meeting or gathering; however, not more than two (2) Temporary   
  “Class B’ wine licenses may be issued to an organization under this  

  subsection in any twelve (12) month period. 
 

 (4) Application for such license shall be signed by the president or  
  corresponding officer of the society making such application and shall  

  be filed with the Village Clerk together with the appropriate license fee  
  at least 30 days before the event.  The application is subject to and  
  shall include the following: 

  
  a. A single event is limited to three (3) consecutive days. 

 
  b. Alcoholic beverages can only be sold or served between the  
   hours of 11:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m. 

 
  c. Licenses will not be granted for youth events. 

 
  d. A security and public health and safety plan must be submitted  
   and approved by the Police and Fire & Rescue Departments.   If  

   the event takes place in Prairie Spring Park, the Parks Director  
   must also approve the application. 

 
  e. The applicant must sign a hold harmless agreement and provide 
   the Village with a certificate of insurance written by a company  

   licensed by the State of Wisconsin covering any and all liability  
   or obligations which may result from the applicant’s employees,  

   agents, contractors or subcontractors.  The certificate shall  
   name the Village of Pleasant Prairie as an additional insured and 
   shall be in the minimum amounts:   

 
  Per person/injury     $  500,000 

  Per occurrence/injury    $  500,000 
  Property damage     $  500,000 



6 

 

  Public liability and property damage  
   and excess liability umbrella policy  $1,000.000 

 
 

O. Late Penalty Fee.  The Village Clerk shall charge a late penalty fee of $100 
 for each liquor license renewal application that arrives past the deadline date, 
 as set forth in the renewal notice letter sent each year.  

 
§ 194-5 Qualifications for licenses.  

 
A.  Natural persons. Licenses related to alcohol beverages issued to natural 
 persons under this chapter may be issued only to persons who: 

  
 (1)  Do not have an arrest or conviction record subject to §§ 111.321,  

  111.322 and 111.335, Wis. Stats. Licenses will not be granted if the  
  applicant's record indicates the following: 
  

  (a)  More than two criminal or civil ordinance convictions in the past  
   five years wherein any of the following apply: 

   [1]  Weapons of any kind were used, displayed or threatened. 
    [2]  Physical violence was used or threatened. 

    [3]  The incident resulting in the conviction occurred on a  
    licensed premises. 
    [4]  The incident resulting in the conviction involved   

    consumption of intoxicating beverages. 
    [5]  Possession of drugs or controlled substances. 

  
  (b)  Any conviction for the manufacture, sale or distribution of drugs  
   or controlled substances or possession with intent to deliver  

   such substances. 
   

  (c)  A conviction of second offense or greater Operating While  
   Intoxicated (OWI) in the past five years. 
  

 (2)  Have been residents of this state continuously for at least 90 days  
  prior to the date of filing the application for license. 

  
 (3)  Have attained the legal drinking age, except that operator's licenses  
  may be issued to persons who have attained the age of 18. 

  
 (4)  Have submitted proof of having a seller's permit under § 77.61(11),  

  Wis. Stats. 
  
 (5)  Have successfully completed within the two years prior to the date of  

  application a responsible beverage server training course as provided  
  in § 125.04(5)(a)5, Wis. Stats., unless the applicant held, within the  

  past two years, a Class "A," "Class A" or "Class C" license or a Class  
  "B" or "Class B" license or permit or a manager's or operator's license. 



7 

 

  
B.  (Reserved) 

  
C.  Corporations. No license or permit may be issued to any corporation unless 

 the agent of the corporation appointed under § 125.04(6), Wis. Stats., and 
 the officers and directors of the corporation meet the qualifications of 
 Subsections A and B above, except that Subsection A(2) does not apply to 

 operator's license applicants or the officers and directors of corporations or 
 the members or managers of limited liability companies. 

  
D.  Operator's licenses. Subsection A(2) and (4) above do not apply to applicants 
 for operator's licenses. 

  
E.  Prior licenses issued. Licenses issued prior to the effective date of this section 

 amendment are not subject to Subsection A(1) requirements relating to prior 
 convictions. All licensees will be subject to the regulations in Subsection A(1)  
 above for violations which may occur subsequent to the adoption of this 

 section. 
  

FE.  The Village Board may, in its discretion, approve a license if in their findings 
 while determining the applicability of Subsection A(1) approval is warranted. 

 
§ 194-6 License conditions and restrictions.  
 

In addition to the requirements imposed by provisions of the Wisconsin Statutes 
adopted by reference in this chapter, the following conditions and restrictions shall 

apply to the issuance of licenses or permits pursuant to this chapter: 
  
A.  Review prior to approval. No license or permit shall be issued to any person  

 or officer or director of a corporation unless the application therefor shall first 
 have been reviewed and a recommendation received from the Police 

 Department. No license or permit in this chapter shall be issued without the 
 approval of the Village Board. 
  

B.  Tax delinquencies and claims.  
 

 
 (1) Premise. No initial or renewal alcohol beverage license shall be   
  granted for operation on any premises upon which property taxes,  

  personal property taxes, assessments, special assessments, utility  
  payments, or invoices are delinquent or other financial claims of the  

  Village are unpaid. 
 
 (2) Person.  No initial or renewal license shall be granted to any person: 

  a. Delinquent in payment of any property taxes, personal property 
    taxes, assessments, special assessments, utility payments or 

   invoices or other claims owed to the Village. 



8 

 

  b. Delinquent in payment of a forfeiture resulting from a violation  
   of any ordinance of the Village. 

   
D. Inspection of application and premises. The Village Clerk shall notify the Fire 

 & Rescue Department, the Building Inspection Department and the 
 Community Development Department of all license and permit applications, 
 which departments shall inspect, or cause to  be inspected, each application 

 and premises to determine whether the applicant and the premises sought to 
 be licensed comply with the regulations and ordinances thereto and shall 

 furnish to the Village Clerk, in writing, the information derived from such 
 inspection. 
 

F.  Closing hours. 
 (1)  Premises for which a retail liquor and/or fermented malt beverage  

  license has been issued either are prohibited from selling alcohol or  
  cannot be open for business during the following hours in accordance  
  with §§ 125.32(3) and 125.68(4), Wis. Stats.: 

 

 
License 

Off-Premises 
(Carry-Outs) On Premises Consumption 

 

 Class "A" beer 12:00 midnight to 

*8:00 a.m. 

Not permitted 

 Class "B" beer 12:00 midnight to 
6:00 a.m. 

Monday to Friday, 2:00 a.m. to 6:00 
a.m. 

   Saturday to Sunday, 2:30 a.m. to 6:00 
a.m. 

 "Class A" liquor 9:00 p.m. to *8:00 a.m. Not permitted 

 "Class B" liquor 12:00 midnight to 

6:00 a.m. 

Monday to Friday, 2:00 a.m. to 6:00 

a.m. 

   Saturday to Sunday, 2:30 a.m. to 6:00 

a.m. 

 "Class C" wine Not permitted Monday to Friday, 2:00 a.m. to 6:00 
a.m. 

   Saturday to Sunday, 2:30 a.m. to 6:00 
a.m. 

 NOTES: 

At 1:00 a.m. on the second Sunday in March, daylight saving time begins and the 
standard of time which licensed establishments must operate under is advanced 

ahead one hour. Daylight saving ends at 2:00 a.m. on the first Sunday in 
November. At that time, the clocks are moved back one hour. 
 

* In accordance with 2011 Act 97 effective 12-21-2011, the allowable morning 
opening hours for retail beer and liquor stores may be changed to 6:00 a.m., but a 

municipality may impose more restrictive hours by ordinance. The morning opening 
hours for Class A retail beer and liquor stores in the Village will continue to be 8:00 
a.m. 



9 

 

 
 (2)  Hotels and restaurants whose principal business is the furnishing of  

  food, drinks or and lodging to patrons, bowling centers, movie   
  theaters, painting studios, indoor horseshoe- pitching facilities, curling  

  clubs, golf courses and golf clubhouses may remain open for the  
  conduct of their regular business but no intoxicating liquors or   
  fermented malt beverages shall be sold during prohibited hours. 

 
P. Alcoholic Beverages to be Stored, Sold, Consumed or Served only in 

 Authorized Parts of Premises.  No alcoholic beverage may be stored, sold, 
 consumed or served under a Class B license in any portion of the building or 
 premises not authorized in said license or outside of the building on the 

 premises or within any temporary shelter or tent on the premises.  The 
 licensee must file a written request with the Village Clerk to amend the 

 premise description during the license year.  It is within the discretion of the 
 Village Board to approve or disapprove of the change.  Decisions to grant 
 an amendment to any licensed premise will have no precedential effects.   

 
Passed and adopted this ____ day of May, 2015. 

   
 

 
      ____________________________________ 
      John P. Steinbrink, President 

 
Attest: 

 
 
____________________________ 

Jane M. Romanowski, Clerk 
 

Posted:_____________ 
 









Village of Pleasant Prairie  
Uniform Liquor and Other Intoxicating Beverage Licensing Guidelines 

 

Does the applicant have more 
than two criminal or civil ordi-
nance convictions in the past 
five years wherein any of the 
following apply? 

 
1. Weapons of any kind were 

used, displayed or threat-
ened. 

2. Physical violence was used 
or threatened. 

3. The incident giving rise to 
the conviction occurred on 
a licensed premise. 

4. The incident giving rise to 
the conviction involved 
consumption of intoxicat-
ing beverages. 

5. Convictions for drug or 
controlled substance pos-
session?  

 

Has the applicant been con-
victed of 2nd offense or greater 
OWI in the past 5 years? 

L
IC

E
N

S
E

 N
O

T
 T

O
 B

E
 IS

S
U

E
D

 O
R

 R
E

N
E

W
E

D
 

YES 

LICENSE CAN BE ISSUED OR RENEWED 

NO 

Is there any conviction for the 
manufacture, sale, or distribu-
tion of drugs or controlled sub-
stances or possession with in-
tent to deliver such substances? 

NO 

YES 

YES 

NO 



VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
OPERATOR LICENSE APPLICATION DENIAL HISTORY 

2009-2014 
 

 

Date Summary Police Chief 

Recommendation 

Village Board Action Status 

October 2014 Police Chief indicated $558 

in unpaid fines.  Applicant 
was informed application 
would not go to the Village 

Board until fines are paid 

Do not process 

application until 
fine is paid 

None 12-4-14 Applicant picked up 

information on fines – to 
date license not issued and 
application filed 

October 2014 Police Chief indicated 

outstanding warrant on file 
for traffic offense 

Denial Denied  Letter sent to applicant – to 

date no license issued 

July 2013 Police Chief indicated 
applicant on probation and 

is not to consume or 
possess alcohol for 12 
months 

Denial Denied Letter sent to applicant – 
license not issued and 

application filed 

November 2012 Police Chief indicated 
applicant was convicted of 

two or more criminal or civil 
ordinance violations in the 

past 5 years – did not meet 
the guidelines set forth in 
Sec. 194-5 

Denial  Denied Letter sent to applicant 
indicating eligible to apply 

for a license after January 
2017 - application filed 

June 2011 Police Chief indicated 
applicant was convicted of 

two or more criminal or civil 
ordinance violations in the 

past 5 years – did not meet 
the guidelines set forth in 
Sec. 194-5 

Denial Denied Letter sent to applicant 
indicating eligible to apply 

for a license after October 
2013  - application filed 



Date Summary Police Chief 

Recommendation 

Village Board Action Status 

October 2010 Police Chief indicated 

applicant was convicted of 
two or more criminal or civil 
ordinance violations in the 

past 5 years – did not meet 
the guidelines set forth in 

Sec. 194-5 

Denial Denied – applicant 

appeared before the 
Village Board and 
the Village Board 

upheld Police Chief’s 
recommendation 

Letter sent to applicant - 

eligible to apply for a license 
in July 2011 

October 2010 Police Chief indicated 

applicant was convicted of 
two or more criminal or civil 
ordinance violations in the 

past 5 years – did not meet 
the guidelines set forth in 

Sec. 194-5 

Denial Denied Letter sent to applicant - 

eligible to apply for a license 
after December 2012  - 
application filed 

September 2009 Police Chief indicated 

applicant was convicted of 
two or more criminal or civil 
ordinance violations in the 

past 5 years – did not meet 
the guidelines set forth in 

Sec. 194-5 – Applicant 
indicating no offenses 

Denial – falsified 

application 

Denied Letter sent to applicant - 

eligible to apply for a license 
after April 2014  - 
application filed 

 

Licensing Period No. of Licenses Issued 

2008-2010 102 

2009-2011 93 

2010-2012 90 

2011-2013 82 

2012-2014 70 

2013-2015 97 

TOTAL 534 

 























1 

 

Ordinance No. 15-18 
 

Ordinance to Amend Chapter 214 
of the Municipal Code of the 

Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin 
relating to Licenses and Permits 

 
BE IT ORDAINED AND ESTABLISHED by the Village Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin, that Chapter 214 is amended 
as follows: 
 

§ 214-1. License fees enumerated. 
 
A license shall be required for the sale of each of the following businesses or activities 
at the indicated license fee, which shall be for one year unless otherwise indicated: 
 
H.  Operator's license: $65 for two years, which includes fee for police check. 
 (Duplicate License $10) 
 
§ 214-2. General licensing requirements. 
 

E.  Tax delinquencies and claims.  
 
 (1)  Premise. No initial or renewal alcohol beverage license shall be granted  
  for operation on any premises upon which property taxes, personal   
  property taxes, assessments, special assessments, utility payments, or  
  invoices are delinquent or other financial claims of the Village are unpaid. 
 
 (2) Person.  No initial or renewal alcohol beverage license shall be granted  
  to any person: 
  a. Delinquent in payment of any property taxes, personal property  
   taxes, assessments, special assessments, utility payments or  
   invoices or other claims owed to the Village. 
  b. Delinquent in payment of a forfeiture resulting from a violation of  
   any ordinance of the Village.  
 
  (3) In accordance with §66.0115 Wis. Stats., a dog license issued under  
  §174.07 is exempt from this provision. 
  

F.  Issuance by Clerk; approval by Village Board; exceptions. Unless otherwise 
designated, licenses required by this chapter shall be issued by the Clerk only with the 
approval of the Board, except the Clerk may issue the following licenses subject to the 
standards established by this chapter without prior approval of the Board: 
 (1) Building and zoning permits (issued by the Community Development  
  Department). 
 (2)  Cigarette license. 
 (3)  Dog license. 

http://www.ecode360.com/9353192#9353192
http://www.ecode360.com/15459094#15459094
http://www.ecode360.com/9353211#9353211
http://www.ecode360.com/9353212#9353212
http://www.ecode360.com/9353213#9353213
http://www.ecode360.com/9353214#9353214


2 

 

 (4)  Escort and escort service licenses, upon approval of the Community  
  Development Department and the Chief of Police. 
 (5)  Peddlers, canvassers, solicitors and transient merchants, upon approval  
  of the Chief of Police. 
 (6)  Massage therapist license, upon approval of the Chief of Police. 
 (7)  Secondhand article dealer and/or secondhand jewelry dealer licenses,  
  upon approval of the Community Development Department and the Chief  
  of Police. 
 (8) Operator License, upon approval of the Chief of Police. 
 (9) Temporary Class “B’ Beer and Wine (Picnic) License, upon approval  
  of the Chief of Police. 
 
Passed and adopted this ____day of May, 2015. 
   
 
      ____________________________________ 
      John P. Steinbrink, President 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Jane M. Romanowski, Clerk 
 
Posted:_____________ 

http://www.ecode360.com/27428969#27428969
http://www.ecode360.com/9353215#9353215
http://www.ecode360.com/9353216#9353216
http://www.ecode360.com/27428970#27428970














 
CLERK'S CERTIFICATION OF 

 BARTENDER LICENSE APPLICATIONS 
    Period Ending: May 12, 2015 
 
 
I, Jane M. Romanowski, Village Clerk of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, 
Wisconsin, do hereby certify the following persons have applied for bartender licenses and each 
applicant is in compliance with the guidelines set forth in Chapter 194 of the Municipal 
Code.  I recommend approval of the applications for each person as follows:  
 
 
NAME OF APPLICANT    LICENSE TERM 
 

1. Adrian LaLuz     thru June 30, 2017 
2. Brandon D. Zigner    thru June 30, 2017 

 
 
 

  
 
 
Jane M. Romanowski 
Village Clerk     
 
 
 



Consider the request of Erik Waslrick on behalf of Jean and Norma Brown for approval of a 

Certified Survey Map to subdivide the property located at 2629 89th Street. 

Recommendation:  Plan Commission recommends that the Village Board approve the 

Certified Survey Map subject to the comments and conditions presented in the Village 

Staff Report of May 11, 2015. 

 



 
2 

 

VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF MAY 18, 2015 

Consider the request of Erik Waslrick on behalf of Jean and Norma Brown for approval of a 

Certified Survey Map to subdivide the property located at 2629 89th Street. 

 

The petitioner is requesting to subdivide the property located at 2629 89th Street into two 

(2) parcels.  The property is currently zoned R-4, Urban Single Family Residential which 

requires lots to have a minimum frontage of 90 feet on a public road and a minimum lot 

area of 15,000 square feet. 

Parcel 1 is proposed to be 55,919 square feet with more than 300 feet of frontage on 29th 

Avenue.  A new home is proposed to be constructed on this property directly north of the 

home at 8929 29th Avenue (CSM 26).  This new home will be required to connect to 

municipal sanitary sewer and municipal water (City of Kenosha Service Area) on 29th 

Avenue.   

Parcel 2 is proposed to be 119,924 square feet with 186 feet of frontage on 89th Street.  The 

existing home and outbuildings on the property will remain. 

The proposed land division conforms with the Zoning requirements, Land Division and 

Development Control Ordinance and the Village’s Comprehensive Land Use Plan. 

The Plan Commission recommends approval of the CSM subject the above 

comments and the following conditions: 

1. The CSM shall be revised to as shown on the attached. 

2. Any deferred/outstanding special assessments or outstanding taxes shall be paid 

prior to recording the CSM.  

3. Impact fees are only due when a new home is constructed. 

4. The original CSM shall be executed by the property owner and submitted to the 

Village for signatures. 

5. The CSM shall be executed by all parties and recorded at the Kenosha County 

Register of Deeds Office within 30 days of Village Board approval. 







1 inch = 150 feet

DISCLAIMER  This ma p is neither a lega lly recorded  map nor a survey an d is not intended to be used as one.  This draw ing  is a compilation of records, data an d information loca ted in var iou s state, county and mun icip al offices 
and other sources affecting the area shown and  is to be used for refe rence purpose s only.  Kenosha County is not resp onsible for a ny inaccuracie s herein con tained .  If discrep ancies are fo und, please  conta ct Kenosha County.

KENOSHA COUNTY 
INTERACTIVE MAPPING

¨

General Location Map - 2629 89th St

Date Printed : 5/7/2015

Legend

Street Centerlines
Right-of-Ways
Water Features
Parcels







Consider the request of Ronald and Debra Hessil for approval of a Lot Line Adjustment to 

add 30.03 feet from the vacant property (owned by Associates LLC-William Kant agent) to 

the rear of the 3514 93rd Street property (owned by Daniel and Teresa Cole) and the 3516 

93rd Street property (owned by Ronald and Debra Hessil). 

 

Recommendation:  Plan Commission recommends that the Village Board approve the Lot 

Line Adjustment subject to the comments and conditions of the May 18, 2015 Village Staff 

Report. 



 

VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF MAY 18, 2015 

Consider the request of Ronald and Debra Hessil for approval of a Lot Line Adjustment to 

add 30.03 feet from the vacant property (owned by Associates LLC-William Kant agent) to 

the rear of the 3514 93rd Street property (owned by Daniel and Teresa Cole) and the 3516 

93rd Street property (owned by Ronald and Debra Hessil). 

 

The property located at 3514 93rd Street and further identified as Tax Parcel Number 92-4-

122-133-0240) owned by Daniel and Teresa Cole and the property located at 3516 93rd 

Street and further identified as Tax Parcel Number 92-4-122-133-0235) owned by Ronald 

and Debra Hessil are proposed to be adjusted with the vacant property to the north (Lot 1 

of CSM 2447) identified as Tax Parcel Number 91-4-122-133-0231 owned by Associates 

LLC-William Kant agent. 

Specifically, 30.03 feet is being added to the rear of both of the properties at 3514 and 

3516 93rd Street from the vacant property to the north.  Both properties are zoned R-4, 

Urban Single Family Residential District which require lots to be a minimum of 15,000 

square feet.  After the adjustment both lots, as well as the lot to the north will continue to 

meet the minimum lot area of the R-4 District. 

The Lot Line Adjustment and will comply with the requirements set forth in the Village 

Zoning Ordinance and Land Division and Development Control Ordinance. 

The Plan Commission recommends approval of the Lot Line Adjustment subject to 

the petitioners recording the proper transfer documents with the Plat of Survey 

for the Lot Line Adjustment as an Exhibit with the Kenosha County Register of 

Deeds Office within 30 days of final Village approval. 








	Agenda - May 18 2015
	5. Minutes - May 4 2015
	6A. Costco Liquor License Public Hearing
	Operation Summary
	List of Costco Stores with Liquor Licenses

	9A. Res 15-19 Barnes Creek Neighborhood Plan
	VB Res #15-19
	Exhibit 1
	PC Memo-Barnes Creek NP
	PC Res #15-12
	Request
	Planning Hierachy
	2035 Land Use Plan
	NeighborhoodOverview
	Barnes Creek Neighborhood Boundary Map
	Alternative 1
	Alternative 2
	Alternative 3
	Wal-mart TIA
	WI DOT TIA Review Letter
	Wal-mart Concept Plan
	Open Village Hall Comments
	Summary
	On forum statements
	Off forum statements

	Misc Emails Recieved

	Exhibit 2
	Exhibit 3
	Request

	9B. Kwik Trip Releases
	1-1996 Agreement-Exception #14
	1-1996 Release-Title Exc 14
	2-1996 Variance Release-Title Exc 18
	2-1996 Variance-Exception #18
	3-1997 Agreement-Exception #16
	3-1997 Release-Title exc 16
	4-1997 Variance Release-Title Exc 17
	4-1997 Variance-Exception #17
	5-1998 Agreement-Exception #12
	5-1998 Relesae-Title Exc 12

	9C. Bentz Estates Pond Maintenance Award of Contract
	9D. Park and Ride Service Lot Project Award of Contract
	Map 1
	Map 2
	Notice to Bidders

	9E. Park and Ride Service Lot-Construction Mgmt Award of Contract
	Request for Proposals

	9F. Timber Ridge Tower Paint Award of Contract
	Notice to Bidders

	9G. Municipal Solid Waste Disposal-Bid Rejection Recommendation
	9H. Electronics Recycling Award of Contract
	Request for Proposal

	9I. Sewer Service Fee Amendments
	Ord 15-19 Chapter 285 Sewer Service Fee Amendment

	9J. Ord 15-17 Chapter 194 Amendments
	Ord 15-17 - Chapter 194 Amendment 5-15
	Legal Opinion - League of WI Municipalities
	Liquor Operator License Guidelines
	Operator License Denial History 2009-2014
	Chapter 194 - current

	9K. Ord 15-18 Chapter 214 General Licensing Amendments
	Chapter 214 - current

	9L. 1) Operator License Memo VB Mtg 5-18-15
	9L. 2) CSM 2629 89th St
	CSM Changes
	Application
	General Location Map
	CSM

	9L. 3) Lot Line Adjustment
	Request
	Survey




